
QuickLinks -- Click here to rapidly navigate through this document

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark
One)

  

  ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008
OR

o  TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from                        to                       

Commission File Number 001-15283

DineEquity, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware
(State or other jurisdiction

of incorporation or organization)

 95-3038279
(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

450 North Brand Boulevard, Glendale, California
(Address of principal executive offices)

 91203-2306
(Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (818) 240-6055

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class  Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, $.01 Par Value  New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

         Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes     No o

         Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes o    No 

         Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such
filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes     No o



         Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained,
to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any
amendment to this Form 10-K. 

         Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check
one):

Large accelerated filer   Accelerated filer o  Non-accelerated filer o
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

 Smaller reporting company o

         Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes o    No 

         State the aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of June 29, 2008:
$620.6 million.

         Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the registrant's classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date.

Class  Outstanding as of February 20, 2009

Common Stock, $.01 par value  17,408,362

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

         Portions of the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on Tuesday, May 12, 2009 (the "2009 Proxy Statement") are
incorporated by reference into Part III.



DINEEQUITY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Annual Report on Form 10-K

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2008

Table of Contents 

    Page

PART I.     
 Item 1—Business  3
 Item 1A—Risk Factors  17
 Item 1B—Unresolved Staff Comments  26
 Item 2—Properties  28
 Item 3—Legal Proceedings  30
 Item 4—Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders  30

PART II.
   

 
 Item 5—Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 31
 Item 6—Selected Financial Data  34
 Item 7—Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  35
 Item 7A—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk  69
 Item 8—Financial Statements and Supplementary Data  71
 Item 9—Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure  130
 Item 9A—Controls and Procedures  130
 Item 9B—Other Information  132

PART III.
   

 
 Item 10—Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance  133
 Item 11—Executive Compensation  133
 Item 12—Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters  133
 Item 13—Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence  133
 Item 14—Principal Accounting Fees and Services  133

PART IV.
   

 
 Item 15—Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules  134
 Signatures  141

2



PART I 

Item 1.    Business 

Company Overview

        The company was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in 1976 with the name IHOP Corp. Effective June 2, 2008, the name of
the company was changed to DineEquity, Inc. (the "Company," "we," "our" or "us"). Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange
and trades under the ticker symbol "DIN." Our principal executive offices are located at 450 North Brand Boulevard, Glendale, California 91203-2306
and our telephone number is (818) 240-6055. Our internet address is www.dineequity.com.

        Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, amendments to those reports and other filings
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") are available free of charge through our website as soon as reasonably practicable after such
reports are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. The information contained on our website is not incorporated into this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Further, the SEC maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding our
filings at www.sec.gov.

        We have a 52/53 week fiscal year that ends on the Sunday nearest to December 31 of each year. For convenience, we refer to all fiscal years as
ending on December 31 and fiscal quarters as ending on March 31, June 30 and September 30. The fiscal years presented herein ended December 28,
2008, December 30, 2007, and December 31, 2006, and each contained 52 weeks.

Background

        The first International House of Pancakes ("IHOP") restaurant opened in 1958 in Toluca Lake, California. Since that time, the Company or its
predecessors have engaged in the development, operation and franchising of IHOP restaurants. In November 2007, we completed the acquisition of
Applebee's International, Inc. ("Applebee's"). We currently own, operate and franchise two restaurant chains in the casual dining and family dining
categories: Applebee's Neighborhood Grill and Bar® and IHOP. References herein to Applebee's and IHOP restaurants are to these two restaurant
chains, and unless the context reflects otherwise, whether operated by franchisees or the Company. Retail sales at restaurants that are owned by
franchisees and area licensees are not attributable to the Company. With 3,400 franchised or owned-and-operated restaurants combined, we are one of
the largest full-service restaurant companies in the world.

        This Annual Report on Form 10-K should be read in conjunction with the cautionary statements on page 31under "Item 7. Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.—Forward Looking Statements."

Financial Information about Industry Segments

        We identify our segments, based on the organizational units used by management to monitor performance and make operating decisions, as
follows: franchise operations, company restaurant operations, rental operations, and financing operations. Within each applicable segment, we operate
two distinct restaurant concepts: Applebee's and IHOP.

Applebee's

        The franchise operations segment consists of restaurants operated by Applebee's franchisees in the United States, one U.S. territory and 15
countries outside of the United States. Franchise operations revenue consists primarily of franchise royalty revenues and the portion of the franchise
fees allocated
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to Applebee's intellectual property. Franchise operations expenses include pre-opening training expenses and other franchise-related costs.

        The company restaurant operations segment consists of company-operated restaurants in the United States and China. Company restaurant sales
are retail sales at company-operated restaurants. Company restaurant expenses are operating expenses at company-operated restaurants and include
food, beverage (alcoholic and non-alcoholic), labor, benefits, utilities, rent and other restaurant operating costs.

        Rental operations activities are not currently a significant part of Applebee's business. Financing operations activities are not currently a part of
Applebee's business.

IHOP

        The franchise operations segment consists of restaurants operated by IHOP franchisees and area licensees in the United States and two countries
outside of the U.S.—Canada and Mexico. Franchise operations revenue consists primarily of franchise royalty revenues, sales of proprietary products,
franchise advertising fees and the portion of the franchise fees allocated to IHOP intellectual property. Franchise operations expenses include
advertising expense, the cost of proprietary products and pre-opening training expenses and other franchise-related costs.

        The company restaurant operations segment consists of company-operated restaurants in the United States. In addition, from time to time,
restaurants that are reacquired from franchisees are operated by IHOP on a temporary basis. Company restaurant sales are retail sales at company-
operated restaurants. Company restaurant expenses are operating expenses at company-operated restaurants and include food, beverage (non-alcoholic),
labor, benefits, utilities, rent and other restaurant operating costs.

        Rental operations revenue includes revenue from operating leases and interest income from direct financing leases. Rental operations expenses are
costs of operating leases and interest expense on capital leases on franchisee-operated restaurants. Currently, the rental operations segment is
substantially generated by IHOP.

        Financing operations revenue consists of the portion of franchise fees not allocated to IHOP intellectual property, sales of equipment, as well as
interest income from the financing of franchise fees and equipment leases. Financing expenses are primarily the cost of restaurant equipment.

Restaurant Concepts

Applebee's

        We develop, franchise and operate restaurants in the bar and grill segment of the casual dining category of the restaurant industry under the name
"Applebee's Neighborhood Grill & Bar®." With 2,004 system-wide restaurants as of December 31, 2008, Applebee's Neighborhood Grill & Bar is one
of the largest casual dining concepts in the world, in terms of number of restaurants and market share. As of December 31, 2008, franchisees operated
1,598 of these restaurants and 406 restaurants were company-operated. The restaurants were located in 49 states, 16 countries outside of the United
States and one U.S. territory.

        Each Applebee's restaurant is designed as an attractive, friendly, neighborhood establishment featuring moderately-priced high quality food,
alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverage items, table service and a comfortable atmosphere. Applebee's restaurants appeal to a wide range of customers
including young adults, senior citizens and families with children.
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Franchising

        Generally, franchise arrangements consist of a development agreement and separate franchise agreements for each franchised restaurant.
Development agreements grant to the Franchise Developer the exclusive right to develop Applebee's restaurants in a designated geographical area over a
specified period of time. The term of a domestic development agreement is generally 20 years. The development agreements typically provide for an
initial development schedule of one to five years as agreed upon by the Company and the franchisee. At or shortly prior to the completion of the initial
development schedule or any subsequent supplemental development schedule, the Company and the franchisee generally execute supplemental
development schedules providing for the development of additional Applebee's restaurants in the Franchise Developer's exclusive territory.

        Prior to the opening of each new Applebee's restaurant, the franchisee and the Company enter into a separate franchise agreement for that
restaurant. Our standard franchise agreement provides for an initial term of 20 years and permits renewal for up to an additional 20 years upon payment
of an additional franchise fee. Our current standard franchise arrangement calls for an initial franchisee fee of $35,000 and a royalty fee equal to 4% of
the restaurant's monthly net sales. We have agreements with a majority of our franchisees for Applebee's restaurants opened before January 1, 2000,
which provide for royalty rates of 4% and extend the initial term of the franchise agreements until 2020. The terms, royalties and advertising fees under
a limited number of franchise agreements and other franchise fees under older development agreements vary from the currently offered arrangements.

        We currently require domestic franchisees of Applebee's restaurants to contribute 2.75% of their gross sales to a national advertising fund and to
spend at least 1% of their gross sales on local marketing and promotional activities. Under most Applebee's franchise agreements, we have the ability to
increase the amount of the required combined contribution to the national advertising fund and the amount required to be spent on local marketing and
promotional activities to a maximum of 5% of gross sales.

        We are pursuing a strategy which contemplates transitioning from our current 80% franchised system to an approximately 98% franchised system.
In order to accomplish this strategy we plan to franchise substantially all of the company-operated Applebee's restaurants while retaining one company
market in Kansas City. This heavily franchised business model is expected to require less capital investment, improve margins, and reduce the volatility
of cash flow performance over time.

        We currently have 75 franchise groups, including 32 international franchisees. We have generally selected franchisees that are experienced multi-
unit restaurant operators. Many franchisees have operated or concurrently operate other restaurant concepts. Our franchisees operate Applebee's
restaurants in 44 states in the United States, 15 countries outside of the United States and one U.S. territory. We have assigned development rights to
the vast majority of domestic areas in all states except Hawaii and the company-operated markets.

        As of December 31, 2008, there were 1,470 domestic franchise restaurants. During 2008, 28 new domestic franchise restaurants were opened, 15
domestic franchise restaurants were closed and 103 company-operated restaurants were refranchised.

International Franchising

        We continue to pursue franchising of the Applebee's concept as the primary method of international expansion. To this end we seek qualified
franchisees that possess the resources needed to open multiple restaurants in each territory and are familiar with the specific local business environment
in which they propose to develop and operate Applebee's restaurants. We currently are focusing on international franchising primarily in Canada,
Central and South America, the Mediterranean/Middle East and Mexico. We currently have 32 international franchisees. As of December 31, 2008,
these
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franchisees operated 128 Applebee's restaurants. During 2008, 20 new international franchise restaurants were opened while three international
franchise restaurants were closed. The success of further international expansion will depend on, among other things, local acceptance of the Applebee's
concept and menu offerings and our ability to attract qualified franchisees and operating personnel. Our franchisees must comply with the regulatory
requirements of the local jurisdictions.

        We work closely with our international franchisees to develop and implement the Applebee's system outside the United States, recognizing
commercial, cultural and dietary diversity. Differences in tastes and cultural norms and standards mean we need to be flexible and pragmatic regarding
many elements of the Applebee's system, including menu, restaurant design, restaurant operations, training, marketing, purchasing and financing.

Franchise Operations

        We continuously monitor franchise restaurant operations, principally through our Franchise Area Directors and our Directors of Franchise
Operations. Company and third-party representatives make both scheduled and unannounced inspections of restaurants to ensure that only approved
products are in use and that our prescribed operations practices and procedures are being followed. We have the right to terminate a franchise agreement
if a franchisee does not operate and maintain a restaurant in accordance with our requirements. We also monitor the financial health of our franchisees
through business and financial reviews.

        We maintain a Franchise Business Council which provides input about operations, marketing, product development and other aspects of
restaurants for the purpose of improving the franchise system. As of December 31, 2008, the Franchise Business Council consisted of eight franchisee
representatives and three members of our senior management team. One franchisee representative, the founder of Applebee's, is a member for life. The
other franchisee representatives are elected by franchisees to staggered two-year terms. The Franchise Business Council is also responsible for the
appointment of members to advisory committees related to marketing, supply chain, information technology and product development.

Company-Operated Restaurants

        Historically, company-operated Applebee's restaurants have been clustered in targeted markets to increase consumer awareness and convenience
and enable us to take advantage of operational, distribution and advertising efficiencies. We plan to continue to execute our strategy, initiated in 2008, of
transitioning to an approximately 98% franchised system.

        In 2008 we franchised 103 company-owned restaurants in the California, Nevada, Delaware and Texas markets. We have a signed agreement to
franchise an additional seven company-owned restaurants in New Mexico. Our planned franchising efforts assume we will franchise approximately 200
company-operated Applebee's restaurants in 2009, and complete the franchising process in 2010. This heavily franchised business model is expected to
require less capital investment, improve margins, and reduce the volatility of cash flow performance over time.

        In June 2008, we sold 181 fee-owned Applebee's properties (approximately 91% of our total fee-owned locations) in a sale-leaseback transaction
in June 2008.
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        The following table shows the areas where our company-operated Applebee's restaurants were located as of December 31, 2008:

Area    

New England (includes Maine, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New York, Rhode Island and Vermont)  71 
Detroit/Southern Michigan   65 
Minneapolis/St. Paul, Minnesota   63 
Virginia   59 
St. Louis, Missouri/Illinois   57 
Kansas City, Missouri/Kansas   34 
Washington, D.C. (includes Maryland and Virginia)   30 
Central Missouri/Kansas/Arkansas   12 
Albuquerque, New Mexico(1)   7 
Memphis, Tennessee   7 
Shanghai, China   1 
    

  406 
    

(1) Five of these restaurants were franchised on February 24, 2009.

Restaurant Development

        We make the design specifications for a typical restaurant available to franchisees, and we retain the right to prohibit or modify the use of any set of
plans. Each franchisee is responsible for selecting the site for each restaurant within its territory. We may assist franchisees in selecting appropriate sites,
and any selection made by a franchisee is subject to our approval. We also conduct a physical inspection, review any proposed lease or purchase
agreement and make available to franchisees demographic and other studies

Future Restaurant Development

        There are currently 36 development agreements in place covering the entire United States (except Hawaii) and 15 development agreements calling
for restaurant development in foreign countries. Beginning in 2008, we initiated the process of franchising the majority of our 510 domestic company-
operated restaurants, in accordance with our strategy. This process is expected to extend into 2010. In conjunction with the franchising of these
restaurants, we expect to enter into development agreements with the new franchisees setting forth requirements for development in each market. In
2009, we expect franchisees to open a total of 33 to 42 new Applebee's restaurants including 15 to 19 domestic franchise restaurants and 18 to 23
international franchise restaurants. We do not currently plan to open any domestic company-operated restaurants.

        The following table represents Applebee's restaurant development commitments for 2009 and 2010. We have disclosed development commitments
for only a two-year period as the Applebee's
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development agreements generally provide for a series of two-year development commitments after the initial development period.

  
Contractual Opening of Restaurants by

Year  
  2009  2010  

Domestic development agreements   19  15 
International development agreements   23  18 
      

  42  33 
      

        The actual number of openings may differ from our expectations due to various factors, including economic conditions, franchisee access to
capital, and the impact of currency fluctuations on our international franchisees. The timing of new restaurant openings may also be affected by various
factors including weather-related and other construction delays and difficulties in obtaining regulatory approvals.

Composition of Franchise System

        The numbers of restaurants held by individual franchisees ranges from one to 189 restaurants. The table below sets forth information regarding the
number of Applebee's restaurants owned by domestic franchisees as of December 31, 2008 as well as the total number of restaurants falling into each of
the listed ownership ranges.

  Franchisees  Restaurants  

Number of Restaurants Held by Franchisee  Number  

Percent
of

Total  Number  

Percent
of

Total  

One to Ten   10  23%  60  4%
Eleven to Twenty-Five   13  30%  239  16%
Twenty-Six to Fifty   11  26%  406  28%
Fifty-One to One Hundred   7  16%  472  32%
One Hundred-One and over   2  5%  293  20%
          

Total   43  100%  1,470  100%
          

        There were 32 international franchisees with 128 restaurants open as of December 31, 2008. All of these franchisees had fewer than 25 restaurants
open as of December 31, 2008. In addition, two international franchisees had not yet opened a restaurant as of December 31, 2008.

Menu

        Applebee's restaurants offer a diverse menu of moderately-priced food and beverage items consisting of traditional favorites and signature dishes.
The restaurants feature a broad selection of entrees prepared in a variety of cuisines, as well as appetizers, salads, sandwiches, specialty drinks and
desserts. Substantially all Applebee's restaurants offer beer, wine, liquor and premium specialty drinks.

        During 2004, Applebee's began a five-year exclusive strategic alliance with Weight Watchers International, Inc. to offer Weight Watchers®
branded menu items to our guests. At the conclusion of the agreement the parties entered into a new, non-exclusive endorsement agreement which
became effective on January 5, 2009. Under the new agreement, Applebee's and participating franchisees pay Weight Watchers a royalty equal to 2.5%
of the proceeds from the sale of Weight Watchers branded items on the Applebee's menu. The initial term of the agreement is one year and Applebee's
has the option to extend the agreement for an additional year.
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Marketing and Advertising

        Applebee's has historically concentrated its advertising and marketing efforts primarily on food-specific promotions, as well as on Weight
Watchers, Carside To Go™ and other Applebee's branded messaging. Our advertising and marketing includes national, regional and local expenditures,
utilizing primarily television, radio, direct mail and print media, as well as alternative channels such as the Internet, product placements and the use of
third-party retailers to market our gift cards. For the year ended December 31, 2008, approximately 4% of Applebee's company restaurant sales were
allocated for marketing purposes. This amount includes contributions to the national advertising fund, which develops and funds the national
promotions and the development of television and radio commercials and print advertising materials. We focus the remainder of our company-operated
restaurant marketing expenditures on local marketing in areas with company-operated restaurants.

        We currently require domestic franchisees of Applebee's restaurants to contribute 2.75% of their gross sales to the national advertising fund and to
spend at least 1% of their gross sales on local marketing and promotional activities. Under the current Applebee's franchise agreements, we have the
ability to increase the amount of the required combined contribution to the national advertising fund and the amount required to be spent on local
marketing and promotional activities to a maximum of 5% of gross sales.

Purchasing

        Maintaining high food quality, system-wide consistency and availability is the central focus of our supply chain program. We establish quality
standards for products used in the restaurants, and we maintain a list of approved suppliers and distributors from which we and our franchisees must
select. We periodically review the quality of the products served in our domestic restaurants in an effort to ensure compliance with these standards. We
have negotiated purchasing agreements with most of our approved suppliers which result in volume discounts for us and our franchisees. At
December 31, 2008, there were outstanding purchase commitments to purchase food items of approximately $119.1 million. In February 2009 we
announced the formation of Centralized Supply Chain Services, LLC (CSCS), an independent purchasing co-operative to manage procurement activities
for the Applebee's and IHOP restaurants choosing to join the co-operative. Due to cultural and regulatory differences, we may have different
requirements for restaurants opened outside of the United States.

IHOP

        We develop, franchise and operate restaurants in the family dining category of the restaurant industry under the names "IHOP" and "International
House of Pancakes." As of December 31, 2008, there were a total of 1,396 IHOP restaurants of which 1,225 were subject to franchise agreements, 160
were subject to area license agreements and 11 were company-operated restaurants. Franchisees and area licensees are independent third parties who are
licensed by us to operate their restaurants using our trademarks, operating systems and methods and offer a broad range of entrees, appetizers, desserts
and non-alcoholic beverages specified by IHOP, including our award-winning pancakes. We own and operate ten IHOP restaurants in the Cincinnati
market primarily for testing new menu items and operational or procedural systems and for other research and development purposes. We also operate,
from time to time on a temporary basis, IHOP restaurants that we reacquire for a variety of reasons from IHOP franchisees. IHOP restaurants are
located in 49 states in the United States, the District of Columbia, and internationally in Canada and Mexico.

        IHOP restaurants feature full table service and moderately priced, high-quality food and beverage offerings in an attractive and comfortable
atmosphere. Although the restaurants are best known for their award-winning pancakes, omelets and other breakfast specialties, IHOP restaurants offer
a broad
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array of lunch, dinner and snack items as well. IHOP restaurants are open throughout the day and evening hours, and many operate 24 hours a day.

Franchising

        Franchising activities include both company-financed and franchisee-financed development. For clarity of presentation, the discussion below is
separated between those activities specific to the Company's business model as it was in effect prior to 2003 (referred to as the Previous Business
Model) and those adopted in January 2003 (referred to as the Current Business Model). As discussed in greater detail below, under the Previous
Business Model the Company developed a substantial majority of all IHOP restaurants with the intention of leasing them to franchisees. Under the
Current Business Model substantially all new IHOP restaurants are developed by franchise developers with the intention of operating them as
franchised restaurants.

Current Business Model

        Under our Current Business Model, a potential franchisee first negotiates and enters into a single store development agreement or a multi-store
development agreement with the Company and, upon completion of a prescribed approval procedure, is primarily responsible for the development and
financing of one or more new IHOP franchised restaurants. In general, we do not provide any financing with respect to the franchise fee or otherwise
under the Current Business Model. The franchise developer uses its own capital and financial resources along with third party financial sources to
purchase or lease a restaurant site, build and equip the business and fund its working capital needs. The principal terms of the franchise agreements
entered into under the Previous Business Model and the Current Business Model, including the franchise royalties and the franchise advertising fees,
are substantially the same except with respect to the terms relating to the franchise fee.

        The revenues received by the Company from a typical franchise development arrangement under the Current Business Model include (a) (i) a
location fee equal to $15,000 upon execution of a single store development agreement or (ii) a development fee equal to $20,000 for each IHOP
restaurant that the franchisee contracts to develop upon execution of a multi-store development agreement; (b) a franchise fee equal to (i) $50,000
(against which the $15,000 location fee will be credited) for a restaurant developed under a single store development agreement or (ii) $40,000 (against
which the $20,000 development fee will be credited) for each restaurant developed under a multi-store development agreement, in each case paid upon
execution of the franchise agreement; (c) franchise royalties equal to 4.5% of weekly gross sales; (d) revenue from the sale of pancake and waffle dry-
mixes; and (e) franchise advertising fees.

Previous Business Model

        IHOP franchised restaurants established prior to 2003 under our Previous Business Model were generally developed by the Company. The
Company was involved in all aspects of the development and financing of the restaurants. Under the Previous Business Model, the Company typically
identified and leased or purchased the restaurant sites for new company-developed IHOP restaurants, built and equipped the restaurants and then
franchised them to franchisees. In addition, IHOP typically financed as much as 80% of the franchise fee for periods ranging from five to eight years
and leased the restaurant and equipment to the franchisee over a 25-year period.

        The revenues received from a Previous Business Model franchised restaurant include: (a) the franchise fee, a portion of which (typically 20%) was
paid upon execution of the franchise agreement; (b) interest income from the financing arrangements for the unpaid portion of the franchise fee under
the franchise notes; (c) franchise royalties typically equal to 4.5% of weekly gross sales; (d) lease or sublease rents for the restaurant property and
building; (e) rent under an equipment lease; (f) revenues
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from the sale of pancake and waffle dry-mixes; and (g) franchise advertising fees. The franchise agreements generally provide for advertising fees
comprised of (i) a local advertising fee generally equal to 2.0% of weekly gross sales under the franchise agreement, which was usually collected by us
and then used to cover the cost of local media purchases and other local advertising expenses incurred by a local advertising cooperative, and (ii) a
national advertising fee equal to 1.0% of weekly gross sales under the franchise agreement. Area licensees are generally required to pay lesser amounts
toward advertising. Beginning in 2005, the Company and the IHOP franchisees agreed to reallocate portions of the local advertising fees to purchase
national broadcast, syndication and cable television time in order to reach our target audience more frequently and more cost effectively. In a few
instances we have agreed to accept reduced royalties and/or lease payments from franchisees or have provided other accommodations to franchisees for
specified periods of time in order to assist them in either establishing or reinvigorating their businesses.

        From time to time we will reacquire restaurants developed under the Previous Business Model from a franchisee that is struggling to fulfill its
financial obligations or is otherwise in default of its agreements with the Company. In most cases we have been able to refranchise these restaurants to
new franchisees fairly quickly. Where that is not the case, we typically operate the reacquired restaurant pending refranchising. These reacquired
restaurants may require investments in remodeling and rehabilitation before they can be refranchised. As a consequence, our reacquired restaurants
frequently incur operating losses for some period of time. Where appropriate, we may negotiate modified payment terms or agree to other
accommodations with franchisees to assist them to rehabilitate these restaurants.

Area License Agreements and International Franchise Agreements

        We have entered into three long-term area license agreements covering the state of Florida and certain counties in the state of Georgia and the
province of British Columbia, Canada. As of December 31, 2008, the area licenses for the state of Florida and certain counties in Georgia operated or
sub-franchised a total of 148 IHOP restaurants, and the area licensees for the province of British Columbia, Canada operated or sub-franchised a total of
12 IHOP restaurants. The area license agreements provide for royalties ranging from 0.5% to 2.0% of gross sales, and license advertising fees equal to
0.25% of gross sales. The area license agreements provide the licensees with the right to develop new IHOP restaurants in their respective territories.
We also derive revenues from the sale of proprietary products to these area licensees and in certain instances their sub-franchisees. We treat the revenues
from our area licensees as franchise operations revenues for financial reporting purposes.

Franchise Operations

        IHOP's Operations Department is charged with ensuring that high operational standards are met at all times by our franchisees. Operating
standards have been developed in consultation with franchisees and are detailed in the "IHOP Manual of Standard Operating Procedures."

        We highly value good franchisor/franchisee relations and strive to maintain positive working relationships with our franchisees. We sponsor the
IHOP Franchise Board of Advisors, an elected body of IHOP franchisees formed to advise and assist IHOP management with respect to a broad range
of matters relating to the operation of IHOP restaurants. The group meets with IHOP management at least quarterly to discuss operational issues,
marketing matters, development and construction issues, information technology and many other topics. IHOP management also works closely with the
IHOP Franchise Procurement Committee, a group formed to negotiate joint purchase arrangements for food and supplies to take advantage of
economies of scale. In February 2009 we announced the formation of CSCS, an independent purchasing co-operative to manage all procurement
activities for the Applebee's and IHOP restaurants choosing to join the co-operative. Due to cultural and regulatory differences we may have different
requirements for restaurants opened outside of the United States.
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Company-Operated Restaurants

        Company-operated IHOP restaurants are essentially comprised of our IHOP owned restaurants in Cincinnati, Ohio. In addition, from time to time,
restaurants developed by us under the Previous Business Model are returned by franchisees to us and may be operated by the Company for an
indefinite period until they are refranchised. As of December 31, 2008, there were a total of 11 company-operated restaurants, ten of which were located
in the Cincinnati market.

        We maintain the company-operated restaurants in Cincinnati to facilitate the testing of new building types and remodel designs, new products and
equipment, new operational procedures, and new marketing, brand and design elements.

Restaurant Development

        The Current Business Model relies on franchisees to obtain their own financing to develop IHOP restaurants. We review and approve the
franchisees' proposed sites but do not contribute capital or become the franchisees' landlord. Under the Current Business Model, substantially all new
IHOP restaurants are financed and developed by franchisees or area licensees. In 2008, our franchisees and area licensees financed and developed 70
new restaurants and we developed one additional restaurant in our company operations. As of the date of this report we do not intend to build additional
IHOP restaurants in the Cincinnati market.

        New IHOP restaurants are only developed after a stringent site selection process supervised by our senior management. We expect our franchisees
to add restaurants to the IHOP system in major markets where we already have a core guest base. We believe that concentrating growth in existing
markets allows us to achieve economies of scale in our supervisory and advertising functions. We also look to have our franchisees strategically add
restaurants in new markets in which we currently have no presence or our presence is limited.

Future Restaurant Development

        In 2008, IHOP entered into 24 franchise development agreements. As of December 31, 2008, we had signed commitments from franchisees to
build 307 IHOP restaurants over the next nine years plus options for an additional 111 restaurants. This number includes 18 restaurants under single-
store development agreements, 337 restaurants under multi-store development agreements and 63 restaurants under international development
agreements.

        In 2009, we expect to open a total of 65 to 75 new IHOP restaurants, including 55 to 60 franchise restaurants, three to five area license restaurants
in Florida and seven to ten restaurants outside the U.S. or in non-traditional channels.

        The following table represents our IHOP restaurant development commitments, including options, as of December 31, 2008:

    
Contractual Openings of

Restaurants by Year  

  

Number of Signed
Agreements at

12/31/08  2009  2010  2011  
2012 and
thereafter  Total  

Single-store development agreements   18  12  5  1  —  18 
Multi-store development agreements   80  74  55  43  165  337 
International development agreements   7  8  6  5  44  63 
              

  105  94  66  49  209  418 
              

        The actual number of openings in any period may differ from the number of signed commitments. Historically, the actual number of restaurants
developed in a particular year has been less than the
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total number committed to be developed due to various factors including weather-related delays, other construction delays, difficulties in obtaining
timely regulatory approvals and various economic factors.

Composition of Franchise System

        The number of restaurants held by individual franchisees ranges from one to 53 restaurants. The table below sets forth information regarding the
number of IHOP restaurants owned by domestic franchisees as of December 31, 2008 as well as the total number of restaurants falling into each of the
listed ranges.

  Franchisees  Restaurants  

Number of Restaurants
Held by Franchisee  Number  

Percent
of

Total  Number  

Percent
of

Total  

One   168  47.6%  168  13.7%
Two to Five   132  37.4%  369  30.1%
Six to Ten   30  8.5%  221  18.0%
Eleven to Fifteen   10  2.8%  127  10.4%
Sixteen and over   13  3.7%  340  27.8%
          

Total   353  100.0%  1,225  100.0%
          

Menu

        The IHOP menu offers a large selection of high-quality, moderately priced products designed to appeal to a broad base of customers. These
include a wide variety of pancakes, waffles, omelets and breakfast specialties, chicken, steak, sandwiches, salads and lunch and dinner specialties. Most
IHOP restaurants offer special items for children and seniors at reduced prices. In recognition of local tastes, IHOP restaurants typically offer regional
specialties that complement the IHOP core menu. Our Product Research and Development Department works together with franchisees and our
Marketing Department to develop new menu and promotion ideas. These new items are thoroughly evaluated in our test kitchen and in limited regional
tests, which include both operational tests and selected media supported tests, before being introduced throughout the system through core menu
updates. The purpose of adding new items and improving existing items is to broaden the appeal of our food to our guests and continually give them
new reasons to return to our restaurants. These efforts are based on consumer research, feedback and benchmarking, which help to identify
opportunities to improve existing items as well as for developing new items.

Marketing and Advertising

        IHOP franchisees and company-operated restaurants contribute a percentage of their sales to local advertising cooperatives and a national
advertising fund. The franchise agreements provide for advertising fees comprised of (i) a local advertising fee equal to 2.0% of weekly gross sales,
which is used to cover the cost of local media purchases and (ii) a national advertising fee equal to 1.0% of weekly gross sales. Area licensees are
generally required to pay lesser amounts toward advertising.

        The local advertising cooperatives have historically used the local advertising fees to purchase television advertising time, radio advertising time
and place advertisements in printed media or direct mail locally. In addition, we encourage other local marketing by our franchisees. These marketing
programs often include discount coupons and specials aimed at increasing guest traffic and encouraging repeat business. The national marketing fund is
primarily used for the creation of advertising and to defray certain expenses associated with our marketing and advertising functions.

        Beginning in 2005, we and the franchisees have reallocated a portion of the local advertising fees to national media in order to take advantage of
buying efficiencies associated with national broadcast,
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syndication and cable media. For 2007 and 2008 the franchisees agreed to reallocate one half of their local advertising fees to national media spending
and for 2009 the franchisees agreed to reallocate 62% of their local advertising fees. As a result, more of our television advertising will be seen on
national broadcast, syndication and cable media. This should result in a significant increase in the number of people who view our commercials and the
frequency with which they see them.

Purchasing

        IHOP has entered into supply contracts for pancake and waffle dry-mixes and pricing agreements for most major products carried in IHOP
restaurants to ensure the availability of quality products at competitive prices. IHOP has negotiated other agreements or arrangements with food
distribution companies to limit markups charged on food and restaurant supplies purchased by individual IHOP restaurants. In some instances, IHOP is
required to enter into commitments to purchase food and other items on behalf of the IHOP system as a whole for the purpose of supplying limited time
promotions. At December 31, 2008, there were outstanding purchase commitments to purchase food items of approximately $4.2 million. We have
developed processes to facilitate the liquidation of any such commitments to minimize financial exposure. To take advantage of economies associated
with system-wide volume purchasing, we and our franchisees have developed procurement processes to secure favorable pricing agreements based on
system wide ordering. These agreements ensure availability of most major products carried in IHOP restaurants. In February 2009, we announced the
formation of CSCS, an independent purchasing co-operative to manage procurement activities for the Applebee's and IHOP restaurants choosing to join
the co-operative.

Industry Overview and Competition

        The Applebee's and IHOP restaurant chains are among the numerous restaurant chains participating in the $500 billion plus consumer food service
market in the United States. The restaurant business is generally categorized into segments by price point ranges, the types of food and beverages
offered and the types of service experience. These segments include, among others, fast food or quick service restaurants ("QSR"), family dining,
casual dining and fine dining. Each of these segments can be broken down further into the type of food served by the restaurant. For example, the QSR
category includes sandwich chains, hamburger chains, and other such chains.

        Applebee's competes in the casual dining segment against national and multi-state operators such as Chili's, T.G.I. Friday's and Ruby Tuesday,
among others. In addition, there are many independent restaurants across the country in the casual dining segment. Casual dining restaurants offer full
table service and typically have bars or serve liquor, wine and beer. Applebee's is one of the largest casual dining brands in the world, in terms of
number of restaurants and market share.

        IHOP competes in the family dining segment against national and multi-state operators such as Denny's, Cracker Barrel Old Country Store, Bob
Evans Restaurants and Perkins Restaurant and Bakery. In addition, there are many independent restaurants and diners across the country in the family
dining segment. Family dining restaurants offer full table service, typically do not have bars or serve liquor, and usually offer breakfast in addition to
lunch and dinner items. IHOP is one of the largest family dining brands in the world, in terms of number of restaurants and market share.

        The restaurant business is highly competitive and is affected by, among other things, economic conditions, price levels, on-going changes in eating
habits and food preferences, population trends and traffic patterns. The principal bases of competition in the industry are the type, quality and price of
the food products served. Additionally, restaurant location, quality and speed of service, advertising, name identification and attractiveness of facilities
are important.
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        The market for high quality restaurant sites is also highly competitive. We and our franchisees often compete with other restaurant chains and retail
businesses for suitable sites for the development of new restaurants.

        We also compete against other franchising organizations both within and outside the restaurant industry for new franchise developers.

Trademarks and Service Marks

        We own the rights to the "Applebee's Neighborhood Grill & Bar®" service mark and certain variations thereof and to other service marks used in
our Applebee's system in the United States and in various foreign countries. In addition, we own trademarks and service marks used in the IHOP
system, including "International House of Pancakes," "IHOP" and variations of each, as well as "The Never Empty Coffee Pot," "Rooty Tooty Fresh
'N Fruity," "Harvest Grain 'N Nut," and "Come Hungry, Leave Happy." We have registered or applied to register our material trademarks and service
marks with the United States Patent and Trademark Office. We also register new trademarks and service marks from time to time. We will protect our
trademarks and service marks by appropriate legal action when necessary.

Seasonal Operations

        We do not consider our operations to be seasonal to any material degree.

Government Regulation

        We are subject to Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") regulation and a number of state laws which regulate the offer and sale of franchises. We are
also subject to a number of state laws which regulate substantive aspects of the franchisor-franchisee relationship. The FTC's Trade Regulation Rule on
Franchising, as amended (the "FTC Rule"), requires us to furnish to prospective franchisees a Franchise Disclosure Document containing information
prescribed by the FTC Rule.

        State laws that regulate the offer and sale of franchises and the franchisor-franchisee relationship presently exist in a number of states. State laws
that regulate the offer and sale of franchises require registration of the franchise offering with the state authorities. Those states that regulate the
franchise relationship generally require that the franchisor deal with its franchisees in good faith, prohibit interference with the right of free association
among franchisees, limit the imposition of unreasonable standards of performance on a franchisee and regulate discrimination against franchisees with
respect to charges, royalty fees or other fees. Although such laws may restrict a franchisor in the termination and/or non-renewal of a franchise
agreement by, for example, requiring "good cause" to exist as a basis for the termination and/or non-renewal, advance notice to the franchisee of the
termination or non-renewal, an opportunity to cure a default and a repurchase of inventory or other compensation upon termination, these provisions
have not historically had a significant effect on franchise operations.

        Each restaurant is subject to licensing and regulation by a number of governmental authorities, which may include liquor license authorities
(primarily in the case of Applebee's restaurants), health, sanitation, safety, fire, building and other agencies in the state or municipality in which the
restaurant is located. Difficulties in obtaining, or failure to obtain, the required licenses or approvals could delay or prevent the development of a new
restaurant in a particular area or cause the temporary closure of existing restaurants. We are also subject to new laws and regulations, which vary from
jurisdiction to jurisdiction, relating to nutritional content and menu labeling. Compliance with these laws and regulations may lead to increased costs and
operational complexity and may increase our exposure to governmental investigations or litigation.
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        We are subject to federal and state environmental regulations, but these have not had a material effect on our operations. More stringent and varied
requirements of local governmental bodies with respect to zoning, land use and environmental factors could delay or prevent the development of new
restaurants in particular areas.

        Various federal and state labor laws govern our and our franchisees' relationships with our respective employees. These include such matters as
minimum wage requirements, overtime and other working conditions. Significant additional government-imposed increases in minimum wages, paid
leaves of absence, mandated health benefits or increased tax reporting and tax payment requirements with respect to employees who receive gratuities
could be detrimental to the economic viability of our restaurants.

Environmental Matters

        We are not aware of any federal, state or local environmental laws or regulations that are likely to materially impact our revenues, cash flow or
competitive position, or result in any material capital expenditure. However, we cannot predict the effect of possible future environmental legislation or
regulations.

Employees

        At December 31, 2008, we employed approximately 25,248 employees, of whom 766 were full-time, non-restaurant, corporate personnel. Our
employees are not represented by any collective bargaining agreement, and we have never experienced a work stoppage. We believe our employee
relations are good.
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Item 1A.    Risk Factors. 

        The current economic situation could adversely affect the Company's business, results of operations, liquidity and capital resources. The U.S.
economy is currently undergoing significant slowdown and volatility due to uncertainties related to availability of credit, difficulties in the banking and
financial services sectors, softness in the housing market, severely diminished market liquidity, falling consumer confidence and rising unemployment
rates. Our business is dependent to a significant extent on national, regional and local economic conditions, particularly those that affect the
demographics that frequently patronize Applebee's or IHOP restaurants. In particular, where our customers' disposable income available for
discretionary spending is reduced (such as by job losses, credit constraints and higher housing, taxes, energy, interest or other costs) or where the
perceived wealth of customers has decreased (because of circumstances such as lower residential real estate values, increased foreclosure rates,
increased tax rates or other economic disruptions), our business could experience lower sales and customer traffic as potential customers choose lower-
cost alternatives (such as quick-service restaurants or fast casual dining) or choose alternatives to dining out. Any resulting decreases in customer traffic
or average value per transaction will negatively impact the Company's financial performance, as reduced revenues result in downward pressure on
margins. These factors could reduce Applebee's or IHOP company-operated restaurant gross sales and profitability. These factors could also reduce
gross sales of franchise restaurants, resulting in lower royalty payments from franchisees, and reduce profitability of franchise restaurants, potentially
impacting the ability of franchisees to make royalty payments as they become due. Reduction in cash flows from either company-operated or franchised
restaurants could have a material adverse affect on the Company's liquidity and capital resources.

        We incurred substantial indebtedness to finance the Applebee's acquisition which could adversely affect our business and limit our ability to
plan for or respond to changes in our business. As of December 31, 2008, we had outstanding long-term debt of approximately $1.9 billion, almost
all of which was incurred to finance the 2007 acquisition of Applebee's. In addition, we may incur additional debt to the extent permitted under the terms
of our debt covenants. Our substantial indebtedness and the fact that we are contractually obligated to apply a large portion of our cash flow from
operations to make payments of interest and principal on our indebtedness have important consequences to our business and our shareholders,
including:

• reducing funds available for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and other purposes; 

• increasing our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions; 

• limiting our ability to obtain additional financing; 

• creating competitive disadvantages compared to other companies with less indebtedness; and 

• limiting our ability to apply proceeds from a securities offering or asset sale to purposes other than the repayment of debt.

        Our debt covenants associated with this indebtedness limit our ability to incur additional indebtedness, make investments, pay dividends and
engage in other transactions. In addition, our debt covenants require that certain debt service coverage and consolidated leverage ratios be met. Our
failure to comply with these covenants could result in an event of default that, if not cured or waived, could result, among other things, in the
acceleration of all of our indebtedness and the imposition of a third party to act as Servicer for our IHOP and Applebee's franchise systems.

        We may be unable to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy our significant debt service obligations, which would adversely affect our
financial condition and results of operations. Our ability to make interest and principal payments on and to refinance our indebtedness will depend on
our ability to generate cash from both operations and the refranchising of company-operated restaurants in the future. This, to a
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certain extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control. If our business
does not generate sufficient cash flow from operations, if the refranchising of company-operated restaurants generates less proceeds than anticipated or
does not take place at all, if currently anticipated cost savings and operating improvements are not realized on schedule, in the amounts anticipated or at
all, or if future borrowings are not available to us in amounts sufficient to enable us to pay our indebtedness or to fund our other liquidity needs, our
financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected. If we cannot generate sufficient cash flow from operations and from the
refranchising of company-operated restaurants to make scheduled interest and principal payments on our debt obligations in the future, we may need to
refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness on or before maturity, sell assets, defer payment of Series A Preferred Stock dividends and by so doing
incur a higher dividend rate, delay capital expenditures or seek additional equity. If we are unable to refinance any of our indebtedness on commercially
reasonable terms or at all, or to effect any other action relating to our indebtedness on satisfactory terms or at all, our business may be harmed.

        Declines in our financial performance could result in additional impairment charges in future periods.  U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles require annual (or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances warrant) impairment tests of goodwill, certain intangible assets and
other long-lived assets. Generally speaking, if the carrying value of the asset is in excess of the estimated fair value of the asset, the carrying value will
be adjusted to fair value through an impairment charge. Fair value estimates are primarily discounted cash flows based on five-year forecasts of financial
results that incorporate assumptions as to same-store sales trends, future development plans and brand-enhancing initiatives, among other things.
Significant underachievement of forecasted results could reduce the estimated fair value of these assets below the carrying value, requiring non-cash
impairment charges to reduce the carrying value of the asset. As of December 31, 2008 our total stockholders' equity is $42.8 million. A significant
writedown of goodwill, intangible assets or long-lived assets in the future could result in a deficit balance in stockholders' equity. While such a deficit
balance would not create an incident of default in any of our contractual agreements, the negative perception of such a deficit could have an adverse
affect on our stock price and could impair our ability to obtain new financing, or refinance existing indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms or at
all.

        The restaurant industry is highly competitive, and that competition could lower our revenues, margins and market share.  The performance of
individual restaurants may be adversely affected by factors such as traffic patterns, demographics and the type, number and location of competing
restaurants. The restaurant industry is highly competitive with respect to price, service, location, personnel and the type and quality of food. Each
Applebee's and IHOP restaurant competes directly and indirectly with a large number of national and regional restaurant chains, as well as with locally-
owned quick service restaurants, fast-casual restaurants, sandwich shops and similar types of businesses. The trend toward convergence in grocery,
deli, and restaurant services may increase the number and variety of Applebee's and IHOP restaurants' competitors. In addition to the prevailing baseline
level of competition, major market players in non-competing industries may choose to enter the food services market. Such increased competition could
have a material adverse effect on the financial condition and results of operations of Applebee's or IHOP restaurants in affected markets. Applebee's and
IHOP restaurants also compete with other restaurant chains for qualified management and staff, and we compete with other restaurant chains for
available locations for new restaurants. Applebee's and IHOP restaurants also face competition from the introduction of new products and menu items
by competitors, as well as substantial price discounting, and may continue to do so in the future. Although we may implement a number of business
strategies, the future success of new products, initiatives and overall strategies is highly difficult to predict and will be influenced by competitive product
offerings, pricing and promotions offered by competitors. Our ability to differentiate the Applebee's and IHOP brands from their competitors, which is
in part limited by the advertising monies available to us and by consumer perception, cannot be assured. These factors could reduce the gross sales or
profitability at
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Applebee's or IHOP restaurants, which would reduce the revenues generated by company-owned restaurants and the franchise payments received from
franchisees.

        Our business strategy may not achieve the anticipated results.     We expect to continue to apply a new business strategy that includes, among
other things, (i) the refranchising of more than 90% of the Applebee's company-operated restaurants, (ii) specific changes in the manner in which our
Applebee's and IHOP businesses are managed and serviced, such as the February 2009 establishment of a purchasing cooperative, and the procurement
of products and services from such purchasing cooperative, (iii) the possible introduction of a new restaurant concept, IHOP Café, and (iv) more
generally, improvements to the overall performance of the Applebee's business by applying some of the strategies we previously applied to the IHOP
restaurant business. However, the Applebee's business is different in many respects from the IHOP business. In particular, the Applebee's restaurants
are part of the casual dining segment of the restaurant industry whereas the IHOP restaurants are part of the family dining segment, and the Applebee's
business is larger, distributed differently across the United States and appeals to a somewhat different segment of the consumer market. Therefore, there
can be no assurance that the business strategy we apply to the Applebee's business will be suitable or will achieve similar results to the application of
such business strategy to the IHOP system. In particular, the refranchising of company-operated restaurants may not improve the performance of such
restaurants and may not reduce the capital expenditures to the extent we anticipate or result in the other intended benefits of the strategy. The conversion
of a company-operated restaurant to a franchised restaurant will reduce the total monthly revenue received by us from the restaurant because we receive
all of the revenues generated by a company-operated restaurant but receive only the franchise payments generated by franchised restaurants. However,
we also expect the conversion of company-operated restaurants to franchised restaurants to reduce or eliminate the operating costs we incur in
connection with the restaurant because the operating costs will become the responsibility of the franchisee. The actual benefit from the refranchising of
the restaurants is uncertain and may be less than anticipated, and may not be sufficient to offset the loss of revenues from the conversion of the
company-operated restaurants.

        As of December 31, 2008 we have refranchised, or have agreements to refranchise, 110 of the 510 Applebee's company-operated restaurants
acquired on November 29, 2007. There can be no assurance that we will be able to complete the refranchising of approximately 380 of the remaining
company-operated restaurants on desirable terms or within the anticipated time frame. The anticipated proceeds from the refranchising of the Company-
owned restaurants are based on current market values, recent comparable transaction valuations, and a number of other assumptions. The refranchising
transactions are not expected to be completed for another one to two years. If the market rents, comparable transaction valuations or other assumptions
prove to be incorrect, the actual proceeds from the refranchising of the company-operated restaurants may be different than anticipated. In addition,
adverse economic, market or other conditions existing in the states in which company-operated real property is located may adversely affect our ability
to execute the refranchising transactions or to achieve the anticipated returns from such transactions. Market conditions may have changed at the time the
refranchising transactions occur. Finally, the operational improvement initiatives or purchasing initiatives may not be successful or achieve the desired
results. In particular, there can be no assurance that the existing franchisees or prospective new franchisees will respond favorably to such initiatives.

        Factors specific to the restaurant industry, some of which are outside of our control, may have a material adverse affect on our
business.    The sales and profitability of our restaurants and, in turn, payments from our franchisees may be negatively impacted by a number of
factors, some of which are outside our control. The most significant are:

• declines in comparable store sales growth rates due to: (i) failing to meet customers' expectations for food quality and taste or to innovate
new menu items to retain the existing customer base and attract new customers; (ii) competitive intrusions in our markets;
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(iii) opening new restaurants that cannibalize the sales of existing restaurants; (iv) failure of national or local marketing to be effective;
(v) weakening national, regional and local economic conditions; and (vi) natural disasters or extreme weather conditions.

• negative trends in operating expenses such as: (i) increases in food costs including rising commodity costs; (ii) increases in labor costs
including increases in minimum wage and other employment laws, immigration reform, and increases due to tight labor market
conditions, health care and workers compensation costs; and (iii) increases in other operating costs including advertising, utilities, lease-
related expenses and credit card processing fees; 

• the inability to open new restaurants that achieve and sustain acceptable sales volumes; 

• the inability to increase menu pricing to offset increased operating expenses; 

• failure to effectively manage further penetration into mature markets; 

• negative trends in the availability of credit and expenses such as interest rates and the cost of construction materials that will affect our
ability or our franchisees' ability to maintain and refurbish existing stores; 

• the inability to manage a large number of restaurants due to unanticipated changes in executive management, and availability of qualified
restaurant management, staff and other personnel; 

• the inability to operate effectively in new and/or highly competitive geographic regions or local markets in which we or our franchisees
have limited operating experience; and 

• the inability to manage a large number of restaurants in diverse geographic areas with a standardized operational and marketing approach.

        Shortages or interruptions in the supply or delivery of food supplies or price increases could have a material adverse affect on our system-
wide sales, revenues or profits.    Our franchised and company-operated restaurants are dependent on frequent deliveries of fresh produce, groceries
and other food and beverage products. This subjects us to the risk of shortages or interruptions in food and beverage supplies which may result from a
variety of causes including, but not limited to, shortages due to adverse weather, labor unrest, political unrest, terrorism, outbreaks of food-borne illness
or other unforeseen circumstances. Such shortages could adversely affect our revenue and profits. Similarly, unanticipated increases in the cost of food
and beverage products could adversely affect our revenue and profits. The inability to secure adequate and reliable supplies or distribution of food and
beverage products could limit our ability to make changes to our core menus or offer promotional "limited time only" menu items, which may limit our
ability to implement our business strategies. Our restaurants bear risks associated with the timeliness of deliveries by suppliers and distributors as well
as the solvency, reputation, labor relationships, freight rates, prices of raw materials and health and safety standards of each supplier and distributor.
Other significant risks associated with our suppliers and distributors include improper handling of food and beverage products and/or the adulteration or
contamination of such food and beverage products. Disruptions in our relationships with suppliers and distributors may reduce the profits generated by
company-operated restaurants or the payments we receive from franchisees.

        Changing health or dietary preferences may cause consumers to avoid Applebee's and IHOP's products in favor of alternative foods.     The
food service industry as a whole rests on consumer preferences and demographic trends at the local, regional, national and international levels, and the
impact on consumer eating habits of new information regarding diet, nutrition and health. Our franchise development and system-wide sales depend on
the sustained demand for our products, which may be affected by factors we do not control. Changes in nutritional guidelines issued by the United
States Department of Agriculture, issuance of similar guidelines or statistical information by federal, state or local municipalities, or academic studies,
among other things, may impact consumer choice and cause
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consumers to select foods other than those that are offered by Applebee's or IHOP restaurants. We may not be able to adequately adapt Applebee's or
IHOP restaurants' menu offerings to keep pace with developments in current consumer preferences, which may result in reductions to the revenues
generated by our company-operated restaurants and the franchise payments we receive from franchisees

        Harm to our brands' reputation may have a material adverse effect on our business.     The success of our restaurant business is largely
dependent upon brand recognition and the strength of our franchise systems. The continued success of our company-operated restaurants and our
franchisees will be directly dependent upon the maintenance of a favorable public view of the Applebee's and IHOP brands. Negative publicity (e.g.,
crime, scandal, litigation, on-site accidents and injuries or other harm to customers) at a single Applebee's or IHOP location can have a substantial
negative impact on the operations of all restaurants within the Applebee's or IHOP system. Multi-unit food service businesses such as ours can be
materially and adversely affected by widespread negative publicity of any type, but particularly regarding food quality, food-borne illness, food
tampering, obesity, injury or other health concerns with respect to certain foods, whether or not accurate or valid. The risk of food-borne illness or food
tampering cannot be completely eliminated. Any outbreak of food-borne illness or other food-related incidents attributed to Applebee's or IHOP
restaurants or within the food service industry or any widespread negative publicity regarding the Applebee's or IHOP brands or the restaurant industry
in general could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations. Although the Company maintains liability insurance,
and each franchisee is required to maintain liability insurance pursuant to its franchise agreements, a liability claim could injure the reputation of all
Applebee's or IHOP restaurants, whether or not it is ultimately successful.

        We and our franchisees are subject to a variety of litigation risks that may negatively impact performance.     We and our franchisees are subject
to complaints or litigation from guests alleging illness, injury or other food quality, food safety, health or operational concerns. We and our franchisees
are also subject to "dram shop" laws in some states pursuant to which we and our franchisees may be subject to liability in connection with personal
injuries or property damages incurred in connection with wrongfully serving alcoholic beverages to an intoxicated person. We may also initiate legal
proceedings against franchisees for breach of the terms of their franchise agreements. Such claims may reduce the profits generated by company-
operated restaurants and the ability of franchisees to make payments to us. These claims may also reduce the ability of franchisees to enter into new
franchise agreements with us. Although our franchise agreements require our franchisees to defend and indemnify us, we may be named as a defendant
and sustain liability in legal proceedings against franchisees under the doctrines of vicarious liability, agency, negligence or otherwise.

        Ownership of real property exposes us to potential environmental liabilities.     The ownership of real property exposes us to potential
environmental liabilities from U.S. Federal, state and local governmental authorities and private lawsuits by individuals or businesses. The potential
environmental liabilities in connection with the ownership of real estate are highly uncertain. We currently do not have actual knowledge of any
environmental liabilities that would have a material adverse effect on the Company. From time to time, we have experienced some non-material
environmental liabilities resulting from environmental issues at our properties. While we are unaware of any material environmental liabilities, it is
possible that material environmental liabilities relating to our properties may arise in the future.

        Matters involving employees at certain company-operated restaurants expose us to potential liability.     We are subject to U.S. Federal, state and
local employment laws that expose us to potential liability if we are determined to have violated such employment laws. Failure to comply with Federal
and state labor laws pertaining to minimum wage, overtime pay, meal and rest breaks, unemployment tax rates, workers' compensation rates, citizenship
or residency requirements, child labor requirements, sales taxes
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and other employment-related matters may have a material adverse effect on our business or operations. In addition, employee claims based on, among
other things, discrimination, harassment or wrongful termination may divert financial and management resources and adversely affect operations. The
losses that may be incurred as a result of any violation of such employment laws are difficult to quantify.

        Our failure or the failure of our franchisees to comply with federal, state and local governmental regulations may subject us to losses and
harm our brands.    The restaurant industry is subject to extensive Federal, state and local governmental regulations, including those relating to the
preparation and sale of food and alcoholic beverages and those relating to building and zoning requirements and employment. We are also subject to
licensing and regulation by state and local departments relating to the service of alcoholic beverages, health, sanitation, fire and safety standards, and to
laws governing relationships with employees, including minimum wage requirements, overtime, working conditions and citizenship requirements. We
are also subject to laws and regulations, which vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, relating to nutritional content and menu labeling. Compliance with
these laws and regulations may lead to increased costs and operational complexity and may increase our exposure to governmental investigations or
litigation. In connection with the continued operation or remodeling of certain restaurants, we or our franchisees may be required to expend funds to
meet Federal, state and local and foreign regulations. The ability to obtain or maintain such licenses or publicity resulting from actual or alleged
violations of such laws could have an adverse effect on our results of operations. We are subject to federal regulation and certain state laws which
govern the offer and sale of franchises. Many state franchise laws contain provisions that supersede the terms of franchise agreements, including
provisions concerning the termination or non-renewal of a franchise. Some state franchise laws require that certain materials be registered before
franchises can be offered or sold in that state. The failure to obtain or retain licenses or approvals to sell franchises could adversely affect us and the
franchisees. Changes in, and the cost of compliance with, government regulations could have a material effect on operations.

        We are subject to the Fair Labor Standards Act, various other laws and state and local regulations in the United States and in the foreign countries
in which we operate from time to time, governing such matters as minimum-wage requirements, overtime and other working conditions and citizenship
requirements. A significant number of the food-service employees in our restaurants are paid at rates related to the United States federal minimum wage
or the relevant state minimum wage, and past increases in the United States federal and state minimum wage, as well as changes in the method of
calculating the minimum wage and crediting of tips, have increased labor costs, as would future increases. Any increases in labor costs might cause us
or our franchisees to inadequately staff Applebee's or IHOP restaurants. Understaffed restaurants could result in reduced gross sales and decreased
profits at such restaurants.

        We and our franchisees must also comply with Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act (the "ADA"). Compliance with the ADA generally
requires that public spaces provide reasonable accommodation to disabled individuals and that new commercial spaces or modifications of commercial
spaces conform to specific accessibility guidelines unless materially unfeasible. Although newer restaurants are designed to meet the ADA construction
standards, some older restaurants may not. A finding of noncompliance with the ADA could result in the imposition of injunctive relief, fines, an award
of damages to private litigants or additional capital expenditures to remedy such noncompliance. Any imposition of injunctive relief, fines, damage
awards or capital expenditures could adversely affect our revenue or profits.
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        Restaurant development plans under development agreements may not be implemented effectively.     We rely on franchisees to develop
Applebee's and IHOP restaurants. Restaurant development involves substantial risks, including the following:

• the availability of suitable locations and terms for potential development sites; 

• the ability of franchisees to fulfill their commitments to build new restaurants in the numbers and the time frame specified in their
development agreements; 

• the availability of financing to franchisees at acceptable rates and terms; 

• delays in obtaining construction permits and in completion of construction; 

• developed properties not achieving desired revenue or cash flow levels once opened; 

• competition for suitable development sites; 

• changes in governmental rules, regulations, and interpretations (including interpretations of the requirements of the ADA); and 

• general economic and business conditions.

        We cannot assure that present or future development will perform in accordance with our expectations. We cannot assure that the development and
construction of facilities will be completed, or that any such development will be completed in a timely manner.

        The opening and success of Applebee's and IHOP restaurants depend on various factors, including the demand for Applebee's and IHOP
restaurants and the selection of appropriate franchisee candidates, the availability of suitable sites, the negotiation of acceptable lease or purchase terms
for new locations, costs of construction, permit issuance and regulatory compliance, the ability to meet construction schedules, the availability of
financing and other capabilities of franchisees. There is no assurance that franchisees planning the opening of restaurants will have the business abilities
or sufficient access to financial resources necessary to open the restaurants required by their agreements. It cannot be assured that franchisees will
successfully participate in our strategic initiatives or operate their restaurants in a manner consistent with our concept and standards.

        Concentration of Applebee's franchised restaurants in a limited number of franchisees subjects us to greater credit risk.     As of
December 31, 2008, Applebee's franchisees operated 1,470 Applebee's restaurants in the United States (which comprised 78% of the total Applebee's
restaurants in the United States). As of December 31, 2008, the nine largest Applebee's franchisees owned 765 restaurants, representing 52% of all
franchised Applebee's restaurants in the United States. The concentration of franchised restaurants in a limited number of franchisees subjects us to a
potentially higher level of credit risk in respect of such franchisees because their financial obligations to us are greater as compared to those franchisees
with fewer restaurants. The risk associated with these franchisees is also greater where franchisees are the sole or dominant franchisee for a particular
region of the United States, as is the case for most domestic Applebee's franchised territories. In particular, if any of these franchisees experiences
financial or other difficulties, it may default on its obligations under multiple franchise agreements including payments to us and the maintenance and
improvement of its restaurants. If any of these franchisees are subject to bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings, a bankruptcy court may prevent the
termination of the related franchise agreements and development Agreements. Any franchisee that is experiencing financial difficulties may also be
unable to participate in implementing changes to our business strategy. Any franchisee that owns and operates a significant number of Applebee's
restaurants who fails to comply with its other obligations under the franchise agreement, such as those relating to the quality and preparation of food and
maintenance of restaurants, could cause significant harm to the Applebee's brand and subject us to claims by consumers even if we are not legally liable
for the franchisee's actions or failure to act. The
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refranchising of most the company-operated Applebee's restaurants that is part of our strategy is not expected to reduce the degrees of concentration of
franchised Applebee's restaurants because the existing franchisees are the likely candidates to acquire company-operated restaurants. The concentration
of the franchised Applebee's restaurants in a limited number of franchisees may also reduce our negotiating power with respect to the terms of sale of
the company-operated Applebee's restaurants. Development rights for Applebee's restaurants are also concentrated among a limited number of existing
franchisees. If any of these existing franchisees experience financial difficulties, future development of Applebee's restaurant may be materially
adversely affected.

        Termination or non-renewal of franchise agreements may disrupt restaurant performance.     Each franchise agreement is subject to
termination by us in the event of default by the franchisee after applicable cure periods. Upon the expiration of the initial term of a franchise agreement,
the franchisee generally has an option to renew the franchise agreement for an additional term. There is no assurance that franchisees will meet the
criteria for renewal or will desire or be able to renew their franchise agreements. If not renewed, a franchise agreement, and payments required
thereunder, will terminate. We may be unable to find a new franchisee to replace such lost revenues. Furthermore, while we will be entitled to terminate
franchise agreements following a default that is not cured within the applicable grace period, if any, the disruption to the performance of the restaurants
could materially and adversely affect our business.

        Franchisees may breach the terms of their franchise agreements in a manner that adversely affects our brands.     Franchisees are required to
conform to specified product quality standards and other requirements pursuant to their franchise agreements in order to protect our brand and to
optimize restaurant performance. However, franchisees may receive through the supply chain or produce sub-standard food or beverage products,
which may adversely impact the reputation of our brands. Franchisees may also breach the standards set forth in their respective franchise agreements.

        Franchisees are subject to potential losses that are not covered by insurance that may negatively impact their ability to make payments to us
and perform other obligations under franchise agreements. Franchisees may have insufficient insurance coverage to cover all of the potential risks
associated with the ownership and operation of their restaurants. A franchisee may have insufficient funds to cover unanticipated increases in insurance
premiums or losses that are not covered by insurance. Certain extraordinary hazards may not be covered and insurance may not be available (or may be
available only at prohibitively expensive rates) with respect to many other risks. Moreover, there is no assurance that any loss incurred will not exceed
the limits on the policies obtained, or that payments on such policies will be received on a timely basis, or even if obtained on a timely basis, that such
payments will prevent losses to such franchisee or enable timely franchise payments. Accordingly, in cases in which a franchisee experiences increased
insurance premiums or must pay claims out-of-pocket, the franchisee may not have the funds necessary to pay franchise payments.

        Franchisees generally are not "limited purpose entities," making them subject to business, credit, financial and other risks.     Franchisees
may be natural persons or legal entities. Franchisees are often not "limited-purpose entities," making them subject to business, credit, financial and other
risks which may be unrelated to the operations of Applebee's or IHOP restaurants. These unrelated risks could materially and adversely affect a
franchisee and its ability to make its franchise payments in full or on a timely basis. Any such decrease in franchise payments may have a material
adverse effect on us. See "An insolvency or bankruptcy proceeding involving a franchisee could prevent the collection of payments or the exercise of
rights under the related franchise agreement," below.
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        The number and quality of franchisees is subject to change over time, which may negatively affect our business.     Our Applebee's business is
highly concentrated in a limited number of franchisees. We cannot guarantee the retention of any, including the top performing, franchisees in the future,
or that we will maintain the ability to attract, retain, and motivate sufficient numbers of franchisees of the same caliber. The quality of existing franchisee
operations may be diminished by factors beyond our control, including franchisees' failure or inability to hire or retain qualified managers and other
personnel. Training of managers and other personnel may be inadequate. These and other such negative factors could reduce the franchisee's restaurant
revenues, impact payments under the franchise agreements and could have a material adverse effect on us. These negative factors will be magnified by
the limited number of existing franchisees.

        The inability of franchisees to fund capital expenditures may adversely impact future growth.     Our business strategy includes revitalizing
Applebee's store locations through a new remodel program and other operational changes. The success of that business strategy will depend to a
significant extent on the ability of the franchisees to fund the necessary capital expenditures to aid the repositioning and re-energizing of the brand.
Labor and material costs expended will vary by geographical location and are subject to general price increases. To the extent the franchisees are not able
to fund the necessary capital expenditures, our business strategy may take longer to implement and may not be as successful as we expect, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business.

        An insolvency or bankruptcy proceeding involving a franchisee could prevent the collection of payments or the exercise of rights under the
related franchise agreement.    An insolvency proceeding involving a franchisee could prevent us from collecting payments or exercising any of our
other rights under the related franchise agreement. In particular, the protection of the statutory automatic stay that arises by operation of Section 362 of
the United States Bankruptcy Code upon the commencement of a bankruptcy proceeding against a franchisee would prohibit us from terminating a
franchise agreement previously entered into with a franchisee. Furthermore, a franchisee that is subject to bankruptcy proceedings may reject the
franchise agreement in which case we would be limited to a general unsecured claim against the franchisee's bankruptcy estate on account of breach-of-
contract damages arising from the rejection. Payments previously made to us by a franchisee that is subject to a bankruptcy proceeding may also be
recoverable on behalf of the franchisee as a preferential transfer under the United States Bankruptcy Code.

        Third party claims with respect to intellectual property assets, if decided against us, may result in competing uses or require adoption of new,
non-infringing intellectual property, which may in turn adversely affect sales and revenues.  There can be no assurance that third parties will not
assert infringement or misappropriation claims against us, or claims that our rights in our trademarks, service marks and other intellectual property
assets are invalid or unenforceable. Any such claims could have a material adverse effect on us or our franchisees if such claims were to be decided
against us. If our rights in any intellectual property were invalidated or deemed unenforceable, it could permit competing uses of intellectual property
which, in turn, could lead to a decline in restaurant revenues and sales of other branded products and services (if any). If the intellectual property became
subject to third party infringement, misappropriation or other claims, and such claims were decided against us, then we could be required to develop or
adopt non-infringing intellectual property or acquire a license to the intellectual property that is the subject of the asserted claim. There could be
significant expenses associated with the defense of any infringement, misappropriation, or other third party claims.

        If franchisees and other sublicensees do not observe the required quality and trademark usage standards, our brands may suffer
reputational damage, which could in turn adversely affect our business. We sublicense our intellectual property to our franchisees and to product
suppliers, manufacturers, distributors, advertisers and other third parties. The franchise agreements and other sublicense agreements require that each
franchisee or other sublicensee use the intellectual property in accordance with established or approved quality control guidelines. However, there can be
no assurance that the franchisees or other
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sublicensees will use the intellectual property assets in accordance with such guidelines. Franchisee and sublicensee noncompliance with the terms and
conditions of the governing franchise agreement or other sublicense agreement may reduce the overall goodwill associated with our brands. Franchisees
and other sublicensees may refer to our intellectual property improperly in writings or conversation, resulting in the weakening of the distinctiveness of
our intellectual property. There can be no assurance that the franchisees or other sublicensees will not take actions that could have a material adverse
effect on the reputation of the Applebee's or IHOP intellectual property. Any such actions could have a corresponding material adverse effect on our
business and revenues.

        In addition, even if the sublicensee product suppliers, manufacturers, distributors, or advertisers observe and maintain the quality and integrity of
the intellectual property assets in accordance with the relevant sublicense agreement, any product manufactured by such suppliers may be subject to
regulatory sanctions and other actions by third parties which can, in turn, negatively impact the perceived quality of our restaurants and the overall
goodwill of our brands, regardless of the nature and type of product involved. Any such actions could have a material adverse effect on our business,
by virtue of, among other things, reducing the public's acceptance of Applebee's or IHOP restaurants, thereby reducing restaurant revenues and
corresponding franchise payments to us.

        We are heavily dependent on information technology and any material failure of that technology could impair our ability to efficiently operate
our business.    We rely heavily on information systems across our operations, including for examplepoint-of-sale processing in our restaurants,
management of our supply chain, collection of cash, payment of obligations and various other processes and procedures. Our ability to efficiently
manage our business depends significantly on the reliability and capacity of these systems. The failure of these systems to operate effectively, problems
with maintenance, upgrading or transitioning to replacement systems, or a breach in security of these systems could cause delays in customer service
and reduce efficiency in our operations. Significant capital investments might be required to remediate any problems.

Item 1B.    Unresolved Staff Comments. 

        On December 2, 2008, the Company received a comment letter from the Staff of the SEC's Division of Corporation Finance (the "Staff") with
respect to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2008. The Company responded to the Staff's
comments on December 30, 2008. On January 30, 2009, the Company received a follow-up comment letter from the Staff that the Company responded
to on February 18, 2009. The follow-up comments are summarized as follows:

Consolidated Statements of Operations

• Explain why certain assets included in discontinued operations were not included under the caption of "assets held for sale." Explain
why property and equipment is shown as being net instead of at the lower of cost or fair value. Provide a description of the nature of the
liabilities classified as non-current liabilities related to discontinued operations.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

• Address whether there has been a change in credit risk associated with franchisees or distributors, and indicate whether there is a
concentration of credit risk in any franchisee. 

• Explain how the Company originally estimated the economic obsolescence factors that resulted in a downward revision of the allocated
value of Property & Equipment, and ensure that future filings describe in clear terms the nature of these factors to better explain why the
fair value allocation has been written down.
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• Beginning in the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, consider expanding the critical accounting policy for goodwill to
include the annual assessment date and a description of when an interim test is required, as well as a description of how the estimated fair
value of reporting units is determined and the significant assumptions used in the analysis.

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

• Under "Results of Operations," explain the factors that contribute to any material changes in guest traffic as compared to prior periods. 

• Provide additional disclosure under "Liquidity and Capital Resources" regarding liquidity requirements as the Company manages its
strategy to transition to a 98% franchise system, and address the impact on the ability to service debt obligations if the Company delays
or suspends its transition strategy. 

• Provide additional disclosure under "Debt Instruments and Related Covenants" of actual covenants and restrictions included in debt
instruments, including the nature and impact of cash trapping events on liquidity. Describe what consideration the Company gave to
disclosing and analyzing factors that could reasonably likely result in non- compliance with these covenants.

        In response to the Staff's comment letters, the Company has included certain additional disclosures and revised disclosures in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. The Company will continue to respond to any additional comment letters that the Company receives from the Staff.
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Item 2.    Properties. 

        The table below shows the location and status of the 2,004 Applebee's restaurants as of December 31, 2008:

Location  Franchise  
Company-
Operated  Total  

United States           
Alabama   29  —  29 
Alaska   2  —  2 
Arizona   33  —  33 
Arkansas   9  2  1 1 
California   123  —  123 
Colorado   28  —  28 
Connecticut   9  —  9 
Delaware   1 2  —  1 2 
Florida   109  —  109 
Georgia   69  —  69 
Idaho   1 2  —  1 2 
Illinois   52  1 4  66 
Indiana   59  7  66 
Iowa   26  —  26 
Kansas   1 9  1 5  34 
Kentucky   32  5  3 7 
Louisiana   1 7  —  1 7 
Maine   —  1 1  1 1 
Maryland   1 4  1 2  26 
Massachusetts   —  32  32 
Michigan   2 1  65  86 
Minnesota   2  59  6 1 
Mississippi   1 4  3  1 7 
Missouri   2  60  62 
Montana   7  —  7 
Nebraska   1 9  —  1 9 
Nevada   1 4  —  1 4 
New Hampshire   —  1 6  1 6 
New Jersey   55  —  55 
New Mexico   1 1  7  1 8 
New York   99  1  100 
North Carolina   55  2  5 7 
North Dakota   1 0  —  1 0 
Ohio   97  —  97 
Oklahoma   20  —  20 
Oregon   2 1  —  2 1 
Pennsylvania   7 2  2  7 4 
Rhode Island   —  8  8 
South Carolina   4 1  —  4 1 
South Dakota   7  —  7 
Tennessee   35  4  39 
Texas   94  —  94 
Utah   1 6  —  1 6 
Vermont   —  3  3 
Virginia   2  7 1  7 3 
Washington   39  —  39 
West Virginia   1 5  2  1 7 
Wisconsin   43  4  4 7 
Wyoming   5  —  5 
        

 Total Domestic   1,470  405  1,875 

International           
Bahrain   1  —  1 
Brazil   8  —  8 
Canada   24  —  24 
Chile   2  —  2 
China   —  1  1 
Greece   8  —  8 
Guatemala   2  —  2 
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Location  Franchise  
Company-
Operated  Total  

Honduras   6  —  6 
Italy   2  —  2 
Jordan   1  —  1 
Kuwait   5  —  5 
Lebanon   1  —  1 
Mexico   54  —  54 
Puerto Rico   1  —  1 
Qatar   2  —  2 
Saudi Arabia   1 0  —  1 0 
United Arab Emirates   1  —  1 
        

 Total International   128  1  129 
        

  Totals   1,598  406  2,004 
        

        The table below shows the location and status of the 1,396 IHOP restaurants as of December 31, 2008

Location  Franchise  
Company-
Operated  

Area
License  Total 

United States              
Alabama   1 8  —  —  1 8 
Alaska   3  —  —  3 
Arizona   34  —  —  34 
Arkansas   1 3  —  —  1 3 
California   224  —  —  224 
Colorado   28  —  —  28 
Connecticut   5  —  —  5 
Delaware   4  —  —  4 
District of Columbia   1  —  —  1 
Florida   —  —  144  144 
Georgia   68  —  4  7 2 
Hawaii   5  —  —  5 
Idaho   9  —  —  9 
Illinois   52  —  —  52 
Indiana   1 8  —  —  1 8 
Iowa   9  —  —  9 
Kansas   1 6  —  —  1 6 
Kentucky   2  1  —  3 
Louisiana   23  —  —  23 
Maine   1  —  —  1 
Maryland   28  —  —  28 
Massachusetts   1 5  —  —  1 5 
Michigan   1 7  —  —  1 7 
Minnesota   9  —  —  9 
Mississippi   9  —  —  9 
Missouri   22  —  —  22 
Montana   5  —  —  5 
Nebraska   5  —  —  5 
Nevada   22  —  —  22 
New Hampshire   2  —  —  2 
New Jersey   3 7  —  —  3 7 
New Mexico   1 2  —  —  1 2 
New York   44  —  —  44 
North Carolina   38  —  —  38 
North Dakota   1  —  —  1 
Ohio   20  9  —  29 
Oklahoma   23  —  —  23 
Oregon   8  —  —  8 
Pennsylvania   1 7  —  —  1 7 
Rhode Island   2  —  —  2 
South Carolina   25  —  —  25 
South Dakota   4  —  —  4 
Tennessee   29  —  —  29 
Texas   1 7 1  1  —  1 7 2 
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Location  Franchise  
Company-
Operated  

Area
License  Total  

Utah   1 9  —  —  1 9 
Virginia   5 1  —  —  5 1 
Washington   29  —  —  29 
West Virginia   6  —  —  6 
Wisconsin   1 5  —  —  1 5 
Wyoming   3  —  —  3 
International              
Mexico   3  —  —  3 
Canada   1  —  1 2  1 3 
          

Totals   1,225  1 1  160  1,396 
          

        As of December 31, 2008, we operated 406 Applebee's restaurants and 11 IHOP restaurants for a total of 417 company-operated restaurants. Of
these restaurants, we leased the building for 66 sites, owned the building and leased the land for 182 sites, owned the land and building for 12 sites and
leased the land and building for 157 sites.

        Of the 1,225 franchisee-operated IHOP restaurants, 62 were located on sites owned by us, 705 were located on sites leased by us from third
parties and 458 were located on sites owned or leased by franchisees. All of the IHOP restaurants operated by the area licensee and all of the franchisee-
operated Applebee's restaurants were located on sites owned or leased by the area licensee or the franchisee.

        Leases of IHOP restaurants generally provide for an initial term of 20 to 25 years, with most having one or more five-year renewal options. Leases
of Applebee's restaurants generally have an initial term of 10 to 20 years, with renewal terms of 5 to 20 years. In addition, a substantial portion of the
leases for both IHOP and Applebee's restaurants include provisions calling for the periodic escalation of rents during the initial term and/or during
renewal terms. The leases typically provide for payment of rents in an amount equal to the greater of a fixed amount or a specified percentage of gross
sales and for payment of taxes, insurance premiums, maintenance expenses and certain other costs. Historically, it has been our practice to seek to
extend, through negotiation, those leases that expire without renewal options. However, from time to time, we choose not to renew a lease or are
unsuccessful in negotiating satisfactory renewal terms. When this occurs, the restaurant is closed and possession of the premises is returned to the
landlord.

        Under our Applebee's franchise agreements, we have certain rights to gain control of a restaurant site in the event of default under the franchise
agreement. Because most IHOP franchised restaurants developed by us under our Previous Business Model are subleased to the franchisees, IHOP has
the ability to regain possession of the subleased restaurant if the franchisee defaults in the payment of rent or other terms of the sublease.

        We currently lease our principal corporate offices and IHOP restaurant support center in Glendale, California, under a lease expiring in June 2010.
The Applebee's restaurant support center is located in the Kansas City metropolitan area under a lease expiring in July 2023. We also lease small
executive suite space in various cities across the United States for use as regional offices.

Item 3.    Legal Proceedings. 

        In addition to those matters described in previous filings, we are subject from time to time to lawsuits, claims and governmental inspections or
audits arising in the ordinary course of business. Some of these lawsuits purport to be class actions and/or seek substantial damages. In the opinion of
management, these matters are adequately covered by insurance or, if not so covered, are without merit or are of such a nature or involve amounts that
would not have a material adverse impact on our business or consolidated financial position.

Item 4.    Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders. 

        There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year covered by this report.
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PART II 

Item 5.    Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities. 

Market Information

        Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the symbol "DIN". The following table sets forth the high and
low closing prices of our common stock on the NYSE, and dividends paid, for each quarter of 2008 and 2007.

  Fiscal Year 2008  Fiscal Year 2007  
 

 Prices
  

 Prices
   

 
 

Dividends
Paid  

Dividends
Paid

 
Quarter  High  Low  High  Low  

First  $53.24 $35.53 $ 0.25 $60.21 $51.69 $ 0.25 
Second  $52.30 $36.52 $ 0.25 $60.57 $53.19 $ 0.25 
Third  $38.69 $15.31 $ 0.25 $71.70 $54.22 $ 0.25 
Fourth  $18.30 $ 6.15 $ 0.25 $67.46 $35.57 $ 0.25 

Holders

        As of February 17, 2009, there were approximately 5,300 registered holders of record of our common stock. That number excludes the beneficial
owners of shares held in "street" name through banks, brokers and other financial institutions.

Dividends

        The Company had accrued $4.75 million as dividends for the Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock as of December 31, 2008. The dividends were
paid in January 2009.

        The Company had paid regular quarterly dividends of $0.25 per common share since May 2003. Effective December 11, 2008, the Company
suspended the payment of its quarterly cash dividend to common shareholders for the foreseeable future in order to maximize the financial flexibility of
the Company. Future dividend payments on the common shares may be resumed at the discretion of the Board of Directors after consideration of the
Company's earnings, financial condition, cash requirements, future prospects and other factors.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

        The following table provides information as of December 31, 2008, regarding shares outstanding and available for issuance under our existing
equity compensation plans:

Plan Category  

Number of securities
to be issued upon

exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

(a)  

Weighted average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights

(b)  

Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance

under equity
compensation plans
(excluding securities
reflected in column

(a))
(c)  

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders   933,939 $ 36.37  2,110,199 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders   —  —  — 
        

Total   933,939 $ 36.37  2,110,199 
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        The number of securities remaining available for future issuance includes 1,993,299 shares and 116,900 shares under our 2001 Stock Incentive
Plan and 2005 Stock Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors, respectively. Please refer to Note 18 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for a description of each plan.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

        In January 2003, our Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase shares of our common stock. The Board approved the repurchase of
up to 7.2 million shares of common stock from time to time, depending on market conditions and other factors. The total number of shares repurchased
through December 31, 2008 under the stock repurchase program is 6,327,877. No repurchases were made during 2008. In February 2009, the Board of
Directors cancelled the authorization to repurchase any additional shares under this program.
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Stock Performance Graph

        The graph below shows a comparison of the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the cumulative total return on the
Standard & Poor's 500 Composite Index and the Value-Line Restaurants Index ("Restaurant Index") over the five-year period ended December 31,
2008. The graph and table assume $100 invested at the close of trading on the last day of trading in 2003 in our common stock and in each of the market
indices, with reinvestment of all dividends. Stockholder returns over the indicated periods should not be considered indicative of future stock prices or
stockholder returns.

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return
DineEquity, Inc., Standard & Poor's 500 And Value Line Restaurant Index

(Performance Results Through December 31, 2008) 

  2003  2004  2005  2006  2007  2008  

DineEquity, Inc.  $100.00 $111.84 $128.16 $146.90 $104.76 $ 34.74 
Standard & Poor's 500   100.00  108.99  112.26  127.55  132.06  81.23 
Restaurant Index   100.00  134.55  147.01  182.37  197.84  184.55 
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Item 6.    Selected Financial Data. 

        The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
The consolidated statement of operations and the consolidated balance sheet data for the years ended and as of December 31, 2008, 2007, 2006, 2005
and 2004 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements.

  Fiscal Year Ended December 31,  
  2008  2007(a)  2006  2005  2004  
  (In thousands, except per share amounts)  
Revenues                 

 Franchise revenues  $ 353,331 $ 205,757 $ 179,331 $ 167,384 $ 157,584 

 Company restaurant sales   1,103,228  125,905  13,585  13,964  31,564 

 Rental income   131,347  132,422  132,101  131,626  131,763 

 Financing revenues   25,722  20,475  24,543  35,049  38,091 
            

  Total revenues   1,613,628  484,559  349,560  348,023  359,002 
            

Costs and expenses                 

 Franchise expenses   96,243  88,054  83,079  78,768  77,402 

 Company restaurant expenses   978,197  117,448  15,601  15,095  34,701 

 Rental expenses   98,057  98,402  97,904  98,391  95,392 

 Financing expenses   7,314  1,215  4,240  12,299  12,556 

 General and administrative expenses   182,239  81,597  63,543  58,801  59,890 

 Interest expense   203,141  28,654  7,902  8,322  8,395 

 Impairment and closure charges   240,630  4,381  43  896  14,112 

 Amortization of intangible assets   12,132  1,132  —  —  — 

 (Gain) loss on extinguishment of debt   (15,242)  2,223  —  —  — 

 Other (income) expense, net   (926)  2,030  4,398  4,585  2,387 

 Loss on derivative financial instrument   —  62,131  —  —  — 
            

  Total costs and expenses   1,801,785  487,267  276,710  277,157  304,835 
            

(Loss) income before income taxes   (188,157)  (2,708)  72,850  70,866  54,167 
(Benefit) provision for income taxes   (33,698)  (2,228)  28,297  26,929  20,746 
            

Net (loss) income  $ (154,459) $ (480) $ 44,553 $ 43,937 $ 33,421 
            

Net (loss) income  $ (154,459) $ (480) $ 44,553 $ 43,937 $ 33,421 
Less: Series A Preferred stock dividends   (19,000)  (1,561)  —  —  — 
Less: Accretion of Series B Preferred stock   (2,151)  (181)  —  —  — 
Less: Net loss allocated to unvested participating

restricted stock   6,417  —  —  —  — 
            

Net (loss) income available to common stockholders  $ (169,193) $ (2,222) $ 44,553 $ 43,937 $ 33,421 
            

Net (loss) income available to common stockholders
per share:                 

 Basic  $ (10.09) $ (0.13) $ 2.46 $ 2.26 $ 1.62 
            

 Diluted  $ (10.09) $ (0.13) $ 2.43 $ 2.24 $ 1.61 
            

Weighted average shares outstanding:                 

 Basic   16,764  17,232  18,085  19,405  20,606 
            

 Diluted   16,764  17,232  18,298  19,603  20,791 
            

Dividends declared per common share(b)  $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00 
            

Dividends paid per common share(b)  $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00 
            

Balance Sheet Data (end of year)                 

 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 114,443 $ 26,838 $ 19,516 $ 23,111 $ 44,031 

 Restricted cash—short-term   83,355  128,138  —  —  — 

 Restricted cash—long-term   53,395  57,962  —  —  — 

 Short-term investments   276  300  —  —  14,504 

 Property and equipment, net   824,482  1,139,616  309,737  317,959  326,848 

 Total assets   3,361,217  3,831,162  766,250  770,203  821,084 

 



 Long-term debt, net of current maturities   1,853,367  2,263,887  94,468  114,210  133,768 

 Financing obligations, net of current maturities   318,651  —  —  —  — 

 Capital lease obligations, net of current maturities   161,310  168,242  170,412  172,681  173,925 

 Stockholders' equity   42,767  209,373  289,213  293,846  339,764 

(a) We acquired Applebee's International, Inc. on November 29, 2007. The results of operations related to this acquisition have been included in our fiscal 2007 consolidated
operating results since the date of the acquisition. 

(b) Effective December 11, 2008, the Company has suspended payments of dividends to common stockholders for the foreseeable future.

34



Item 7.   Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 

Forward-Looking Statements

        The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a safe harbor for forward-looking statements in certain circumstances. This report
contains statements that involve expectations, plans or intentions (such as those relating to future business or financial results, new features or services,
or management strategies). These statements are forward-looking and are subject to risks and uncertainties, so actual results may vary materially from
those expressed or implied by any forward-looking statements. You can identify these forward-looking statements by words such as "may," "will,"
"should," "expect," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "intend," "plan," and other similar expressions. You should consider our forward-looking
statements in light of the risks discussed under the heading "Risk Factors" in Item 1A above as well as our consolidated financial statements, related
notes, and the other financial information appearing elsewhere in this report and our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. We
assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statements.

        You should read the following Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and the related notes that appear elsewhere in this report.

Overview

        The Company was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in 1976 with the name IHOP Corp. Effective June 2, 2008, the name of
the Company was changed to DineEquity, Inc. (the "Company," "we" or "our") . The first International House of Pancakes ("IHOP") restaurant opened
in 1958 in Toluca Lake, California. Shortly thereafter we began developing and franchising additional restaurants. In November 2007, we completed the
acquisition of Applebee's International, Inc. ("Applebee's") which became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. We own and operate two
restaurant concepts in the casual dining and family dining niches: Applebee's Neighborhood Grill and Bar® and IHOP. Reference herein to Applebee's
and IHOP restaurants are to those franchise-operated restaurants and company-operated restaurants. Sales of restaurants that are owned by franchisees
and area licensees are not attributable to the Company. With more than 3,400 restaurants combined, we are one of the largest full-service restaurant
companies in the world.

Key Overall Strategies

        We are in the early stages of a multi-year revitalization process for the Applebee's brand as outlined below and have been focused on both
stabilizing the business and building the foundation for growth in 2009 and beyond, a foundation similar to that from which IHOP has demonstrated
consistent growth. We will seek to enhance shareholder value by executing the following business strategies for Applebee's and IHOP restaurants.

Applebee's Key Strategies

Franchise Company-Operated Restaurants and Sell Owned Real Estate

        We have made significant progress in implementing our strategy to franchise our company-operated restaurants and sell our owned real estate
resulting in a less capital-intensive development model. During 2008, we:

• completed the sale-leaseback of 181, or 91% of our fee-owned, company-operated restaurants resulting in cash proceeds used to reduce
debt by $304.8 million;

35



• franchised 103 restaurants in the California, Nevada, Delaware and Texas markets resulting in cash proceeds used to reduce debt by
$47.0 million; and 

• completed the sale-leaseback of our restaurant support headquarters in Lenexa, Kansas, resulting in cash proceeds of $39.0 million.

        We have agreements to franchise an additional seven company-operated restaurants in the first fiscal quarter of 2009; the franchising of five of
these was completed on February 24, 2009. We are actively engaged with several interested buyers for each of Applebee's remaining company-operated
restaurants, except for a number of locations we intend to keep as research and development locations in the Kansas City market. We are aiming to
franchise approximately 200 restaurants in 2009 with the reminder being franchised in 2010. These two initiatives and the strategic emphasis on
franchising going forward are designed to reduce the operating and overhead costs attributable to the domestic company-operated restaurants and reduce
the capital requirements needed to operate the business.

Energize the Applebee's Brand

        We have made progress in revitalizing the Applebee's brand in 2008 in the following areas:

• we introduced a new Applebee's advertising campaign—"It's a Whole New Neighborhood." Our message in the ads clearly focuses on
classic grill & bar food in a way that is unique to Applebee's; 

• we developed our brand positioning, refined our customer targets, and introduced our new menu strategy; 

• we developed new classic grill and bar menu offerings scheduled for introduction in early 2009; and 

• we introduced a new value offering in the fourth quarter to help drive guest traffic. Based on favorable consumer response to this value
proposition we will continue to focus on value in 2009.

Improve Restaurant Operations and Profitabilty

        Initiatives to improve operations and profitability at Applebee's restaurants system-wide were introduced in 2008:

• we implemented initiatives in our company-operated restaurants to increase restaurant profitability including improved labor scheduling
and labor rate controls, food cost improvement initiatives, and stricter management of complimentary meals and discounts; 

• we improved overall guest satisfaction with faster meal delivery times, better food quality and server attentiveness. We will continue to
drive improved results and strive to ensure that every guest leaves happy; and 

• we implemented a franchisee operations rating system to provide visibility to our franchisees concerning their performance in relation to
guest experience, food safety and training.

        In a challenging economic environment and a highly competitive casual dining category, there can be no assurance that the strategies described
above, when implemented, will achieve the intended results, including the franchising of the remaining domestic company-operated restaurants, within
the time frame described above.
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IHOP's Key Strategies

        We pursue growth through a three-part strategic framework: (1) energize the IHOP brand; (2) improve operations performance; and (3) maximize
franchise development.

Energize the IHOP Brand

        We seek to energize our brand by continuing our "Come Hungry. Leave Happy" advertising campaign. This message has successfully resonated
with our guests for almost six years and we expect to continue with this campaign in the future. In addition, we seek to enhance our media strategies to
emphasize national advertising on broadcast, cable and syndicated television and strengthen our product promotion process. Over the last two years, we
have shifted the allocation of our media spending towards national advertising. Five of the six media windows utilized by us in 2008 placed significant
emphasis on national media spending. We had not utilized any national media prior to 2003. In 2003, we also initiated the strategy of limited time offers
on promotional products. Since that time, we have enhanced our execution of this promotional product approach by improving the appeal of these
promotions and the franchisees' execution.

        In addition, by the end of 2010, our franchisees will have completed the remodel of all restaurants to our current updated look. We developed new
prototype and remodel programs in 2004, which have become the standards for all development and remodel activity going forward. We also launched
our "IHOP 'n Go" takeout program in February 2007 and a successful gift card program in 2006 in order to ensure that we remain relevant with our
customers and meet their changing dining patterns.

Improve Operations Performance

        We will seek to continue to improve the operations of the restaurants. During 2003, we established an IHOP franchisee ratings system to evaluate
the operational standards of each of our restaurant units. This franchisee rating system is a comprehensive scorecard in which we assign grades that
covers mystery shop scores, operational assessment scores and health department ratings, among other things. By December 31, 2008, 88.5% of all
franchisees had received grades of "A" or "B" for their restaurants. In addition, we intend to continue focusing on making exceptional service a priority
for franchisees by providing tools for improved restaurant execution, while highlighting our motto "service as good as our pancakes." Substantially all
IHOP restaurants are using pollable point-of-sale ("POS") systems to capture and report a broad range of sales and product mix data. This information
is used by management to, among other things, gauge guest acceptance of menu items and the success of promotions and limited time offers.

Maximize Franchise Development

        Under the Current Business Model, IHOP seeks to maximize franchise development by emphasizing the recruitment of franchise developers
within and outside the current system in order to grow its revenues. Because of our strong existing franchisee base, since 2003, more than 70% of new
restaurants have been opened by pre-existing franchisees. This strategy has proven very successful as franchisees have developed approximately 287
units since the inception of the Current Business Model and we have a pipeline of 418 additional new units committed, optioned or pending. In addition,
we may take steps to intervene, consolidate, and rehabilitate one or two existing markets if we believe that doing so is advisable in order to fully realize
development potential. To effect this strategy, we would repurchase units from certain existing franchisees and package them in a sale to a franchise
developer who would commit to maximize development in the market.
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Significant Known Events, Trends or Uncertainties Impacting or Expected to Impact Comparisons of Reported or Future Results

Global Economic Contraction

        In 2008, economic conditions in both the U.S. and worldwide have experienced a downturn due to the compounded effects of the subprime
lending crisis, the credit market liquidity crisis, and the collateral effects of each on the finance and banking industries. In addition, volatile energy costs,
concerns about inflation and deflation, slower economic activity, softness in both the commercial and residential real estate markets, decreased consumer
confidence, reduced corporate profits and capital spending and rising unemployment have combined to create generally adverse business conditions for
all industries and sectors. These conditions make it extremely difficult for us to accurately forecast and plan future business activities as the reduction in
disposable income for discretionary spending could cause our customers to change historic purchasing behavior and choose lower-cost dining options
or alternatives to dining out.

        These economic developments may affect our business and operations in a number of ways, including but not limited to:

• lower profitability and cash flows from company-operated restaurants; 

• reduced payments from franchisees due to both a lower sales base on which royalties and other payments are calculated and possible
impairment to the ability of franchisees to make payments when due as the result of the economic effects cited above on their businesses;

• limited availability of financing for franchisees to fulfill their new restaurant development commitments; 

• limited credit availability for potential purchasers of Applebee's company-operated restaurants; 

• lower proceeds from refranchising transactions due to both lower sales and profitability or inability to consummate transactions at all;
and 

• lower estimated fair values for goodwill, intangible assets and long-lived assets resulting in future non-cash impairment charges.

        We cannot predict the effect or duration of this economic slowdown or the timing or strength of a subsequent recovery in the economy in general
or the restaurant industry in particular. If our business significantly deteriorates due to these macroeconomic effects, our financial condition and results
of operations will likely be materially and adversely affected.

Securitized Debt and Related Interest Expense

        We incurred a substantial amount of indebtedness to finance the Applebee's acquisition. As a result, our interest expense has increased significantly
from that reported in prior years and is expected to remain as one of the largest components of costs and expenses in the future until such time that debt
balances are repaid or otherwise retired.

Significant Gains and Charges

        There were several significant gains and charges affecting the comparisons with previously reported results. In 2008, we recognized impairment
and closure charges of $240.6 million and a gain on extinguishment of debt of $15.2 million. In 2007, we recognized a loss on a derivative financial
instrument of $62.1 million, impairment and closure charges of $4.4 million and a loss on extinguishment of debt of $2.2 million. Each transaction is
discussed in further detail under paragraphs captioned with those descriptions elsewhere in Item 7. Given the uncertainty as to the length of the current
economic contraction and the timing and degree of recovery, it is reasonably possible that
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impairment charges may occur in future periods. The fair value of our debt is currently less than its carrying value (see Note 14 of Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements) and is likely to remain less than carrying value for the foreseeable future such that it is reasonably possible that
extinguishments of debt will result in gains in future periods.

Financial Statement Effect of Franchising Company-Operated Restaurants

        We franchised 103 Applebee's company-operated restaurants during 2008 and are planning to franchise a significant majority of the remaining 406
company-operated Applebee's by the end of 2010. As the number of company-operated restaurants declines, the amount of Company restaurant
revenues and Company restaurant expenses in future periods will decline significantly compared to amounts reported in previous periods. Franchise
royalty revenues and expenses will likely increase as company-operated restaurants are franchised, although not in the same magnitude as the Company
restaurant revenues decline as franchise royalties are based on a percentage of the franchisee's revenues.

Segment Reporting

        Our revenues and expenses are recorded in four segments: franchise operations, company restaurant operations, rental operations, and financing
operations. Within the applicable segment, we operate two distinct restaurant concepts: Applebee's and IHOP.

Applebee's

        The franchise operations segment consists of restaurants operated by Applebee's franchisees in the United States, one U.S. territory and 15
countries outside of the United States. Franchise operations revenue consists primarily of franchise royalty revenues and the portion of the franchise
fees allocated to Applebee's intellectual property. Franchise operations expenses include pre-opening training expenses and other franchise-related costs.

        The company restaurant operations segment consists of company-operated restaurants in the United States and China. Company restaurant sales
are retail sales at company-operated restaurants. Company restaurant expenses are operating expenses at company-operated restaurants and include
food, labor, benefits, utilities, rent and other restaurant operating costs.

        Rental operations activities are not currently a significant part of Applebee's business.

        Financing operations activities are not currently a part of Applebee's business.

IHOP

        The franchise operations segment consists of restaurants operated by IHOP franchisees and area licensees in the United States, one U.S. territory
and two countries outside the U.S. Franchise operations revenue consists primarily of franchise royalty revenues, sales of proprietary products,
franchise advertising fees and the portion of the franchise fees allocated to IHOP intellectual property. Franchise operations expenses include
advertising expense, the cost of proprietary products and pre-opening training expenses and other franchise-related costs.

        The company restaurant operations segment consists of company-operated restaurants in the United States. In addition, from time to time,
restaurants that are reacquired from franchisees are operated by IHOP on a temporary basis. Company restaurant sales are retail sales at company-
operated restaurants. Company restaurant expenses are operating expenses at company-operated restaurants and include food, labor, benefits, utilities,
rent and other restaurant operating costs.

        Rental operations revenue includes revenue from operating leases and interest income from direct financing leases. Rental operations expenses are
costs of operating leases and interest expense on
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capital leases on franchisee-operated restaurants. The rental operations segment is exclusively generated by IHOP.

        Financing operations revenue consists of the portion of franchise fees not allocated to IHOP intellectual property, sales of equipment, as well as
interest income from the financing of franchise fees and equipment leases. Financing expenses are primarily the cost of restaurant equipment.

Captive Insurance Subsidiary

        In connection with the acquisition of Applebee's, the Company acquired Neighborhood Insurance, Inc., a Vermont corporation and a wholly-
owned captive insurance subsidiary of Applebee's, which provides Applebee's and qualified Applebee's franchisees with workers' compensation and
general liability insurance. The captive insurance subsidiary ceased writing insurance prior to the acquisition. Franchise operations expense includes
costs related to the resolution of claims arising from franchisee participation in our captive insurance program. Our consolidated balance sheets include
the following balances related to the captive insurance subsidiary as of December 31, 2008:

• franchise premium receivables of approximately $0.7 million included in receivables related to captive insurance subsidiary; 

• cash equivalents and other long-term investments restricted for the payment of claims of approximately $5.6 million are included in
restricted assets related to the captive insurance subsidiary; and 

• loss reserve related to captive insurance subsidiary of approximately $4.5 million, with approximately $3.3 million and $1.2 million
included in other current liabilities and other non-current liabilities, respectively.
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Restaurant Data

        The following table sets forth, for each of the past three years, the number of effective restaurants in the IHOP system and information regarding
the percentage change in sales at those restaurants compared to the same period in the prior year. "Effective restaurants" are the number of restaurants in
a given period, adjusted to account for restaurants open for only a portion of the period. Information is presented for all effective restaurants in the
IHOP system, which includes restaurants owned by the Company, as well as those owned by franchisees and area licensees. Sales of restaurants that
are owned by franchisees and area licensees are not attributable to the Company. However, we believe that presentation of this information is useful in
analyzing our revenues because franchisees and area licensees pay us royalties and advertising fees that are generally based on a percentage of their
sales, as well as rental payments under leases that are usually based on a percentage of their sales. Management also uses this information to make
decisions about future plans for the development of additional restaurants as well as evaluation of current operations. Pro forma information on
Applebee's restaurant data and restaurant development and franchising activity is presented in the section entitled "Pro forma comparison of the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007—Applebee's" herein.

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008  2007  2006  

IHOP Restaurant Data           
Effective restaurants(a)           
 Franchise   1,189  1,144  1,095 

 Company   10  12  8 

 Area license   158  158  156 
        

  Total   1,357  1,314  1,259 
        

System-wide(b)           
 IHOP sales percentage change(c)   5.5%  6.9%  7.4%

 IHOP same-store sales percentage change(d)   1.5%  2.2%  2.5%
Franchise(b)           
 IHOP sales percentage change(c)   5.9%  7.1%  7.5%

 IHOP same-store sales percentage change(d)   1.5%  2.2%  2.5%
Area License(b)           
 IHOP sales percentage change(b)(c)   3.1%  4.2%  6.5%

(a) "Effective restaurants" are the number of restaurants in a given fiscal period adjusted to account for restaurants open for only a portion of the
period. Information is presented for all effective restaurants in the IHOP system, which includes restaurants owned by the Company as well as
those owned by franchisees and area licensees. 

(b) "System-wide sales" are retail sales of IHOP restaurants operated by franchisees, area licensees (related to IHOP only) and the Company, as
reported to the Company. IHOP franchise restaurant sales were $2.2 billion, $2.1 billion and $2.0 billion for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Sales at IHOP area license restaurants were $218.4 million, $211.9 million and
$203.3 million for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Franchise restaurant retail sales are sales recorded at
restaurants that are owned by franchisees and area licensees. Franchise restaurant retail sales are useful in analyzing our franchise revenues
because franchisees and area licensees pay us royalties and other fees that are generally based on a percentage of their sales. Sales at restaurants
that are owned by franchisees and area licensees are not attributable to the Company.
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(c) "Sales percentage change" reflects, for each category of restaurants, the percentage change in sales in any given fiscal year compared to the prior
fiscal year for all restaurants in that category. 

(d) "Same-store sales percentage change" reflects the percentage change in sales, in any given fiscal year compared to the prior fiscal year, for
restaurants that have been operated throughout both fiscal periods that are being compared and have been open for at least 18 months. Because
of new unit openings and store closures, the restaurants open throughout both fiscal periods being compared will be different from period to
period. Same-store sales percentage change does not include data on IHOP restaurants located in Florida.

        The following table summarizes IHOP restaurant development and franchising activity:

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008  2007  2006  2005  2004  

IHOP Restaurant Development Activity                 
Beginning of year   1,344  1,302  1,242  1,186  1,165 
 New openings                 

  Company-developed   1  —  4  4  6 

  Franchisee-developed   62  57  57  58  35 

  International franchisee-developed   3  2  —  —  — 

  Area license   5  1  8  5  6 
            

   Total new openings   71  60  69  67  47 

 Closings                 

  Company   —  (2)  —  (1)  (11)

  Franchise   (17)  (12)  (8)  (10)  (15)

  Area license   (2)  (4)  (1)  —  — 
            

End of year   1,396  1,344  1,302  1,242  1,186 
            

Summary—end of year                 
 Franchise   1,225  1,176  1,132  1,082  1,028 

 Company   11  11  10  7  10 

 Area license   160  157  160  153  148 
            

   Total   1,396  1,344  1,302  1,242  1,186 
            

IHOP Restaurant Franchising Activity                 
Company-developed   —  —  —  3  8 
Franchisee-developed   62  57  57  58  35 
International franchisee-developed   3  2  —  —  — 
Rehabilitated and refranchised   13  4  9  26  33 
            

   Total restaurant franchised   78  63  66  87  76 
Reacquired by the Company   (13)  (7)  (8)  (23)  (12)
Closed   (16)  (12)  (8)  (10)  (15)
            

 Net addition   49  44  50  54  49 
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Results of Operations

        The following table contains information derived from our consolidated statements of operations expressed as a percentage of total operating
revenues, except where otherwise noted. Percentages may not add due to rounding.

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008  2007  2006  

Revenues           
 Franchise operations revenues   21.9%  42.4%  51.3%

 Company restaurant sales   68.4  26.0  3.9 

 Rental operations income   8.1  27.4  37.8 

 Financing operations revenues   1.6  4.2  7.0 
        

   Total revenues   100.0%  100.0%  100.0%
        

Costs and Expenses           
 Franchise operation expenses   6.0%  18.2%  23.8%

 Company restaurant expenses   60.6  24.2  4.5 

 Rental operations expenses   6.1  20.3  28.0 

 Financing operations expenses   0.5  0.3  1.2 

 General and administrative expenses   11.3  16.8  18.2 

 Interest expense   12.6  5.9  2.3 

 Amortization of intangible assets   0.8  0.2  0.0 

 Other (income) expense, net   (0.1)  0.4  1.3 

 Impairment and closure charges   14.9  0.9  0.0 

 Loss on derivative financial instrument   —  12.8  — 

 (Gain) loss on extinguishment of debt   (0.9)  0.5  — 
        

  Total costs and expenses   111.7  100.6  79.2 
        

(Loss) income before income taxes   (11.7)  (0.6)  20.8 
(Benefit) provision for income taxes   (2.1)  (0.5)  8.1 
        

Net (loss) income   (9.6)% (0.1)% 12.7%
        

Comparison of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007

Overview

        Our 2008 financial results were significantly impacted by (i) the inclusion of twelve months of Applebee's operations as compared with one month
in fiscal 2007, (ii) impairment charges related to goodwill, intangible assets and real property, (iii) increased interest expense on $2.3 billion worth of
funded debt and (iv) a loss on a derivative financial instrument in 2007 that did not recur in 2008. In comparing the Company's financial results for
2008 to those in 2007, we note that:

• total revenues increased $1.1 billion from $0.5 billion in 2007 to $1.6 billion in 2008, with revenues from Applebee's company
restaurant sales comprising more than two-thirds of total revenue; 

• operations profit from the four operating segments combined increased by $254 million from $179 million in 2007 to $433 million in
2008; and 

• general and administrative expenses decreased as a percentage of total revenues from 16.8% in 2007 to 11.3% in 2008.
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Franchise Operations

  2008  2007  Variance  
  (In thousands)  

Franchise Revenues           
 Applebee's  $148,391 $ 14,173 $134,218 

 IHOP   204,940  191,584  13,356 
        

Total franchise revenues   353,331  205,757  147,574 
        

Cost of franchise revenues           
 Applebee's   4,122  164  (3,958)

 IHOP   92,121  87,890  (4,231)
        

Total cost of franchise revenues   96,243  88,054  (8,189)
        

Franchise Segment Profit           
 Applebee's   144,269  14,009  130,260 

 IHOP   112,819  103,694  9,125 
        

Total franchise segment profit  $257,088 $117,703 $139,385 
        

        Consolidated franchise revenues grew by $147.6 million or 71.7% in 2008 as compared to 2007, with $134.2 million of the increase due to the
Applebee's acquisition (see "Pro Forma Comparison of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006—Applebee's"). In addition, IHOP
franchise revenues increased $13.4 million, or 7.0%, in 2008 compared to 2007. The growth in IHOP franchise revenues was primarily due to a 5.9%
increase in total IHOP franchise restaurant sales that was primarily attributable to the following:

• effective IHOP franchise restaurants increased by 3.9%; and 

• same-store sales for IHOP franchise restaurants increased by 1.5%.

        Franchise restaurant retail sales are sales recorded at restaurants that are owned by franchisees and area licensees and are not attributable to the
Company. Franchise restaurant retail sales are useful in analyzing our franchise revenues because franchisees and area licensees pay us royalties and
other fees that are generally based on a percentage of their sales. "Effective restaurants" are the number of restaurants in a given fiscal period adjusted to
account for restaurants open for only a portion of the period. IHOP effective franchise restaurants increased to 1,189 units, an increase of 45 due to net
new restaurant openings in 2008 and the annualized effect of new restaurant development in 2007.

        In 2008, IHOP introduced several new promotions: Shortcake Pancakes, Tour de French Toast, and Coffee Cake Pancakes, as well as a 14-week
Discover America Pancakes campaign that was part of a celebration of IHOP's 50 th anniversary. IHOP also promoted the brand with menu tie-ins to
the film "Horton Hears a Who."

        IHOP continued its string of 23 consecutive quarters of same-store sales growth through the third fiscal quarter of 2008, but guest traffic declined
in the fourth fiscal quarter of 2008 due to a combination of several severe hurricanes and the mounting economic crisis that began to erode customer
confidence.

        Consolidated franchise expenses increased by $8.2 million in 2008 as compared to 2007, which was due to the increase in franchise expenses for
IHOP restaurants of $4.2 million and the inclusion of twelve months of Applebee's franchise expenses in 2008 as opposed to one month in 2007.
IHOP franchise expenses such as advertising and the cost of proprietary products are related to IHOP franchise restaurant retail sales. The increase in
IHOP franchise expenses was primarily a result of the 5.9% increase in IHOP franchise restaurant retail sales, in addition to an increase in the amount
of
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financial relief granted to IHOP franchisees. These increases were partially offset by lower bad debt expense. Applebee's franchise expenses are
relatively smaller than IHOP's due to advertising expenses. Franchise fees designated for IHOP's national advertising fund and local marketing and
advertising cooperatives are recognized as revenue and expense of franchise operation; however, Applebee's national advertising fund and local
advertising cooperatives constitute agency transactions and therefore are not recognized as franchise revenue and expense.

        Consolidated franchise operations profit increased by $139.4 million in the 2008 compared to 2007. This increase was due primarily to the
Applebee's acquisition. IHOP franchise operations profit as a percentage of revenue increased from 54.1% to 55.1%, or $9.1 million, in 2008 compared
to 2007.

Company Restaurant Operations

  2008  2007  Variance  
  (In thousands)  

Company Restaurant Sales           
 Applebee's  $1,088,101 $108,784 $ 979,317 

 IHOP   15,127  17,121  (1,994)
        

Total company restaurant sales   1,103,228  125,905  977,323 
        

Cost of company restaurant sales           
 Applebee's   961,019  97,838  (863,181)

 IHOP   17,178  19,610  2,432 
        

Total cost of company restaurant sales   978,197  117,448  (860,749)
        

Company Restaurant Segment Profit (Loss)           
 Applebee's   127,082  10,946  116,136 

 IHOP   (2,051)  (2,489)  438 
        

Total company restaurant segment profit  $ 125,031 $ 8,457 $ 116,574 
        

        Total company restaurant sales increased in 2008 by $977.3 million as compared to 2007. The increase in total company restaurant sales was due
to the Applebee's acquisition which contributed $979.3 million of the increase. The company restaurant expenses increased by $860.8 million as
compared to 2007. This increase was due to Applebee's, which contributed $863.2 million of the increase (see "Pro Forma Comparison of the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006—Applebee's").

        IHOP company restaurant operations, which are essentially research and development restaurants and restaurants reacquired from franchisees that
are operated on a temporary basis, were relatively unchanged from the prior year. IHOP company restaurant sales and cost of sales were lower in 2008
as compared to 2007 due to two fewer effective restaurants, resulting in a slightly lower segment loss.

Rental Operations

  2008  2007  Variance 
  (In thousands)  

Rental income  $131,347 $132,422 $(1,075)
Rental expenses   98,057  98,402  345 
        

Rental segment profit  $ 33,290 $ 34,020 $ (730)
        

        Rental operations profit, which is rental income less rental expenses, decreased by $0.7 million or 2.1% in 2008 as compared to 2007. Rental
operations profit was impacted by the write-off of deferred
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rent resulting from terminated subleases on restaurants reacquired in 2008. Deferred rent on operating subleases is the difference between straight-line
rent and the actual amount received. Straight-line rent is the amount of rent over the full lease term spread over equal monthly amounts.

        Prior to 2008, rental operations were exclusively related to IHOP. As the result of several transactions related to the franchising of Applebee's
company-operated restaurants, Applebee's now has rental income. The amount of Applebee's rental income in 2008 was $58,000 offset by $28,000 of
expense. The activity relates only to the franchising of the restaurants; Applebee's is not entering into rental operations similar to those of IHOP.

Financing Operations

  2008  2007  Variance 
  (In thousands)  

Financing income  $25,722 $20,475 $ 5,247 
Financing expenses   7,314  1,215  (6,099)
        

Financing segment profit  $18,408 $19,260 $ (852)
        

        Financing operations profit, which is financing revenues less financing expenses, is exclusively attributable to the IHOP business unit. In 2008,
financing operations profit decreased by $0.9 million compared to 2007. This decrease was primarily attributable to the decrease in franchise and
equipment note interest due to the expected reduction in franchise fee note balances. These decreases were partially offset by an increase in net profit
margin on the sale of franchises and equipment associated with company-developed and rehabilitated and refranchised restaurants. In 2008, the
Company had a net profit margin of $0.6 million associated with 14 refranchised restaurants, compared to a margin of $0.1 million associated with four
refranchised restaurants in 2007.

General and Administrative Expenses

        General and administrative expenses increased by $100.6 million or 123.3% in 2008 compared to the prior year, primarily due to the inclusion of
twelve months of Applebee's expenses in 2008 as opposed to one month in 2007. The full year of Applebee's expenses represented $89.6 million of the
increase. The remainder of the increase was primarily due to litigation settlements of $4.7 million, and increased professional and consulting services of
$5.3 million, primarily related to the ongoing integration of Applebee's. The Company expects that general and administrative expenses will decrease in
2009 due to (i) the planned refranchising of approximately 200 Applebee's company-operated restaurants and (ii) cost-cutting measures implemented in
February 2009.

Interest Expense

        Interest expense increased by $174.5 million in 2008 compared to 2007, primarily attributable to a full year of interest expense associated with the
debt incurred for the acquisition as compared to one month in 2007. Interest expense in 2008 comprised primarily: interest on acquisition-related debt of
$147.6 million; interest on Applebee's financing obligations related to sales-leaseback transactions of $14.4 million; non-cash amortization of deferred
financing costs of $26.1 million; and non-cash amortization of the loss on the effective portion of an interest rate swap of $12.8 million.

Impairment and Closure Charges

        Impairment and closure charges increased significantly to $240.6 million in 2008 compared to $4.4 million in 2007, with closure charges
representing $0.3 million and $1.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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        In June 2008, the Company entered into a sale-leaseback transaction relating to 181 parcels of real estate comprising land, buildings and
improvements. The net book value of the real estate exceeded the proceeds received by $40.6 million. All of the parcels involved in the transactions had
been acquired in the November 29, 2007 acquisition of Applebee's and their estimated fair value was assigned as part of the purchase price allocation as
of that date. The Company evaluated events subsequent to November 29, 2007 and noted a deterioration in both the domestic real estate and credit
markets between the date of the purchase price allocation and the June 2008 closing date of the sale-leaseback transactions. In the absence of objective
evidence to the contrary, the Company concluded that the estimated fair value of the real estate determined in the purchase price allocation had been
reasonable, and the decline in value related primarily to market events subsequent to the acquisition date necessitating an impairment charge as opposed
to an adjustment to the allocated purchase price.

        The Company evaluated whether this charge, in addition to other macroeconomic data and the decline in the market price of the Company's
common stock, were indicators of potential impairment of its goodwill, intangible assets and long-lived assets. The Company concluded that they were
not indicators, because (i) the impairment charge was related to a specific transaction that resulted in the disposal of the majority of the Company's real
estate; (ii) Applebee's June 30, 2008 year-to-date same-store sales for company-operated stores had increased slightly compared with the same period of
the prior year; (iii) while directionally the U.S. economy was slowing down, there was considerable uncertainty as to the depth and duration of the
slowdown, such that the Company believed its internal forecasts of same-store sales growth were achievable; and (iv) the Company's net book value
was in excess of its market capitalization throughout the period up to and including the date of filing its Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ending
June 30, 2008.

        As part of the ongoing assessment of the recoverability of its long-lived assets, the Company recorded impairment charges of $28.3 million for the
three-month period ended September 30, 2008. Of that amount, $26.8 million related to Applebee's properties and primarily resulted from a continuing
deterioration in credit markets in general and a decline in operating results of Applebee's company-operated restaurants expected to be franchised in
particular geographic areas. The remainder of the impairment related to an individual underperforming IHOP property whose estimates of future cash
flows indicated that the carrying value would not be recovered.

        The Company again evaluated whether the impairment charges taken in the third quarter of 2008, in addition to other macroeconomic data and the
decline in the market price of the Company's common stock, were an indicator of potential impairment of its goodwill, intangible assets and long-lived
assets. The Company concluded that they were not an indicator, because (i) the impairments were related to specific transactions in three geographic
markets characterized as having a larger proportion of underperforming restaurants than the other geographic markets in which the remaining company-
operated restaurants are located; (ii) while Applebee's year-to-date September 30, 2008 same-store sales for company-operated stores had decreased
slightly compared with the same period of the prior year, the Company was in the process of implementing several initiatives designed to improve the
same-store sales and did not believe there had been enough time to adequately assess the effectiveness of those initiatives; (iii) while economic data
confirmed that the U.S. economy had been recessionary since December of 2007, there was still considerable uncertainty as to the depth and duration of
the slowdown, and although Applebee's year-to-date same-store sales were lower than the prior period, Applebee's decline had been less than its
competitors, such that the Company believed its internal forecasts of same-store sales growth were achievable; and (iv) the Company's net book value
was in excess of its market capitalization throughout the third quarter ended September 30, 2008, and while the market capitalization did decline below
the Company's net book value subsequent to September 30, 2008, by the October 31, 2008 date of filing its Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ending
September 30, 2008, the Company's net book value was in excess of its market capitalization.
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        In the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company completed its annual test for impairment of goodwill. We utilized a discounted cash flows model of the
income approach to assess the fair value of our three reporting units, the IHOP franchised restaurants unit ("IHOP unit"), Applebee's company-operated
restaurants unit ("Applebee's company unit") and Applebee's franchised restaurants unit ("Applebee's franchise unit"). The impairment test of goodwill
of the two Applebee's units which hold the significant majority of the total goodwill was performed as of October 31, 2008. The impairment test of the
goodwill of the IHOP unit was performed as of December 31, 2008, the date as of which the analysis has been performed in prior years.

        The first step of the impairment test compared the fair value of each of our reporting units to their carrying value. Significant assumptions used to
determine fair value under the discounted cash flows model include future trends in sales, operating expenses, overhead expenses, depreciation, capital
expenditures and changes in working capital along with an appropriate discount rate. Additional assumptions were made as to proceeds to be received
from future franchising of company-operated restaurants. Based on this first step, we concluded that the fair value of the IHOP unit and the Applebee's
franchise unit was in excess of their respective net carrying values and no impairment of goodwill was warranted. However, the fair value of the
Applebee's company unit was less than the net carrying value of its assets assigned, requiring the second step of the impairment test. In performing the
second step of the impairment test we concluded that the goodwill allocated to the Applebee's company unit was fully impaired and an impairment
charge of $113.5 million was recorded. No tax benefit is associated with the impairment of goodwill.

        During the fourth quarter of 2008 the commercial real estate market continued to weaken, the credit markets continued constrained, economic
forecasts were uncertain as to how long the recessionary period would last, and the company's stock price declined. The Company revised the
significant assumptions underlying the discounted cash flows model and updated its impairment analysis of the Applebee's franchise unit. The
Company determined the fair value of the Applebee's franchise unit was in excess of its carrying value as of December 31, 2008.

        In addition, the Company performed an impairment test of its indefinite-lived intangible assets, primarily the Applebee's tradename assigned in the
purchase price allocation. We utilized the relief from royalty method under the income approach to determine the fair value of the tradename. We
determined the fair value of the tradename as of December 31, 2008 was less than the carrying value. An impairment charge of $44.1 million was
recorded with a tax benefit of $17.3 million associated with the charge.

        Impairment and closure charges in 2007 included the impairment of long lived assets for three restaurants closed in 2007, and impairment losses
on two restaurants in which the reacquisition values exceeded the historical resale values. The decision to close or impair the restaurants in 2007 was a
result of a comprehensive analysis that examined restaurants not meeting minimum return on investment thresholds and certain other operating
performance criteria. The assets for these restaurants were written down to their estimated fair value.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

        Amortization of intangible assets was $12.1 million and $1.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The increase
was due to the inclusion of twelve months of amortization in 2008 as compared to one month in 2007. The amortization relates to intangible assets with
finite lives, primarily franchising rights, recorded as part the allocation of the Applebee's purchase price.
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(Gain) Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

        In August 2008, the Company retired certain Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-A Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes due December 2037 with a face amount
of $23.5 million for a cash payment of $20.0 million. The transaction resulted in a gain of $2.4 million after the write-off of the discount and deferred
financing costs related to the debt retired.

        In October 2008, the Company retired certain Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-X Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes due December 2037 with a face
amount of $35.2 million for a cash payment of $20.0 million. The Company recognized a gain on extinguishment of debt of approximately
$12.8 million after the write-off of the discount and deferred financing costs related to the debt retired.

        The loss on extinguishment of debt of $2.2 million in 2007 resulted from early debt retirement with funds generated by the securitization
transactions for IHOP. These costs include the write-off of deferred financing costs in the amount of $1.0 million, and $1.2 million for prepayment
penalties as a result of paying off IHOP's pre-existing debt.

Loss on Derivative Financial Instrument

        As further described under "Liquidity and Capital Resources," we entered into a swap arrangement in July 2007. We terminated the swap
arrangement upon the consummation of the Applebee's acquisition on November 29, 2007. Settlement of the swap resulted in a loss related to the
decline in fair value of the undesignated portion of the hedge of $62.1 million for 2007. No such transaction occurred in 2008.

Provision for Income Taxes

        We recognized a tax benefit of $33.7 million in 2008 as compared to a tax benefit of $2.2 million in 2007. The change was primarily due to the
decrease in our pretax book income, partially offset by impairment of non-deductible goodwill.

Comparison of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Overview

        Our 2007 financial results were significantly impacted by one month of Applebee's operations since the date of acquisition, a loss on derivative
financial instrument and increased interest expense on $2.3 billion worth of funded debt. In comparing the Company's financial results for 2007 to those
in 2006, we note that:

• net loss of $0.5 million in 2007 was comprised of IHOP net income of $0.8 million offset by Applebee's net loss of $1.3 million; 

• IHOP net income decreased in 2007 to $0.8 million from $44.6 million in 2006 primarily due to the loss on derivative financial
instrument of $62.1 million ($37.8 million net of tax) in 2007; 

• franchise operations profit for IHOP restaurants in 2007 increased by $7.4 million or 7.7% due to higher revenues associated with
franchise restaurant retail sales; 

• general and administrative expenses for IHOP increased by $5.8 million or 9.1% primarily due to costs related to the Applebee's
acquisition; and 

• diluted weighted average shares outstanding decreased by 5.8% in 2007.
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Franchise Operations

  2007  2006  Variance 

Revenues           
 Applebee's  $ 14,173 $ — $14,173 

 IHOP   191,584  179,331  12,253 
        

 Total Franchise Revenue  $205,757 $179,331 $26,426 
        

        Consolidated franchise revenues grew by $26.4 million or 14.7% in 2007 as compared to 2006. Consolidated franchise revenues grew due to the
Applebee's acquisition which increased franchise revenues by $14.2 million or 7.9%, as well as a 7.1% increase in IHOP franchise restaurant retail
sales in 2007 as compared to 2006. The 7.1% increase in IHOP franchise restaurant retail sales was primarily attributable to the following:

• effective IHOP franchise restaurants increased by 4.5%; and 

• same-store sales for IHOP franchise restaurants increased by 2.2%.

        "Effective restaurants" are the number of restaurants in a given fiscal period adjusted to account for restaurants open for only a portion of the
period. IHOP effective franchise restaurants increased by 49 or 4.5% due to new restaurant openings in 2007 and the annualized effect of new
restaurant development in 2006.

        In 2007, IHOP had various promotions including the rollout of new menu items in November 2007, and other promotions throughout the year
which included "Pancake Surrender," "Fruit Crepe Fever," "Sweet Strawberry Serenade," "Stuffed French Toast Treasures," and "Cinn-A-Stacks
Celebration." IHOP also increased national advertising spending (to include an additional promotional period in November and December 2007) over
local media spending in 2006 for that period.

        Consolidated franchise expenses increased by $5.0 million or 6.0% in 2007 as compared to 2006, which was primarily due to the increase in
franchise expenses for IHOP restaurants in the amount of $4.8 million or 5.8%. IHOP franchise expenses such as advertising and the cost of
proprietary products are related to IHOP franchise restaurant retail sales. The increase in IHOP franchise expenses was primarily a result of the 7.1%
increase in IHOP franchise restaurant retail sales. Partially offsetting this increase, IHOP franchise expenses benefited from lower incentives to IHOP
franchisees for point-of-sale system purchases, as well as a reduction in the amount of financial relief granted to IHOP franchisees. The reduction in
franchisee relief granted was primarily due to fewer underperforming restaurants in our system than in previous periods.

Company Restaurant Operations

  2007  2006  Increase  

Revenues           
 Applebee's  $108,784 $ — $108,784 

 IHOP   17,121  13,585  3,536 
        

 Total Company Restaurant Sales  $125,905 $13,585 $112,320 
        

        Total company restaurant sales in 2007 increased by $112.3 million as compared to 2006. The increase in total company restaurant sales was due
almost exclusively to the Applebee's acquisition which contributed $108.8 million of the increase. The company restaurant expenses increased by
$101.8 million, or 652.7%, as compared to 2006. This increase was due almost exclusively to Applebee's, which contributed $97.8 million, or 627.0%,
of the increase.
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        Company restaurant operations loss, which is income less expenses, for IHOP company restaurants was $2.5 million in 2007, or 23.5% higher
than the loss of $2.0 million in 2006. This is primarily due to lower sales per restaurant as well as higher salary and benefits costs.

Rental Operations

        Rental operations profit, which is rental income less rental expenses and exclusively IHOP, decreased by $0.2 million or 0.5% in 2007, as
compared to 2006. Rental operations profit in 2007 compared to 2006 was impacted by the write-off of deferred rent resulting from terminated
subleases on restaurants reacquired in 2006. Deferred rent on operating subleases is the difference between straight-line rent and the actual amount
received. Straight-line rent is the amount of rent over the full lease term spread over equal monthly amounts.

Financing Operations

        Financing operations profit, which is financing revenues less financing expenses, is exclusively attributable to the IHOP business unit. In 2007
financing operations profit decreased by $1.0 million or 5.1% compared to 2006. This decrease was primarily attributable to the decrease in franchise
and equipment note interest due to the expected reduction in franchise fee note balances. These decreases were partially offset by an increase in net profit
margin on the sale of franchises and equipment associated with company-developed and rehabilitated and refranchised restaurants. In 2007, the
Company had a net profit margin of $0.1 million associated with four refranchised restaurants, compared to a negative margin of $0.5 million associated
with nine refranchised restaurants in 2006.

Loss on Derivative Financial Instrument

        As further described under "Liquidity and Capital Resources," we entered into a swap arrangement in July 2007. Settlement of the swap resulted in
additional interest expense related to the designated portion of $62.1 million for 2007 and $1.2 million of interest expense related to the amortization of
other comprehensive loss related to the designated portion of the swap over the expected life of the related debt, which is included in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

General and Administrative Expenses

        General and administrative expenses increased by $18.1 million or 28.4% in 2007 compared to the prior year, primarily due to one month of
Applebee's expenses in the amount of $12.3 million. General and administrative expenses for IHOP as a percentage of total IHOP operating revenues
increased 19.2% in 2007 compared to 18.2% in 2006, primarily due to increased professional services, and increased expenses for equity based
compensation. Professional services increased by $3.9 million in 2007 compared to 2006, primarily due to consulting fees related to the integration of
Applebee's. Excluding the acquisition-related expenditures of $3.0 million, growth would have been 4.4%. Equity based compensation expenses related
to the issuance of additional restricted stock increased by $1.6 million in 2007 compared to 2006. In addition, other compensation increased by
$0.5 million compared to 2006.

Interest Expense

        Interest expense increased by $20.8 million in 2007 compared to 2006, primarily due to one month of Applebee's expenses in the amount of
$14.6 million which is attributable to interest associated with the securitization for the acquisition. Interest expense for IHOP increased by $6.1 million
or 77.4% in 2007 compared to 2006 as a result of the higher level of debt associated with the securitizations.
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Impairment and Closure Charges

        Impairment and closure charges increased to $4.3 million in 2007 from $43,000 in 2006. Impairment and closure charges in 2007 included the
impairment of long lived assets for three restaurants closed in 2007, and two currently operated restaurants in Cincinnati. Impairment charges in 2006
were primarily for the impairment of long lived assets on three restaurants. The decision to close or impair the restaurants in 2007 and 2006 was a result
of a comprehensive analysis that examined restaurants not meeting minimum return on investment thresholds and certain other operating performance
criteria and represented a change in strategy from prior practices. The assets for these restaurants were written down to their estimated fair value.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

        The loss on extinguishment of debt of $2.2 million in 2007 resulted from early debt retirement with funds generated by the securitization
transactions for IHOP. These costs include the write-off of deferred financing costs in the amount of $1.0 million, and $1.2 million for prepayment
penalties as a result of paying off IHOP's pre-existing debt.

Provision for Income Taxes

        We recognized a tax benefit of $2.2 million in 2007 as compared to a tax provision of $28.3 million in 2006. The change was primarily due to the
release of certain unrecognized tax benefits as a result of the lapse of statute of limitations, higher compensation related income tax credits, and claims
for the refund of income taxes paid in previous years partially offset by changes in state tax rates and state tax laws. These adjustments have a
significant impact on the effective tax rate in 2007 because of the decrease in our pretax book income.

Pro Forma Comparison of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006—Applebee's

        The following section illustrates certain financial results of Applebee's on a stand-alone basis comparing 2008 as consolidated into the Company
with 2007 information comprised of the 11-month data from Applebee's prior to the acquisition date of November 29, 2007 and the one-month data of
Applebee's subsequent to the acquisition date ("Pro Forma 2007"). Pro Forma 2007 is also compared with 2006 information representing data derived
from Applebee's prior to the acquisition date ("Predecessor Applebee's").
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Restaurant Data

        The following table sets forth, for each of the past three years, the number of effective restaurants in the Applebee's system and information
regarding the percentage change in sales at those restaurants compared to the same period in the prior year.

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008  2007  2006  

    
(Pro

Forma)  
(Predecessor
Applebee's)  

Applebee's Restaurant Data           
Effective restaurants(a)           
 Franchise   1,504  1,429  1,353 

 Company   486  513  506 
        

  Total   1,990  1,942  1,859 
        

System-wide(b)           
 Applebee's domestic sales percentage change(c)(e)   (0.4)%  (0.2)%  8.4%

 Applebee's domestic same-store sales percentage
change(d)(e)

  (2.2)%  (2.1)%  (0.6)%

Franchise(b)           
 Applebee's domestic sales percentage change (c)(e)   1.6%  0.1%  7.6%

 Applebee's domestic same-store sales percentage
change(d)(e)

  (2.4)%  (2.0)%  (0.5)%

Company           
 Applebee's sales percentage change(c)(e)   (6.1)%  (0.9)%  10.6%

 Applebee's same-store sales percentage (d)(e)   (1.3)%  (2.2)%  (1.0)%

(a) "Effective restaurants" are the number of restaurants in a given fiscal period adjusted to account for restaurants open for only a portion of the
period. Information is presented for all effective restaurants in the Applebee's system, which includes restaurants owned by Applebee's as well
as those owned by franchisees and international licensees. 

(b) "System-wide sales" are retail sales of Applebee's restaurants operated by franchisees and Applebee's as reported to the Company. The
Company acquired Applebee's International, Inc. on November 29, 2007. Applebee's system-wide sales information includes the full year.
Domestic franchise restaurant sales for Applebee's restaurants were $3.4 billion, $3.3 billion and $3.3 billion in the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. Domestic franchise sales for Applebee's restaurants in the 2007 period subsequent to the
acquisition date were $319.5 million. Franchise restaurant retail sales are sales recorded at restaurants that are owned by franchisees and are not
attributable to the Company. Franchise restaurant retail sales are useful in analyzing our franchise revenues because franchisees pay us royalties
and other fees that are generally based on a percentage of their sales. Sales of restaurants that are owned by franchisees are not attributable to the
Company. 

(c) "Sales percentage change" reflects, for each category of restaurants, the percentage change in sales in any given fiscal year compared to the prior
fiscal year for all restaurants in that category. The sales percentage change for Applebee's restaurants was impacted by a 53rd week in 2006. In
addition, all periods for company-owned Applebee's restaurants exclude the impact of discontinued operations. 

(d) "Same-store sales percentage change" reflects the percentage change in sales, in any given fiscal year compared to the prior fiscal year, for
restaurants that have been operated throughout both fiscal periods that are being compared and have been open for at least 18 months. Because
of new unit openings and store closures, the restaurants open throughout both fiscal periods being compared will be different from period to
period.
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(e) These amounts represent changes for Applebee's restaurants for the full year. We acquired Applebee's on November 29, 2007. The change in
Applebee's store sales and same-store sales was (5.1)% and (4.5)%, respectively, for the five-week period in the 2007 period subsequent to the
acquisition date. The change in domestic franchise restaurant store sales and same-store sales, as reported to the Company, was (2.4)% and
(5.0)%, respectively, for the five-week period in the 2007 period subsequent to the acquisition date. The change in domestic system store sales
was (3.1)% and (4.8)%, respectively, for the five-week period in the 2007 period subsequent to the acquisition date.

        The following table summarizes Applebee's restaurant development and franchising activity:

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008  2007  2006  2005  2004  

    
(Pro

forma)  (Predecessor Applebee's)  

Applebee's Restaurant Development Activity                 
Beginning of year   1,976  1,930  1,804  1,671  1,585 
 New openings                 

  Company-developed   1  14  35  52  32 

  Franchisee-developed   48  66  108  92  77 
            

   Total new openings   49  80  143  144  109 

 Closings                 

  Company   (3)  (24)  (4)  (1)  (1)

  Franchise   (18)  (10)  (13)  (10)  (22)
            

End of year   2,004  1,976  1,930  1,804  1,671 
            

Summary—end of year                 
 Franchise   1,598  1,465  1,409  1,318  1,247 

 Company   406  511  521  486  424 
            

   Total   2,004  1,976  1,930  1,804  1,671 
            

Applebee's Restaurant Franchising Activity                 
Domestic franchisee-developed   28  44  90  78  66 
International franchisee-developed   20  22  18  14  11 
Refranchised   103  —  —  —  — 
            

   Total restaurant franchised   151  66  108  92  77 
Reacquired by the Company   —  —  (4)  (11)  (10)
Closed   (18)  (10)  (13)  (10)  (22)
            

 Net addition   133  56  91  71  45 
            

Results of Operations—2008 with Pro Forma 2007

  2008  2007  
    (Pro Forma)  
  (In thousands)  

Franchise revenues  $ 148,391 $ 143,697 
Company restaurant sales   1,088,101  1,158,537 
Franchise expenses   4,122  1,528 
Company restaurant expenses   961,019  1,039,126 
General and administrative expenses   101,842  199,512 
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Franchise Operations

        Applebee's franchise revenues in 2008 increased 3.3% from $143.7 million to $148.4 million as compared to pro forma 2007, primarily due to an
increase in effective restaurants from 1,429 restaurants in 2007 to 1,504 restaurants in 2008 and $1.7 million of revenue on temporary liquor agreements
on company-operated restaurants in the Texas market that were franchised in October 2008. The increase in effective restaurants was mainly due to the
company stores franchised during 2008 and new store openings in 2008. This increase was partially offset by a decrease in franchise domestic same-
store sales of 2.4% in 2008 as compared to 2007.

        Applebee's franchise expenses in 2008 increased from $1.5 million to $4.1 million as compared to pro forma 2007. This increase was due
primarily to $1.6 million of expenses related to temporary liquor agreements on the Texas restaurants noted above and $0.9 million increase in claims
expense recognized related to the captive insurance subsidiary.

Company Restaurant Operations

        Applebee's company restaurant sales for the full fiscal year in 2008 decreased 6.1% from pro forma $1,158.5 million in 2007 to $1,088.1 million
in 2008. This decrease was due primarily to the decrease in effective restaurants of 5.3% from 513 restaurants in 2007 to 486 restaurants in 2008 due to
the franchising of company stores during 2008 and a decrease in company same-store sales of 1.3% in 2008 as compared to 2007. The decrease in
same-store sales is driven mainly by decline in guest traffic partially offset by an increase in average guest check. The Company believes that the
decrease experienced in comparable guest traffic is reflective of the current economic conditions impacting consumers. The increase in average guest
check is due to menu price increases and a favorable mix shift.

        Applebee's company restaurant operations profit for 2008 increased by $7.7 million from $119.4 million in 2007 to $127.1 million in 2008. The
components of company restaurant expenses, as a percentage of company restaurant sales, were as follows:

  2008  2007  Variance  

    
(Pro

forma)    

Food and beverage   26.9%  26.9%  0.0%
Labor   34.8  34.9  0.1 
Direct and occupancy   26.7  27.8  1.1 
Pre-opening expense   0.0  0.2  0.2 
        

Total Cost of Company Restaurant Sales(a)   88.3%  89.7%  1.4%
        

(a) Percentages may not add due to rounding.

        Total food and beverage costs as a percent of company restaurant sales were flat in 2008 as compared to 2007. Food usage was impacted by
increased commodity costs but offset by price increases and food cost improvement initiatives.

        Total labor costs as a percent of company restaurant sales decreased by 0.1% in 2008 as compared to 2007. The decrease in 2008 was due
primarily to reductions in hourly labor costs as a percentage of sales due to an increased guest check offset by higher management incentive
compensation driven by a more costly bonus program in place during the first fiscal quarter of 2008.

        Direct and occupancy costs decreased by 1.1% in 2008 as compared to 2007 due primarily to favorable depreciation expense, which resulted from
purchase price allocations related to Applebee's acquisition and the reclassification of restaurants into assets held for sale, partially offset by an increase

55



in rent expense and smallwares associated with purchase accounting and unfavorable utility expense. Pre-opening expense decreased by 0.2% in 2008
as compared to 2007 due to opening one company restaurant in early 2008 as compared to 14 in 2007. We do not currently plan to open any domestic
company-operated restaurants in the foreseeable future.

Rental Operations

        As the result of several transactions related to the franchising of Applebee's company-operated restaurants, Applebee's now has rental income. The
amount of Applebee's rental income in 2008 was $58,000 offset by $28,000 in expenses. This activity relates only to the franchising of the restaurants;
Applebee's is not entering into rental operations similar to those of IHOP.

General and Administrative Expenses

        General and administrative expenses as a percentage of sales decreased from 15.3% in 2007 to 8.2% in 2008. The decrease was due primarily to
the non-recurrence of stock-based compensation and severance costs incurred in connection with the Applebee's acquisition as well as non-recurrence
of costs related to the exploration of strategic alternatives for enhancing shareholder value.

Results of Operations—Pro Forma 2007 with 2006 Predecessor Applebee's

        The pro forma results for the 2007 contained 52 weeks while 2006 contained 53 weeks.

  2007  2006  

  (Pro Forma)  
(Predecessor
Applebee's)  

  (In thousands)  

Franchise revenues  $ 143,697 $ 141,663 
Company restaurant sales   1,158,537  1,168,703 
Franchise expenses   1,528  2,699 
Company restaurant expenses   1,039,126  1,021,493 
General and administrative expenses   199,512  140,824 

Franchise Operations

        Pro forma Applebee's franchise revenues in 2007 increased 1.4% from $141.7 million to $143.7 million as compared to 2006 primarily due to an
increase in effective restaurants from 1,353 restaurants in 2006 to 1,429 restaurants in 2007. This increase was partially offset by a decrease in franchise
revenues due to the impact of an extra week in 2006 and a decrease in domestic same-store sales of 2.0% in 2007 as compared to 2006.

        Pro forma Applebee's franchise expenses in 2007 decreased 43.4% from $2.7 million to $1.5 million as compared to 2006. This decrease was due
primarily to a decrease in claims expense recognized related to the captive insurance subsidiary.

Company Restaurant Operations

        Pro forma Applebee's company restaurant sales for the full fiscal year in 2007 decreased 0.9% from $1,168.7 million in 2006 to $1,158.5 million
in 2007. This decrease was due primarily to the impact of the extra week in 2006 as compared to 2007 and a decline in guest traffic of approximately
4%. This decrease was partially offset by an increase in guest check of approximately 2% as well as an increase in the effective number of company
restaurants of approximately 1%. Company same-store sales decreased by 2.2% in 2007 as compared to 2006.
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        Pro forma company restaurant operation profit for Applebee's company restaurants decreased by $27.8 million from $147.2 million in 2006 to
$119.4 million in 2007. The components of company restaurant expenses, as a percentage of company restaurant sales, were as follows:

  2007  2006  Variance  

  
(Pro

forma)  
(Predecessor
Applebee's)    

Food and beverage   26.9%  26.7%  0.2%
Labor   34.9  33.6  1.3 
Direct and occupancy   27.8  26.8  1.0 
Pre-opening expense   0.2  0.4  (0.2)
        

Total Cost of Company Restaurant Sales(a)   89.7%  87.4%  2.3%
        

(a) Percentages may not add due to rounding.

        Total food and beverage costs increased by 0.2% in 2007 as compared to 2006. This increase was due primarily to the unfavorable impact of a
shift in menu mix and higher food costs related to Applebee's menu promotions which was partially offset by menu price increases of approximately
2.7%

        Total labor costs increased by 1.3% in 2007 as compared to 2006. The increase in 2007 was due primarily to higher restaurant management
salaries and hourly wage rates including the impact of state minimum wage rate increases as well as higher management incentive compensation.

        Direct and occupancy costs increased by 1.0% in 2007 as compared to 2006 due primarily to lower sales volumes at company restaurants which
resulted in unfavorable year-over-year comparisons for depreciation and rent, as a percentage of sales, due to their relatively fixed nature as well as
higher repairs and maintenance and credit card usage expense. This increase was partially offset by lower kitchen and dining supplies expense.

        Pre-opening expense decreased by 0.2% in 2007 as compared to 2006 due to the number of company restaurant openings.

General and Administrative Expenses

        General and administrative expenses as a percentage of sales increased from 10.7% in 2006 to 15.3% in 2007. The increase was due primarily to
additional stock-based compensation recognized and severance costs accrued for employees who are expected to be terminated in connection with the
Applebee's acquisition as well as the costs related to the exploration of strategic alternatives for enhancing shareholder value.

Liquidity and Capital Resources of the Company

        Prior to the acquisition of Applebee's, our primary ongoing sources of liquidity were cash provided by operating activities and principal receipts
from notes and equipment contracts receivable from our franchisees, while our principal uses of cash were common stock repurchases, payments of
dividends and capital investment.

        The acquisition of Applebee's had a significant impact on the liquidity and capital resources of the Company. We incurred approximately
$2.3 billion of indebtedness. While the addition of Applebee's increased our cash flow from operations, a significant portion of the increase was
consumed by interest payments on that indebtedness. Cash paid for interest increased to $194.8 million in 2008 as compared to $31.3 million in 2007
and $29.8 million in 2006. The amount of indebtedness also limits our ability to obtain additional financing, due to both explicit limitations in the
Indenture under which the indebtedness was issued and marketplace perception of our remaining debt capacity.
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        As described in Note 10 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Fixed Rate Notes issued as part of the Applebee's securitization
transaction have a legal maturity of December 2037; however, the Indenture under which the Notes were issued includes provisions which may
accelerate certain of the payment dates which, if not met, would require the Company to use operating funds to begin to pay down the outstanding debt.
The accelerated payment dates for the Applebee's securitization are as follows:

Class A-2-II-A Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes  December 2012
Class A-2-II-X Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes  December 2012
Class M-1 Fixed Rate Term Subordinated Notes  December 2012

        As of December 31, 2008, there was no acceleration of payment dates.

        Another impact of the Applebee's acquisition on our liquidity is the planned monetization of certain Applebee's assets. We are continuing to pursue
a strategy which contemplates transitioning from our current 80% franchised Applebee's system to an approximately 98% franchised Applebee's
system, similar to IHOP's 99% franchised system. In order to accomplish this strategy, we plan to franchise substantially all of the company-operated
Applebee's restaurants while retaining one company market in Kansas City. This heavily franchised business model is expected to require less capital
investment, improve margins and reduce the volatility of cash flow performance over time, while also providing cash proceeds from the franchising of
the restaurants. If our strategy to transition to a 98% franchised system is delayed or sales proceeds from franchising restaurants are less than
anticipated, we believe that the company-operated Applebee's restaurants will continue to generate sufficient cash from operations to meet our
obligations, such that we will not be compelled to enter into refranchising transactions at prices lower than we deem appropriate. Under the terms of the
securitized debt agreements, all of the proceeds of asset dispositions must be used to retire long-term debt.

        During 2008, we completed the following asset dispositions: a sale-leaseback transaction for the real property on which 181 of the 199 fee-owned,
company-operated Applebee's restaurants are situated, the sale of one additional fee-owned real estate parcel and a sale-leaseback transaction with
respect to Applebee's corporate headquarters in Lenexa, Kansas. We received approximately $378 million in proceeds from these transactions. During
2008, we also completed the franchising of 103 company-operated Applebee's restaurants in the California, Nevada, Delaware and Texas markets. We
received after-tax proceeds of approximately $55.1 million from these transactions.

        The proceeds from these transactions were used primarily to repay $350 million of Series 2007-1 Class A-2-I-X Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes to
repay portions of other long-term debt, to pay transaction expenses (payment of which had been deferred) related to the acquisition of Applebee's and
for general corporate purposes.

        On February 24, 2009 we completed the franchising of five restaurants in the New Mexico market and expect to recognize a gain of approximately
$5.5 million on this transaction.

        Applebee's has a $100 million revolving credit facility, the Series 2007-1 Class A-1 Variable Funding Senior Notes, committed to by Lehman
Brothers Holdings Inc. ("LBHI") (the "Lehman Facility"). LBHI filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection on September 15, 2008. This bankruptcy
filing created uncertainty as to our ability to continue to access funds under the Lehman Facility. As a result, in September 2008, the Company
borrowed an additional $35 million under the Lehman Facility, bringing our total borrowings to the maximum of $100 million, which amount was
outstanding at September 30, 2008. The $35 million has been used to purchase money market funds that are invested in U.S. government securities. The
money market funds are considered cash equivalents.

        IHOP has a $25 million revolving credit facility, the Series 2007-2 Variable Funding Note, committed to by Calyon Americas (the "Calyon
Facility"). At December 31, 2008, borrowings under the
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Calyon Facility were $15 million. We do not believe there would be significant impediments to accessing any of the remaining $10 million of credit
available under the Calyon Facility.

Debt Covenant Compliance

        As part of the financing for the Applebee's acquisition, certain subsidiaries of the Company completed two separate securitization transactions. The
securitization transactions consisted of an issuance of debt collateralized by Applebee's restaurant assets (the "Applebee's Notes") and a separate
issuance of debt collateralized by IHOP restaurant assets (the "IHOP Notes"). In addition, IHOP completed a $200 million securitization in March
2007, which is subject to the same debt covenants as IHOP's November 2007 securitization. This securitized debt is subject to a series of covenants and
restrictions which are customary for transactions of this type. As of December 31, 2008, approximately $1.9 billion of securitized debt is subject to
these covenants and restrictions.

        The two most significant covenants require the maintenance of a consolidated leverage ratio and certain debt service coverage ratios. The
consolidated leverage ratio is defined as the sum of: (i) all securitized debt (assuming all variable funding facilities are fully drawn); (ii) all other debt of
the Company; and (iii) the product of the current monthly operating lease expense and 96, that sum divided by the sum of: (i) the Company's EBITDA
(as defined) for the preceding 12 months and (ii) annualized operating lease expense. Maximum ratios for this test are as follows:

  
Applebee's

Notes  
IHOP
Notes  

Through November 2008   8.0x   7.75x  
Through November 2009   7.75x   7.5x  
Thereafter   7.25x   7.0x  

        Failure to remain under these maximums could result in required early amortization of outstanding principal amounts of the Applebee's Notes or
IHOP Notes. At December 31, 2008, the Company's consolidated leverage ratio was 6.8x.

        The debt service coverage ratio ("DSCR") is a fairly complex formula with numerous defined terms. In concept, it is the ratio of net cash flow (as
defined) for the preceding three months divided by total debt service payments, which include, among other things, interest payments, insurance
premiums and administrative expenses. The minimum DSCR is 1.85x. The consequences of falling below the minimum DSCR vary depending upon
the actual ratio achieved. A ratio less than 1.85x can trigger a Cash Trapping Event, a Rapid Amortization Event, or default. In a Cash Trapping Event a
trustee is required to retain a certain percentage of cash flow (after all required payments, as defined, have been made) in a restricted account. No
principal amounts of debt are retired in a Cash Trapping Event. In a Rapid Amortization Event all excess cash flow (after all required payments, as
defined, have been made) is retained and used to retire principal amounts of debt. These events are triggered as follows:

  Applebee's Notes  IHOP Notes

Cash Trapping Event  Less than 1.85x: 25%
of cash flow

 Less than 1.85x: 40%
of cash flow

Cash Trapping Event  Less than 1.75x: 50%
of cash flow

 Less than 1.75x: 80%
of cash flow

Rapid Amortization Event  Less than 1.5x  Less than 1.5x
Default Event  Less than 1.2x  Less than 1.2x

        There are also provisions for a one-time cure of either a Cash Trapping Event or a Rapid Amortization Event if the DSCR recovers to certain
levels. A Rapid Amortization Event can also be triggered in other defined circumstances unrelated to the DSCR, including Applebee's failure to
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maintain a minimum level of system-wide sales. At December 31, 2008, the Applebee's DSCR was 2.0x and the IHOP DSCR was 3.0x.

        Our ability to pay the interest on our indebtedness, to make scheduled payments of principal and to fund planned capital expenditures will depend
on our future performance, which, to a certain extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that
are beyond our control. Based upon the current level of operations and our current expectations for future periods in light of the current economic
environment, we currently anticipate that our cash and cash equivalents, together with expected cash flows from operations, sale-leaseback and
refranchising will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash requirements for working capital, retirement of securitized debt, capital expenditures and
other obligations for at least the next 12 months. Further, we currently believe that we will remain in compliance with the debt covenants discussed
above for at least the next 12 months.

        We believe that we will have the necessary liquidity through our current cash balances, operating cash flow, the IHOP revolving credit facility and
proceeds from additional franchising of Applebee's company-operated restaurants for the next year to fund our debt service requirements, capital
expenditures and other operational cash requirements. However, if we are not able to achieve forecasted revenue targets and operating improvements or
effect franchisings of Applebee's restaurants at prices currently anticipated, this assessment will have to be reconsidered. Additionally, certain
Applebee's Notes have accelerated payment dates of December 2012, and we will likely seek to refinance this debt if it has not been repaid prior to then.
We may not be able to effect any future refinancing of our debt on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

Cash Flows

        In summary, our cash flows were as follows:

  2008  2007  2006  
  (In thousands)  

Net cash provided by operating activities  $110,839 $ 106,323 $ 64,859 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   35,195  (1,937,392)  9,296 
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities   (58,429)  1,838,391  (77,750)
        

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  $ 87,605 $ 7,322 $ (3,595)
        

Operating Activities

        Cash provided by operating activities is primarily driven by revenues earned and collected from our franchisees, operating earnings from our
company-operated restaurants and rental operations profit from our leases. Franchise revenues consist of royalties, IHOP advertising fees, and sales of
proprietary products for IHOP which fluctuate with increases or decreases in franchise retail sales. Franchise retail sales are impacted by the
development of IHOP and Applebee's restaurants by our franchisees and by fluctuations in same-store sales. Company-operated operating earnings are
impacted by many factors which include, but are not limited, to changes in traffic pattern, pricing activities and changes in operating expenses. Rental
operations profit is rental income less rental expenses. Rental income includes revenue from operating leases and interest income from direct financing
leases. Rental expenses are costs of prime operating leases and interest expense on prime capital leases on franchisee-operated restaurants.

        Cash provided by operating activities increased to $110.8 million in 2008 from $106.3 million in 2007. The increase was due primarily to the
inclusion of Applebee's operating activities for a full year in 2008 as opposed to one month in 2007, substantially offset by the increased interest on
securitized debt. Cash paid for interest in 2008 was $194.8 million as compared to $31.3 million in 2007.
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Investing Activities

        Net cash provided by investing activities in 2008 was primarily attributable to $61.1 in proceeds from dispositions of assets, principally the
franchising of Applebee's company-operated restaurants and $15.8 million in principal receipts from notes and equipment contracts receivable. These
inflows were partially offset by $31.8 million in capital expenditures, of which $25.4 million related to Applebee's, consisting of $11.0 million related to
company-operated restaurants and $14.4 million related to corporate activities, primarily Applebee's restaurant support center in Lenexa, Kansas. Capital
expenditures are expected to decline in 2009 as we do not currently plan to develop any company-operated Applebee's restaurants and the support center
was completed in 2008.

        The following table represents the principal receipts on various receivables due from our franchisees as of December 31, 2008:

  Principal Receipts Due By Period  
  2009  2010  2011  2012  2013  Thereafter  Total  
  (In thousands)  
Equipment leases(1)  $ 7,022 $ 7,044 $ 6,999 $ 6,962 $ 7,308 $ 118,225 $153,560 
Direct financing leases(2)   3,497  4,081  4,769  5,625  6,606  90,939  115,517 
Franchise notes and other(3)   7,196  6,013  3,906  3,153  1,730  3,744  25,742 
                

Total  $17,715 $17,138 $15,674 $15,740 $15,644 $ 212,908 $294,819 
                

(1) Equipment lease receivables extend through the year 2029. 

(2) Direct financing lease receivables extend through the year 2024. 

(3) Franchise note receivables extend through the year 2027.

Financing Activities

        Net cash used by financing activities in 2008 was primarily attributable to the repayment of long-term debt, capital lease and financing obligations
totaling $431.2 million, the payment of $48.9 million of debt issuance costs and $33.4 million in dividend payments, which were comprised of
$17.4 million of dividends on common stock and $16.0 million of dividends on Series A Preferred Stock. These outflows were partially offset by
proceeds from financing obligations of $370.5 million, the $35.0 million borrowing against the Lehman Facility discussed above, and the release of
$49.2 million of restricted cash. Effective December 11, 2008, the Company has suspended payments of dividends to common shareholders for the
foreseeable future.

        Net cash used in financing activities in 2007 and 2006 was primarily attributable to stock repurchases, dividend payments, repayment of long-term
debt and principal payments on capital lease obligations, partially offset by stock option exercises.

Share Repurchases and Dividends

        In January 2003, our Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase shares of the Company's common stock. As of December 31, 2007,
the Board approved the repurchase of up to 7.2 million shares of common stock. During 2007, the Company repurchased approximately 1.3 million
shares of its common stock for $77.0 million. The Company has repurchased 6.3 million shares of its common stock since the inception of the program
at a total cost of $280.0 million. The Company did not repurchase shares in 2008. . In February 2009, the Board of Directors cancelled the authorization
to repurchase any additional shares under this program.

        We had accrued $4.75 million as dividends for the Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock as of December 31, 2008. The dividends were paid in
January 2009.
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        The Company has paid regular quarterly dividends of $0.25 per common share since May 2003. A quarterly cash dividend of $0.25 per common
share was paid on November 18, 2008, which was the fourth dividend payment of 2008. In December 2008, the Board of Directors suspended the
payment of the quarterly cash dividend to common stockholders for the foreseeable future as part of actions the Company is taking to maximize its
financial flexibility. Future dividend declarations on the common shares may be made at the discretion of the Board of Directors after consideration of
the Company's earnings, financial condition, cash requirements, future prospects and other factors.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

        As of December 31, 2008, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4) of SEC Regulation S-K.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

        The following are our significant contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2008:

  Payments Due By Period  

Contractual Obligations  1 Year  2-3 Years  4-5 Years  
More than

5 Years  Total  
  (in thousands)  

Debt  $ 15,000 $ 50,400 $1,398,447 $ 435,000 $1,898,847 
Financing obligation   31,125  63,238  63,732  445,402  603,497 
Operating leases   88,376  172,322  170,774  1,228,871  1,660,343 
Capital leases   24,731  49,904  49,568  192,789  316,992 
Purchase commitments   168,639  36,357  —  —  204,996 
Other obligations   524  893  —  —  1,417 
            

Total minimum payments   328,395  373,114  1,682,521  2,302,062  4,686,092 
Less interest   (41,164)  (77,593)  (70,665)  (236,682)  (426,104)
            

 $287,231 $295,521 $1,611,856 $2,065,380 $4,259,988 
            

        As discussed in Note 20 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, effective January 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of FASB
Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109. At December 31, 2008, we had a
reserve for unrecognized tax benefit including potential interest and penalties, net of related tax benefit, totaling $23.5 million, of which approximately
$1.7 million is expected to be paid within one year. For the remaining liability, due to the uncertainties related to these tax matters, we are unable to make
a reasonably reliable estimate when cash settlement with a taxing authority will occur.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

        The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of net revenues and
expenses in the reporting period. We base our estimates and assumptions on current facts, historical experience and various other factors that we believe
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities
and the accrual of costs and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. Accounting assumptions and estimates are inherently uncertain
and actual results may differ materially from our estimates.
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        We believe the following critical accounting policies require us to make significant judgments and estimates in the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements:

Purchase Price Allocation

        The purchase price for acquisitions is allocated to the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
respective fair values in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 141, Business Combinations ("SFAS 141"). The
determination of estimated fair values of identifiable intangible assets and certain tangible assets requires significant estimates and assumptions,
including but not limited to, determining the estimated future cash flows, estimated useful lives of assets and appropriate discount rates. We believe the
estimated fair values assigned to the Applebee's assets acquired and liabilities assumed are based on reasonable assumptions. However, the fair value
estimates for the purchase price allocation may change during the allowable allocation period under SFAS 141, which is up to one year from the
acquisition date, if additional information becomes available that would require changes to our estimates.

Long-Lived Assets

        We assess long-lived and intangible assets with finite lives for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
of the assets may not be recoverable. We test impairment using historical cash flows and other relevant facts and circumstances as the primary basis for
our estimates of future cash flows. We consider factors such as the number of years the restaurant has been operated by us, sales trends, cash flow
trends, remaining lease life, and other factors which apply on a case-by-case basis. The analysis is performed at the individual restaurant level for
indicators of permanent impairment. Recoverability of the restaurant's assets is measured by comparing the assets' carrying value to the undiscounted
cash flows expected to be generated over the assets' remaining useful life or remaining lease term, whichever is less. If the total expected undiscounted
future cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the assets, the carrying amount is written down to the estimated fair value, and a loss resulting
from impairment is recognized by charging to earnings. This process requires the use of estimates and assumptions, which are subject to a high degree
of judgment. If these assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record impairment charges for these assets.

Goodwill and Intangibles

        Goodwill is recorded when the aggregate purchase price of an acquisition exceeds the estimated fair value of the net identified tangible and
intangible assets acquired. Intangible assets resulting from the acquisition are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and are estimated
by management based on the fair value of the assets received. Identifiable intangible assets are comprised primarily of trademarks, trade names and
franchise agreements. Identifiable assets are being amortized over the period of estimated benefit using the straight-line method and estimated useful
lives. Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are not subject to amortization.

        In accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets  ("SFAS 142"), goodwill has been allocated to three reporting units, the
IHOP franchised restaurants unit ("IHOP unit"), Applebee's company-operated restaurants unit ("Applebee's company unit") and Applebee's franchised
restaurants unit ("Applebee's franchise unit"). The significant majority of the Company's goodwill resulted from the November 29, 2007 acquisition of
Applebee's and has been allocated between the two Applebee's units. The Company tests goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets for
impairment on an annual basis in the fourth quarter. The impairment test of goodwill of the two Applebee's units was performed as of October 31,
2008. The impairment test of the goodwill of the IHOP unit was performed as of December 31, 2008, the date as of which the analysis has been
performed in prior years. In addition to the annual test of impairment, goodwill must be evaluated
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more frequently if the Company believes indicators of impairment exist. Such indicators include, but are not limited to, events or circumstances such as
a significant adverse change in the business climate, unanticipated competition, a loss of key personnel, adverse legal or regulatory developments, or a
significant decline in the market price of the Company's common stock.

        In the process of the Company's annual impairment review, the Company primarily uses the income approach method of valuation that includes the
discounted cash flow method as well as other generally accepted valuation methodologies to determine the fair value of our intangible assets. Significant
assumptions used to determine fair value under the discounted cash flows model include future trends in sales, operating expenses, overhead expenses,
depreciation, capital expenditures, and changes in working capital along with an appropriate discount rate. Additional assumptions are made as to
proceeds to be received from future franchising of company-operated restaurants. Step one of the impairment test compares the fair value of each of our
reporting units to its carrying value. If the fair value is in excess of the carrying value, no impairment exists. If the step one test does indicate an
impairment, step two must take place. Under step two, the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit are estimated as if the reporting unit
were acquired in a business combination. The excess of the fair value of the reporting unit over the carrying amounts assigned to its assets and liabilities
is the implied fair value of the goodwill, to which the carrying value of the goodwill must be adjusted. The fair value of all reporting units is then
compared to the current market value of the Company's common stock to determine if the fair values estimated in the impairment testing process are
reasonable in light of the current market value.

Leases

        Our restaurants are located on (i) sites owned by us, (ii) sites leased by us from third parties and (iii) sites owned or leased by franchisees. At the
inception of the lease, each property is evaluated to determine whether the lease will be accounted for as an operating or capital lease in accordance with
the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 13, Accounting for Leases ("SFAS 13") and subsequent amendments.

        The lease term used for straight-line rent expense is calculated from the date we obtain possession of the leased premises through the lease
termination date. Prior to January 2, 2006, we capitalized rent expense from possession date through construction completion and reported the related
asset in property and equipment. Capitalized rent was amortized through depreciation and amortization expense over the estimated useful life of the
related assets limited to the lease term. Straight-line rent recorded during the preopening period (construction completion through restaurant open date)
was recorded as expense. Commencing January 2, 2006, we expense rent from possession date through restaurant open date, in accordance with FASB
Staff Position No. 13-1, Accounting for Rental Costs Incurred during a Construction Period. Once a restaurant opens for business, we record straight-
line rent over the lease term plus contingent rent to the extent it exceeded the minimum rent obligation per the lease agreement. We use a consistent lease
term when calculating depreciation of leasehold improvements, when determining straight-line rent expense and when determining classification of our
leases as either operating or capital.

        There is potential for variability in the rent holiday period, which begins on the possession date and ends on the restaurant open date, during which
no cash rent payments are typically due under the terms of the lease. Factors that may affect the length of the rent holiday period generally relate to
construction related delays. Extension of the rent holiday period due to delays in restaurant opening will result in greater preopening rent expense
recognized during the rent holiday period and lesser occupancy expense during the rest of the lease term (post-opening).

        For leases that contain rent escalations, we record the total rent payable during the lease term, as determined above, on the straight-line basis over
the term of the lease (including the rent holiday
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period beginning upon our possession of the premises), and record the difference between the minimum rents paid and the straight-line rent as a lease
obligation. Certain leases contain provisions that require additional rental payments based upon restaurant sales volume ("contingent rent"). Contingent
rentals are accrued each period as the liabilities are incurred, in addition to the straight-line rent expense noted above.

        Certain of our lease agreements contain tenant improvement allowances. For purposes of recognizing incentives, we amortize the incentives over
the shorter of the estimated useful life or lease term. For tenant improvement allowances, we also record a deferred rent liability or an obligation in our
non-current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

        Management makes judgments regarding the probable term for each restaurant property lease, which can impact the classification and accounting
for a lease as capital or operating, the rent holiday and/or escalations in payment that are taken into consideration when calculating straight-line rent and
the term over which leasehold improvements for each restaurant are amortized. These judgments may produce materially different amounts of
depreciation, amortization and rent expense than would be reported if different assumed lease terms were used.

Insurance Reserves

        We use estimates in the determination of the appropriate liabilities for general liability, workers' compensation and health insurance. The estimated
liability is established based upon historical claims data and third-party actuarial estimates of settlement costs for incurred claims. Unanticipated changes
in these factors may require us to revise our estimates. We periodically reassess our assumptions and judgments and make adjustments when significant
facts and circumstances dictate. A change in any of the above estimates could impact our consolidated statements of earnings, and the related asset or
liability recorded in our consolidated balance sheets would be adjusted accordingly. Historically, actual results have not been materially different than the
estimates that are described above.

Stock-Based Compensation

        We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment ("SFAS 123(R)").
Accordingly, we measure stock-based compensation expense at the grant date, based on the fair value of the award, and recognize the expense over the
employee's requisite service period using the straight-line method. Under SFAS 123(R), the fair value of each employee stock option and restricted
stock award is estimated on the date of grant using an option pricing model that meets certain requirements. We currently use the Black-Scholes option
pricing model to estimate the fair value of our share-based compensation. The Black-Scholes model meets the requirements of SFAS 123(R). The
measurement of stock-based compensation expense is based on several criteria including, but not limited to, the valuation model used and associated
input factors, such as expected term of the award, stock price volatility, risk free interest rate and forfeiture rate. These inputs are subjective and are
determined using management's judgment. If differences arise between the assumptions used in determining stock-based compensation expense and the
actual factors which become known over time, we may change the input factors used in determining future stock-based compensation expense. Any
such changes could materially impact our operations in the period in which the changes are made and in subsequent periods.

Derivative Financial Instruments

        In the normal course of business we utilize derivative instruments to manage our exposure to interest rate risks. We account for our derivative
instruments under SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities , as amended by SFAS No. 138, Accounting for
Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities-an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133  and

65



SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities . The standard requires that all derivative instruments be
recorded on the balance sheet at fair value and establishes criteria for designation and effectiveness of the hedging relationships.

        We use derivative financial instruments primarily for purposes of hedging exposures to fluctuations in interest rates. All derivatives are recognized
on the balance sheet at fair value. For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge (i.e., hedging the exposure to
variability in expected future cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk), the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative instrument is
reported as a component of other comprehensive income or loss and reclassified into earnings in the same line item associated with the forecasted
transaction in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings (for example, in "interest expense" when the hedged
transactions are interest cash flows associated with debt). The remaining gain or loss on the derivative instrument in excess of the cumulative change in
the present value of future cash flows of the hedged item, if any, is recognized in other income/expense in current earnings during the period of change.

        At inception of the hedge, we choose the Hypothetical Derivative Method of effectiveness calculation, which we must use for the life of the
contract and we will measure effectiveness quarterly. When hedge treatment is achieved under SFAS 133, the changes in fair values related to the
effective portion of the derivatives are recorded in other comprehensive income or loss or in income/expense, depending on the designation of the
derivative as a cash flow hedge. We obtain the values on a quarterly basis from the counterparty of the derivative contracts. The undesignated portion of
the derivative contract is calculated and recorded in Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations at the end of each quarter until settled.

Fair Value Measurements

        Effective January 1, 2008, the Company determines the fair market values of its financial assets and liabilities, as well as non-financial assets and
liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value on a recurring basis, based on the fair value hierarchy established in SFAS No. 157, Fair Value
Measurements ("SFAS No. 157"). We measure our financial assets and liabilities using inputs from the following three levels of the fair value
hierarchy. The three levels are as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that we have the ability to access at the
measurement date. 

• Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or
liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (i.e., interest rates,
yield curves, etc.), and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means
(market corroborated inputs). 

• Level 3 includes unobservable inputs that reflect our assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the
asset or liability. We develop these inputs based on the best information available, including our own data.

        For more information on the financial instruments the Company measures at fair value, see Note 13, Fair Value Measurements.

Income Taxes

        We provide for income taxes based on our estimate of federal and state income tax liabilities. Our annual tax rate is based on our income, statutory
tax rates and tax planning opportunities available to us in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. Tax laws are complex and subject to different
interpretations by the taxpayers and respective governmental authorities. Significant judgment is
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required in determining our tax expense and in evaluating our tax positions. We review our tax positions quarterly and adjust the balances as new
information becomes available.

        We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities using the enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary differences between the financial reporting
basis and the tax basis of recorded assets and liabilities. Deferred tax accounting requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowance if
it is more likely than not that some portions or all of the net deferred tax assets will not be realized. This test requires projection of our taxable income
into future years to determine if there will be taxable income sufficient to realize the tax assets. The preparation of the projections requires considerable
judgment and is subject to change to reflect future events and changes in the tax laws. When we establish or reduce the valuation allowance against our
deferred tax assets, our income tax expense will increase or decrease, respectively, in the period such determination is made.

        Tax contingency reserves result from our estimates of potential liabilities resulting from differences between actual and audited results. We usually
file our income tax returns several months after our fiscal year end. All tax returns are subject to audit by federal and state governments, usually years
after the returns are filed, and could be subject to differing interpretation of the tax laws. Changes in the tax contingency reserves result from resolution
of audits of prior year filings, the expiration of the statute of limitations, changes in tax laws and current year estimates for asserted and unasserted
items. Inherent uncertainties exist in estimates of tax contingencies due to changes in tax law, both legislated and concluded through the various
jurisdictions' tax court systems. Significant changes in our estimates could materially affect our reported results.

        Under FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 ("FIN 48"), tax
positions that previously failed to meet the more-likely-than-not threshold should be recognized in the first subsequent financial reporting period in
which that threshold is met. Previously recognized tax positions that no longer meet the more-likely-than-not threshold should be derecognized in the
first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is not longer met. We are subject to taxation in many jurisdictions, and the calculation
of our tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws and regulations in various tax jurisdictions. The
application is subject to legal and factual interpretation, judgment and uncertainty. Tax laws and regulations themselves are subject to change as a result
of changes in fiscal policy, changes in legislation, the evolution of regulations and court rulings. Therefore, the actual liability for taxes may be
materially different from our estimates, which could result in the need to record additional tax liabilities or to reverse previously recorded tax liabilities.

New Accounting Pronouncements

        In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations ("SFAS 141(R)"). SFAS 141(R) establishes
principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities
assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and the goodwill acquired. SFAS 141(R) also establishes disclosure requirements to enable the
evaluation of the nature and financial effects of the business combination. SFAS 141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008.
We will adopt SFAS 141(R) in the first quarter of fiscal 2009 and apply the provisions of this statement for any acquisition after the adoption date. We
are currently evaluating the potential impact, if any, of the adoption of SFAS 141(R) on our consolidated financial statements.

        In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities  ("SFAS 161"). This
statement requires companies to provide enhanced disclosures about (a) how and why they use derivative instruments, (b) how derivative instruments
and related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities , and its related
interpretations, and (c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items
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affect a company's financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. SFAS 161 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and
interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008. The Company will adopt the new disclosure requirements in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. As
SFAS 161 does not change current accounting practice, there will be no impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

        In June 2008, the FASB issued FSP Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 03-6-1, Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based
Payment Transactions are Participating Securities ("FSP 03-6-1"). FSP 03-6-1 clarifies that unvested share-based payment awards that contain
nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents (whether paid or unpaid) are participating securities and are to be included in the computation
of earnings per share under the two-class method described in SFAS No. 128, "Earnings Per Share." This FSP is effective on January 1, 2009 and
requires all prior-period earnings per share data that is presented to be adjusted retrospectively. We do not expect FSP 03-6-1 to have a material impact
on our earnings per share calculations.

        In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 142-3, Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets  ("FSP FAS 142-3"). FSP FAS 142-3
amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of a recognized
intangible asset under SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets  ("SFAS 142"). The intent of FSP FAS 142-3 is to improve the
consistency between the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under SFAS 142 and the period of expected cash flows used to measure the fair
value of the asset under SFAS 141(R) and other applicable accounting literature. FSP FAS 142-3 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2008 and must be applied prospectively to intangible assets acquired after the effective date. The Company is
currently evaluating the potential impact, if any, of FSP FAS 142-3 on its consolidated financial statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

        In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standard Board ("FASB") issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements ("SFAS 157"), which
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosure about fair
value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. Relative to SFAS
No. 157, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position ("FSP") FASB Statements ("FAS") 157-1, FAS 157-2 and FAS 157-3 in 2008. FSP FAS 157-1
amends SFAS No. 157 to exclude SFAS No. 13, "Accounting for Leases," and its related interpretive accounting pronouncements that address leasing
transactions. FSP FAS 157-2 delays the effective date of SFAS No. 157 to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008 for all non-financial assets
and non-financial liabilities, except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis. FSP FAS 157-3
clarifies how SFAS No. 157 should be applied when valuing securities in markets that are not active. The Company adopted SFAS No. 157, as
amended, effective January 1, 2008 with the exception of the application of SFAS No. 157 to non-recurring non-financial assets and non-financial
liabilities. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial position or results of operations. The Company is
currently evaluating the potential impact of adopting the remaining provisions of SFAS 157 on its consolidated financial statements.

        In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Liabilities—Including an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 115 ("SFAS 159"). SFAS 159 expands the use of fair value accounting but does not affect existing standards which requires
assets or liabilities to be carried at fair value. The objective of SFAS 159 is to improve financial reporting by providing companies with the opportunity
to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities differently without having to apply complex hedge accounting
provisions. Under SFAS 159, a company may elect to use fair value to measure eligible items at specified election dates and report unrealized gains and
losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected in
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earnings at each subsequent reporting date. Eligible items include, but are not limited to, accounts and loans receivable, available-for-sale and held-to-
maturity securities, equity method investments, accounts payable, guarantees, issued debt and firm commitments. On January 1, 2008, the Company
adopted SFAS 159 and has not elected to use fair value measurement on any assets or liabilities under this statement.

        In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("SFAS 162"). This statement is intended
to improve financial reporting by identifying a consistent framework, or hierarchy, for selecting accounting principles to be used in preparing financial
statements of nongovernmental entities that are presented in conformity with U.S. GAAP. While this statement formalizes the sources and hierarchy of
U.S. GAAP within the authoritative accounting literature, it does not change the accounting principles that are already in place. This statement was
effective on November 15, 2008 and did not have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

        In June 2007, the EITF reached consensus on Issue No. 06-11, Accounting for Income Tax Benefits of Dividends on Share-Based Payment
Awards ("EITF 06-11"). EITF 06-11 requires that the tax benefit related to dividend equivalents paid on restricted stock units which are expected to vest
be recorded as an increase to additional paid-in capital. The impact of adopting EITF 06-11 in 2008 did not have a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

Item 7A.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk. 

        We are exposed to financial market risk, including interest rates and commodity prices. We address these risks through controlled risk management
that includes the use of derivative financial instruments to economically hedge or reduce these exposures. We do not enter into financial instruments for
trading or speculative purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

        Our interest income and expense is more sensitive to fluctuations in the general level of U.S. interest rates than to changes in rates in other markets.
Changes in the U.S. interest rates affect the interest earned on our cash and cash equivalents and investments, and interest expense on our variable
funding notes.

        Our short and long-term investments are comprised primarily of certificates of deposits and auction rate securities that are included in restricted
assets related to the captive insurance subsidiary. We have classified these investments as available-for-sale. Investments in fixed interest rate earning
instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk. Fixed rate securities may have their fair market value adversely impacted due to a rise in interest rates.
Our future investment income may fall short of expectations due to changes in interest rates. Due to the short time period between reset dates of the
interest rates, there are no unrealized gains or losses associated with the auction rate securities. As of December 31, 2008, we had investments in auction
rate securities with contractual maturities ranging from 2030 to 2033. Such investments have a weighted average yield of approximately 4.0%. Based on
our cash and cash equivalent and short-term and long-term investment holdings as of December 31, 2008, a 1% decline in interest rates would decrease
our annual interest income by approximately $0.1 million.

        On July 16, 2007, we entered into an interest rate swap contract (the "Swap") as a condition of the acquisition financing with Lehman Brothers
Special Financial Inc. ("LBSFI"), guaranteed by Lehman Brothers Holdings, Inc. ("LBHI"). The Swap was intended to hedge our interest payments on
the asset-backed notes that were issued in November 2007 to finance the Applebee's acquisition. The Swap sets forth the terms of a five-year interest
rate swap in which we would be the fixed rate payer and LBSFI would be the floating rate payer (the "Reference Swap"). The Reference Swap has an
effective date of July 16, 2008, a notional amount of $2.039 billion, a floating rate of LIBOR and a
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fixed rate of 5.694%. On November 29, 2007, we terminated the Swap upon the consummation of the Applebee's acquisition. The fair value of the
Swap was $124.0 million. The fair value of the designated portion of the Swap amounted to $61.9 million ($38.0 million net of tax effect) and is
included as "Accumulated other comprehensive loss" in our consolidated balance sheet. The fair value of the undesignated portion of the Swap resulted
in additional interest expense of $62.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, which was included in our consolidated statement of operations.

        At December 31, 2008, we had approximately $115 million of variable rate debt. If the interest on our variable rate debt were to increase or
decrease by 1% for the year, annual interest expense would increase or decrease by approximately $1.1 million based on the amount of outstanding
variable rate debt at December 31, 2008.

Commodity Prices

        Many of the food products purchased by us and our franchisees and area licensees are affected by commodity pricing and are, therefore, subject to
unpredictable price volatility. To moderate the volatility, Applebee's enters into fixed price purchase commitments. IHOP attempts to mitigate price
fluctuations by entering into forward purchase agreements on all our major products. None of these food product contracts or agreements is a derivative
instrument. Extreme changes in commodity prices and/or long-term changes could affect our franchisees, area licensees and company-operated
restaurants adversely. We expect that, in most cases, the IHOP and Applebee's systems would be able to pass increased commodity prices through to
our consumers via increases in menu prices. From time to time, competitive circumstances could limit short-term menu price flexibility, and in those
cases, margins would be negatively impacted by increased commodity prices. We believe that any changes in commodity pricing that cannot be adjusted
for by changes in menu pricing or other strategies would not be material to our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

        In some instances, we enter into commitments to purchase food and other items on behalf of the IHOP and Applebee's systems. At December 31,
2008, our outstanding purchase commitments for food products were $123.1 million. The Company has developed processes to facilitate the liquidation
of these commitments to minimize financial exposure.
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DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 

(In thousands, except share amounts) 

  December 31,  
  2008  2007  

Assets        
Current assets        
 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 114,443 $ 26,838 
 Restricted cash   83,355  128,138 
 Short-term investments, at market value   276  300 
 Receivables, net   117,930  115,335 
 Inventories   10,959  13,280 
 Prepaid income taxes   15,734  31,020 
 Prepaid expenses   17,067  30,831 
 Deferred income taxes   27,504  21,862 
 Assets held for sale   11,861  66,074 
      

  Total current assets   399,129  433,678 
      

Non-current restricted cash   53,395  57,962 
Restricted assets related to captive insurance subsidiary   5,573  10,518 
Long-term receivables   277,106  288,452 
Property and equipment, net   824,482  1,139,616 
Goodwill   697,470  730,728 
Other intangible assets, net   956,036  1,011,457 
Other assets, net   148,026  158,751 
      

  Total assets  $ 3,361,217 $ 3,831,162 
      

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity        
Current liabilities        
 Current maturities of long-term debt  $ 15,000 $ — 
 Accounts payable   48,983  99,019 
 Accrued employee compensation and benefits   44,299  56,795 
 Deferred revenue   95,532  76,802 
 Accrued financing costs   20,071  63,045 
 Other accrued expenses   55,249  49,203 
 Deferred compensation   —  21,236 
 Accrued interest payable   3,580  15,240 
      

  Total current liabilities   282,714  381,340 
      

Long-term debt, less current maturities   1,853,367  2,263,887 
Financing obligations, less current maturities   318,651  — 
Capital lease obligations, less current maturities   161,310  168,242 
Deferred income taxes   395,448  504,865 
Other liabilities   119,910  116,405 
Commitments and contingencies        
Preferred stock, Series A, $1 par value, 220,000 shares authorized;

190,000 shares issued and outstanding   187,050  187,050 
Stockholders' equity        

 
Preferred stock, Series B, $1 par value, 10,000,000 shares

authorized; 35,000 shares issued and outstanding   37,332  35,181 
Common stock, $.01 par value, 40,000,000 shares authorized;



 

2008: 23,696,950 shares issued and 17,466,355 shares
outstanding; 2007: 23,359,664 shares issued and 17,105,469
shares outstanding   237  230 

Additional paid-in-capital   165,315  149,564 
Retained earnings   145,810  338,790 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (29,408)  (36,738)
Treasury stock, at cost (2008: 6,230,595 shares; 2007: 6,254,195

shares)   (276,519)  (277,654)
      

 Total stockholders' equity   42,767  209,373 
      

 Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 3,361,217 $ 3,831,162 
      

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Statements of Operations 

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008  2007  2006  

Revenues           
 Franchise revenues  $ 353,331 $ 205,757 $ 179,331 

 Company restaurant sales   1,103,228  125,905  13,585 

 Rental income   131,347  132,422  132,101 

 Financing revenues   25,722  20,475  24,543 
        

  Total revenues   1,613,628  484,559  349,560 
        

Costs and Expenses           
 Franchise expenses   96,243  88,054  83,079 

 Company restaurant expenses   978,197  117,448  15,601 

 Rental expenses   98,057  98,402  97,904 

 Financing expenses   7,314  1,215  4,240 

 General and administrative expenses   182,239  81,597  63,543 

 Interest expense   203,141  28,654  7,902 

 Impairment and closure charges   240,630  4,381  43 

 Amortization of intangible assets   12,132  1,132  — 

 (Gain) loss on extinguishment of debt   (15,242)  2,223  — 

 Other (income) expense, net   (926)  2,030  4,398 

 Loss on derivative financial instrument   —  62,131  — 
        

  Total costs and expenses   1,801,785  487,267  276,710 
        

(Loss) income before income taxes   (188,157)  (2,708)  72,850 
(Benefit) provision for income taxes   (33,698)  (2,228)  28,297 
        

Net (loss) income  $ (154,459) $ (480) $ 44,553 
        

Net (loss) income
 

$ (154,459) $ (480) $ 44,553
 

Less: Series A preferred stock dividends   (19,000)  (1,561)  — 
Less: Accretion of Series B preferred stock   (2,151)  (181)  — 
Less: Net loss allocated to unvested participating

restricted stock
  6,417  —  — 

        

Net (loss) income available to common stockholders  $ (169,193) $ (2,222) $ 44,553 
        

Net (loss) income available to common stockholders per
share

          

 Basic  $ (10.09) $ (0.13) $ 2.46 
        

 Diluted  $ (10.09) $ (0.13) $ 2.43 
        

Weighted average shares outstanding           
 Basic   16,764  17,232  18,085 
        

 Diluted   16,764  17,232  18,298 
        

Dividends declared per common share  $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00 
        

Dividends paid per common share  $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00 
        

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity 

(In thousands, except share amounts) 

 
 Preferred Stock  Common Stock

           
     

 

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

     

  
Shares
Issued  

Series B
Amount  

Shares
Issued  Amount 

Additional
Paid-in
Capital  

Retained
Earnings  

Treasury
Stock,
at cost  Total  

Balance, December 31, 2005   — $ —  22,464,760 $ 225 $ 120,175 $ 332,560 $ (205)$(158,909) $ 293,846 
Net income   —  —  —  —  —  44,553  —  —  44,553 
Interest rate swap, net of tax   —  —  —  —  —  —  7 2  —  7 2 
                            

Comprehensive income                           44,625 
                            

Repurchase of treasury shares   —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (42,695)  (42,695)
Issuance of shares pursuant to stock plans   —  —  353,247  2  5,942  —  —  —  5,944 
Stock option expense   —  —  —  —  1,905  —  —  —  1,905 
Amortization of restricted stock grants   —  —  —  —  2,006  —  —  —  2,006 
Tax benefit from stock options exercised         —  —  1,720  —  —  —  1,720 
Dividends—common stock         —  —  —  (18,138) —  —  (18,138)
                    

Balance, December 31, 2006   —  —  22,818,007  227  131,748  358,975  (133) (201,604)  289,213 
Net loss   —  —  —  —  —  (480) —  —  (480)
Interest rate swap, net of tax   —  —  —  —  —  —  (36,605) —  (36,605)
                            

Comprehensive loss                           (37,085)
                            

Cumulative effect of adoption of FIN 48   —  —  —  —  —  (489) —  —  (489)
Repurchase of treasury shares   —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (77,020)  (77,020)
Issuance of preferred stock Series B   35  35,000  —  —  (750) —  —  —  34,250 
Issuance of shares pursuant to stock plans   —  —  541,657  3  8,925  —  —  970  9,898 
Stock-based compensation   —  —  —  —  6,165  —  —  —  6,165 
Tax benefit from stock options exercised   —  —  —  —  3,476  —  —  —  3,476 
Dividends—common stock   —  —  —  —  —  (17,293) —  —  (17,293)
Dividends—preferred stock   —  —  —  —  —  (1,742) —  —  (1,742)
Accretion of Series B preferred stock   —  1 8 1  —  —  —  (181) —  —  — 
                    

Balance, December 31, 2007   35  35,181  23,359,664  230  149,564  338,790  (36,738) (277,654)  209,373 
Net loss   —  —  —  —  —  (154,459) —  —  (154,459)
Interest rate swap, net of tax   —  —  —  —  —  —  7,716  —  7,716 
Temporary decline in available-for-sale

securities   —  —  —  —  —  —  (386) —  (386)
                            

Comprehensive loss   —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (147,129)
                            

Repurchase of restricted shares   —  —  (18,274) —  (540) —  —  —  (540)
Issuance of shares pursuant to stock plans   —  —  335,560  7  982  —  —  1,135  2,124 
Stock-based compensation   —  —  —  —  13,445  —  —  —  13,445 
Tax benefit from stock options exercised   —  —  —  —  1,864  —  —  —  1,864 
Dividends—common stock   —  —  —  —  —  (17,370) —  —  (17,370)
Dividends—preferred stock   —  —  —  —  —  (19,000) —  —  (19,000)
Accretion of Series B preferred stock   —  2,151  —  —  —  (2,151) —  —  — 
                    

Balance, December 31, 2008   35 $ 37,332  23,696,950 $ 237 $ 165,315 $ 145,810 $ (29,408)$(276,519) $ 42,767 
                    

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

(In thousands) 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008  2007  2006  
Cash flows from operating activities           

 Net (loss) income  $ (154,459) $ (480) $ 44,553 

 
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to cash flows provided by

operating activities           

  Depreciation and amortization   112,017  31,829  20,050 

  (Gain) loss on extinguishment of debt   (15,242)  2,223  — 

  Loss on derivative financial instrument   —  62,131  — 

  Impairment and closure charges   240,630  4,381  43 

  Deferred income taxes   (65,226)  (31,324)  6,304 

  Stock-based compensation expense   12,089  6,958  3,911 

  Tax benefit from stock-based compensation   1,864  3,476  1,720 

  Excess tax benefit from stock options exercised   (315)  (2,693)  (1,720)

  Loss (gain) on disposition of assets   259  (98)  — 

  Changes in operating assets and liabilities           

   Receivables   (2,441)  (22,479)  (2,524)

   Inventories   182  5 1 2  1 4 1 

   Prepaid expenses   (146)  (17,147)  (4,975)

   Accounts payable   (23,749)  37,266  (394)

   Accrued employee compensation and benefits   (11,609)  (21,868)  2,614 

   Deferred revenues   18,480  43,685  — 

   Other accrued expenses   (2,152)  13,553  (3,422)

   Other   657  (3,602)  (1,442)
        

    Cash flows provided by operating activities   110,839  106,323  64,859 
        

Cash flows from investing activities           

  Additions to property and equipment   (31,765)  (11,871)  (9,426)

  (Additions) reductions to long-term receivables   (4,743)  1,538  (159)

  Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired   (10,261)  (1,943,567)  — 

  Collateral released by captive insurance subsidiary   4,559  345  — 

  Proceeds from sale of property and equipment   61,137  870  — 

  Principal receipts from notes and equipment contracts receivable   15,797  16,617  17,781 

  Reductions (additions) to assets held for sale   4 7 6  (688)  (594)

  Other   (5)  (636)  1,694 
        

    Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities   35,195  (1,937,392)  9,296 
        

Cash flows from financing activities           

  Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt   35,000  2,296,216  — 

  Proceeds from financing obligations   370,502  —  — 

  Repayment of long-term debt   (421,325)  (268,199)  (19,568)

  Repayment of financing obligations   (3,975)  —  — 

  Principal payments on capital lease obligations   (5,879)  (5,364)  (4,088)

  Dividends paid   (33,362)  (17,293)  (18,138)

  (Payment of costs) issuance of preferred stock   (1,500)  222,800  — 

  Reissuance (purchase) of treasury stock, net   1,135  (76,050)  (42,695)

  Repurchase of restricted stock   (540)  —  — 



  Proceeds from stock options exercised   989  8,928  5,944 

  Excess tax benefit from stock options exercised   3 1 5  2,693  1,720 

  Payment of debt issuance costs   (48,902)  (138,021)  (925)

  Payment of early debt extinguishment costs   (103)  (1,219)  — 

  Restricted cash related to securitization   49,216  (186,100)  — 
        

    Cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities   (58,429)  1,838,391  (77,750)
        

  Net change in cash and cash equivalents   87,605  7,322  (3,595)

  Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   26,838  19,516  23,111 
        

  Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  $ 114,443 $ 26,838 $ 19,516 
Supplemental disclosures           

  Interest paid  $ 194,763 $ 31,331 $ 29,759 

  Income taxes paid  $ 40,931 $ 25,712 $ 35,142 

  Capital lease obligations incurred  $ 390 $ — $ 2,329 

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

1. The Company

        The Company was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in 1976 with the name IHOP Corp. Effective June 2, 2008, the name of
the Company was changed to DineEquity, Inc. The Company owns and operates two restaurant concepts: Applebee's Neighborhood Grill and Bar®, or
Applebee's in the bar and grill segment of the casual dining category of the restaurant industry , and International House of Pancakes, or IHOP in the
family dining category of the restaurant industry . The first International House of Pancakes restaurant opened in 1958 in Toluca Lake, California.
Shortly thereafter the Company's predecessor began developing and franchising additional restaurants. As of December 31, 2008, there were a total of
1,396 IHOP restaurants of which 1,225 were subject to franchise agreements, 160 were subject to area license agreements and 11 were company-
operated restaurants. IHOP restaurants are located in 49 states in the United States, and internationally in Canada and Mexico.

        In November 2007, the Company completed the acquisition of Applebee's International, Inc. ("Applebee's"), which became a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. As of December 31, 2008, franchisees operated 1,598 of these restaurants and 406 restaurants were company-operated.
The restaurants were located in 49 states, 16 countries outside of the United States and one U.S. territory.

        References herein to Applebee's and IHOP restaurants are to these two restaurant concepts, whether operated by franchisees or the Company.
Retail sales at restaurants that are owned by franchisees and area licensees are not attributable to the Company.

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

        The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of DineEquity, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. However, the subsidiaries have not guaranteed the obligations of the Company, and the assets of the
subsidiaries generally are not available to pay creditors of the Company. Also, the Company has not guaranteed the obligations of the subsidiaries, and
the assets of the Company generally are not available to pay creditors of the subsidiaries.

Fiscal Periods

        The Company has a 52/53 week fiscal year that ends on the Sunday nearest to December 31 of each year. For convenience, the Company refers to
all fiscal years as ending on December 31 and fiscal quarters as ending on March 31, June 30 and September 30. The 2008, 2007 and 2006 fiscal years
presented herein ended December 28, 2008, December 30, 2007, and December 31, 2006, respectively, and each contained 52 weeks.

Reclassifications

        Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year information to conform to the fiscal 2008 presentation. The most significant reclassifications
are (i) the 2008 presentation of Series B Preferred Stock at accreted value of $35.2 million as of December 31, 2007 as compared to par value of
$35,000 as originally reported in the 2007 Form 10-K, with an offsetting reclassification to additional paid in capital, and (ii) discontinued operations
acquired with Applebee's and reported as such in the 2007 Form 10-K have been reclassified into their discrete line items in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet and
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2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Statement of Operations. These reclassifications had no effect on the net income or financial position previously reported.

        With respect to (ii), the following amounts were reclassified in the balance sheet:

Amount  2007 Presentation  2008 Presentation of 2007 Amounts
(in

thousands)     

$ 5,727 Current assets of discontinued operations  Assets held for sale
  325 Current assets of discontinued operations  Prepaid income taxes
 2,558 Non-current assets of discontinued operations  Other assets, net
 3,302 Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations  Other liabilities

        With respect to (ii), the reported Income from discontinued operations, net of tax of $30 was reclassified into the following 2007 line items:

  Amount  

  
(in

thousands)  

Company restaurant expenses  $ 13 
Other (income) expense   (117)
Impairment and closure charges   55 
    

Income before income taxes   49 
Provision for income taxes   (19)
    

Net income  $ 30 
    

Use of Estimates

        The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") requires the Company's
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis,
the Company evaluates its estimates, including those related to provisions for doubtful accounts, legal contingencies, income taxes, goodwill and
intangible assets. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Concentration of Credit Risk

        The Company's cash, cash equivalents, receivables and investments are potentially subject to concentration of credit risk. Cash, cash equivalents
and investments are placed with financial institutions that management believes are creditworthy. The Company does not believe that it is exposed to any
significant credit risk on cash and cash equivalents. At times, cash and cash equivalent balances may be in excess of FDIC insurance limits.

        Receivables are derived from revenues earned from franchisees and distributors located primarily in the United States. The Company is subject to a
concentration of credit risk with respect to
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2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Applebee's franchisee receivables. As of December 31, 2008, Applebee's franchisees operated 1,470 Applebee's restaurants in the United States (which
comprised 78% of the total Applebee's restaurants in the United States). Of those restaurants, the nine largest Applebee's franchisees owned 765
restaurants, representing 52% of all franchised Applebee's restaurants in the United States. Receivables from all Applebee's franchisees totaled
$25.4 million at December 31, 2008.

        The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon our historical experience. Historically, such losses have been within
management's expectations

Cash and Cash Equivalents

        The Company considers all highly liquid investment securities with remaining maturities at the date of purchase of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. These cash equivalents are stated at cost which approximates market value.

Restricted Assets

Restricted Cash

        The Company entered into three separate securitization transactions which resulted in the issuance of a total of $2.3 billion in debt. The proceeds
received from these transactions primarily were used to fund the acquisition of Applebee's. In addition, a portion of the proceeds was used to fund
certain cash accounts as required by the indenture and other related agreements ("Securitization Agreements"). These cash accounts are to be used only
for the purposes specified in the Securitization Agreements. The Company has presented these cash accounts as restricted cash in both the current and
non-current asset sections of the consolidated balance sheets.

Other Restricted Assets

        The Company has restricted assets related to its captive insurance subsidiary which are included in non-current assets in the consolidated balance
sheets. The captive insurance subsidiary was formed to provide insurance coverage to Applebee's and its franchisees. These restricted assets are
primarily auction rate securities and are restricted for the payment of insurance claims.

Investments

        The Company has certificates of deposit that are included in short-term investments and auction rate securities that are included in restricted assets
related to the captive insurance subsidiary in its consolidated balance sheets. The Company has classified all investments as available-for-sale with any
unrealized gain or loss included in Other Comprehensive Income. The contractual maturities of the auction rate securities range from 2030 to 2033.

Inventories

        Inventories consisting of food, beverages, merchandise and supplies are stated at the lower of cost (on a first-in, first-out basis) or market. When
necessary, the Company reserves for obsolescence and shrinkage based upon inventory turnover trends, historical experience and the specific
identification method.
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Property and Equipment

        Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Equipment under capital leases is stated at the present value of the
minimum lease payments. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets or remaining useful lives.
Leasehold improvements and equipment under capital leases are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives or the lease term, if
less. The Company has capitalized certain costs incurred in connection with the development of internal-use software which are included in property and
equipment and amortized over the expected useful life of the asset. The general ranges of depreciable and amortizable lives are as follows:

Category  Depreciable Life

Buildings and improvements  25 - 40 years
Leaseholds and improvements Shorter of primary lease term or 3 - 25 years
Equipment and fixtures  2 - 10 years
Properties under capital leases  Primary lease term or remaining primary lease term

        Property and equipment are identified as assets held for sale when they meet the held-for-sale criteria of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards ("SFAS") No. 144, Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets  ("SFAS 144"). The Company ceases recording
depreciation on assets that are classified as held for sale.

        The Company capitalizes interest on borrowings during the active construction period of major capital projects. Capitalized interest is added to the
cost of qualified assets and is amortized over the estimated useful lives of the assets.

Long-Lived Assets

        The Company evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets which includes amortizable intangible and tangible assets in accordance with
SFAS 144. The Company tests impairment using historical cash flows and other relevant facts and circumstances as the primary basis for our estimates
of future cash flows. The Company considers factors such as the number of years the restaurant has been in operation, sales trends, cash flow trends,
remaining lease life, and other factors which apply on a case-by-case basis. The analysis is performed at the individual restaurant level for indicators of
permanent impairment.

        Recoverability of a restaurant's assets is measured by comparing the assets' carrying value to the undiscounted future cash flows expected to be
generated over the assets' remaining useful life or remaining lease term, whichever is less. If the total expected undiscounted future cash flows are less
than the carrying amount of the assets, this may be an indicator of impairment. If it is decided that there has been an impairment, the carrying amount of
the asset is written down to the estimated fair value. The fair value is determined by discounting the future cash flows based on our cost of capital. A
loss resulting from impairment is recognized by a charge against operations.

        The Company may decide to close certain company-operated restaurants. Typically such decisions are based on operating performance or strategic
considerations. In these instances, the Company reserves, or writes off, the full carrying value of these restaurants as impaired.
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        Periodically, the Company will reacquire a previously franchised restaurant. At the time of reacquisition, the franchise will be recorded at the lower
of (1) the sum of the franchise receivables and costs of reacquisition, or (2) the estimated net realizable value. The net realizable value of a reacquired
franchise is based on the Company's average five-year historical franchise resale value. The historical resale value used in 2008 was $200,000. An
impairment loss will be recognized equal to the amount by which the reacquisition value exceeds the historical resale value.

        On a quarterly basis, the Company assesses whether events or changes in circumstances have occurred that potentially indicate the carrying value
of long-lived assets may not be recoverable. See Note 7, Impairment and Closure Charges.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

        Goodwill is recorded when the aggregate purchase price of an acquisition exceeds the estimated fair value of the net identified tangible and
intangible assets acquired. Intangible assets resulting from the acquisition are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and are estimated
by management based on the fair value of the assets received. Identifiable intangible assets are comprised primarily of trademarks, tradenames and
franchise agreements. Identifiable assets with finite lives are being amortized over the period of estimated benefit using the straight-line method and
estimated useful lives. Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are not subject to amortization.

        In accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets  ("SFAS 142"), goodwill has been allocated to three reporting units, the
IHOP franchised restaurants unit ("IHOP unit"), Applebee's company-operated restaurants unit ("Applebee's company unit") and Applebee's franchised
restaurants unit ("Applebee's franchise unit"). The significant majority of the Company's goodwill resulted from the November 29, 2007 acquisition of
Applebee's and has been allocated between the two Applebee's units. The Company tests goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets for
impairment on an annual basis in the fourth quarter. The impairment test of goodwill of the two Applebee's units was performed as of October 31,
2008. The impairment test of the goodwill of the IHOP unit was performed as of December 31, 2008, the date as of which the analysis has been
performed in prior years. In addition to the annual test of impairment, goodwill must be evaluated more frequently if the Company believes indicators of
impairment exist. . Such indicators include, but are not limited to, events or circumstances such as a significant adverse change in the business climate,
unanticipated competition, a loss of key personnel, adverse legal or regulatory developments, or a significant decline in the market price of the
Company's common stock.

        In the process of the Company's annual impairment review, the Company primarily uses the income approach method of valuation that includes the
discounted cash flow method as well as other generally accepted valuation methodologies to determine the fair value of our goodwill and intangible
assets. Significant assumptions used to determine fair value under the discounted cash flows model include future trends in sales, operating expenses,
overhead expenses, depreciation, capital expenditures, and changes in working capital, along with an appropriate discount rate. Additional assumptions
are made as to proceeds to be received from future franchising of company-operated restaurants. Step one of the impairment test compares the fair value
of each of our reporting units to their carrying value. If the fair value is in excess of the carrying value, no impairment exists. If the step one test does
indicate an impairment, step two must take place. Under step two, the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit are estimated as if the
reporting unit were acquired in a
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business combination. The excess of the fair value of the reporting unit over the amounts assigned to its assets and liabilities is the implied fair value of
the goodwill, to which the carrying value of the goodwill must be adjusted. The fair value of all reporting units is then compared to the current market
value of the Company's common stock to determine if the fair values estimated in the impairment testing process are reasonable in light of the current
market value.

        As a result of the impairment review performed in 2008, an impairment of goodwill and intangible assets was recorded. See Note 7, Impairment
and Closure Charges.

Self-Insurance Liability

        The Company is self-insured for a significant portion of its employee workers' compensation, general liability and health insurance obligations.
The Company maintains stop-loss coverage with third party insurers to limit its total exposure. The accrued liability associated with these programs is
based on historical claims data and our estimate of the ultimate costs to be incurred to settle known claims and claims incurred but not reported as of the
balance sheet date. The estimated liability is not discounted and is based on a number of assumptions and factors, including historical trends, actuarial
assumptions and economic conditions. If actual trends, including the severity or frequency of claims, differ from our estimates, our financial results
could be impacted.

Revenue Recognition

        The Company's revenues are recorded in four categories: franchise operations, company restaurant operations, rental operations and financing
operations.

        The franchise operations revenue consists primarily of royalty revenues, sales of proprietary products at IHOP, IHOP advertising fees and the
portion of the franchise fees allocated to the Company's intellectual property. Company restaurant sales are retail sales at company-operated restaurants.
Rental operations revenue includes revenue from operating leases and interest income from direct financing leases. Financing operations revenue
consists of the portion of franchise fees not allocated to the Company's intellectual property and sales of equipment as well as interest income from the
financing of franchise fees and equipment leases.

        Revenues from franchised and area licensed restaurants include royalties, continuing rent and service fees and initial franchise fees. Royalties are
recognized in the period in which the sales are reported to have occurred. Continuing fees are recognized in the period earned. Initial franchise fees are
recognized upon the opening of a restaurant, which is when the Company has performed substantially all initial services required by the franchise
agreement. Fees from development agreements are deferred and recorded into income when a restaurant under the development agreement is opened.

        Sales by company-operated restaurants are recognized when food and beverage items are sold. Company restaurant sales are reported net of sales
taxes collected from guests and the sales taxes are remitted to the appropriate taxing authorities.

        In addition, the Company records a liability in the period in which a gift card is issued and proceeds are received. As gift cards are redeemed, this
liability is reduced and revenue is recognized. The Company recognizes gift card breakage income when the likelihood of the redemption of the gift card
becomes remote.
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Leases

        The Company leases the majority of all IHOP restaurants. The restaurants are subleased to IHOP franchisees or in a few instances are operated by
the Company. The Company's IHOP leases generally provide for an initial term of 15 to 25 years, with most having one or more five-year renewal
options at the Company's option. In addition, the Company leases a majority of its company-operated Applebee's restaurants. Franchisees are
responsible for financing their properties. The Applebee's company-operated leases generally have an initial term of 10 to 20 years, with renewal terms
of 5 to 20 years, and provide for a fixed rental plus, in certain instances, percentage rentals based on gross sales. The rental payments or receipts on
leases that meet the operating lease criteria are recorded as rental expense or rental income. Rental expense and rental income for these operating leases
are recognized on the straight-line basis over the original terms of the leases. The difference between straight-line rent expense or income and actual
amounts paid or received represents deferred rent and is included in the balance sheets as other assets or other liabilities, respectively.

        The rental payments or receipts on those property leases that meet the capital lease criteria will result in the recognition of interest expense or
interest income and a reduction of capital lease obligation or financing lease receivable. Capital lease obligations are amortized based on the Company's
incremental borrowing rate and direct financing leases are amortized using the implicit interest rate.

        The lease term used for straight-line rent expense is calculated from the date the Company obtains possession of the leased premises through the
lease termination date. The Company expenses rent from possession date through restaurant open date as expense. Once a restaurant opens for
business, the Company records straight-line rent over the lease term plus contingent rent to the extent it exceeded the minimum rent obligation per the
lease agreement. The Company uses a consistent lease term when calculating depreciation of leasehold improvements, when determining straight-line
rent expense and when determining classification of its leases as either operating or capital. For leases that contain rent escalations, the Company records
the total rent payable during the lease term, as determined above, on the straight-line basis over the term of the lease (including the rent holiday period
beginning upon our possession of the premises), and records the difference between the minimum rents paid and the straight-line rent as a lease
obligation. Certain leases contain provisions that require additional rental payments based upon restaurant sales volume ("contingent rent"). Contingent
rentals are accrued each period as the liabilities are incurred, in addition to the straight-line rent expense noted above.

        Certain lease agreements contain tenant improvement allowances, rent holidays, and lease premium, which are amortized over the shorter of the
estimated useful life or lease term. For tenant improvement allowances, the Company also records a deferred rent liability or an obligation in our non-
current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets and amortizes the deferred rent over the term of the lease as a reduction to company restaurant
expenses in the consolidated statements of earnings.

Preopening Expenses

        Expenditures related to the opening of new or relocated restaurants are charged to expense when incurred.

82



DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Advertising

        Franchise fees designated for IHOP's national advertising fund and local marketing and advertising cooperatives are recognized as revenue as the
fees are earned and become receivables from the franchisee in accordance with SFAS No. 45, Accounting for Franchise Fee Revenue ("SFAS 45"). In
accordance with Statement of Position No. 93-7, Reporting on Advertising Costs ("SOP 93-7), related advertising obligations are accrued and the costs
expensed at the same time the related revenue is recognized. Franchise fees designated for Applebee's national advertising fund and local advertising
cooperatives constitute agency transactions and are not recognized as revenues and expenses. In both cases, the advertising fees are recorded as a
liability against which specific costs are charged.

        Advertising expense reflected in the consolidated statements of operations includes local marketing advertising costs incurred by company-
operated restaurants, contributions to the national advertising fund made by Applebee's company-operated restaurants and certain advertising costs
incurred by the Company to benefit future franchise operations. Costs of advertising is expensed either as incurred or the first time the advertising takes
place in accordance with SOP 93-7. Advertising expense included in company restaurant operations and franchise operations for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $45.3 million, $5.0 million and $1.0 million, respectively. In addition, significant advertising expenses also are
incurred by franchisees through the national advertising funds and local marketing and advertising cooperatives.
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Asset Retirement Obligations

        The Company currently has certain leases which may require it to return the property to the landlord in its original condition. The Company records
expenses for these leases in its consolidated financial statements as company restaurant expenses. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the liability
recorded for asset retirement obligations was $0.3 million and $0.6 million, respectively.

Derivative Financial Instruments

        The Company accounts for derivative instruments and hedging activities in accordance with SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities ("SFAS 133"). All derivatives are recognized on the balance sheet at their fair value. On the date that the Company
enters into a derivative contract, management formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as risk
management objectives and strategies for undertaking various hedge transactions.

        Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is highly effective and that is designated and qualifies as a cash flow hedge (a "swap"), to the extent
that the hedge is effective, are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income, until earnings are affected by the variability of cash flows of the
hedged transaction. The Company measures effectiveness of the swap at each quarter end, using the hypothetical derivative method. Under this method,
hedge effectiveness is measured based on a comparison of the change in fair value of the actual swap designated as the hedging instrument and the
change in fair value of the hypothetical swap which would have the terms that identically match the critical terms of the hedged cash flows from the
anticipated debt issuance. The amount of ineffectiveness, if any, recorded in earnings would be equal to the excess of the cumulative change in the fair
value of the swap over the cumulative change in the fair value of the plain vanilla swap lock, as defined in the accounting literature. Once a swap is
settled, the effective portion is amortized over the estimated life of the hedged item.

        The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate risks. The Company does not enter into derivative
financial instruments for trading purposes.

Fair Value Measurements

        Effective January 1, 2008, the Company determines the fair market values of its financial assets and liabilities, as well as non-financial assets and
liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value on a recurring basis, based on the fair value hierarchy established in SFAS No. 157, Fair Value
Measurements ("SFAS No. 157"). We measure our financial assets and liabilities using inputs from the following three levels of the fair value
hierarchy. The three levels are as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that we have the ability to access at the
measurement date. 

• Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or
liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (i.e., interest rates,
yield curves, etc.), and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means
(market corroborated inputs).
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• Level 3 includes unobservable inputs that reflect our assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the
asset or liability. We develop these inputs based on the best information available, including our own data.

        For more information on the financial instruments the Company measures at fair value, see Note 13, Fair Value Measurements.

Income Taxes

        The Company utilizes the liability method of accounting for income taxes as set forth in SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes
("SFAS 109"). Under the liability method, deferred taxes are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial statement and tax
bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that some of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized. The Company also determines its tax contingencies in accordance with SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies
("SFAS 5"). The Company records estimated tax liabilities to the extent the contingencies are probable and can be reasonably estimated.

        The Company adopted FASB Interpretation 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes ("FIN 48") on January 1, 2007. FIN 48 addresses
the determination of how tax benefits claimed or expected to be claimed on a tax return should be recorded in the financial statements. Under FIN 48,
the Company must recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on
examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a
position are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate resolution. The impact
of the Company's reassessment of its tax positions in accordance with FIN 48 did not have a material impact on the results of operations, financial
condition or liquidity.

Stock-Based Compensation

        The Company has in effect stock incentive plans under which incentive stock options have been granted to employees and restricted stock units
and non-qualified stock options have been granted to employees and non-employee members of the Board of Directors. The Company accounts for all
stock-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options and restricted stock units to be recognized in the financial statements
based on their respective grant date fair values. The Company also accounts for the benefits of tax deduction in excess of recognized compensation cost
be reported as a financing cash flow. In March 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107,
Share-Based Payment ("SAB 107"), which provides guidance regarding the interaction of SFAS 123(R) and certain SEC rules and regulations. The
Company has applied the provisions of SAB 107 in its adoption of SFAS 123(R).

        SFAS 123(R) requires companies to estimate the fair value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The
value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense ratably over the requisite service periods. The Company has
estimated the fair value of each award as of the date of grant or assumption using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which considers, among
other factors, the expected life of the award and the expected volatility of the Company' stock price. Although the Black-Scholes model meets the
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requirement of SFAS 123(R) and SAB 107, the fair values generated by the model may not be indicative of the actual fair values of the Company's
awards, as it does not consider other factors important to those stock-based payment awards, such as continued employment, periodic vesting
requirements and limited transferability.

        The Company accounts for option grants to non-employees using the guidance of SFAS 123(R) and Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF")
No. 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments That are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods and
Services, whereby the fair value of such options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model at the earlier of the date at which the non-
employee's performance is complete or a performance commitment is reached.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

        SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income, establishes standards for reporting and displaying comprehensive income (loss) and its
components in the consolidated financial statements. Accumulated other comprehensive loss is attributable to the unrealized loss, net of tax, on an
interest rate swap that the Company entered into during 2007 and a temporary decline in the fair value of available-for-sale securities.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share

        Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) available to common stockholders for the period by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss)
available to common stockholders for the period by the weighted average number of common shares and potential shares of common stock outstanding
during the period if their effect is dilutive. For the year ended December 31, 2008, certain dilutive shares were not included in computing the diluted net
loss per share because their effect was anti-dilutive. The Company uses the treasury stock method to calculate the weighted average shares used in the
diluted earnings per share calculation in accordance with SFAS 128, Earnings per Share. Potentially dilutive common shares include the assumed
exercise of stock options, assumed vesting of restricted stock units and assumed conversion of preferred stock using the if-converted method.

Business Segments

        The Company's revenues and expenses are recorded in four segments: franchise operations, company restaurant operations, rental operations, and
financing operations. Within each segment, the Company operates two distinct restaurant concepts: Applebee's and IHOP.

Applebee's

        The franchise operations segment consists of restaurants operated by Applebee's franchisees in the United States, one U.S. territory and 15
countries outside the United States. Franchise operations revenue consists primarily of franchise royalty revenues and the portion of the franchise fees
allocated to Applebee's intellectual property. Franchise operations expenses include pre-opening training expenses and other franchise-related costs.
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        The company restaurant operations segment consists of company-operated restaurants in the United States and China. Company restaurant sales
are retail sales at company-operated restaurants. Company restaurant expenses are operating expenses at company-operated restaurants and include
food, labor, benefits, utilities, rent and other restaurant operating costs. The operating results of this segment are substantially generated by Applebee's
restaurants.

        Rental operations activities are not currently a significant part of Applebee's business. This activity relates only to the franchising of the restaurants;
Applebee's is not entering into rental operations similar to those of IHOP.

        Financing operations activities are not currently a part of Applebee's business.

IHOP

        The franchise operations segment consists of restaurants operated by IHOP franchisees and area licensees in the United States, one U.S. territory
and two countries outside the U.S. Franchise operations revenue consists primarily of franchise royalty revenues, sales of proprietary products,
franchise advertising fees and the portion of the franchise fees allocated to IHOP intellectual property. Franchise operations expenses include
advertising expense, the cost of proprietary products and pre-opening training expenses and other franchise-related costs.

        The company restaurant operations segment consists of company-operated restaurants in the United States. In addition, from time to time,
restaurants that are reacquired from franchisees are operated by IHOP on a temporary basis. Company restaurant sales are retail sales at company-
operated restaurants. Company restaurant expenses are operating expenses at company-operated restaurants and include food, labor, benefits, utilities,
rent and other restaurant operating costs.

        Rental operations revenue includes revenue from operating leases and interest income from direct financing leases. Rental operations expenses are
costs of operating leases and interest expense on capital leases on franchisee-operated restaurants.

        Financing operations revenue consists of the portion of franchise fees not allocated to IHOP intellectual property, sales of equipment, as well as
interest income from the financing of franchise fees and equipment leases. Financing expenses are primarily the cost of restaurant equipment.

New Accounting Pronouncements

        In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations ("SFAS 141(R)"). SFAS 141(R) establishes
principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities
assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and the goodwill acquired. SFAS 141(R) also establishes disclosure requirements to enable the
evaluation of the nature and financial effects of the business combination. SFAS 141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008.
The Company will adopt SFAS 141(R) in the first quarter of fiscal 2009 and apply the provisions of this statement for any acquisition after the adoption
date. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact, if any, of the adoption of SFAS 141(R) on our consolidated financial statements.

        In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities  ("SFAS 161"). This
statement requires companies to provide enhanced disclosures
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about (a) how and why they use derivative instruments, (b) how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS
No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, and its related interpretations, and (c) how derivative instruments and related
hedged items affect a company's financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. SFAS 161 is effective for financial statements issued for
fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008. The Company will adopt the new disclosure requirements in the first quarter of
fiscal 2009. As SFAS 161 does not change current accounting practice, there will be no impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

        In June 2008, the FASB issued FSP Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 03-6-1, Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based
Payment Transactions are Participating Securities ("FSP 03-6-1"). FSP 03-6-1 clarifies that unvested share-based payment awards that contain
nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents (whether paid or unpaid) are participating securities and are to be included in the computation
of earnings per share under the two-class method described in SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per Share. This FSP is effective for us on January 1, 2009
and requires all prior-period earnings per share data that is presented to be adjusted retrospectively. The Company does not expect FSP 03-6-1 to have a
material impact on our earnings per share calculations.

        In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 142-3, Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets  ("FSP FAS 142-3"). FSP FAS 142-3
amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of a recognized
intangible asset under SFAS No. 142. The intent of FSP FAS 142-3 is to improve the consistency between the useful life of a recognized intangible
asset under SFAS 142 and the period of expected cash flows used to measure the fair value of the asset under SFAS 141(R) and other applicable
accounting literature. FSP FAS 142-3 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008 and must be
applied prospectively to intangible assets acquired after the effective date. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact, if any, of FSP
FAS 142-3 on its consolidated financial statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

        In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standard Board ("FASB") issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements ("SFAS 157") which
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosure about fair
value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. Relative to SFAS
No. 157, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position ("FSP") FASB Statements ("FAS") 157-1, FAS 157-2 and FAS 157-3 in 2008. FSP FAS 157-1
amends SFAS No. 157 to exclude SFAS No. 13, "Accounting for Leases," and its related interpretive accounting pronouncements that address leasing
transactions. FSP FAS 157-2 delays the effective date of SFAS No. 157 to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008 for all non-financial assets
and non-financial liabilities, except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis. FSP FAS 157-3
clarifies how SFAS No. 157 should be applied when valuing securities in markets that are not active. The Company adopted SFAS No. 157, as
amended, effective January 1, 2008 with the exception of the application of SFAS No. 157 to non-recurring non-financial assets and non-financial
liabilities. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial position or results of operations. The Company is
currently evaluating the potential impact of adopting the remaining provisions of SFAS 157 on its consolidated financial position and results of
operations.
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        In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Liabilities—Including an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 115 ("SFAS 159"). SFAS 159 expands the use of fair value accounting but does not affect existing standards which requires
assets or liabilities to be carried at fair value. The objective of SFAS 159 is to improve financial reporting by providing companies with the opportunity
to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities differently without having to apply complex hedge accounting
provisions. Under SFAS 159, a company may elect to use fair value to measure eligible items at specified election dates and report unrealized gains and
losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. Eligible items include, but are not limited
to, accounts and loans receivable, available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities, equity method investments, accounts payable, guarantees, issued
debt and firm commitments. On January 1, 2008, the Company adopted SFAS 159 and has not elected to use fair value measurement on any assets or
liabilities under this statement.

        In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("SFAS 162"). This statement is intended
to improve financial reporting by identifying a consistent framework, or hierarchy, for selecting accounting principles to be used in preparing financial
statements of nongovernmental entities that are presented in conformity with U.S. GAAP. While this statement formalizes the sources and hierarchy of
U.S. GAAP within the authoritative accounting literature, it does not change the accounting principles that are already in place. This statement was
effective on November 15, 2008 and did not have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

        In June 2007, the EITF reached consensus on Issue No. 06-11, Accounting for Income Tax Benefits of Dividends on Share-Based Payment
Awards ("EITF 06-11"). EITF 06-11 requires that the tax benefit related to dividend equivalents paid on restricted stock units which are expected to vest
be recorded as an increase to additional paid-in capital. The impact of adopting EITF 06-11 in 2008 did not have a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

3. Business Acquisition

        On November 29, 2007, the Company completed the acquisition of Applebee's, a global dining company that develops, franchises and operates
restaurants under the Applebee's Neighborhood Grill & Bar® brand. The Applebee's acquisition was completed pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of
Merger, dated as of July 15, 2007 (the "Merger Agreement"), among the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiary CHLH Corp. ("Merger Sub"), and
Applebee's. Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub merged with and into Applebee's (the "Merger"), with Applebee's continuing
as the surviving corporation and becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

        Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, each share of common stock of Applebee's, par value $0.01 per share, issued and outstanding immediately
prior to the effective time of the Merger (other than treasury shares, shares held by IHOP, Merger Sub or any subsidiary of Applebee's, and shares with
respect to which appraisal rights are perfected in accordance with Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law) was converted into the right to
receive $25.50 in cash, without interest. The total
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transaction value (including direct transaction costs and expenses) was approximately $2.0 billion. The following table summarizes the components of
the Applebee's purchase price:

  (In thousands) 

Cash consideration  $ 1,948,093 
Direct transaction costs   16,444 
    

Total purchase price  $ 1,964,537 
    

        The Company has accounted for the Applebee's acquisition using the purchase method and, accordingly, the results of operations related to this
acquisition have been included in the consolidated results of the Company since the acquisition date

Purchase Price Allocation

        The purchase price for this acquisition was allocated to tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair
values at the acquisition date of November 29, 2007. The following table presents the preliminary purchase allocation as estimated for the Company's
Form 10-K for the Year ended December 31, 2007 and final purchase price allocation as adjusted during the allowable allocation period:

  
Preliminary
Allocation  

Final
Allocation  

  (In thousands)  

Short term-investments  $ 300 $ 300 
Receivables   47,117  46,922 
Assets held for sale   15,192  4,084 
Inventories   13,396  13,311 
Prepaid income taxes   2,184  2,184 
Prepaid expenses   40,790  40,844 
Deferred income taxes (short-term)   11,648  20,128 
Property and equipment   890,623  759,795 
Tradename   790,000  790,000 
Franchise agreements   200,000  200,000 
Goodwill   719,961  811,508 
Other intangible assets   22,589  21,267 
Restricted assets related to captive insurance subsidiary   10,863  10,863 
Other assets   11,889  4,812 
Accounts payable   (30,165)  (29,980)
Other accrued expenses   (149,997)  (143,963)
Capital lease obligations   (3,747)  (3,162)
Loss reserves related to captive insurance subsidiary   (4,422)  (4,422)
Debt   (120,994)  (120,994)
Deferred income taxes (long-term)   (479,453)  (432,966)
Other liabilities   (34,274)  (37,031)
      

Net cash paid for acquisition  $1,953,500 $1,953,500 
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        A significant portion of the fair value assigned to property and equipment in the preliminary purchase price allocation was related to 510
Applebee's company-operated restaurants. In the preliminary purchase price allocation, the Company used assumptions as to rental data, capitalization
rates and obsolescence factors such as profitability, years in operation and lease holding period. The assumptions used in the preliminary purchase price
allocation were based on per-restaurant averages that were applied to the entire portfolio of properties. Subsequently, the Company utilized these same
assumptions but with data specific to each individual restaurant and estimated a larger amount of obsolescence. As a result, the fair value of property
and equipment from the preliminary purchase price valuation was revised downwards by approximately $133 million. Additionally, the data used to
estimate the capitalization rate in the preliminary allocation was based in part on industry data, the reporting of which lagged the actual timing by several
months. Once data on capitalization rates being utilized in late November 2007 became available, the Company updated the capitalization rate
assumptions accordingly. As a result of this additional information on capitalization rates the estimated fair value of property and equipment was revised
downwards approximately $14 million. The corresponding offset to these revisions was to goodwill, net of deferred taxes. The other adjustments to the
preliminary purchase price allocation were not significant, individually or in the aggregate.

        The Company believes the fair value assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed were based on reasonable assumptions. Of the
$811.5 million of goodwill, $124.8 million was assigned to Applebee's company-operated restaurant reporting unit and $686.7 million to Applebee's
franchise reporting unit. The amount of goodwill allocated to the company unit was determined by comparing the estimated sales value of the company
restaurants with the carrying value (as of November 29, 2007) of the company unit, with the excess allocated to the company unit as goodwill. The fair
value was based on a multiple of approximately six times the operating cash flow for the trailing twelve months of the company unit. This multiple was
supported by actual refranchising transactions negotiated within a month after the acquisition. The remaining goodwill resulting from the final purchase
price allocation was assigned to the franchise unit. The goodwill resulting from this acquisition is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Pro Forma Results of Operations

        The unaudited 2007 pro forma data of the Company set forth below gives effect to the Applebee's acquisition as if it had occurred at the beginning
of 2007 and include (1) the amortization of other comprehensive loss resulting from a swap the Company entered into in July 2007 to hedge the interest
payments on the securitization transactions which were entered into on November 29, 2007 to finance the acquisition; (2) interest expense (including
amortization) related to the securitization transactions that took place during 2007; (3) additional depreciation and amortization expense related to the pro
forma stepped-up basis of assets acquired in the acquisition, and (4) reflects the tax effect resulting from the pro forma adjustments based on an
assumed effective annual tax rate of 39.5%. This pro forma data is presented for informational comparison with 2008 only and does not purport to be
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indicative of the results of future operations of the Company or of the results that would have actually been attained had the acquisition taken place at the
beginning of 2007.

  2007  
  Pro Forma  

  

(In thousands,
except

per share amounts)  

Total revenues  $ 1,663,836 
Net loss  $ (46,335)
Net loss per share     
 Basic  $ (2.69)

 Diluted  $ (2.69)

4. Receivables

  2008  2007  
  (In thousands)  

Accounts receivable  $ 55,241 $ 57,735 
Gift card receivables   32,345  27,746 
Credit card receivables   7,587  9,124 
Notes receivable   22,664  25,210 
Equipment leases receivable   153,560  160,000 
Direct financing leases receivable   115,517  118,480 
Other   11,063  8,491 
      

  397,977  406,786 
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts   (2,941)  (2,999)
      

  395,036  403,787 
Less: current portion   (117,930)  (115,335)
      

Long-term receivables  $ 277,106 $ 288,452 
      

        Accounts receivable primarily includes receivables due from franchisees and distributors. Gift card receivables consist primarily of amounts due
from third-party vendors. Credit card receivables consist primarily of amounts due from the Company's credit card companies. Notes receivable include
franchise fee notes in the amount of $16.1 million and $22.1 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. IHOP franchise fee notes have a
term of five to eight years and are due in equal weekly installments, primarily bear interest averaging 8.77% and 9.47% per annum at December 31,
2008 and 2007, respectively, and are collateralized by the franchise. The term of an equipment lease contract coincides with the term of the
corresponding restaurant building lease. Equipment lease contracts are due in equal weekly installments, primarily bear interest averaging 10.11% and
10.22% per annum at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and are collateralized by the equipment. Where applicable, franchise fee notes,
equipment contracts and building leases contain cross-default provisions wherein a default under one constitutes a default under all. There is not a
disproportionate concentration of credit risk in any geographic area.
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        The following table summarizes the activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts:

  
Accounts and Notes

Receivable  
  (In thousands)  

Balance at December 31, 2005  $ 1,335 
 Provision   1,149 

 Charge-offs   (1,154)

 Recoveries   29 
    

Balance at December 31, 2006   1,359 
 Provision   2,039 

 Charge-offs   (399)

 Recoveries   — 
    

Balance at December 31, 2007   2,999 
 Provision   1,280 

 Charge-offs   (1,548)

 Recoveries   210 
    

Balance at December 31, 2008  $ 2,941 
    

5. Assets Held for Sale

        The Company classifies assets as held for sale and ceases the amortization of the assets when there is a plan for disposal of the assets and those
assets meet the held for sale criteria as defined in SFAS No. 144. Reacquired franchises, property and equipment and other assets held for sale are
accounted for on the specific identification basis.

Reacquired franchises

        For reacquired franchises, the Company records the franchise and equipment at the lower of (1) the sum of the franchise receivables and costs of
reacquisition, or (2) the estimated net realizable value at the reacquisition date. Pending the sale of such franchise, the carrying value is amortized ratably
over the remaining life of the asset or lease, and the estimated net realizable value is evaluated in conjunction with our impairment evaluation of long-
lived assets. There was $515,000 in reacquired franchises and equipment held for sale at December 31, 2007 and none at December 31, 2008.

Property and equipment

        In May 2007, Predecessor Applebee's signed a contract to sell its then-current corporate headquarters for $9.0 million, net of commissions. The
Company closed this transaction in January 2008 and did not recognize a gain or loss. In December 2007, the Company began to actively market its
corporate aircraft. The Company closed the sale of the aircraft in January 2008 for approximately $3.0 million. No gain or loss was recognized.
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        In December 2007, the Company began to actively market approximately 40 company-operated Applebee's restaurants in California and Nevada.
The marketing of these restaurants was part of the Company's plan to ultimately refranchise approximately 100 Applebee's restaurants in 2008. The
assets for these restaurants, totaling $47.8 million, were presented as assets held for sale in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2007. As
the preliminary purchase price allocation was finalized during 2008, certain purchase price fair values were revised downward. As a result, assets held
for sale were reduced by $11.0 million. Additionally, as the result of continuing deterioration in the credit markets in general and a decline in operating
results of Applebee's company-operated restaurants expected to be franchised in particular geographic areas, an impairment was recognized on assets
held for sale of $5.6 million.

        During 2008, four parcels of land held for future restaurant development, three company-owned restaurants in the Delaware market, forty-nine
company-owned stores in the Texas market and seven company-owned stores in the New Mexico market were reclassified as assets held for sale.
Additionally, one company-owned restaurant was reclassified out of assets held for sale after a determination was made the Company had continuing
involvement with the property.

        The sales of the restaurants in California and Delaware were completed in the third fiscal quarter of 2008 and the sales of the restaurants in Nevada
and Texas along with a closed store site were completed in the fourth fiscal quarter of 2008. The Company received proceeds of approximately
$49.4 million from these transactions.

        At December 31, 2008, assets held for sale comprised primarily seven company-operated restaurants in New Mexico expected to be sold in the
first fiscal quarter of 2009 and four parcels of land held for future restaurant development.

        The following table summarizes the changes in the balance of assets held for sale during 2008:

  
(in

millions)  

Balance December 31, 2007  $ 66.1 
Purchase price valuation adjustments   (11.0)
Impairment charges   (5.6)
Assets sold   (62.7)
Assets reclassified to held for sale   24.0 
Other   1.1 
    

Balance December 31, 2008  $ 11.9 
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        Property and equipment by category is as follows:

  2008  2007  
  (In thousands)  

Land  $ 172,775 $ 213,583 
Buildings and improvements   400,250  572,884 
Leaseholds and improvements   274,577  290,789 
Equipment and fixtures   110,811  130,760 
Construction in progress   5,955  18,969 
Properties under capital lease obligations   59,643  60,828 
      

  1,024,011  1,287,813 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   (199,529)  (148,197)
      

Property and equipment, net  $ 824,482 $1,139,616 
      

        The Company records capitalized interest in connection with the development of new restaurants and amortizes it over the estimated useful life of
the related asset. In 2008 and 2007, the Company capitalized $457,000 and $191,000, respectively, of interest costs.

        Accumulated depreciation and amortization includes accumulated amortization for properties under capital lease obligations in the amount of
$21.7 million and $19.2 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

        In 2007, Applebee's Services, Inc. (ASI), a subsidiary of Applebee's International, Inc. entered into a transaction with the City of Lenexa, Kansas,
to lease the land, building and equipment for its new corporate headquarters. In conjunction with the Applebee's acquisition, the Company assumed this
lease. The transaction is designed to provide the Company with property tax exemptions for the facility of up to 90% after the effect of payments in lieu
of taxes paid to the City. In conjunction with the lease, the City purchased the facility with the proceeds of up to $52 million in Industrial Revenue
Bonds ("IRBs") due May 1, 2018, which will be funded periodically during the construction period. ASI is the sole purchaser of the IRBs. The City
has assigned the lease to the bond trustee for the benefit of the bondholder. From inception, the Company has funded approximately $40.6 million of the
IRBs and has included this amount in property and equipment in the consolidated balance sheet. Due to the bargain purchase option contained within the
lease, the Company has classified this amount as a capital lease.

        On May 1, 2008, the Company paid off $4.1 million of the IRBs and surrendered $34.6 million of the IRBs. The remaining $1.9 million of IRBs
were transferred in July, 2008 as part of a sale-leaseback transaction (see Note 11, Financing Obligations). In connection with the sale-leaseback
transaction the Company received approximately $39 million in proceeds. The initial term of the leaseback agreement is 15 years. As the Company
expects to have continuing involvement in the form of future subleasing of a substantial portion of the corporate headquarters facility, the transaction
was recorded under the financing method in accordance with SFAS No. 98.
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        Impairment and closure charges were $240.6 million, $4.4 million and $0.1 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, which amounts included
closure charges of $0.3 million and $1.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

        In June 2008, the Company entered into a sale-leaseback transaction relating to 181 parcels of real estate comprising land, buildings and
improvements. The net book value of the real estate exceeded the proceeds received by $40.6 million. All of the parcels involved in the transactions had
been acquired in the November 29, 2007 acquisition of Applebee's and their estimated fair value was assigned as part of the purchase price allocation as
of that date. The Company evaluated events subsequent to November 29, 2007 and noted a deterioration in both the domestic real estate and credit
markets between the date of the purchase price allocation and the June 2008 closing date of the sale-leaseback transactions. In the absence of objective
evidence to the contrary, the Company concluded that the estimated fair value of the real estate determined in the purchase price allocation had been
reasonable and the decline in value related primarily to market events subsequent to the acquisition date necessitating an impairment charge as opposed
to an adjustment to the allocated purchase price.

        The Company evaluated whether, as of June 30, 2008, this charge, in addition to other macroeconomic data and the decline in the market price of
the Company's common stock, were indicators of potential impairment of its goodwill, intangible assets and long-lived assets. The Company concluded
that they were not indicators because (i) the impairment charge was related to a specific transaction that resulted in the disposal of the majority of the
Company's real estate; (ii) Applebee's June 30, 2008 year-to-date same-store sales for company-operated stores had increased slightly compared with
the same period of the prior year; (iii) while directionally the U.S. economy was slowing down, there was considerable uncertainty as to the depth and
duration of the slowdown, such that the Company believed its internal forecasts of same-store sales growth were achievable; and (iv) the Company's net
book value was in excess of its market capitalization throughout the period up to and including the date of filing its Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period
ended June 30, 2008.

        As part of the ongoing assessment of the recoverability of its long-lived assets, the Company recorded impairment charges of $28.3 million for the
three-month period ended September 30, 2008. Of that amount, $26.8 million related to Applebee's properties and primarily resulted from a continuing
deterioration in credit markets in general and a decline in operating results of Applebee's company-operated restaurants expected to be franchised in
particular geographic areas. The remainder of the impairment related to an individual underperforming IHOP property whose estimates of future cash
flows indicated the carrying value would not be recovered.

        The Company again evaluated whether the impairment charges taken in the third quarter of 2008, in addition to other macroeconomic data and the
decline in the market price of the Company's common stock, were an indicator of potential impairment of its goodwill, intangible assets and long-lived
assets. The Company concluded that they were not an indicator, because (i) the impairments were related to specific transactions in three geographic
markets characterized as having a larger proportion of underperforming restaurants than the other geographic markets in which the remaining company-
operated restaurants are located; (ii) while Applebee's year-to-date September 30, 2008 same-store sales for company-operated stores had decreased
slightly compared with the same period of the prior year, the Company was in the process of implementing several initiatives designed to improve the
same-store sales and did not believe there had been enough time to adequately assess the effectiveness of those initiatives; (iii) while economic data
confirmed that the U.S. economy had been
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recessionary since December of 2007, there was still considerable uncertainty as to the depth and duration of the slowdown, and although Applebee's
year-to-date same-store sales were lower than the prior period, Applebee's decline had been less that its competitors, such that the Company believed its
internal forecasts of same-store sales growth were achievable; and (iv) the Company's net book value was in excess of its market capitalization
throughout the third quarter ended September 30, 2008, and while the market capitalization did decline below the Company's net book value subsequent
to September 30, 2008, by the October 31, 2008 date of filing its Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended September 30, 2008, the Company's net
book value was in excess of its market capitalization.

        In the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company completed its annual test for impairment of goodwill. We utilized a discounted cash flows model of the
income approach to assess the fair value of our three reporting units, the IHOP franchised restaurants unit ("IHOP unit"), Applebee's company-operated
restaurants unit ("Applebee's company unit") and Applebee's franchised restaurants unit ("Applebee's franchise unit"). The impairment test of goodwill
of the two Applebee's units which hold the significant majority of the total goodwill was performed as of October 31, 2008. The impairment test of the
goodwill of the IHOP unit was performed as of December 31, 2008, the date as of which the analysis has been performed in prior years.

        The first step of the impairment test compared the fair value of each of our reporting units to their carrying value. Significant assumptions used to
determine fair value under the discounted cash flows model include future trends in sales, operating expenses, overhead expenses, depreciation, capital
expenditures, and changes in working capital along with an appropriate discount rate. Additional assumptions were made as to proceeds to be received
from future franchising of company-operated restaurants. Based on this first step, we concluded the fair the IHOP unit and the Applebee's franchise unit
was in excess of their respective net carrying values and no impairment of goodwill was warranted. However, the fair value of the Applebee's company
unit was less than the net carrying value of its assets assigned, requiring the second step of the impairment test. In performing the second step of the
impairment test the Company concluded that the goodwill allocated to the Applebee's company unit was fully impaired and an impairment charge of
$113.5 million was recorded. No tax benefit is associated with the impairment of goodwill.

        During the fourth quarter the commercial real estate market continued to weaken, the credit markets continued constrained, economic forecasts
were uncertain as to how long the recessionary period would last, and the Company's stock price declined. The Company revised the significant
assumptions underlying the discounted cash flows model, primarily its 2009 revenue forecast and the discount rate, and updated its impairment analysis
of the Applebee's franchise unit. The Company determined the fair value of the Applebee's franchise unit was in excess of its carrying value as of
December 31, 2008.

        In addition, the Company performed an impairment test of its indefinite-lived intangible assets, primarily the Applebee's tradename assigned in the
purchase price allocation. The Company utilized the relief from royalty method under the income approach to determine the fair value of the tradename.
The Company determined the fair value of the tradename as of December 31, 2008 was less than the carrying value. An impairment charge of
$44.1 million was recorded with a tax benefit of $17.3 million associated with the charge. The Company also recorded impairment charges of
$13.5 million related to company-operated restaurants expected to be franchised in the fourth quarter.
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        Impairment and closure charges in 2007 included the impairment of long lived assets for three restaurants closed in 2007, and impairment losses
on two restaurants in which the reacquisition values exceeded the historical resale values. The decision to close or impair the restaurants in 2007 was a
result of a comprehensive analysis that examined restaurants not meeting minimum return on investment thresholds and certain other operating
performance criteria. The assets for these restaurants were written down to their estimated fair value.

8. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

        The significant majority of the Company's goodwill and other intangible assets arose from the November 29, 2007 acquisition of Applebee's. The
following table summarizes changes in the carrying value of goodwill:

  Reporting Unit    

  
IHOP

Franchising  
Applebee's
Franchising  

Applebee's
Company-
operated  Total  

  (In thousands)  

Balance, December 31, 2006  $10,767 $ — $ — $ 10,767 
Acquisition of business   —  537,609  182,352  719,961 
          

Balance, December 31, 2007   10,767  537,609  182,352  730,728 
Purchase price adjustments   —  149,094  (57,547)  91,547 
Annual impairment test   —  —  (113,505)  (113,505)
Refranchising   —  —  (11,300)  (11,300)
          

Balance, December 31, 2008  $10,767 $ 686,703 $ — $ 697,470 
          

        The purchase price adjustments arose from the finalization of the preliminary purchase price allocation during the allowable one-year allocation
period (see Note 3, Business Acquisition). The impairment charge resulted from the annual test for impairment of goodwill (see Note 7, Impairment and
Closure Charges). The refranchising adjustments resulted from the refranchising of restaurants (see Note 5, Assets Held For Sale).
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        The Company did not have any intangible assets prior to the November 29, 2007 acquisition of Applebee's. As of December 31, 2008, intangible
assets arising from the Applebee's acquisition are as follows:

  
Not Subject to
Amortization  Subject to Amortization    

  Tradename  
Liquor

Licenses  
Franchising

Rights  

Recipes
and

Menus  Leaseholds  Total  

Balance, December 31, 2006 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — 
Acquisition of business   790,000  6,374  200,485  15,730  —  1,012,589 
Amortization expense   —  —  (981)  (151)  —  (1,132)
              

Balance, December 31, 2007  790,000  6,374  199,504  15,579  —  1,011,457 
Additions   —  —  —  —  7,276  7,276 
Purchase price adjustments   —  (1,695)  —  —  376  (1,319)
Amortization expense   —  —  (10,027)  (2,106)  (1,652)  (13,785)
Impairment   (44,064)  —  —  —  —  (44,064)
Refranchising   —  (1,757)  —  —  (1,772)  (3,529)
              

Balance, December 31, 2008 $ 745,936 $ 2,922 $ 189,477 $13,473 $ 4,228 $ 956,036 
              

        Annual amortization expense for next five fiscal years is estimated to be approximately $13.1 million annually. The weighted average life of the
intangible assets subject to amortization is 18.7 and 19.3 years at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

        Gross and net carrying amounts of intangible assets subject to amortization at December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

  December 31, 2008  December 31, 2007  

  Gross  
Accumulated
Amortization  Net  Gross  

Accumulated
Amortization  Net  

  (In thousands)  

 Franchising rights  $200,485 $(11,008) $189,477 $200,485 $ (981) $199,504 

 Recipes and menus   15,730  (2,257)  13,473  15,730  (151)  15,579 

 Leaseholds   5,880  (1,652)  4,228  —  —  — 
              

Total  $222,095 $(14,917) $207,178 $216,215 $ (1,132) $215,083 
              

9. Captive Insurance Subsidiary

        In connection with the acquisition of Applebee's, the Company acquired Neighborhood Insurance, Inc., a Vermont corporation and a wholly-
owned captive insurance subsidiary of Applebee's, which provides Applebee's and qualified Applebee's franchisees with workers' compensation and
general liability insurance. The captive insurance subsidiary ceased writing insurance prior to the acquisition. Cost of other franchise income includes
costs related to the resolution of claims arising from franchisee participation in the captive insurance program. The Company's consolidated balance
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sheet includes the following balances related to the captive insurance subsidiary as of December 31, 2008:

• Franchise premium receivables of approximately $0.7 million included in receivables related to captive insurance subsidiary. 

• Cash and equivalents and long-term investments restricted for the payment of claims of approximately $5.6 million are included in
restricted assets related to the captive insurance subsidiary. 

• Loss reserve related to captive insurance subsidiary of approximately $4.5 million. The current portion of approximately $3.3 million
was included in other accrued expenses and the long-term portion of approximately of $1.2 million was included in other non-current
liabilities.

        Loss reserve estimates are established based upon third-party actuarial estimates of ultimate settlement costs for incurred claims (which includes
claims incurred but not reported) using data currently available. The reserve estimates are regularly analyzed and adjusted when necessary.
Unanticipated changes in the data used to determine the reserve may require us to revise our estimates.

        The short-term portion of the reserve is computed by applying a percentage, based on historical claims payment activity, against the total captive
claims asserted as provided by the actuarial firm. The short-term amount is deducted from the total reserve balance and the remainder is the long-term
portion. This estimate is reviewed on a quarterly basis and is adjusted as needed.

        The activity in the loss and loss adjustment reserve, which included Applebee's and participating franchisees, is summarized in the table below:

  
December 31,

2008  
December 31,

2007  
  (In thousands)  

Reserves, beginning of the year  $ 7,009 $ — 
Reserves assumed from acquisition   —  7,622 
Claims incurred   445  (464)
Claims paid   (2,997)  (149)
      

Reserves, end of the year   4,457  7,009 
Less current portion   (3,257)  (3,809)
      

Long-term portion  $ 1,200 $ 3,200 
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        Debt consists of the following components:

  2008  2007  
  (In thousands)  

Series 2007-1 Class A-2-I-X Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes due December 2037, at a fixed interest rate of 7.2836%  $ — $ 350,000 
Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-A Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes due December 2037, at a fixed rate of 7.1767% (inclusive of

an insurance premium of 0.75%)   640,539  675,000 
Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-X Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes due December 2037, at a fixed rate of 7.0588%   604,308  650,000 
Series 2007-1 Class M-1 Fixed Rate Term Subordinated Notes due December 2037, at a fixed rate of 8.4044%   119,000  119,000 
Series 2007-1 Class A-1 Variable Funding Senior Notes, final maturity date December 2037, at a rate of 3.86% and 8.0%

as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively   100,000  75,000 
Series 2007-1 Fixed Rate Notes due March 2037, at a fixed rate of 5.744% (inclusive of an insurance premium of 0.60%)   175,000  175,000 
Series 2007-2 Variable Funding Notes, final maturity date March 2037, at a rate of 2.1% and 5.6% as of December 31,

2008 and 2007, respectively   15,000  15,000 
Series 2007-3 Fixed Rate Term Notes due December 2037, at a fixed rate of 7.0588%   245,000  245,000 
Discount on Fixed Rate Notes   (30,480)  (40,113)
      

Total debt   1,868,367  2,263,887 
Less current maturities   (15,000)  — 
      

Long-term debt  $1,853,367 $2,263,887 
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March 2007 Securitization Transaction

        On March 16, 2007, IHOP Franchising, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and its wholly owned subsidiary, IHOP IP, LLC
(collectively, the "IHOP Co-Issuers"), issued $175 million of Series 2007-1 Fixed Rate Notes (the "Series 2007-1 FRN") and completed a securitized
financing facility providing for the issuance of up to $25 million of Series 2007-2 Variable Funding Notes (the "Series 2007-2 VFN" and together with
the Series 2007-1 FRN, the "March 2007 Notes").

        The March 2007 Notes were issued under a Base Indenture dated March 16, 2007 (the "IHOP Base Indenture") and related Series Supplements,
each dated March 16, 2007 (together with the Base Indenture, the "Indenture") among the IHOP Co-Issuers and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as the Indenture Trustee. The March 2007 Notes were issued in private transactions and are secured under the Indenture by various types
of collateral as described herein. The March 2007 Notes were the first issuances under this program. While the Applebee's notes (discussed below) are
outstanding, the IHOP Co-Issuers are not allowed to make additional borrowings through the sale of a new series of notes under this program.

Series 2007-1 Fixed Rate Notes

        The Series 2007-1 FRN have a stated fixed interest rate of 5.144% per annum, an anticipated repayment date in March 2012, and a legal final
payment date in March 2037. The effective interest rate on the Series 2007-1 FRN is 7.218%, after taking account of the premium on the Insurance
Policy (described below under "Third Party Credit Enhancement") and the amortization of certain transaction related expenditures. The anticipated
repayment date of the Series 2007-1 FRN may be extended for two successive one-year periods at the election of the IHOP Co-Issuers subject to
satisfaction of certain conditions as specified in the Indenture. The interest rate on the Series 2007-1 FRN would increase by 0.25% during any such
extension period.

Series 2007-2 Variable Funding Notes

        The Series 2007-2 VFN allow for drawings on a revolving basis. Interest on the Series 2007-2 VFN will generally be payable (a) in the event that
commercial paper is issued to fund the Series 2007-2 VFN, at the rate, which is the per annum rate equivalent to the weighted average of the per annum
rate payable by the commercial paper conduit in respect of promissory notes issued by the commercial paper conduit to fund the Series 2007-2 VFN,
and (b) in the event that other means are used to fund the Series 2007-2 VFN, at per annum rates equal to (i) a base rate of either the prime rate or the
Federal funds rate, plus 0.40%, or (ii) a Eurodollar rate to be determined by reference to the British Banker's Association Interest Settlement Rates for
deposits in dollars for the applicable period. It is expected that amounts will be drawn under the Series 2007-2 VFN from time to time as needed by the
IHOP Co-Issuers in connection with the operation of the IHOP franchising business. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, a total of $15.0 million was
drawn on the Series 2007-2 VFN. There is a commitment fee on the unused portion of the Series 2007-2 VFN of 0.15% per annum.

March 2007 Securitization Structure

        The IHOP Co-Issuers are indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company that hold substantially all of the franchising assets used in the
operation of the IHOP restaurant franchising business. In connection with the securitization transaction, two other limited liability companies, IHOP
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Property Leasing, LLC and IHOP Real Estate, LLC, were formed as subsidiaries of IHOP Franchising, LLC and an existing subsidiary, IHOP
Properties, Inc., was transferred to IHOP Franchising, LLC and converted to a limited liability company. On and after the closing of the securitization
transaction, these three subsidiaries (the "Real Estate Subsidiaries") own the real property assets related to the IHOP restaurant franchising business,
including the fee and leasehold interests on the real property on which many IHOP restaurants are located and the related leases and sub-leases,
respectively, to franchisees.

        In connection with the securitization transaction, the franchise agreements, franchise notes, area license agreements (related to the United States and
Mexico), product sales agreements, equipment leases and other assets related to the IHOP restaurant franchising business were transferred to IHOP
Franchising, LLC, the intellectual property related to the IHOP restaurant franchising business, among other things, was transferred to IHOP IP, LLC,
the fee interests in real property and related franchisee leases were transferred to IHOP Real Estate, LLC and certain of the leasehold interests related to
the IHOP franchised restaurants and the related subleases to franchisees were transferred to IHOP Property Leasing, LLC. The remaining leasehold
interests and franchisee subleases are owned by IHOP Properties, LLC. The IHOP Co-Issuers have pledged all of their assets to the Indenture Trustee
as security for the March 2007 Notes and any additional notes issued by the IHOP Co-Issuers. Although the March 2007 Notes are expected to be
repaid solely from these subsidiaries' assets, the March 2007 Notes are solely obligations of the IHOP Co-Issuers and none of the Company, its direct
or indirect subsidiaries, including the Real Estate Subsidiaries, guarantee or are in any way liable for the IHOP Co-Issuers' obligations under the
Indenture, the March 2007 Notes or any other obligation in connection with the issuance of the March 2007 Notes. The Company has agreed, however,
to guarantee the performance of the obligations of International House of Pancakes, LLC., its wholly owned direct subsidiary, as servicer in connection
with the servicing of the assets included as collateral under the Indenture and certain indemnity obligations relating to the transfer of the collateral assets
to the IHOP Co-Issuers and the Real Estate Subsidiaries.

March 2007 Third Party Credit Enhancement

        The March 2007 Notes are rated "Aaa," and "AAA" by Moody's Investors Services, Inc. and Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, respectively.
Timely payment of interest (other than contingent interest) and the outstanding principal of the March 2007 Notes were insured under a financial
guaranty insurance policy issued by Financial Guaranty Insurance Company ("FGIC"), the obligations of which are rated "Aaa" and "AAA." The
insurance policy has been issued under an Insurance and Indemnity Agreement among FGIC, the Company and various subsidiaries of the Company.

March 2007 Covenants/Restrictions

        The March 2007 Notes are subject to a series of covenants and restrictions under the Indenture customary for transactions of this type, including
those relating to (i) the maintenance of specified reserve accounts to be used to make required payments in respect of the March 2007 Notes, (ii) certain
debt service coverage and consolidated leverage ratios to be met, the failure of which may result in early amortization of the outstanding principal
amounts due in respect of the March 2007 Notes or removal of International House of Pancakes, Inc., as servicer, among other things, (iii) optional
prepayment subject to certain conditions, (iv) the Company's maintenance of more than 50% ownership interest in International House of
Pancakes, LLC. and a restriction on the Company's merger with
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unaffiliated entities, unless the Company is the surviving entity or the surviving entity assumes all of the Company's obligations in connection with the
securitization transaction and certain other conditions are satisfied, (v) limitations on indebtedness that may be incurred by the Company on a
consolidated basis, and (vi) recordkeeping, access to information and similar matters. The March 2007 Notes are also subject to customary events of
default, including events relating to non-payment of interest and principal due on or in respect of the March 2007 Notes, failure to comply with
covenants within certain time frames, certain bankruptcy events, breach of representations and warranties, failure of security interest to be effective, a
valid claim being made under the relevant insurance policy and the failure to meet the applicable debt service coverage ratio.

March 2007 Use of Proceeds

        The net proceeds from the sale of the March 2007 Fixed Rate Notes on March 16, 2007 were $171.7 million. Of this amount, $114.2 million was
used to repay existing indebtedness of the Company; $2.4 million was deposited into an interest reserve account for the Series 2007-1 FRN; and
$3.1 million was deposited into a lease payment account for payment to third-party property lessors. The Company used the remaining proceeds
primarily to pay the costs of the transaction and for share repurchases. As of December 31, 2008, a total of $15.0 million was drawn on the
Series 2007-2 VFN which was used as part of the payment for the Applebee's acquisition.

November 2007 Securitization Transactions

        As part of the financing for the Applebee's acquisition, certain subsidiaries of the Company completed two separate securitization transactions with
total proceeds of $2.039 billion. The securitization transactions consisted of an issuance of debt collateralized by Applebee's restaurant assets and a
separate issuance of debt collateralized by IHOP restaurant assets under the IHOP securitization program.

Applebee's Securitization

        On November 29, 2007, Applebee's Enterprises LLC, Applebee's IP LLC and other wholly-owned subsidiaries of Applebee's (collectively, the
"Applebee's Co-Issuers), completed a $1.794 billion securitization transaction as described below. All of the notes issued in the Applebee's
securitization were issued pursuant to an indenture (the "Applebee's Base Indenture"), and entered into by and among the Applebee's Co-Issuers and
Wells Fargo Bank, and the related Series 2007-1 Supplement, each dated as of November 29, 2007 (together with the Applebee's Base Indenture, the
"Applebee's Indenture").

Fixed Rate Notes

        The Applebee's securitization consists of the following four classes of fixed rate notes (the "Applebee's November 2007-1 Notes"):

• $350 million of Series 2007-1 Class A-2-I-X Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes, which do not have the benefit of a financial guaranty
insurance policy. These notes had an expected life of approximately six months, with a legal maturity of 30 years. The Class A-2-I-X
Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes were repaid in July 2008.
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• $675 million of Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-A Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes that have the benefit of a financial guaranty insurance
policy covering payment of interest when due and payment of principal at the applicable legal final maturity date. These notes have an
expected life of approximately five years, with a legal maturity of 30 years. 

• $650 million of Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-X Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes, which do not have the benefit of a financial guaranty
insurance policy. These notes have an expected life of approximately five years, with a legal maturity of 30 years. 

• $119 million of Series 2007-1 Class M-1 Fixed Rate Term Subordinated Notes, which do not have the benefit of a financial guaranty
insurance policy. These notes have an expected life of approximately four years, with a legal maturity of 30 years.

        The Applebee's Indenture includes provisions which accelerate certain of the payment dates which, if not met, would require the Company to use
operating funds to begin to pay down the outstanding debt. The accelerated payment dates for the Applebee's securitization are as follows:

Class A-2-II-A Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes  December 2012
Class A-2-II-X Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes  December 2012
Class M-1 Fixed Rate Term Subordinated Notes  December 2012

        As of December 31, 2008, there was no acceleration of payment dates.

Series 2007-1 Class A-1 Variable Funding Senior Notes

        The Applebee's securitization also included a $100 million revolving credit facility of Series 2007-1 Class A-1 Variable Funding Senior Notes
issued in two classes, with each drawdown allocated between the two classes on a pro rata basis. The 2007-1 Class A-1-A Variable Funding Notes in
an amount up to $30 million have the benefit of a financial guaranty insurance policy covering payment of interest when due and payment of principal at
the legal final maturity date. The Series 2007-1 Class A-1-X Variable Funding Notes in an amount up to $70 million do not have the benefit of a
financial guaranty insurance policy. As of December 31, 2008, there was $100 million outstanding under this facility, consisting of $30.0 million
insured and $70.0 million uninsured. As of December 31, 2007, there was $75 million outstanding under this facility, consisting of $22.5 million
insured and $52.5 million uninsured.

Securitization Structure

        All of the Applebee's November 2007-1 Notes were issued by indirect subsidiaries of Applebee's that hold substantially all of the intellectual
property, franchising assets and other restaurant assets of the Applebee's system and a certificate representing the right to receive a portion of the weekly
residual cash flow remaining in securitization by certain subsidiaries of the Company. The servicing and repayment obligations related to the Applebee's
November 2007-1 Notes and certain ongoing fees and expenses, including the premiums payable to the financial guaranty insurance company, are
solely the responsibility of these indirect subsidiaries. Neither DineEquity, Inc., which is the ultimate parent of each of the subsidiaries involved in the
securitization, nor Applebee's has guaranteed or is in any way liable for the obligations of the subsidiaries involved in the securitization, including the
Applebee's
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November 2007-1 Notes and any other obligations of such subsidiaries arising in connection with the issuance of the Applebee's November 2007-1
Notes.

Third Party Credit Enhancement

        The Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-A Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes of $675 million were rated "Aaa," and "AAA" by Moody's Investors
Services, Inc. and Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, respectively. Timely payment of interest (other than contingent interest) and the outstanding
principal of the Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-A Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes are insured under a financial guaranty insurance policy issued by Assured
Guaranty Corp. ("Assured"). The insurance policy has been issued under an Insurance and Indemnity Agreement among Assured, the Company and
various subsidiaries of the Company.

Covenants/Restrictions

        The Applebee's November 2007-1 Notes are subject to a series of covenants and restrictions under the Applebee's Indenture which are customary
for transactions of this type, including those relating to (i) the maintenance of specified reserve accounts to be used to make required payments in respect
of the Applebee's November 2007-1 Notes, (ii) certain debt service coverage and consolidated leverage ratios to be met, the failure of which may result
in early amortization of the outstanding principal amounts due in respect of the Applebee's November 2007-1 Notes or removal of Applebee's
Services, Inc., as servicer, among other things, (iii) optional prepayment subject to certain conditions, (iv) a restriction on the Company's merger with
unaffiliated entities, unless the Company is the surviving entity or the surviving entity assumes all of the Company's obligations in connection with the
securitization transaction and certain other conditions are satisfied, (v) limitations on indebtedness that may be incurred by the Company on a
consolidated basis, and (vi) recordkeeping, access to information and similar matters. The Applebee's November 2007-1 Notes are also subject to
customary events of default, including events relating to non-payment of interest and principal due on or in respect of the Applebee's November 2007-1
Notes, failure to comply with covenants within certain time frames, certain bankruptcy events, breach of representations and warranties, failure of
security interest to be effective, a valid claim being made under the relevant insurance policy and the failure to meet the applicable debt service coverage
ratio.

IHOP Securitization

Series 2007-3 Fixed Rate Notes

        On November 29, 2007, the IHOP Co-Issuers issued $245 million of Series 2007-3 Fixed Rate Notes (the "Series 2007-3 FRN") in a securitized
financing transaction. The Series 2007-3 FRN have an expected life of five years, with a legal maturity of 30 years. This issuance was the third issuance
of debt securities by the IHOP Co-Issuers pursuant to a securitization structure established on March 16, 2007.

        The Series 2007-3 FRN were issued by the IHOP Co-Issuers, which hold substantially all of the intellectual property and franchising assets of the
IHOP system. The servicing and repayment obligations related to the Series 2007-3 FRN and certain on-going fees and expenses are solely the
responsibility of the IHOP Co-Issuers. DineEquity, Inc., which is the ultimate parent of each of the IHOP Co-Issuers, has not guaranteed and is not in
any way liable for the obligations of the IHOP
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Co-Issuers, including the Series 2007-3 FRN, the March 2007 Notes or any other obligations of the IHOP Co-Issuers incurred in connection with the
issuance of the Series 2007-3 FRN or the March 2007 Notes. The Company does, however, guarantee the performance of International House of
Pancakes, LLC, as servicer for the IHOP securitization program.

        All of the Series 2007-3 FRN issued in the IHOP securitization were issued under the IHOP Base Indenture, as amended and supplemented from
time to time, including by the related supplement to the IHOP Base Indenture dated as of November 29, 2007.

Securitization Structure

        The securitization structure for Series 2007-3 FRN is substantially similar to the structure for the Series 2007-1 FRN and Series 2007-2 VFN.

Third Party Credit Enhancement

        The Series 2007-3 FRN does not have any third party credit enhancement.

Covenants/Restrictions

        The covenants under the Indenture and applicable to all notes were modified with the consent of the holders of the Series 2007-1 FRN.

Weighted Average Effective Interest Rate

        The weighted average effective interest rate on all of the notes issued in the November 2007 securitization transactions, exclusive of the
amortization of fees and expenses associated with the securitization transactions, is 7.1799%. Taking into account fees and expenses (excluding the
interest rate swap transaction discussed below) associated with the securitization transactions that will be amortized as additional non-cash interest
expense over a five-year period, which is the expected life of the notes, the weighted average effective interest rate for the notes issued in November
2007 securitization transactions is 8.4571%.

Use of Proceeds

        The net proceeds from the sale of the Applebee's notes and the borrowing under the Series 2007-1 Class A-1 Variable Funding Senior Note on
November 29, 2007 were $1,847.4 million, net of expenses. The proceeds were used to deposit $66 million in various securitization accounts and to
distribute $1,794.4 million to pay the outstanding debt and other third-party obligations of Applebee's and a portion of the purchase price for the
Applebee's acquisition.

        The IHOP Co-Issuer applied a portion of the net proceeds from the sale of the IHOP notes to deposit $4.3 million into the Series 2007-3 interest
reserve account. The remaining $238.2 million was used to pay a portion of the purchase price related to the Applebee's acquisition.
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Covenants/Restrictions Compliance

        The Company was in compliance with all the covenants/restriction related to the March 2007 and November 2007 securitized notes as of
December 31, 2008 and for each month since issuance of the securitized notes.

Discount on Notes

        The discount on notes reflects the difference between the proceeds received from the sale of the notes and the face amount to be repaid over the life
of the notes. The discount is being amortized as additional interest expense over the estimated life of the notes under the effective interest method.

        The proceeds received from the sale of the Applebee's November 2007-1 Notes and the Series 2007-3 FRN (collectively, the "Notes") are net of
amounts paid or to be paid to the purchaser of the Notes who plans to resell these Notes. Pursuant to the Company's agreement with the purchaser, the
Company may be refunded an amount equal to 40% of the sum, if positive, of a defined resale differential for the Notes resold within five business days
after the later of (i) the completion of the resale of all of the Notes to unaffiliated third party investors and (ii) August 29, 2008.

Deferred Financing Costs

        In connection with the March 2007 and November 2007 securitization transactions, the Company recorded approximately $82.5 million of
deferred financing costs. These deferred financing costs will be amortized using the effective interest method over the estimated life of the related debt.
Total amortization expense associated with the deferred financing costs for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $17.3 million and
$3.8 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, $64.7 million and $78.7 million respectively, of deferred financing costs are reported as
Other Assets in the consolidated balance sheet.

Interest Rate Swap

        On July 16, 2007, the Company entered into an interest rate swap (the "Swap"), which was intended to hedge the interest payments on the
securitized notes that were issued in November 2007 to finance the Applebee's acquisition. The Swap had a notional amount of $2.039 billion and a
fixed interest rate of 5.694%.

        In connection with the closing of the November 2007 securitized financing transactions, the Company settled the Swap at a cost of $124.0 million.
As a result of the Swap settlement, the Company incurred interest expense on the undesignated portion of the Swap in an amount of $62.1 million in
2007, and will amortize the designated portion of the Swap of $61.9 million into interest expense over the expected four-year life of the Applebee's
November 2007-1 Notes and five-year life of IHOP Series 2007-3 FRN.
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11. Financing Obligations

        On May 19, 2008, the Company entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement relating to the sale and leaseback of 181 parcels of real property (the
"Sale-Leaseback Transaction"), each of which is improved with a restaurant operating as an Applebee's Neighborhood Grill and Bar (the
"Property(ies)"). On June 13, 2008, the closing date of the Sale-Leaseback Transaction, the Company entered into a Master Land and Building Lease
("Master Lease") for the Properties. The proceeds received from the transaction were $337.2 million. The Master Lease calls for an initial term of
twenty years and four five-year options to extend the term.

        The Company has an ongoing obligation related to any Property until such time as the lease related to that Property is assigned to a qualified
franchisee in a transaction meeting certain parameters set forth in the Master Lease, or the lessor sells the property to an unrelated third party. Due to this
continuing involvement, the transaction was recorded under the financing method in accordance with SFAS No. 98, Accounting for Leases: Sale-
Leaseback Transactions Involving Real Estate, Sales-Type Leases of Real Estate, Definition of the Lease Term, and Initial Direct Costs of Direct
Financing Leases—an amendment of FASB Statements No. 13, 66, and 91 and a rescission of FASB Statement No. 26 and Technical Bulletin No. 79-
11, ("SFAS 98") and SFAS No. 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate ("SFAS 66"). Accordingly, the value of the land, buildings and improvements
will remain on the Company's books and the buildings and improvements will continue to be depreciated over their remaining useful lives. The net
proceeds received have been recorded as a financing obligation. A portion of the lease payments is recorded as a decrease to the financing obligation and
a portion is recognized as interest expense. In the event the lease obligation of any individual Property or group of Properties is assumed by a qualified
franchisee, or the property is sold to an unrelated third party, the Company's continuing involvement will cease. At that time, that portion of the
transaction related to that Property or group of Properties is expected to be recorded as a sale in accordance with SFAS 98 and SFAS 66 and the net
book value of those Properties will be removed from the Company's books, along with a ratable portion of the remaining financing obligation.

        In July 2008, the Company entered into a sale-leaseback transaction with respect to its support center in Lenexa, Kansas. In connection with this
transaction, the Company received approximately $39 million in proceeds. The initial term of the leaseback agreement is 15 years. As the Company
expects to have continuing involvement in the form of future subleasing of a substantial portion of the support center, the transaction will be recorded
under the financing method in accordance with SFAS No. 98 described above.

        During 2008, the Company's continuing involvement with 24 Properties was ended by assignment of the lease obligation to a qualified franchisee
or a subsequent sale of a Property to an unrelated third party by the lessor. In accordance with the accounting described above, the transaction related to
this property was recorded as a sale with property and equipment and financing obligations each reduced by $45.9 million.
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        As of December 31, 2008, future minimum lease payments under financing obligations during the initial terms of the leases related to the sale-
leaseback transactions are as follows:

Fiscal Years  
(In

thousands)  

2009  $ 31,125 
2010   31,454 
2011   31,784 
2012   31,838 
2013   31,894 
Thereafter   445,402 
    

Total minimum lease payments   603,497 
Less interest   (277,228)
    

Total financing obligations   326,269 
Less current portion(1)   (7,618)
    

Long-term financing obligations  $ 318,651 
    

(1) Included in other accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheet.

12. Leases

        The Company leases the majority of all restaurants. The restaurants are subleased to our franchisees or in a few instances operated by the
Company. These noncancelable leases and subleases consist primarily of land, buildings and improvements.

        The following is the Company's net investment in direct financing lease receivables:

  2008  2007  
  (In thousands)  

Total minimum rents receivable  $ 241,624 $ 259,948 
Less unearned income   (126,107)  (141,468)
      

Net investment in direct financing lease receivables   115,517  118,480 
Less current portion   (3,497)  (2,984)
      

Long-term direct financing lease receivables  $ 112,020 $ 115,496 
      

        Contingent rental income, which is the amount above and beyond base rent, for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was
$18.0 million, $17.5 million and $18.0 million, respectively.
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        The following is the Company's net investment in equipment leases receivable:

  2008  2007  
  (In thousands)  

Total minimum leases receivable  $ 302,420 $ 326,641 
Less unearned income   (148,860)  (166,641)
      

Net investment in equipment leases receivables   153,560  160,000 
Less current portion   (7,022)  (6,457)
      

Long-term equipment leases receivable  $ 146,538 $ 153,543 
      

        The following are minimum future lease payments on the Company's noncancelable leases as lessee at December 31, 2008:

  
Capital
Leases  

Operating
Leases  

  (In thousands)  

2009  $ 24,731 $ 88,376 
2010   25,013  86,926 
2011   24,891  85,396 
2012   24,728  85,426 
20113   24,841  85,348 
Thereafter   192,787  1,228,871 
      

Total minimum lease payments   316,991 $ 1,660,343 
       

Less interest   (148,876)    
       

Capital lease obligations   168,115    
Less current portion(1)   (6,805)    
       

Long-term capital lease obligations  $ 161,310    
       

(1) Included in other accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheet.

        The asset cost and carrying amount on company-owned property leased at December 31, 2008, was $90.7 million and $74.6 million, respectively.
The asset cost and carrying amount on company-owned property leased at December 31, 2007, was $91.4 million and $77.4 million, respectively. The
asset cost and carrying amounts represent the land and building asset values and net book values on sites leased to franchisees.
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        The minimum future lease payments shown above have not been reduced by the following future minimum rents to be received on noncancelable
subleases and leases of owned property at December 31, 2008:

  

Direct
Financing

Leases  
Operating

Leases  
  (In thousands)  

2009  $ 18,392 $ 94,232 
2010   18,479  95,414 
2011   18,539  95,738 
2012   18,656  96,223 
2013   18,815  97,041 
Thereafter   148,743  1,165,923 
      

Total minimum rents receivable  $241,624 $1,644,571 
      

        The Company has noncancelable leases, expiring at various dates through 2032, which require payment of contingent rents based upon a
percentage of sales of the related restaurant as well as property taxes, insurance and other charges. Subleases to franchisees of properties under such
leases are generally for the full term of the lease obligation at rents that include the Company's obligations for property taxes, insurance, contingent rents
and other charges. Generally, the noncancelable leases include renewal options. Contingent rent expense for all noncancelable leases for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $4.5 million, $3.4 million and $3.3 million, respectively. Minimum rent expense for all noncancelable
operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $91.2 million, $67.6 million and $63.8 million, respectively.

13. Fair Value Measurements

        The Company adopted FAS No. 157 on January 1, 2008. FAS No. 157 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (an exit price). The Company has one financial
instrument we must measure under FAS No. 157, investments held by Applebee's captive insurance subsidiary. None of the current non-financial
assets or non-financial liabilities must be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The fair value of the investments held by the captive insurance
company at December 31, 2008 was $5.6 million and was determined based on Level 3 inputs using a risk-adjusted discounted cash flow model under
the income approach.

14. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

        We believe the fair values of cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and the current portion of long-term debt approximate their
carrying amounts due to their short duration.
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        The fair values of non-current financial liabilities are shown in the following table.

  December 31, 2008  December 31, 2007  

  
Carrying
Amount  Fair Value  

Carrying
Amount  Fair Value  

  (In thousands)  

Long-term debt, less current maturities  $1,853,367 $1,177,200 $2,263,887 $2,263,887 
          

Series A Preferred Stock  $ 187,050 $ 131,200 $ 187,050 $ 187,050 
          

        At December 31, 2008, the fair value of the non-current financial liabilities was determined based on Level 3 inputs using a risk-adjusted
discounted cash flow model under the income approach. At December 31, 2007, the fair value approximated the carrying value due to the fact the debt
and Preferred Stock had been priced and issued one month earlier.

15. Commitments and Contingencies

Purchase Commitments

        In some instances, the Company enters into commitments to purchase food and other items on behalf of the IHOP and Applebee's systems, to
achieve volume discounts and to ensure quality throughout the system. Most of these agreements are fixed price purchase commitments. At
December 31, 2008, the outstanding purchase commitments were $205.0 million, the majority of which related to Applebee's. The Company has
developed processes to facilitate the liquidation of these commitments to minimize financial exposure.

Lease Guarantees and Contingencies

        In connection with the sale of Applebee's restaurants to franchisees and other parties, the Company has, in certain cases, remained contingently
liable for the remaining lease payments. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company has outstanding lease guarantees of approximately
$89.2 million and $13.4 million, respectively. In addition, the Company or its subsidiaries are contingently liable for various leases that the Company
has assigned in connection with the sale of restaurants to franchisees and other parties in the potential amount of $71.7 million and $10.7 million as of
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. These leases expire at various times with the final lease agreement expiring in 2048. FASB Interpretation
No. 45, Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others ("FIN 45")
specifically exempts lease guarantees from recognition and therefore, the Company did not record a liability related to these contingent lease liabilities as
of December 31, 2008 or 2007.

        In 2004, the Company arranged for a third-party financing company to provide up to $250.0 million to qualified franchisees for loans to fund
development of new restaurants, subject to its approval. The Company provided a limited guarantee of 10% of certain loans advanced under this
program. The Company will be released from its guarantee if certain operating results are met after the restaurant has been open for at least two years.
As of December 31, 2008, there were loans outstanding to five franchisees for approximately $33.6 million, net of any guarantees in which the
Company was released, under this program. The fair value of the Company's guarantees under this financing program were approximately $70,000 and
$100,000 as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and are
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recorded in non-current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet. This program expired on October 31, 2007, however, the Company's guarantee will
remain outstanding until the provisions for release have been satisfied, as defined in the related agreement.

Litigation, Claims and Disputes

        In addition to those matters described in previous filings, the Company is subject to various lawsuits, claims and governmental inspections or
audits arising in the ordinary course of business. Some of these lawsuits purport to be class actions and/or seek substantial damages. In the opinion of
management, these matters are adequately covered by insurance or, if not so covered, are without merit or are of such a nature or involve amounts that
would not have a material adverse impact on the Company's business or consolidated financial statements.

Severance Agreements

        Applebee's had severance and employment agreements with certain officers which provided for severance payments to be made in the event of a
change in control. In connection with the Company's acquisition of Applebee's, the change in control provisions of these agreements were triggered.
Certain officers were terminated at the acquisition date. The severance amounts for these individuals have been accrued in the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, certain officers will be terminated over the next two years. The Company will accrue these severance costs over the expected
service period. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company has accrued $0.8 million and $10.9 million, respectively, in its consolidated balance
sheet.

16. Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Equity

Preferred Stock

        As part of the financing for the Applebee's acquisition, on November 29, 2007, the Company completed two separate private placements of
preferred stock.

Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock

        On November 29, 2007, the Company issued and sold 190,000 shares of Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock (the "Series A Perpetual Preferred
Stock") for an aggregate purchase price of $190.0 million in cash. Total issuance costs were approximately $3.0 million. All of the shares were sold to
MSD SBI, L.P., an affiliate of MSD Capital, L.P., pursuant to a purchase agreement dated as of July 15, 2007, as amended as of November 29, 2007.
The shares of Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock rank (i) senior to the common stock, and any series of preferred stock specifically designated as junior
to the Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock, with respect to the payment of dividends and distributions, in a liquidation, dissolution or winding up, and
upon any other distribution of the Company's assets, (ii) on a parity with all other series of preferred stock, including the Series B Convertible Preferred
Stock, described below, with respect to the payment of dividends and distributions, in a liquidation, dissolution or winding up, and upon any other
distribution of the Company's assets.

        The holders of the Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock are entitled to receive dividends, at the rates and on the dates set forth in the Certificate of
Designations for the Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock (the "Series A Certificate of Designations"), if, as, and when such dividends are declared by
the
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Company's Board of Directors, but out of funds legally available for the payment of dividends, which dividends are payable in cash, subject to the
Company's right to elect to accumulate any dividends payable after the first anniversary of the issue date. If, on any scheduled dividend payment date,
the holder of record of a share of Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock does not receive in cash the full amount of any dividend required to be paid on
such share on such date pursuant to the Series A Certificate of Designations (such unpaid dividends that have accrued and were required to be paid, but
remain unpaid, on a scheduled dividend payment date, together with any accrued and unpaid accumulated dividends, the "Passed Dividends"), then such
Passed Dividends accumulate on such outstanding share of Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock, whether or not there are funds legally available for the
payment thereof or such Passed Dividends are declared by the Company's Board of Directors, and until such Passed Dividends have been paid, the
applicable dividend rate under the Series A Certificate of Designations is computed on the sum of the stated value of the share plus such unpaid Passed
Dividend. In the event that Passed Dividends shall have accrued but remain unpaid for two consecutive quarterly dividend periods (each such quarterly
dividend period, a "Passed Quarter"), the applicable dividend rate under the Series A Certificate of Designations is, as of the end of such two-Passed
Quarters period, prospectively increased by two percent (2.0%) per annum, and the applicable dividend rate under the Series A Certificate of
Designations further increases prospectively by two percent (2.0%) per annum as of the end of each subsequent two-Passed Quarters period with
respect to which Passed Dividends shall have accrued but remain unpaid. The Series A Certificate of Designations further provides that (i) under no
circumstances shall the dividend rate applicable at any time prior to the tenth (10th) anniversary of the issue date of the Series A Perpetual Preferred
Stock exceed sixteen percent (16%) per annum, and (ii) upon payment by the Company of all accrued and unpaid Passed Dividends, the dividend rate is
thereupon automatically reduced prospectively to the applicable per annum dividend rate under the Series A Certificate of Designations.

Series B Convertible Preferred Stock

        On November 29, 2007, the Company issued and sold 35,000 shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of
$35.0 million in cash. Total issuance costs were approximately $0.8 million. All of the shares were sold to affiliates of Chilton Investment
Company, LLC (collectively, "Chilton") pursuant to a purchase agreement dated as of July 15, 2007. The shares of Series B Convertible Preferred
Stock rank (i) senior to the common stock, and any series of preferred stock specifically designated as junior to the Series B Convertible Preferred
Stock, with respect to the payment of dividends and distributions, in a liquidation, dissolution or winding up, and upon any other distribution of the
Company's assets, and (ii) on a parity with all other series of preferred stock, including the Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock, with respect to the
payment of dividends and distributions, in a liquidation, dissolution or winding up, and upon any other distribution of the Company's assets.

        Each share of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock has an initial stated value of $1,000, that increases at the rate of 6% per annum, compounded
quarterly, commencing on the issue date of such share of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock to and including the earlier of (i) the date of liquidation,
dissolution or winding up or the redemption of such share, or (ii) the date such share is converted into the Company's common stock. The stated value
of a share as so accreted as of any date is referred to as the accreted value of the share as of that date. Shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock
may be redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part at the Company's option, on or after the fourth
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anniversary of the issue date, at a redemption price equal to the accreted value as of the applicable redemption date, subject to the terms set forth in the
Certificate of Designations for the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock ("the "Series B Certificate of Designations"). The Series B Convertible
Preferred Stock entitles the holders thereof to receive certain dividends and distributions to the extent that any dividends or distributions paid on the
Company's common stock exceed the annual accretion on the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. Holders of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock
are entitled to vote on all matters (including the election of directors) submitted to the holders of the Company's common stock, as a single class with the
holders of the Company's common stock, with each share of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock having one vote per share of the Company's common
stock then issuable upon conversion of such share of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the aggregate accretion
for the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock was $2.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively.

        At any time and from time to time, any holder of Series of B Convertible Preferred Stock may convert all or any portion of the Series B
Convertible Stock held by such holder into a number of shares of the Company's common stock computed by multiplying (i) each $1,000 of aggregate
accreted value of the shares to be converted by (ii) the conversion rate then in effect (which initially is 14.44878 shares of common stock per $1,000 of
accreted value, but subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments). All outstanding shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock will automatically
convert into shares of the Company's common stock on the fifth anniversary of the issue date, at the conversion rate then in effect, without any action on
the part of the holder thereof.

        The Company also entered into a registration rights agreement, dated as of November 29, 2007, with Chilton pursuant to which the Company
granted Chilton certain registration rights with respect to the shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock issued to Chilton and the shares of common
stock issuable upon conversion of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock.

Share Repurchase Program

        In January 2003, our Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase shares of the Company's common stock. As of December 31, 2007,
the Board approved the repurchase of up to 7.2 million shares of common stock. During 2007, the Company repurchased approximately 1.3 million
shares of its common stock for $77.0 million. The Company has repurchased 6.3 million shares of its common stock since the inception of the program
at a total cost of $280.0 million. The Company did not repurchase shares in 2008. In February 2009, the Board of Directors cancelled the authorization
to repurchase any additional shares under this program.

Dividends

        The Company had accrued $4.8 million as dividends for the Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock as of December 31, 2008. The dividends were
paid in January 2009.

        The Company has paid regular quarterly dividends of $0.25 per common share since May 2003. A quarterly cash dividend of $0.25 per common
share was paid on November 18, 2008, which was the fourth dividend payment of 2008. In December 2008, the Board of Directors suspended the
payment of the quarterly cash dividend to common stockholders for the foreseeable future as part of actions the Company is taking to maximize its
financial flexibility. Future dividend declarations on the common
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shares may be made at the discretion of the Board of Directors after consideration of the Company's earnings, financial condition, cash requirements,
future prospects and other factors.

17. Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income

        The components of comprehensive (loss) income, net of taxes, are as follows:

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008  2007  2006  
  (In thousands)  

Net (loss) income  $(154,459) $ (480) $44,553 
Other comprehensive income (net of tax):           
 Interest rate swap   7,716  (36,605)  72 

 Temporary decline in available-for-sale securities  (386)  —  — 
        

Total comprehensive (loss) income  $(147,129) $(37,085) $44,625 
        

        The amount of income tax benefit allocated to the interest rate swap was $3.0 million, $24.1 million and nil for the year ended December 31, 2008,
2007 and 2006, respectively.

18. Stock-Based Incentive Plans

        The Stock Incentive Plan (the "1991 Plan") was adopted in 1991 and amended and restated in 1998 to authorize the issuance of up to 3,760,000
shares of common stock pursuant to options, restricted stock, and other long-term stock- based incentives to officers and key employees of the
Company. The 2001 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2001 Plan") was adopted in 2001 and amended and restated in 2005 and 2008 to authorize the issuance
of up to 4,200,000 shares of common stock. No option can be granted at an option price of less than the fair market value at the date of grant as defined
by the Plan. Exercisability of options is determined at, or after, the date of grant by the administrator of both Plans. All options granted under both plans
through December 31, 2008, become exercisable one-third after one year, two-thirds after two years and 100% after three years or immediately upon a
change in control of the Company, as defined in both plans.

        The Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the "Directors Plan") was adopted in 1994 and amended and restated in 1999 to authorize the
issuance of up to 400,000 shares of common stock pursuant to options to non-employee members of the Company's Board of Directors. Options are to
be granted at an option price equal to 100% of the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant. Options granted pursuant to the Directors Plan vest
and become exercisable one-third after one year, two-thirds after two years and 100% after three years or immediately upon a change in control of the
Company, as defined in the Directors Plan. Options for the purchase of shares are granted to each non-employee Director under the Directors Plan as
follows: (1) an option to purchase 15,000 shares on February 23, 1995, or on the Director's election to the Board of Directors if he or she was not a
Director on such date, and (2) an option to purchase 5,000 shares annually in conjunction with the Company's Annual Meeting of Stockholders for that
year.

        The 2005 Stock Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the "2005 Plan") was adopted in 2005 to authorize the issuance of up to 200,000
shares of common stock to non-employee members of the Company's Board of Directors. Awards may be made in common stock, in options to
purchase common
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stock, or in shares of common stock subject to certain restrictions ("Restricted Stock"), or any combination thereof. The terms and conditions of awards
granted are established by the Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors, but become immediately vested upon a change in control
of the Company, as defined in the 2005 Plan. Options are to be granted at an option price not less than 100% of the fair market value of the stock on the
date of grant. The 2005 Plan provides for an initial grant of Restricted Stock ("Initial Grant"). At the end of a specified performance period, the number
of shares in the Initial Grant will be increased or decreased, based on the percentage increase or decrease in the fair market value of the Company's
common stock during the performance period.

Stock Options

        Stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 is summarized as follows:

Shares Under Option  
Number of

Shares  

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
Per

Share  

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual
Term (in Years)  

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value  

Outstanding at December 31, 2005   1,078,833 $ 33.93       
Granted   10,850  50.96       
Exercised   (204,447)  29.07       
Terminated   (60,547)  42.71       
             

Outstanding at December 31, 2006   824,689  34.71       
Granted   7,900  57.26       
Exercised   (282,517)  31.69       
Terminated   (8,316)  48.67       
             

Outstanding at December 31, 2007   541,756  36.41       
Granted   576,000  36.05       
Exercised   (41,500)  23.82       
Terminated   (142,317)  38.86       
             

Outstanding at December 31, 2008   933,939 $ 36.37  7.17 $ — 
          

Vested and Expected to Vest at December 31, 2008   865,447 $ 36.43  7.00 $ — 
          

Exercisable at December 31, 2008   425,216 $ 37.36  4.64 $ — 
          

        The per share weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during the years 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $18.70, $14.21 and $13.81,
respectively.

        The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $1.8 million, $7.8 million and
$4.5 million, respectively.

        Cash received from options exercised under all stock-based payment arrangements for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was
$1.0 million, $8.9 million and $5.9 million, respectively. The actual tax benefit realized for the tax deduction from option exercises under the stock-
based payment arrangements totaled $1.9 million, $3.0 million and $1.7 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006.
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        The following table summarizes information regarding outstanding and exercisable options at December 31, 2008:

Range of Exercise Prices  

Number of
Shares

Outstanding
as of

12/31/2008  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life  

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price Per

Share  

Number of
Shares

Exercisable
as of

12/31/2008  

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price Per

Share  

$11.65-$22.30   89,666  3.64 $ 17.39  67,166 $ 19.21 
$23.05-$23.05   125,000  9.56 $ 23.05  — $ — 
$24.00-$35.79   101,998  4.14 $ 31.53  101,998 $ 31.53 
$36.10-$38.88   71,465  5.18 $ 36.13  71,465 $ 36.13 
$40.00-$40.00   310,000  9.16 $ 40.00  — $ — 
$40.98-$47.90   55,998  7.56 $ 45.65  25,998 $ 43.61 
$48.09-$48.09   150,346  5.77 $ 48.09  150,346 $ 48.09 
$50.67-$51.20   22,566  8.49 $ 50.87  5,936 $ 50.90 
$55.02-$55.02   4,400  8.15 $ 55.02  1,470 $ 55.02 
$62.00-$62.00   2,500  8.81 $ 62.00  837 $ 62.00 
               

$11.65-$62.00   933,939  7.17 $ 36.37  425,216 $ 37.36 
               

        The following table summarizes the Company's nonvested options as of December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 and changes during the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007:

Nonvested Options  
Number of

Shares  

Weighted
Average

Grant-Date
Fair

Value Per
Share  

Nonvested at December 31, 2006   267,195 $ 44.48 
Granted   7,800  57.26 
Vested   (167,004)  42.68 
Forfeited   (7,816)  48.67 
       

Nonvested at December 31, 2007   100,175  48.30 
Granted   576,000  36.05 
Vested   (92,153)  47.73 
Forfeited   (75,299)  41.43 
       

Nonvested at December 31, 2008   508,723 $ 35.55 
      

Fair Value Disclosure

        The per share fair values of the stock options granted have been estimated as of the date of grant or assumption using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model. The Black-Scholes model considers, among other factors, the expected life of the option and the expected volatility of the Company's
stock price. The Black-Scholes model meets the requirement of SFAS 123(R) but the fair values generated by
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18. Stock-Based Incentive Plans (Continued)

the model may not be indicative of the actual fair values of the Company's stock-based awards. The following table summarizes the assumptions used to
value options granted in the respective periods:

  2008  2007  2006  

Risk free interest rate   2.83%  4.39%  4.67%
Weighted average historical volatility   77.9%  24.9%  28.2%
Dividend yield   3.09%  1.75%  1.96%
Expected years until exercise   5 Years  5 Years  5 Years 
Forfeitures   7.02%  6.72%  12.03%
Weighted average fair value of options granted $ 18.70 $ 14.21 $ 13.81 

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

        From time to time, the Company grants stock options and restricted stock to officers, directors and employees of the Company under the 2001 Plan
and the 2005 Plan. The stock options generally vest over a three- year period and have a maturity of ten years from the issuance date. Option exercise
prices equal the closing price on the New York Stock Exchange of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. Restricted stock provides for the
issuance of a share of the Company's common stock at no cost to the holder and generally vests over terms determined by the Compensation Committee
of the Company's Board of Directors. The restricted stock generally vests only if the employee is actively employed by the Company on the vesting
date, and unvested restricted shares are forfeited upon termination, retirement before age 65, death or disability, unless the Compensation Committee of
the Company's Board of Directors determines otherwise. When vested options and restricted stock are issued, the Company generally issues new shares
from its authorized but unissued share pool or utilizes treasury stock

        The following table summarizes the Company's stock-based compensation expense included as a component of general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated financial statements:

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008  2007  2006  
  (In thousands)  

Total stock-based compensation:           
 Pre-tax compensation expense  $ 12,089 $ 6,958 $ 3,911 

 Tax benefit   (4,739)  (2,726)  (1,519)
        

Total stock-based compensation expense, net
of tax

 $ 7,350 $ 4,232 $ 2,392 

        

        As of December 31, 2008, $15.3 million and $6.8 million (including forfeitures) of total unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock
and stock options, respectively, is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 1.81 years for restricted stock and
2.28 years for stock options.
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Restricted Stock

        Restricted stock activity for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 is set forth below:

  
Number of

Shares  

Weighted Average
Grant-Date Per Share

Fair Value  

Nonvested at December 31, 2006   168,100 $ 50.31 
Granted   277,190  54.72 
Released   —  — 
Forfeited   (10,000)  52.96 
      

Nonvested at December 31, 2007   435,290  53.04 
Granted   399,785  38.75 
Released   (72,520)  55.89 
Forfeited   (91,075)  46.19 
      

Nonvested at December 31, 2008   671,480 $ 45.07 
      

19. Employee Benefit Plans

401(K) Savings and Investment Plan

        In 2001, the Company adopted a defined contribution plan authorized under Section 401(K) of the Internal Revenue Code. The plan covers
Company employees who meet the minimum credited service requirements of the 401(K) plan. Employees whose terms of service are covered by a
collective bargaining agreement are not eligible. Employees may contribute the maximum allowable for the current year of their pre-tax covered
compensation as determined by the limitations of the tax code. DineEquity, Inc. common stock is not an investment option for employees in the 401(K)
plan. Substantially all of the administrative cost of the 401(K) plan is borne by the Company. Beginning in 2004, the Company matches 100% of the
employees' contributions up to 3% of eligible compensation. The Company's contribution was $0.6 million, $0.7 million and $0.6 million for the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

        Beginning with the 2005 plan year, the Company has funded, to eligible participants in the 401(K) plan, a profit sharing cash contribution equal to
3% of eligible compensation. For the 2008 plan year, the contribution is estimated to be $0.9 million and will be paid in early 2009. The Company's
contribution was $1.0 million and $0.9 million for the plan years 2007 and 2006, respectively.

        In 1992, Predecessor Applebee's established a defined contribution plan authorized under Section 401(K) of the Internal Revenue Code which has
been assumed by the Company in connection with the acquisition. The Company will make matching cash contributions of 50% of each eligible
employee's contributions not to exceed 4.0% of their annual compensation. Contributions under this plan will vest 100% immediately. The Company
made no cash contributions in the period subsequent to the acquisition date.
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Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan

        In 2002, Predecessor Applebee's entered into a rabbi trust agreement to protect the assets of the nonqualified deferred compensation plan for
certain employees. Each participant's account was comprised of their contribution, Predecessor Applebee's matching contribution and each participant's
share of earnings or losses in the plan. In connection with the Applebee's acquisition, this nonqualified deferred compensation plan was terminated. The
balance in the rabbi trust was approximately $21.2 million and was recorded as deferred compensation as of December 31, 2007. This amount was
distributed to the participants in January 2008.

20. Income Taxes

        The (benefit) provision for income taxes is as follows:

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008  2007  2006  
  (In thousands)  

Provision for income taxes:           
Current           
 Federal  $ 25,476 $ 14,987 $27,990 

 State and foreign   4,709  6,757  4,500 
        

  30,185  21,744  32,490 
        

Deferred           
 Federal   (54,134)  (19,240)  (4,005)

 State   (9,749)  (4,732)  (188)
        

  (63,883)  (23,972)  (4,193)
        

(Benefit) provision for income taxes  $(33,698) $ (2,228) $28,297 
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        The (benefit) provision for income taxes differs from the expected federal income tax rates as follows:

  2008  2007  2006  

Statutory federal income tax rate   (35.0)%  (35.0)%  35.0%
State and other taxes, net of federal tax benefit   (1.4)  1.5  3.8 
Change in unrecognized tax benefits   1.0  (54.5)  — 
Change in valuation allowance   —  26.0  — 
State adjustments including audits and settlements   (0.2)  (27.7)  — 
Refund claims for research and development credits and compensation deductions   —  (17.9)  — 
Write-off state income tax receivables   0.1  7.4  — 
Compensation related tax credits, net of deduction offsets   (3.4)  (27.1)  — 
Changes in tax rates and state tax laws   (0.3)  47.5  — 
Goodwill impairment   21.1  —  — 
Other   0.2  (1.7)  — 
        

Effective tax rate   (17.9)%  (81.5)%  38.8%
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        Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) consist of the following components:

  2008  2007  
  (In thousands)  

Differences in capitalization and depreciation and amortization of reacquired franchises and equipment  $ 4,871 $ 5,153 
Differences in acquisition financing costs   26,889  36,239 
Employee compensation   23,122  23,683 
Other comprehensive income primarily interest rate swap loss   18,811  23,944 
Differences in capitalization, amortization and depreciation(1)   —  57,045 
Deferred gain on sale of assets   1,447  — 
Book/tax difference in revenue recognition   11,568  3,883 
Michigan business tax   9,399  1,896 
Other   28,396  17,594 
      

Deferred tax assets   124,503  169,437 
Valuation allowance   (7,010)  (2,613)
      

Total deferred tax assets after valuation allowance   117,493  166,824 
      

Differences between financial and tax accounting in the recognition of franchise and equipment sales   (69,296)  (76,994)
Differences in capitalization and depreciation(1)   (382,648)  (546,652)
Differences in acquisition financing costs   (16,256)  — 
Differences between book and tax basis of property and equipment   (8,933)  (7,769)
Other   (8,304)  (18,412)
      

Deferred tax liabilities   (485,437)  (649,827)
      

Net deferred tax (liabilities)  $(367,944) $(483,003)
      

Net deferred tax asset (liability)—current  $ 29,586 $ 22,406 
Valuation allowance—current   (2,082)  (544)
      

Net deferred tax asset (liability)—current   27,504  21,862 
      

Net deferred tax asset (liability)—non current   (390,520)  (502,796)
Valuation allowance—non current   (4,928)  (2,069)
      

Net deferred tax asset (liability)—non current   (395,448)  (504,865)
      

Net deferred tax (liabilities)  $(367,944) $(483,003)
      

(1) Primarily related to the Applebee's acquisition.

        The Company or one of its subsidiaries files Federal income tax returns and income tax returns in various state and foreign jurisdictions. With few
exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to federal, state or non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2004 for federal
returns and 2000 for other jurisdictions.

        The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, the Company recognized
approximately a $0.7 million increase in the
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liability for unrecognized tax benefits, excluding related income tax benefits, which was accounted for as a reduction of retained earnings at January 1,
2007. At December 31, 2008, the Company had a liability for unrecognized tax benefit including potential interest and penalties, net of related tax
benefit, totaling $23.5 million, of which approximately $1.7 million is expected to be paid within one year. For the remaining liability, due to the
uncertainties related to these tax matters, the Company is unable to make a reasonably reliable estimate when cash settlement with a taxing authority will
occur.

        The total unrecognized tax benefit as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $18.6 million and $13.8 million, respectively, excluding interest,
penalties and related income tax benefits. The increase of $4.8 million is primarily related to adjustments to Applebee's reserves as a result of ongoing
state audits. The entire $18.6 million will be included in the effective tax rate if recognized. The Company estimates the unrecognized tax benefits may
decrease in 2009 by an amount up to $2.3 million related to the settlement with taxing authorities and the lapse of the statute of limitations. A
reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

  
(in

thousands)  

Unrecognized tax benefit as of December 31, 2006  $ 4,408 
Applebee's beginning balance   10,823 
Change as a result of prior year tax positions   495 
Change as a result of current year tax positions   255 
Decreases relating to settlements with taxing authorities   (361)
Decreases as a result of a lapse of the statute of limitations   (1,828)
    

Unrecognized tax benefit as of December 31, 2007   13,792 
Change as a result of prior year tax positions   4,327 
Change as a result of current year tax positions   888 
Decreases relating to settlements with taxing authorities   (361)
Decreases as a result of a lapse of the statute of limitations   (72)
    

Unrecognized tax benefit as of December 31, 2008  $ 18,574 
    

        As of December 31, 2008, the accrued interest and penalties were $13.7 million and $2.9 million, respectively, excluding any related income tax
benefits. As of December 31, 2007, the accrued interest and penalties were $8.0 million and $2.6 million, respectively, excluding any related income tax
benefits. The increase of $5.7 million and $0.3 million of accrued interest and penalties, respectfully, is primarily related to additional interest and
penalties accrued for Applebee's state tax reserves as a result of ongoing state audits. The Company recognizes interest accrued related to unrecognized
tax benefits and penalties as a component of income tax expense which is recognized in the statement of operations.

        The Company has various state net operating loss carryovers representing $1.5 million of state taxes. The net operating loss carryovers will expire,
if unused, during the period from 2009 through 2027.

        The Company has recorded a deferred tax asset related to a change in the enacted tax law for the state of Michigan. The Company cannot assert on
a more than likely basis that the asset will be realized. Therefore, a valuation allowance of $7.0 million has been recorded to offset the entire asset. Of
the $7.0 million, $0.7 million was recorded in the year ended December 31, 2007 and $6.3 million was recorded as part of the purchase price allocation
of Applebee's.
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21. Net (Loss) Income Per Share

        The computation of the Company's basic and diluted net (loss) income per share is as follows:

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008  2007  2006  
  (In thousands, except per share data)  

Numerator for basic and dilutive income (loss) per common share:           
Net (loss) income  $(154,459) $ (480) $44,553 
 Less: Series A preferred stock dividends   (19,000)  (1,561)  — 
 Less: Accretion of Series B preferred stock   (2,151)  (181)  — 
 Less: Share of net loss allocated to unvested participating restricted stock   6,417  —  — 
        

(Loss) income available to common stockholders  $(169,193) $ (2,222) $44,553 
        

Denominator:           
Weighted average outstanding shares of common stock   16,764  17,232  18,085 
Dilutive effect of:           
 Common stock equivalents   —  —  213 
        

Common stock and common stock equivalents   16,764  17,232  18,298 
        

Net (loss) income per common share:           
 Basic  $ (10.09) $ (0.13) $ 2.46 
        

 Diluted  $ (10.09) $ (0.13) $ 2.43 
        

        For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, diluted loss per common share is computed using the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period, as the 756,000 and 627,000 shares, respectively, from common stock equivalents would have been antidilutive.
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22. Segment Reporting

        Prior period segment information has been restated to conform to the current year presentation. Information on segments and a reconciliation to
income before income taxes are as follows:

  2008  2007  2006  
  (in thousands)  
  Applebee's  IHOP  Total  Applebee's(1)  IHOP  Total    
Revenues                       
Franchise operations  $ 148,391 $ 204,940 $ 353,331 $ 14,173 $ 191,584 $ 205,757 $179,331 
Company restaurants   1,088,101  15,127  1,103,228  108,784  17,121  125,905  13,585 
Rental operations   58  131,289  131,347  —  132,422  132,422  132,101 
Financing operations   —  25,722  25,722  —  20,475  20,475  24,543 
                

 Total  $1,236,550 $ 377,078 $1,613,628 $ 122,957 $ 361,602 $ 484,559 $349,560 
                

Intercompany Real Estate Charges                       
Company restaurants  $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 1 4 1 $ 1 4 1 $ 388 
Rental operations   —  —  —  —  3,424  3,424  20,535 
Corporate   —  —  —  —  (3,565)  (3,565)  (20,923)
                

 Total  $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — 
                

Income (loss) before income taxes                       
Franchise operations  $ 144,269 $ 112,819 $ 257,088 $ 14,009 $ 103,694 $ 117,703 $ 96,252 
Company restaurants   127,082  (2,051)  125,031  10,947  (2,489)  8,458  (2,016)
Rental operations   30  33,262  33,292  —  34,020  34,020  34,197 
Financing operations   —  18,408  18,408  —  19,260  19,260  20,303 
Corporate   (503,401)  (118,575)  (621,976)  (27,949)  (154,200)  (182,149)  (75,886)
                

Income (loss) before income taxes  $ (232,020) $ 43,863 $ (188,157) $ (2,993) $ 285 $ (2,708) $ 72,850 
                

Income tax (benefit) expense  $ (51,492) $ 17,794 $ (33,698) $ (1,738) $ (490) $ (2,228) $ 28,297 
                

Interest Expense                       
Company restaurants  $ 507 $ 4 1 2 $ 9 1 9 $ 5 1 $ 496 $ 547 $ 5 1 4 
Rental operations   —  20,258  20,258  —  20,815  20,815  21,361 
Financing operations   —  1 6  1 6  —  —  —  68 
Corporate   168,325  34,816  203,141  14,635  14,019  28,654  7,902 
                

 Total  $ 168,832 $ 55,502 $ 224,334 $ 14,686 $ 35,330 $ 50,016 $ 29,845 
                

Depreciation and amortization                       
Franchise operations  $ 10,027 $ — $ 10,027 $ 981 $ — $ 981 $ — 
Company restaurants   37,527  7 1 6  38,243  4,856  882  5,738  379 
Rental operations   28  11,872  11,900  —  12,029  12,029  6,268 
Financing operations   —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Corporate   6,466  6,438  12,904  775  6,531  7,307  13,403 
                

 Total  $ 54,048 $ 19,026 $ 73,074 $ 6,612 $ 19,442 $ 26,055 $ 20,050 
                

Impairment and closure charges  $ 238,958 $ 1,672 $ 240,630 $ 1 9 $ 4,307 $ 4,381 $ 43 
                

Capital Expenditures                       
Franchise operations  $ — $ 163 $ 163 $ — $ 430 $ 430 $ 233 
Company restaurants   12,708  1,622  14,330  5,872  439  6,311  7,076 
Corporate   12,668  4,604  17,272  3,726  1,961  5,687  2,117 
                

 Total  $ 25,376 $ 6,389 $ 31,765 $ 9,598 $ 2,830 $ 12,428 $ 9,426 
                

Goodwill  $ 686,703 $ 10,767 $ 697,470 $ 719,961 $ 10,767 $ 730,728 $ 10,767 
                

Total Assets                       
Franchise operations  $1,480,733 $ 38,673 $1,519,406 $1,365,119 $ 50,678 $1,415,797 $ 32,988 
Company restaurants   724,533  10,284  734,817  1,229,101  5,610  1,234,711  8,701 
Rental operations   5,701  453,285  458,986  —  465,435  465,435  255,545 
Financing operations   —  198,909  198,909  —  192,260  192,260  198,651 
Corporate   374,129  74,970  449,099  459,677  63,282  522,959  270,365 
                

 Total  $2,585,096 $ 776,121 $3,361,217 $3,053,897 $ 777,265 $3,831,162 $766,250 
                

(1) From acquisition date.
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23. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

  Revenues  
Operating

Margin  
Net Income

(Loss)  

Net
Income
(Loss)

Per Share
—

Basic(a)  

Net
Income
(Loss)

Per Share
—

Diluted(a)  
  (In thousands, except per share amounts)  

2008                 
1st Quarter  $ 442,789 $ 114,818 $ 13,854 $ 0.50 $ 0.50 
2nd Quarter   424,133  114,917  (19,385)  (1.42)  (1.42)
3rd Quarter   391,181  105,756  (11,804)  (0.98)  (0.98)
4th Quarter(b)   355,525  98,326  (137,124)  (8.17)  (8.17)
2007                 
1st Quarter  $ 90,124 $ 37,077 $ 11,313 $ 0.63 $ 0.63 
2nd Quarter   89,487  34,872  14,130  0.82  0.82 
3rd Quarter   91,355  (378)  (11,616)  (0.69)  (0.69)
4th Quarter(c)   213,593  63,380  (14,307)  (0.94)  (0.94)

(a) The quarterly amounts may not add to the full year amount. 

(b) The 4th quarter net loss and net loss per share were significantly impacted by impairment charges taken against goodwill and intangible assets. 

(c) The 4th quarter net loss and net loss per share were significantly impacted by the loss on derivative financial instruments and increased interest
expense resulted from the securitization notes.

24. Subsequent Event (Unaudited)

        On February 24, 2009 the Company completed the franchising of five restaurants in the New Mexico market and expects to recognize a gain of
approximately $5.5 million on the transaction.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries:

        We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2008
and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2008. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

        We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

        In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

        As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for uncertainties in income tax
positions in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Interpretation 48 on January 1, 2007.

        We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), DineEquity, Inc. and
Subsidiaries' internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control— Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 25, 2009 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Los Angeles, California
February 25, 2009
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Item 9.    Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 

        None.

Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures. 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

        We maintain "disclosure controls and procedures," as such terms are defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange
Act, amended, that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that disclosure controls and
procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure
controls and procedures are met. Additionally, in designing disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was required to apply its
judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures. The design of any disclosure controls and
procedures also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will
succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.

        Based on their assessment as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our Chief Executive Officer and Principal
Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

        Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems
determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

        Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008 based on the framework in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on that
evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2008.

        The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report that appears herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries

        We have audited DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries' internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria).
DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries' management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

        We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

        A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company's assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

        Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

        In our opinion, DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2008 based on the COSO criteria.

        We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets of DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008 of DineEquity, Inc. and
Subsidiaries, and our report dated February 25, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Los Angeles, California
February 25, 2009
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

        There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B.    Other Information. 

        None.

132



PART III 

Item 10.    Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. 

        The information required by this Item regarding our directors and executive officers is incorporated by reference to the following sections to be set
forth in our Proxy Statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders ("2009 Proxy Statement") to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the
end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.

(a) Identification of Directors.    The information under the section entitled "Information Concerning Nominees and Members of the Board
of Directors." 

(b) Identification of Executive Officers and Certain Employees.     The information under the section entitled "Executive Officers of the
Company." 

(c) Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act.    The information under the section entitled "Compliance with Section 16(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act." 

(d) Code of Ethics.    The information under the section entitled "Code of Ethics for Chief Executive and Senior Financial Officers." 

(e) Audit Committee.    The information under the sections entitled "Board Committees and their Functions" and "Report of the Audit
Committee."

Item 11.    Executive Compensation. 

        The information required by this Item regarding executive compensation is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled "Executive
Compensation—Summary of Compensation," "Executive Compensation—Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights," "Executive Officers of the
Company—Employment Agreements," "Compensation Committee Interlocks—Insider Participation" and "Compensation Committee Report" to be set
forth in our 2009 Proxy Statement.

Item 12.    Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters. 

        The information required by this Item regarding security ownership and management is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled "Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" and "Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans" to be set forth
in our 2009 Proxy Statement.

Item 13.    Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence. 

        The information required by this Item regarding certain relationships and related transactions is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled
"Certain Relationships and Related Transactions," and "Director Independence" to be set forth in our 2009 Proxy Statement.

Item 14.    Principal Accounting Fees and Services. 

        The information required by this Item regarding principal accountant fees and services is incorporated by reference to the section entitled
"Independent Auditor Fees" to be set forth in our 2009 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV 

Item 15.    Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules. 

(a)(1)    Consolidated Financial Statements

        The following documents are contained in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

        Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007.

        Consolidated Statements of Operations for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008.

        Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008.

        Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008.

        Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

        Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

(a)(2)    Financial Statement Schedules

        All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial statements or notes
thereto.

(a)(3)    Exhibits

        Exhibits that are not filed herewith have been previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are incorporated herein by
reference.

 2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 15, 2007, by and among IHOP Corp., CHLH Corp. and Applebee's International, Inc.
(Exhibit 2.1 to Registrant's Form 8-K filed July 17, 2007 is incorporated by reference herein).

 3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of DineEquity, Inc. (Exhibit 3.1 to Registrant's Form 8-K dated June 2, 2008 is incorporated herein by
reference).

 3.2 Amended Bylaws of DineEquity, Inc. (Exhibit 3.2 to Registrant's Form 8-K dated June 2, 2008 is incorporated herein by reference).

 3.3 Amendment to the Bylaws of IHOP Corp. dated November 14, 2000 (Exhibit 3.3 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
March 31, 2001 is incorporated herein by reference).

 3.4 Certificate of Designations with respect to the Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock (Exhibit 3.1 to Registrant's Form 8-K filed December 5, 2007
is incorporated by reference herein).

 3.5 Certificate of Designations with respect to the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (Exhibit 3.2 to Registrant's Form 8-K filed December 5,
2007 is incorporated by reference herein).

 4.1 Senior Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 1, 1996, among IHOP, Inc., IHOP Corp. and Jackson National Life Insurance
Company and other purchasers (Exhibit 4.2 to Registrant's 2002 Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference).
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 4.2 First Amendment to Senior Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2002, among IHOP Inc., IHOP Corp., and Jackson National
Life Insurance Company and other purchasers (Exhibit 4.3 to Registrant's 2002 Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference).

 4.3 Revolving line of credit note among International House of Pancakes, Inc., a Delaware Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. dated as of
June 28, 2001 (Exhibit 4.4 to Registrant's 2001 Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference).

 4.4 First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 31, 2002, among International House of Pancakes, Inc., a Delaware Corporation and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (Exhibit 4.7 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2002 is incorporated
herein by reference).

 4.5 Loan Agreement dated as of April 27, 2001, among IHOP Properties, Inc., International House of Pancakes, Inc., IHOP Corp., IHOP Realty
Corp., and Bank of America, N.A. (Exhibit 4.5 to Registrant's 2001 Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference).

 4.6 First Addendum to loan agreement, dated as of March 13, 2002, among IHOP Properties, Inc., International House of Pancakes, Inc., IHOP
Corp., IHOP Realty Corp., and Bank of America, N.A. (Exhibit 4.6 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2003
is incorporated herein by reference).

 4.7 Second Addendum to loan agreement, dated as of October 28, 2002, among IHOP Properties, Inc., International House of Pancakes, Inc.,
IHOP Corp., IHOP Realty Corp., and Bank of America, N.A. (Exhibit 4.8 to Registrant's 2002 Form 10-K is incorporated herein by
reference).

 4.8 Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2002, among IHOP Corp., International House of Pancakes, Inc. and AIG Annuity
Insurance Company and other purchasers (Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2002 is
incorporated herein by reference).

 4.9 Amended and restated Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2002, among Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., MONY Life Insurance
Company and other noteholders (Exhibit 4.10 to Registrant's 2002 Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference).

 4.10 Third Addendum to loan agreement, dated as of March 8, 2004, among IHOP Properties, Inc., International House of Pancakes, Inc., IHOP
Corp., IHOP Realty Corp., and Bank of America, N.A. (Exhibit 4.11 to Registrant's 2003 Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference).

 4.11 Second Amendment to Senior Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 24, 2005, among IHOP Corp., and Jackson National Life
Insurance Company and other purchasers (Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2005 is incorporated
herein by reference).

 4.12 First Amendment and Waiver to Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 24, 2005, among IHOP Corp., International House of
Pancakes, Inc. and AIG Annuity Insurance Company and other purchasers (Exhibit 4.2 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended March 31, 2005 is incorporated herein by reference).

 4.13 Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 31, 2005, by and between International House of Pancakes, Inc. and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association (Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Form 8-K for May 31, 2005, is incorporated herein by reference).
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 4.14 Form of revolving line of credit note, dated as of May 31, 2005, by and between International House of Pancakes, Inc. in favor of Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association (Exhibit 10.3 to Registrant's Form 8-K for May 31, 2005, is incorporated herein by reference).

 4.15 Fourth Addendum to loan agreement, dated as of February 10, 2006, among IHOP Properties, Inc., International House of Pancakes, Inc.,
IHOP Corp., IHOP Realty Corp., and Bank of America, N.A. (Exhibit 4.16 to Registrant's 2005 Form 10-K is incorporated herein by
reference).

 4.16 Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2006, by and between International House of Pancakes, Inc. and Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association (Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Form 8-K for September 29, 2006, is incorporated herein by reference).

 4.17 Base Indenture, dated as of March 16, 2007, by and among IHOP Franchising, LLC, IHOP IP, LLC and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association (Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2007 is incorporated by reference herein).

 4.18 Series Supplement for the Series 2007-1 Fixed Rate Term Notes, dated as of March 16, 2007, by and among IHOP Franchising, LLC, IHOP
IP, LLC, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association and Financial Guaranty Insurance Company (Exhibit 4.6 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2007 is incorporated by reference herein).

 4.19 Series Supplement for the Series 2007-2 Variable Funding Notes, dated as of March 16, 2007, by and among IHOP Franchising, LLC, IHOP
IP, LLC, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association and Financial Guaranty Insurance Company (Exhibit 4.7 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2007 is incorporated by reference herein).

 4.20 Series Supplement for the Series 2007-3 Fixed Rate Term Notes, dated as of November 29, 2007, by and among IHOP Franchising, LLC,
IHOP IP, LLC and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (Exhibit 4.20 to Registrant's 2008 Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2007 is incorporated by reference).

 4.21 Base Indenture, dated as of November 29, 2007, by and among Applebee's Enterprises LLC, Applebee's IP LLC, certain other entities listed
therein, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Indenture Trustee (Exhibit 4.21 to Registrant's 2008 Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2007 is incorporated by reference).

 4.22 Series 2007-1 Supplement to the Base Indenture, dated as of November 29, 2007, by and among Applebee's Enterprises LLC, Applebee's
IP LLC, certain other entities listed therein, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (Exhibit 4.22 to Registrant's 2008 Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2007 is incorporated by reference).

 4.23 Supplement No. 4 to the Base Indenture, dated as of June 9, 2008, by and among IHOP Franchising, LLC, IHOP IP, LLC, the Financial
Guaranty Insurance Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant's Form 8-K, dated June 13, 2008 is
incorporated herein by reference)

 *4.24 Supplement No. 1 to the Base Indenture to the Series 2007-1 Supplement, dated January 17, 2008, by and among Applebee's Enterprises LLC,
Applebee's IP LLC, Applebee's Restaurants North LLC, Applebee's Restaurants Mid-Atlantic LLC, Applebee's Restaurants West LLC,
Applebee's Restaurants Texas LLC, Applebee's Restaurants Kansas LLC, Applebee's Restaurants Vermont Inc., LLC, Applebee's
Restaurants Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
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 4.25 Supplement No. 2 to the Base Indenture and Amendment No. 1 to the Series 2007-1 Supplement, dated June 19, 2008, by and among
Applebee's Enterprises LLC, Applebee's IP LLC, Applebee's Restaurants North LLC, Applebee's Restaurants Mid-Atlantic LLC, Applebee's
Restaurants West LLC, Applebee's Restaurants Texas LLC, Applebee's Restaurants Kansas LLC, Applebee's Restaurants Vermont Inc., LLC,
Applebee's Restaurants Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant's Form 8-K, dated July 11, 2008 is
incorporated herein by reference)

 †10.1 Employment Agreement between IHOP Corp. and Mark D. Weisberger (Exhibit 10.3 to Registrant's 2002 Form 10-K is incorporated herein
by reference).

 *†10.2 Employment Agreement between DineEquity, Inc. and Richard C. Celio dated November 1, 2008.

 *†10.3 Employment Agreement between DineEquity, Inc. and Michael Archer dated November 1, 2008.

 *†10.4 Employment Agreement between DineEquity, Inc. and Julia A. Stewart dated November 1, 2008.

 †10.5 Area Franchise Agreement, effective as of May 5, 1988, by and between IHOP, Inc. and FMS Management Systems, Inc. (Exhibit 10.8 to
Registrant's 2002 Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference).

 †10.6 IHOP Corp. 1994 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors as Amended and Restated February 23, 1999 (Annex "A" to Registrant's
Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on Tuesday, May 11, 1999 is incorporated herein by reference).

 †10.7 IHOP Corp. 2001 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2001 Plan") (Appendix "B" to Registrant's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders held on May 15, 2001 is incorporated herein by reference).

 †10.8 International House of Pancakes 401(k) Plan (Exhibit 10.15 to Registrant's 2001 Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference).

 †10.9 IHOP Corp. Executive Incentive Plan effective January 1, 2005 (Exhibit 10.12 to Registrant's 2004 Form 10-K in incorporated herein by
reference).

 †10.10 IHOP Corp. 2001 Stock Incentive Plan Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement (Exhibit 10.15 to Registrant's 2003 Form 10-K is
incorporated herein by reference).

 †10.11 IHOP Corp. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the "2005 Plan") (Appendix "A" to Registrant's Proxy Statement for
the Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on May 24, 2005 is incorporated herein by reference).

 †10.12 IHOP Corp. 2001 Stock Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated March 1, 2004 (Appendix "B" to Registrant's Proxy Statement for the
Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on Tuesday, May 24, 2005 is incorporated herein by reference).

 †10.13 IHOP Corp 2001 Stock Incentive Plan as amended and restated (Appendix "A" to Registrant's Proxy Statement, filed on April 17, 2008 is
incorporated herein by reference).

 †10.14 IHOP Corp 2001 Senior Executive Incentive Plan as amended and restated (Appendix "B" to Registrant's Proxy Statement, filed on April 17,
2008 is incorporated herein by reference).

 †10.15 Separation Agreement, dated September 5, 2008 between Thomas G. Conforti and DineEquity, Inc. (Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's form 8-K,
dated September 9, 2008 is incorporated herein by reference).
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 *†10.16 DineEquity, Inc. Executive Severance and Change in Control Policy, dated October 13, 2008.

 10.17 Servicing Agreement, dated as of March 16, 2007, by and among IHOP Franchising, LLC, IHOP IP, LLC, IHOP Property Leasing, LLC,
IHOP Properties, LLC, IHOP Real Estate, LLC, International House of Pancakes, Inc., IHOP Corp. and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as Indenture Trustee (Exhibit 4.2 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2007 is incorporated by
reference herein).

 10.18 Amendment No. 1 to Servicing Agreement, dated as of November 28, 2007, by and among IHOP Franchising, LLC, IHOP IP, LLC, IHOP
Property Leasing, LLC, IHOP Properties, LLC, IHOP Real Estate,  LLC, International House of Pancakes, Inc., IHOP Corp. and Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association, as Indenture Trustee (Exhibit 10.17 to Registrant's 2008 Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2007 is incorporated by reference).

 10.19 Parent Asset Sale Agreement, dated as of March 16, 2007, by IHOP Holdings, LLC, as Purchaser, and International House of
Pancakes, Inc. as Seller (Exhibit 4.3 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2007 is incorporated by reference
herein).

 10.20 Guaranty, dated as of March 16, 2007, by IHOP Corp., in favor of IHOP Holdings, LLC (Exhibit 4.4 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2007 is incorporated by reference herein).

 10.21 Amendment No. 1 to Guaranty, dated as of November 28, 2007, by IHOP Corp., in favor of IHOP Holdings, LLC (Exhibit 10.20 to
Registrant's 2008 Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 is incorporated by reference).

 10.22 Series 2007-1 Fixed Rate Term Notes Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 16, 2007, by and among IHOP Franchising, LLC, IHOP
IP, LLC, IHOP Corp, and Goldman and Sachs & Co (Exhibit 4.5 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2007
is incorporated by reference herein).

 10.23 Variable Funding Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 16, 2007, by and among IHOP Franchising, LLC, IHOP IP, LLC,
International House of Pancakes, Inc., Wells Fargo, National Association, as Indenture Trustee, certain conduit investors, as Conduit
Investors, certain financial institutions, as Committed Note Purchaser, certain Funding Agents and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association,
as Administrative Agent (Exhibit 4.8 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2007 is incorporated by reference
herein).

 10.24 Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 15, 2007, by and between IHOP Corp. and MSD SBI, L.P.
(Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Form 8-K filed on July 17, 2007 is incorporated by reference herein).

 10.25 First Amendment to Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 29, 2007, by and between IHOP Corp.
and MSD SBI, L.P. (Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Form 8-K filed December 5, 2007 is incorporated by reference herein).

 10.26 Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 15, 2007, by and among IHOP Corp. and the purchasers
identified on Schedule A thereto (Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Form 8-K filed July 17, 2007 is incorporated by reference herein).

 10.27 Commitment Letter, dated July 15, 2007, by and among IHOP Corp., CHLH Corp., Lehman Brothers Commercial Bank, Lehman
Brothers Inc. and Lehman Commercial Paper Inc. (Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30,
2007 is incorporated by reference herein).
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 10.28 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of November 29, 2007, by and among IHOP Corp. and the persons identified on Schedule A thereto
(Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Form 8-K filed December 5, 2007 is incorporated by reference herein).

 10.29 Series 2007-3 Fixed Rate Term Notes Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 29, 2007, by and among IHOP Franchising, LLC, IHOP
IP, LLC, International House of Pancakes, Inc., IHOP Corp. and Lehman Brothers Inc., as Initial Purchaser (Exhibit 10.28 to Registrant's
2008 Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 is incorporated by reference).

 10.30 Servicing Agreement, dated as of November 29, 2007, by and among Applebee's Enterprises LLC, Applebee's IP LLC, certain other entities
listed therein, Applebee's Franchising LLC, Applebee's Services, Inc., Applebee's International, Inc., Assured Guaranty Corp., and Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association, as Indenture Trustee (Exhibit 10.29 to Registrant's 2008 Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007
is incorporated by reference).

 10.31 IHOP Corp. Servicing Guaranty, dated as of November 29, 2007, by IHOP Corp., in favor of Applebee's Enterprises LLC, Applebee's
IP LLC, and certain other entities listed therein (Exhibit 10.30 to Registrant's 2008 Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 is
incorporated by reference).

 10.32 Guaranty and Collateral Agreement (Applebee's Franchising LLC), dated as of November 29, 2007, by and among Applebee's
Franchising LLC, Applebee's Enterprises LLC, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (Exhibit 10.31 to Registrant's 2008 Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2007 is incorporated by reference).

 10.33 Guaranty and Collateral Agreement (Applebee's Holdings LLC), dated as of November 29, 2007, by and among Applebee's Holdings LLC,
Applebee's Enterprises LLC, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (Exhibit 10.32 to Registrant's 2008 Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2007 is incorporated by reference).

 10.34 Class A-1 Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 29, 2007, by and among Applebee's Enterprises LLC, Applebee's IP LLC, certain
other entities listed therein, Applebee's Services, Inc., as Servicer, certain financial institutions, as Committed Note Purchasers, certain funding
agents, Lehman Commercial Paper Inc., as Swingline Lender, and Lehman Commercial Paper Inc., as Class A-1 Administrative Agent (Exhibit
10.33 to Registrant's 2008 Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 is incorporated by reference).

 10.35 Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 29, 2007, by and among Applebee's Enterprises LLC, Applebee's IP LLC, certain other entities
listed therein, Applebee's Holdings LLC, Applebee's Franchising LLC, IHOP Corp., Applebee's International, Inc., Applebee's Services, Inc.,
Applebee's Holdings II Corp., and Lehman Brothers Inc., as Initial Purchaser (Exhibit 10.34 to Registrant's 2008 Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2007 is incorporated by reference).

 14.0 IHOP Corp. Code of Ethics for Chief Executive and Senior Financial Officers (Exhibit 14.0 to Registrant's 2004 Form 10-K is incorporated
herein by reference).

 *21 Subsidiaries of DineEquity, Inc.

 *23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 *31.1 Certification of CEO pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

 *31.2 Certification of CFO pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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 *32.1 Certification of CEO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

 *32.2 Certification of CFO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Filed herewith. 

† A contract, compensatory plan or arrangement in which directors or executive officers are eligible to participate.
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SIGNATURES 

        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on this 26th day of February, 2009.

 DINEEQUITY, INC.

 By: /s/ JULIA A. STEWART

Julia A. Stewart
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant, and in the capacities indicated, on this 26th day of February 2009.

Name  Title

/s/ JULIA A. STEWART

Julia A. Stewart

 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ GREGGORY KALVIN

Greggory Kalvin

 Vice President, Corporate Controller (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ LARRY ALAN KAY

Larry Alan Kay  Director

  
Howard M. Berk  Director

/s/ H. FREDERICK CHRISTIE

H. Frederick Christie  Director

/s/ RICHARD J. DAHL

Richard J. Dahl  Director

/s/ FRANK EDELSTEIN

Frank Edelstein  Director

/s/ MICHAEL S. GORDON

Michael S. Gordon  Director

/s/ CAROLINE W. NAHAS

Caroline W. Nahas  Director

/s/ GILBERT T. RAY

Gilbert T. Ray  Director

/s/ PATRICK W. ROSE

Patrick W. Rose  Director
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Exhibit 4.24
 

SUPPLEMENT NO. 1 TO BASE INDENTURE
 
SUPPLEMENT NO. 1, dated as of January 17, 2008 (this “ Supplement”), to the Base Indenture, dated as of November 29, 2007 (as

supplemented by this Supplement, and as the same may be further supplemented, amended or otherwise modified and in effect from time to time, the “ Base
Indenture”), by and among APPLEBEE’S ENTERPRISES LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “ Master Issuer”), APPLEBEE’S IP LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (the “ IP Holder”), and the Restaurant Holders identified therein (together with the Master Issuer and the IP Holder, each, a
“Co-Issuer” and collectively, the “Co-Issuers”), and WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association, as the
indenture trustee (in such capacity, the “Indenture Trustee”).

 
R E C I T A L S

 
WHEREAS, the Co-Issuers and the Indenture Trustee have previously executed and delivered the Base Indenture for the issuance of

multiple Series of Notes pursuant to the related Series Supplements (such capitalized terms and the other capitalized terms used herein having the meanings
assigned thereto or incorporated by reference pursuant to Section 1.1 hereof);

 
WHEREAS, the Co-Issuers and the Indenture Trustee have previously executed and delivered the Series 2007-1 Supplement for the

issuance of the Series 2007-1 Notes;
 
WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to supplement the Indenture in the manner provided herein;
 
WHEREAS, Section 8.2(a) of the Indenture permits the Co-Issuers and the Indenture Trustee to enter into a supplement to the Indenture

subject to the written consent of each Series Controlling Party and the Noteholders;
 
WHEREAS, the Series Insurer identified on the signature pages hereof, in its capacity as the Series Controlling Party with respect to the

Series 2007-1 Notes, and the Holder of 100% of the Series 2007-1 Notes have delivered their written consent to this Supplement on the signature pages hereof;
and

 
WHEREAS, the Indenture Trustee has received an Opinion of Counsel pursuant to Section 8.3 of the Indenture stating that (i) the execution

and delivery of this Supplement is authorized and permitted under the Indenture and (ii) this Supplement is the legal, valid and binding obligation of each of
the Co-Issuers, enforceable against each of the Co-Issuers in accordance with its terms (subject to customary exceptions).

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, other good and valuable consideration, and the mutual terms contained herein, the

receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by the parties hereto, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
 



 
ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS
Section 1.1 Definitions. The capitalized terms used herein (including the preamble and the recitals hereto) and not otherwise defined herein

shall have the meanings assigned thereto or incorporated by reference pursuant to Section 1.1 of the Indenture.
 

ARTICLE II
AMENDMENTS

 
Section 2.1 Amendments to Appendix A (Definitions) of the Indenture.

 
(a)                        The following definition is added to Appendix A (Definitions) of the Indenture in the correct alphabetical order therefor:

 
“Applebee’s Acquisition” means the merger of Applebee’s International, Inc. into a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of IHOP Corp. on

November 29, 2007, pursuant to which Applebee’s International, Inc. became a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of IHOP Corp.”
 
(b)                       The definition of “EBITDA” set forth in Appendix A (Definitions) of the Indenture is hereby amended by deleting the

words shown below in strikethrough and adding the words shown below in bold double underscore:
 

“EBITDA” means, for any specified period, the amount (not less than zero) equal to:
 
(a) the sum of (i) the Consolidated Earnings Before Discontinued Operations and Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle of

IHOP Corp., Applebee’s International and their Affiliates, plus (ii) to the extent any of the following are adjusteddeducted in calculating the amount
specified in clause (i): (A) the Consolidated Net Interest Expense for such period, (B) the U.S. Federal, state, local and foreign income taxes for such
period, (C) non-cash losses from the sale or disposition of assets not in the ordinary course of business and other non-cash extraordinary or non-cash
nonrecurring items, (D) non-cash stock based compensation expense for such period, (E) depreciation and amortization, (F) impairment losses and
non-cash store closure expenses, (G) non-cash loss of any joint venture, and (H) non-cash adjustments and actuarial estimates related to
Neighborhood Insurance; and (I) non-recurring expenses incurred in connection with the Applebee’s Acquisition and the strategic alternatives to the
Applebee’s  Acquisition that were explored prior to the completion of the Applebee’s  Acquisition of the type and not in excess of the amounts set forth
in Schedule 8 to the Base Indenture including, without limitation, severance and retention payments and related payroll taxes, success fees and proxy
solicitation expenses (which, for the avoidance of doubt, will include the amortization of such non-recurring expenses  that are capitalized); provided,
that the aggregate amount of such
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non-recurring expenses that are added pursuant to subclause (I) may not exceed $66,000,000 and must be incurred no later than March 31, 2009;
minus

 
(b) to the extent added in calculating the Consolidated Earnings Before Discontinued Operations and Cumulative Effect of Change in

Accounting Principle, (A) gains from the sale or disposition of fixed assets not in the ordinary course of business and other extraordinary or
nonrecurring items, and (B) the non-cash income for any joint venture.

 
(c)                   The definition of “IHOP Corp. Consolidated Leverage Ratio” set forth in Appendix A (Definitions) of the Indenture is

hereby amended by deleting the words shown below in strikethrough and adding the words shown below in bold double underscore:
 

“IHOP Corp. Consolidated Leverage Ratio” means, as of any date of determination, the following ratio determined as of the immediately
preceding Accounting Date (or, if such date of determination is an Accounting Date, such Accounting Date):

 
(a)          the sum of (i) aggregate Debt outstanding in respect of IHOP Corp. and all of its Affiliates as of the end of the immediately

preceding fiscal calendar quarter Payment Date plus (ii) the product of (x) 96 and (y) the amounts expensed total rent expense paid during the
calendar month immediately preceding such Accounting Date  by IHOP Corp. and all of its Affiliates under leases that are accountingaccounted for as
operating leases in conformity with GAAP  for the last twelve months ending as  of the end of the last fiscal quarter; divided by

 
(b)         EBITDAR for the last twelve months ending as  of the end of the last fiscal quarter;

 
provided, that in calculating the ratio set forth above, any variable funding note Outstanding of IHOP Corp. and its Affiliates will be deemed to be
fully drawn.

 
Section 2.2 Amendment to Schedules to Base Indenture.
 
The schedule attached to this Supplement as Schedule 8 is hereby added to the Base Indenture as Schedule 8 thereto immediately following

Schedule 7.17 thereto.
 

ARTICLE III
MISCELLANEOUS

 
Section 3.1 Effectiveness of Supplement . This Supplement shall become effective upon the satisfaction of the following conditions:

 
(a)                             the execution and delivery of this Supplement by each of the Co-Issuers, the Indenture Trustee, the Series Insurer and the

Holder of the Series 2007-1 Notes as set forth on the signature pages hereof;
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(b)                       no Default, Event of Default, Rapid Amortization Event, Servicer Termination Event or Trigger Event (or event that with

the giving of notice or lapse of time or both would be a Default, an Event of Default, a Rapid Amortization Event, a Servicer Termination Event or a Trigger
Event) shall occur and be continuing immediately after giving effect to this Supplement; and

 
(c)                        all representations and warranties of the Co-Issuers set forth in Section 7.12 of the Indenture shall be true and correct in

all material respects immediately after giving effect to this Supplement.
 
Section 3.2 Effect of Supplement. The Indenture as modified by this Supplement and all rights and remedies of the parties thereunder are

and shall continue to be in full force and effect in accordance with the terms thereof, and the Indenture as modified by this Supplement is hereby ratified and
confirmed in all such respects by the parties hereto.

 
Section 3.3 Effect of Section Headings. The section headings in this Supplement are for convenience only and shall not affect the

construction of this Supplement.
 
Section 3.4 Separability. In case any provision of this Supplement shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and

enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
 
Section 3.5 Governing Law. THIS SUPPLEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW

YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO CHOICE OF LAW RULES (OTHER THAN SECTION 5-1401 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS
LAW).

 
Section 3.6                                       Counterparts. This Supplement may be executed in any number of counterparts (including by facsimile or other

electronic means of transmission), each of which so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute but one and
the same instrument.

 
[Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Supplement to the Indenture to be duly executed as of the date and year first

above written.
 

APPLEBEE’S ENTERPRISES LLC,
as Master Issuer

  
  

By: /s/ Rebecca Tilden
Name: Rebecca Tilden
Title: Vice President

  
  

APPLEBEE’S IP LLC,
as IP Holder

  
  

By: /s/ Rebecca Tilden
Name: Rebecca Tilden
Title: Vice President

  
APPLEBEE’S RESTAURANTS NORTH 

LLC,
as a Restaurant Holder

  
By: /s/ Rebecca Tilden

Name: Rebecca Tilden
Title: Vice President

  
APPLEBEE’S RESTAURANTS MID-

ATLANTIC LLC,
as a Restaurant Holder

  
  

By: /s/ Rebecca Tilden
Name: Rebecca Tilden
Title: Vice President

 



 
APPLEBEE’S RESTAURANTS WEST

LLC,
as a Restaurant Holder

  
By: /s/ Rebecca Tilden

Name: Rebecca Tilden
Title:

  
APPLEBEE’S RESTAURANTS TEXAS

LLC,
as a Restaurant Holder

  
  

By: /s/ Rebecca Tilden
Name: Rebecca Tilden
Title: Vice President

  
APPLEBEE’S RESTAURANTS KANSAS

LLC,
as a Restaurant Holder

  
  

By: /s/ Rebecca Tilden
Name: Rebecca Tilden
Title: Vice President

  
APPLEBEE’S RESTAURANTS

VERMONT INC.,
as a Restaurant Holder

  
  

By: /s/ Rebecca Tilden
Name: Rebecca Tilden
Title: President

   
APPLEBEE’S RESTAURANTS INC.,

as a Restaurant Holder
  
  

By: /s/ Rebecca Tilden
Name: Rebecca Tilden
Title: Vice President

 



 
WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, not in its individual capacity but solely as the Indenture Trustee 

  
  

By: /s/ Chad Schafer
Name: Chad Schafer
Title: Corporate Trust Officer

  
Consented to for purposes of Section 8.2(a)  of the Indenture and
Section 6.01 of the Insurance Agreement relating to the Series 2007-1
Notes:

 
 

  
ASSURED GUARANTY CORP.,
as Series lnsurer in respect of the Series 2007-1 Notes
  
  
By:

Name:
Title:

  
Consented to for purposes of Section 8.2(a) of the Indenture:
  
LEHMAN BROTHERS INC.,
as Holder of the Series 2007-1 Notes
  
By:

Name:
Title:

 



 
WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, not in its individual capacity but solely as the Indenture Trustee 

  
  

By:
Name:
Title:

  
Consented to for purposes of Section 8.2(a)  of the Indenture and
Section 6.01 of the Insurance Agreement relating to the Series 2007-1
Notes:

 
 

  
ASSURED GUARANTY CORP.,
as Series lnsurer in respect of the Series 2007-1 Notes
  
  
By: /s/ Daniel S. Bevill

Name: Daniel S. Bevill
Title: Managing Director

  
Consented to for purposes of Section 8.2(a) of the Indenture:
  
LEHMAN BROTHERS INC.,
as Holder of the Series 2007-1 Notes
  
By:

Name:
Title:

 



 
WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, not in its individual capacity but solely as the Indenture Trustee 

  
  

By:
Name:
Title:

  
Consented to for purposes of Section 8.2(a)  of the Indenture and
Section 6.01 of the Insurance Agreement relating to the Series 2007-1
Notes:

 
 

  
ASSURED GUARANTY CORP.,
as Series lnsurer in respect of the Series 2007-1 Notes
  
  
By:

Name:
Title:

  
Consented to for purposes of Section 8.2(a) of the Indenture:
  
LEHMAN BROTHERS INC.,
as Holder of the Series 2007-1 Notes
  
By: /s/ Cory Wishengrad

Name: Cory Wishengrad
Title: Senior Vice President

 



 
SCHEDULE 8

 
Projected non-recurring expenses to be added back in calculating “EBITDA” pursuant to

sub-clause (a)(ii)(I) of the definition of “EBITDA”
 

See Following Page
 



 
Schedule 8 to Base Indenture
IHOP Corp. and Applebee’s
Non-Recurring Costs of Acquisition and S rategic Alternatives (1) (2)
(Dollars in thousands)
 

In EBITDA
as of

Nov. 29
December
Activity

2007 Dec.
YTD Impact
on EBITDA

2008
EBITDA

2009
EBITDA

Severance $ 11,332 $ (84) $ 11,248 $ 3,180 $ 1,982
Retention Bonus 4,841 1,164 6,005 9,572
Payroll taxes 1,474 195 1,669
Other severance costs 34 481 515 806
Appb proxy solicitation legal expenses 9 6 9 — 9 6 9
Appb strategic alternatives legal and outside services 26,030 — 26,030
Board Fees (strategy committee) 530 — 530
Other 486 486
IHOP acquisition costs 3,008 3,008
                    
EBITDA Impact $ 48,704 $ 1,756 $ 50,460 $ 13,558 $ 1,982 $ 66,000
 

(1) Excluding costs relating to post-closing i efranchising of company-owned restaurants and sale-leaseback of company-owned real property on which
company-owned restaurants are situated.
 
(2) Excluding expenses relating to shareholder compensation settlement that are incurred following the closing date.
 



Exhibit 10.2
 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
 

This Employment Agreement (“Agreement”) is made effective as of November 1, 2008 by and between DineEquity, Inc. f/k/a IHOP Corp., a
Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Richard Celio (the “Executive”).

 
WHEREAS, the Company believes it to be in its best interest to provide for continuity of management and to provide protection for its valuable

trade secrets and confidential information; and
 
WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ the Executive and the Executive is willing to render services to the Company on the terms and

conditions with respect to such employment hereinafter set forth.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of premises and the mutual terms and conditions hereof, the Company and the Executive hereby agree as

follows:
 
1.             Employment.   The Company hereby employs the Executive and the Executive hereby accepts employment with the Company upon the

terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.
 
2.             Exclusive Services.   The Executive shall devote all necessary working time, ability and attention to the business of the Company during

the term of this Agreement and shall not, directly or indirectly, render any material services to any business, corporation, or organization whether for
compensation or otherwise, without the prior knowledge and written consent of the Board of Directors of the Company (hereinafter referred to as the “Board”). 
During the Employment Period, the Executive may  (A) serve on corporate, civic or charitable boards or committees, (B) deliver lectures, fulfill speaking
engagements or teach at educational institutions and (C) manage personal investments, so long as such activities do not significantly interfere with the
performance of the Executive’s responsibilities as an employee of the Company in accordance with this Agreement and any service on public company boards
of directors is approved in advance by the Board. It is expressly understood and agreed that to the extent that any such activities have been conducted by the
Executive prior to the effective date of this Agreement, the continued conduct of such activities (or the conduct of activities similar in nature and scope thereto)
subsequent to the effective date of this Agreement shall not thereafter be deemed to interfere with the performance of the Executive’s responsibilities to the
Company.

 
3.             Duties.   The Executive is hereby employed as the Chief Restaurant Support Officer of the Company and shall render services at the

principal business offices of the Company, as such may be located from time to time, unless otherwise agreed in writing between the Board and the Executive. 
The Executive shall have such authority and shall perform such duties as are described in Exhibit A attached hereto.

 
4.             Term.   This Agreement shall have an initial term of three (3) years commencing as of November 1, 2008.  This Agreement will

automatically renew at the end of the initial term and at the end of each subsequent term, for a subsequent term of one (1) year unless either party gives written
notice of non-renewal to the other at least ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of

 



 
the then current term.  Such notice may be given for any or no reason.   This Agreement is subject to earlier termination as hereinafter provided.

 
5.             Compensation.   As compensation for services rendered under this Agreement, the Executive shall be entitled to receive the following:

 
a.             Base Salary.   The executive shall be paid a base salary of at least $410,000 per year, payable in 24 equal semi-monthly

installments during the term of this Agreement, prorated for any partial employment month.  Such base salary (“ Base Salary”) shall be reviewed by
the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”) no less frequently than annually.  The Base Salary may be increased by
the Compensation Committee in its discretion, subject to ratification by the Board.  The Base Salary may not be decreased, except in the event of an
across the board salary reduction approved by the Board affecting employees of the Company at the Chief Officer Level (as defined in Section 6(a),
below).

 
b.             Additional Compensation .   The Executive shall be paid such additional compensation and bonuses as may be determined and

authorized in the discretion of the Compensation Committee, subject to ratification by the Board.  The Executive’s target bonus, to be payable under
the Company’s annual incentive plan, shall be 75% of the Executive’s Base Salary.
 
6.             Benefits.   In addition to the compensation to be paid to the Executive pursuant to Section 5 hereof, the Executive shall further be entitled to

receive the following:
 
a.             Participation in Employee Plans .   The Executive shall be entitled to participate in any health, disability, group term life

insurance plan, any pension, retirement, or profit sharing plan, any executive bonus plan, long term incentive plan, deferred compensation plan or
any other perquisites and fringe benefits that may be extended generally from time to time to employees of the Company at the Chief Officer Level. 
For purposes of this Agreement, employees of the Company at the “ Chief Officer Level” shall mean the CEO, the Chief Financial Officer, the Chief
Restaurant Support Officer and such other employees of the Company as may from time to time be designated as being at the Chief Officer Level by
the Board.

 
b.             Vacation.   The Executive shall be entitled to vacation as in accordance with the Company’s Vacation Policy for Restaurant

Support Center and Field Office Employees.
 
c.             Equity Awards.   The Executive shall be entitled to equity-based compensation awards that may be extended generally from time

to time to employees of the Company at the Chief Officer Level, as approved by the Compensation Committee or the Board, subject to the terms and
conditions of the respective equity-based compensation plans and award agreements and the provisions of this Agreement.
 
7.             Reimbursement of Expenses .   Subject to such rules and procedures as from time to time are specified by the Company, the Company

shall reimburse the Executive on a monthly
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basis for reasonable business expenses incurred in the performance of the Executive’s duties under this Agreement.

 
8.             Confidentiality/Trade Secrets.   The Executive acknowledges that the Executive’s position with the Company is one of the highest trust

and confidence both by reason of the Executive’s position and by reason of the Executive’s access to and contact with the trade secrets and confidential and
proprietary business information of the Company.  Both during the term of this Agreement and thereafter, the Executive covenants and agrees as follows:

 
a.             The Executive shall use best efforts and exercise reasonable diligence to protect and safeguard the trade secrets and confidential

and proprietary information of the Company, including but not limited to any non-public strategies, business plans, marketing and advertising
plans, the identity of its customers and suppliers, its arrangements with customers and suppliers, and its technical and financial data, records,
compilations of information, processes, recipes and specifications relating to its customers, suppliers, products and services;

 
b.             The Executive shall not disclose any of such trade secrets and confidential and proprietary information, except as may be

required in the course of the Executive’s employment with the Company or by law; and
 
c.             The Executive shall not use, directly or indirectly, for the Executive’s own benefit or for the benefit of another, any of such trade

secrets and confidential and proprietary information.
 
All original and any copies of files, records, documents, emails, drawings, specifications, memoranda, notes, or other documents relating to the

business of the Company, including printed, electronic or digital copies thereof, whether prepared by the Executive or otherwise coming into the Executive’s
possession, shall be the exclusive property of the Company and shall be delivered to the Company and not retained by the Executive upon termination of the
Executive’s employment for any reason whatsoever or at any other time upon request of the Company’s General Counsel or the Board.

 
9.             Discoveries.   The Executive covenants and agrees to fully inform the Company of and disclose to the Company all inventions, designs,

improvements, discoveries, and processes (“ Discoveries”) that the Executive has now or may hereafter have during the Executive’s employment with the
Company and that pertain or relate to the business of the Company, including but not limited to the operation and franchising of restaurants, or to any
experimental work, products, services, or processes of the Company in progress or planned for the future, whether conceived by the Executive alone or with
others, and whether or not conceived during regular working hours or in conjunction with the use of any Company assets.  All such Discoveries shall be the
exclusive property of the Company whether or not patent or trademark applications are filed thereon.  The Executive shall assist the Company, at any time
during or after the Executive’s employment, in obtaining patents on all such Discoveries deemed patentable by the Company and shall execute all documents
and do all things necessary to obtain letters patent, vest the Company with full and exclusive title thereto, and protect the same against infringement by others,
all at the expense of the Company.
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10.           Non-Competition.   The Executive covenants and agrees that during the period of the Executive’s employment, the Executive shall not,

without the prior written consent of the CEO or the Board, directly or indirectly, as an employee, employer, consultant, agent, principal, partner, shareholder,
corporate officer, director, or through any other kind of ownership (other than ownership of securities of publicly held corporations of which the Executive
owns less than five percent 5% of any class of outstanding securities) or in any other representative or individual capacity, engage in or render any services to
any business in North America engaged in the casual dining restaurant industry, the family dining restaurant industry, or in any other segment of the
restaurant industry in which the Company or any subsidiary of the Company may become involved after the date hereof and prior to the date of termination of
the Executive’s employment.  For purposes of this Agreement “casual dining restaurant industry” consists of “sit down table service” restaurants serving
alcoholic beverages, with a per guest average guest check within the United States of under $20.00 (adjusted upward each year to recognize Company menu
price increases). For purposes of this Agreement “family dining restaurant industry” consists of “sit down table service” restaurants, with a per guest average
guest check within the United States of under $15.00 (adjusted upward each year to recognize Company menu price increases).

 
11.           Nonsolicitation.  The Executive agrees that during the period of the Executive’s employment, and for a period of 24 months following the

effective date of the termination of the Executive’s employment for any reason prior to a Change in Control and 24 months following the effective date of the
termination after a Change in Control, the Executive will not, either directly or indirectly, for the Executive or for any third party, except as otherwise agreed to
in writing by the then CEO, solicit, induce, recruit, or cause any other person who is then employed by the Company to terminate his/her employment for the
purpose of joining, associating, or becoming employed with any business or activity that is engaged in the casual dining restaurant industry, the family dining
restaurant industry or any other segment of the restaurant industry in which the Company may become involved after the date hereof and prior to the date of
any termination of employment.

 
12.           Remedies for Breach of Covenants of the Executive .

 
a.             The Company and the Executive specifically acknowledge and agree that the foregoing covenants of the Executive in Sections 8,

9, 10 and 11 are reasonable in content and scope and are given by the Executive for adequate consideration.  The Company and the Executive further
acknowledge and agree that, if any court of competent jurisdiction or other appropriate authority shall disagree with the parties’ foregoing agreement
as to reasonableness, then such court or other authority shall reform or otherwise the foregoing covenants as reason dictates.

 
b.             The covenants set forth in Sections 8, 9, and 11 of this Agreement, as provided in Section 13 or 14, shall continue to be binding

upon the Executive, notwithstanding the termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason whatsoever.  Such covenants
shall be deemed and construed as separate agreements independent of any other provisions of this Agreement and any other agreement between the
Company and the Executive.  The existence of any claim or cause of action by the Executive against the Company, unless predicated on this
Agreement,
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shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement by the Company of any or all such covenants.  It is expressly agreed that the remedy at law for the
breach of any such covenant is inadequate and injunctive relief and specific performance shall be available to prevent the breach or any threatened
breach thereof.

 
c.             If the Executive breaches any of the covenants set forth in Sections 8, 9, 10 and 11 of this Agreement, the Executive shall

reimburse the Company for (i) any equity-based compensation received by the Executive from the Company during the twelve (12) month period
preceding the breach, and (ii) any profits realized from the sale of securities of the Company during such twelve (12) month period.
 
13.           Termination.   This Agreement (other than Sections 8, 9, and 11, as provided in Section 13 or 14, which shall survive any termination

hereof for any reason, including the expiration hereof due to non-renewal (an “Expiration”)) may be terminated as follows:
 
a.             The Company may terminate this Agreement and the Executive’s employment hereunder at any time, with or without Cause,

upon written notice to the Executive.  The Executive may terminate this Agreement and the Executive’s employment hereunder, at any time, with or
without Good Reason.

 
b.             In the event of termination by the Company without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason, (i) the effective date thereof shall

be stated in a written notice to the Executive from the Board, which shall not be earlier than 30 days from the date such written notice is delivered to
the Executive, (ii) the Executive shall be entitled to receive all Severance Payments under Section 13(f), (iii) any unvested stock options, stock
appreciation rights, and any other equity-based awards subject to service or time vesting conditions held by the Executive that would have vested
during the twelve (12) month period following the Executive’s termination will vest as of the day immediately preceding the effective date of
termination, (iv) any unvested equity-based awards subject to any performance-based vesting conditions held by the Executive will vest on a pro rata
basis, based on the number of days of the Executive’s employment during the applicable performance period, as of the day immediately preceding
the effective date of termination and shall be paid based on actual performance during the applicable performance period through the date of the
Executive’s termination of employment, and (v) any stock options or stock appreciation rights held by the Executive shall remain exercisable until
the earlier of 24 months after the date of termination or their original expiration date.

 
c.             In the event of termination by the Company with Cause, the Executive shall be entitled to receive only the Executive’s salary

through such date of termination, the reimbursement of properly documented reasonable business expenses incurred through such date of
termination, and any bonus amounts as may be payable pursuant to the terms of any written plans in which the Executive was a participant
immediately prior to the effective date of the termination.  The Executive shall also be entitled to exercise the Executive’s rights under COBRA at the
Executive’s expense.

 
d.             The following shall constitute “Cause”:
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(i)            The willful failure by the Executive to substantially perform the Executive’s duties with the Company (other than any

such failure resulting from the Executive’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness), after a written demand for substantial performance
is delivered to the Executive by the Board, which demand specifically identifies the manner in which the Board believes that the Executive
has not substantially performed the Executive’s duties; or

 
(ii)           The Executive’s willful misconduct that is demonstrably and materially injurious to the Company, monetarily or

otherwise; or
 
(iii)          The Executive’s commission of such acts of dishonesty, fraud, misrepresentation or other acts of moral turpitude as

would prevent the effective performance of the Executive’s duties; or
 
(iv)          The Executive’s conviction or plea of no contest to a felony or a crime of moral turpitude.

 
For purposes of this subsection d., no act, or failure to act, on the Executive’s part shall be deemed “willful” unless done, or omitted to be
done, by the Executive not in good faith and without the reasonable belief that the Executive’s action or omission was in the best interest of
the Company.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executive shall not be deemed to have been terminated for Cause unless and until there
shall have been delivered to the Executive a copy of a resolution duly adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the non-employee
members of the Board at a meeting of such members (after reasonable notice to the Executive and an opportunity for the Executive, together
with the Executive’s counsel, to be heard before such members of the Board), finding that the Executive has engaged in the conduct set forth
above in this subsection d. and specifying the particulars thereof in detail.
 
e.             The Executive shall have “Good Reason” to effect a termination in the event that the Company (i) breaches its obligations to pay

any salary, benefit or bonus due hereunder, or (ii) requires the Executive to relocate more than 50 miles from the Company’s headquarters [or other
current location if not now located at headquarters], (iii) assigns to the Executive any duties inconsistent with the Executive’s position with the
Company or significantly and adversely alters the nature or status of the Executive’s responsibilities or the conditions of the Executive’s employment,
or (iv) reduces the Executive’s base salary and/or bonus opportunity, except for across-the-board reductions similarly affecting all management
personnel of the Company and all management personnel of any corporation or other entity which is in control of the Company; and in the event of
any of (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv), the Executive has given written notice to the Board as to the details of the basis for such Good Reason within thirty (30)
days following the date on which the Executive alleges the event giving rise to such Good Reason occurred, the Company has failed to provide a



reasonable cure within thirty (30) days after its receipt of such notice and the effective date of the termination for Good Reason occurs within 180
days after the initial existence of the facts or circumstances
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constituting Good Reason.  In the event of a termination by the Executive with Good Reason, the Executive will be entitled to all Severance Payments
under Section 13(f).

 
f.              The “Severance Payments” consist of the following and, subject to subsection h. of Section 20, shall be paid as follows:  (i) an

amount paid on the tenth business day following the effective date of such termination in one lump sum equal to one (1) times the sum of (A) the
Executive’s annual Base Salary, at the then current effective annual rate, plus (B) the average of the Executive’s actual bonus attributable to each of
the preceding three (3) fiscal years; (ii) the reimbursement of properly documented reasonable business expenses incurred through the date of
termination which shall be paid on the tenth business day following the effective date of such termination; and (iii) the payment by the Company of
premiums on behalf of the Executive, for coverage substantially similar to that provided under the Company’s health, disability and group term life
insurance plans, at the same cost to the Executive as was effective immediately prior to termination, and for so long as the Executive elects to continue
such coverage up to a 12 month period.  To the extent that substantially similar health and welfare benefits become available to the Executive from a
subsequent employer, the Company will set off against the benefits payable hereunder any benefits received by the Executive from any other source. 
The Executive agrees to notify the Company within 30 days after substantially similar health and welfare benefits become available to her from a
subsequent employer.

 
g.             In the event of any termination of the Executive other than by the Executive for Good Reason or by the Company without Cause,

participation by the Executive in all compensation and benefit plans of the Company will cease upon the effective termination date and all unvested
bonuses, equity awards and other like items will immediately lapse.  In the event of any termination of the Executive, all amounts owed by the
Executive to the Company for any reasons whatsoever will become immediately due and payable and the Company will transfer to the Executive any
term life insurance policy maintained by the Company for the Executive’s benefit.
 
14.           Termination After Change in Control.   If within 24 months following a Change in Control, as defined below, the employment of the

Executive is terminated by the Company without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason then the provisions of Section 13 shall not apply and the
following shall occur:
 

a.             Subject to subsection h. of Section 20, on the tenth business day following the effective date of such termination, the Executive
shall receive the following: (i) a lump sum payment equal to two (2) times the sum of (A) the Executive’s Base Salary in effect immediately prior to
the change in control, plus (B) the average of the Executive’s actual bonus attributable to each of the preceding three (3) fiscal years; and (ii) an
amount paid in one lump sum equal to the Executive’s prorated bonus for the then current fiscal year based on actual performance prior to the date of
termination.

 
b.             The Company shall pay premiums on behalf of the Executive, for coverage substantially similar to that provided under the

Company’s health, disability and group term life insurance plans, at the same cost to the Executive as was effective immediately prior to termination,
and for so long as the Executive elects to continue such coverage up to a 24
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month period.  To the extent that substantially similar health and welfare benefits become available to the Executive from a subsequent employer, the
Company will set off against the benefits payable hereunder any benefits received by the Executive from any other source.

 
c.             Any unvested stock options, stock appreciation rights, and other equity-based awards held by the Executive will vest as of the

day immediately preceding the effective date of termination, all unvested Restricted Share awards held by the Executive will vest as of the day
immediately preceding the effective date of termination and all restrictions will immediately be removed and deemed to have been satisfied, and any
stock options or stock appreciation rights held by the Executive shall remain exercisable until the earlier of 24 months after the date of termination or
their original expiration date.

 
d.             The Executive shall be bound by the nonsolicitation provisions of Section 11, which shall remain in full force and effect for a

period of 24 months following the effective date of Executive’s termination.
 

15.           Definition of Change in Control .  A “Change in Control” shall be deemed to have occurred if:
 

a.             any “person,” as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the “Exchange Act (other than the Company; any trustee or
other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company; or any company owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of the
Company in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of Stock of the Company) is or becomes after the Effective Date the “beneficial owner” (as
defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company (not including in the securities beneficially owned by such
person any securities acquired directly from the Company or its affiliates) representing 40% or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s then
outstanding securities; or

 
b.             during any period of two consecutive years (not including any period prior to the Effective Date), individuals who at the

beginning of such period constitute the Board, and any new director (other than a director designated by a person who has entered into an agreement with the
Company to effect a transaction described in subsections a., c. or d. of this Section 15 whose election by the Board or nomination for election by the
Company’s stockholders was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds ( 2/3) of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of the
period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved, cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority thereof; or

 
c.             the consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other corporation, other than (A) a merger or

consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining
outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity), in combination with the ownership of any trustee or other fiduciary holding
securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company, at least 75% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the Company or such
surviving entity outstanding immediately after such merger or
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consolidation or (B) a merger or consolidation effected to implement a recapitalization of the Company (or similar transaction) in which no person acquires
more than 50% of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities; or

 
d.             the stockholders of the Company approve a plan of complete liquidation of the Company or an agreement for the sale or

disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets;
 
provided, that with respect to any non-qualified deferred compensation that becomes payable on account of the Change in Control, the transaction or event
described in subsection a., b., c. or d. also constitutes a “change in control event,” as defined in Treasury Regulation §1.409A-3(i)(5) if required in order for
the payment not to violate Section 409A of the Code..
 

16.           Parachute Payment Matters .
 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if by reason of Section 280G of the Code any payment or benefit received or to be
received by the Executive in connection with a Change in Control or the termination of the Executive’s employment (whether payable pursuant to the terms of
this Agreement (“Contract Payments”) or any other plan, arrangements or agreement with the Company or an Affiliate (as defined below) (collectively with the
Contract Payments, “Total Payments”)) would not be deductible (in whole or part) by the Company, an Affiliate or other person making such payment or
providing such benefit, then the Contract Payments shall be reduced and, if Contract Payments are reduced to zero, other Total Payments shall be reduced
until no portion of the Total Payments is not deductible by reason of Section 280G of the Code, provided, however, that no such reduction shall be made
unless the net after-tax benefit received by the Executive after such reduction would exceed the net after-tax benefit received by the Executive if no such
reduction was made.  The foregoing determination and all determinations under this Section 16 shall be made by the Accountants (as defined below).  For
purposes of this section, “net after-tax benefit” shall mean (i) the Total Payments that would constitute “parachute payments” within the meaning of
Section 280G of the Code, less (ii) the amount of all federal, state and local income taxes payable with respect to such payments calculated at the maximum
marginal income tax rate for each year in which the foregoing shall be paid to the Executive (based on the rate in effect for such year as set forth in the Code as
in effect at the time of the first payment of the foregoing), less (iii) the amount of excise taxes imposed with respect to the payments and benefits described in
(i) above by Section 4999 of the Code.  For purposes of the foregoing determinations, (a) no portion of the Total Payments the receipt or enjoyment of which
the Executive shall have effectively waived in writing prior to the date of payment of any Contract Payment shall be taken into account; (b) no portion of the
Total Payments shall be taken into account which in the opinion of the Accountants does not constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of
Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code (without regard to subsection (A)(ii) thereof); (c) the Contract Payments (and, thereafter, other Total Payments) shall be
reduced only to the extent necessary so that the Total Payments in their entirety constitute reasonable compensation for services actually rendered within the
meaning of Section 280G(b)(4) of the Code, in the opinion of the Accountants;  and (d) the value of any non-cash benefit or any deferred payment or benefit
included in the Total Payments shall be determined by the Accountants in accordance with the principles of Sections 280G(d)(3) and (4) of the Code.  For
purposes of this Section 16, the term

 
9



 
“Affiliate” means the Company’s successors, any Person whose actions result in a Change in Control or any company affiliated (or which, as a result of the
completion of the transactions causing a Change in Control shall become affiliated) with the Company within the meaning of Section 1504 of the Code and
“Accountants” shall mean the Company’s independent certified public accountants serving immediately prior to the Change in Control, unless the
Accountants are also serving as accountant or auditor for the individual, entity or group effecting the Change in Control, in which case the Company shall
appoint another nationally recognized public accounting firm to make the determinations required hereunder (which accounting firm shall then be referred to as
the Accountants hereunder).  For purposes of making the determinations and calculations required herein, the Accountants may make reasonable assumptions
and approximations concerning applicable taxes and may rely on reasonable, good faith interpretations concerning the application of Sections 280G and 4999
of the Code, provided that the Accountant’s determinations must be made on the basis of  “substantial authority” (within the meaning of Section 6662 of the
Code).  All fees and expenses of the Accountants shall be borne solely by the Company.

 
17.           Arbitration of Disputes .

 
a.             Any dispute or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any termination of the Executive’s employment, other than

with respect to Sections 8 through 12, shall be settled by final and binding arbitration in the greater Los Angeles metropolitan area in accordance with
the Commercial Arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association, and judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrators may be entered
in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

 
b.             Except as provided by applicable law, the fees and expenses of the arbitration panel shall be shared equally by the Executive and

the Company.
 
c.             Except as provided by applicable law, the prevailing party in any arbitration brought hereunder shall be entitled to an award of

its costs (including expenses and attorneys’ fees), incurred in such arbitration.
 
18.           No Mitigation.   The Executive shall have no duty to attempt to mitigate the level of benefits payable by the Company to the Executive

hereunder, by seeking other employment or otherwise.  To the extent that substantially similar health and welfare benefits become available to the Executive
from a subsequent employer, the Company will discontinue the Executive’s coverage; otherwise, the Company shall not be entitled to set off against the
amounts payable hereunder any amounts received by the Executive from any other source, including any subsequent employer.

 
19.           Notices.   Any notices to be given hereunder by either party to the other may be effected either by personal delivery in writing or by mail,

registered or certified, postage prepaid, with return receipt requested.  Mailed notices shall be addressed as follows:
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a.             If to the Company:
 

DineEquity, Inc.
450 N. Brand Boulevard
Glendale, CA 91410
Attn:  General Counsel

 
b.             If to the Executive:

 
 
Either party may change its address for notice by giving notice in accordance with the terms of this Section 18.

 
20.           General Provisions.

 
a.             Law Governing.   This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California.
 
b.             Invalid Provisions.   If any provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, then such provision shall

be fully severable and this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision had never comprised a
part hereof; and the remaining provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect and shall not be affected by the illegal, invalid, or unenforceable
provision or by its severance herefrom.  Furthermore, in lieu of such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision there shall be added automatically as
a part of this Agreement a provision as similar in terms to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision as may be possible and still be legal,
valid or enforceable.

 
c.             Entire Agreement.   This Agreement sets forth the entire understanding of the parties and supersedes all prior agreements or

understandings, whether written or oral, with respect to the subject matter hereof and all agreements, acknowledgments, designations and directions
of the Executive made or given under any Company policy statement or benefit program.  No terms, conditions, warranties, other than those
contained herein, and no amendments or modifications hereto shall be binding unless made in writing and signed by the parties hereto.

 
d.             Binding Effect.   This Agreement shall extend to and be binding upon and inure to the benefit to the parties hereto, their respective

heirs, representatives, successors and assigns.  This Agreement may not be assigned by the Executive, but may be assigned by the Company to any
person or entity that succeeds to the ownership or operation of the business in which the Executive is primarily employed by the Company.

 
e.             Waiver.   The waiver by either party hereto of a breach of any term or provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be

construed as a waiver of a subsequent
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breach of the same provision by any party or of the breach of any other term or provision of this Agreement.

 
f.              Titles.   Titles of the paragraphs herein are used solely for convenience and shall not be used for interpretation or construing any

work, clause, paragraph, or provision of this Agreement.
 
g.             Counterparts.   This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but

which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
 

h.             Compliance with IRC Section 409A.    The following provisions shall apply to this Agreement with respect to Section 409A of the Code:
 

(i)            The lump sum cash severances payments which are payable under clause (i) of subsection f. of Section 14 and under subsection
a. of Section 14 are intended to satisfy the short-term deferral exemption under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(4) and shall be made not later than the
last day of the applicable two and one-half month period with respect to such payment, within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(4).
 

(ii)  If any provision of this Agreement (or of any award of compensation, including equity compensation or benefits) would cause
Executive to incur any additional tax or interest under Section 409A of the Code or any regulations or Treasury guidance promulgated thereunder, the
Company shall, after consulting with Executive, reform such provision to comply with Section 409A of the Code, provided that the Company agrees to
maintain, to the maximum extent practicable, the original intent and economic benefit Executive of the applicable provision without violating the provisions of
Section 409A of the Code.
 

(iii)  Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this subsection h., if Executive is deemed on the Termination Date to be a “specified
employee” within the meaning of that term under Section 409A(a)(2)(B) of the Code, then with regard to any payment or the provision of any benefit that is
required to be delayed in compliance with section 409A(a)(2)(B) of the Code such payment or benefit shall not be made or provided (subject to the last sentence
hereof) prior to the earlier of (A) the expiration of the six (6)-month period measured from the date of the Executive’s “separation from service” (as such term is
defined under Section 409A of the Code) or (B) the date of the Executive’s death (the “Delay Period”).  Upon the expiration of the Delay Period, all payments
and benefits delayed pursuant to this section (whether they would have otherwise been payable in a single sum or in installments in the absence of such delay)
shall be paid or reimbursed Executive in a lump sum, and any remaining payments and benefits due under this Agreement shall be paid or provided in
accordance with the normal payment dates specified for them herein.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that the foregoing applies to the provision of
any ongoing welfare benefits to Executive that would not be required to be delayed if the premiums therefore were paid by Executive, Executive shall pay the
full cost of premiums for such welfare benefits during the Delay Period and the Company shall pay Executive an amount equal to the amount of such
premiums paid by Executive during the Delay Period promptly after its conclusion.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Executive have executed this Agreement as of the date and year first above written.
 
THIS AGREEMENT CONTAINS AN ARBITRATION CLAUSE.

 
 
EXECUTIVE: DineEquity, Inc..:
   
   

By:
Richard Celio Julia A. Stewart

Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit A – Executive’s Authorities and Duties

 
During the Employment Period, (A) the Executive shall serve as Chief Restaurant Support Officer of the Company, reporting directly to the CEO, with duties,
authorities and responsibilities commensurate with such title and office and (B) the Executive’s services shall be performed at the Company’s headquarters
Glendale, California.
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Exhibit 10.3
 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
 

This Employment Agreement (“Agreement”) is made effective as of November 1, 2008 by and between DineEquity, Inc. f/k/a IHOP Corp., a
Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Michael Archer (the “ Executive”).

 
WHEREAS, the Company believes it to be in its best interest to provide for continuity of management and to provide protection for its valuable

trade secrets and confidential information; and
 
WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ the Executive and the Executive is willing to render services to the Company on the terms and

conditions with respect to such employment hereinafter set forth.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of premises and the mutual terms and conditions hereof, the Company and the Executive hereby agree as

follows:
 
1.                                       Employment.   The Company hereby employs the Executive and the Executive hereby accepts employment with the Company upon the

terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.
 
2.                                       Exclusive Services.   The Executive shall devote all necessary working time, ability and attention to the business of the Company during

the term of this Agreement and shall not, directly or indirectly, render any material services to any business, corporation, or organization whether for
compensation or otherwise, without the prior knowledge and written consent of the Board of Directors of the Company (hereinafter referred to as the “Board”). 
During the Employment Period, the Executive may  (A) serve on corporate, civic or charitable boards or committees, (B) deliver lectures, fulfill speaking
engagements or teach at educational institutions and (C) manage personal investments, so long as such activities do not significantly interfere with the
performance of the Executive’s responsibilities as an employee of the Company in accordance with this Agreement and any service on public company boards
of directors is approved in advance by the Board. It is expressly understood and agreed that to the extent that any such activities have been conducted by the
Executive prior to the effective date of this Agreement, the continued conduct of such activities (or the conduct of activities similar in nature and scope thereto)
subsequent to the effective date of this Agreement shall not thereafter be deemed to interfere with the performance of the Executive’s responsibilities to the
Company.

 
3.                                       Duties.   The Executive is hereby employed as the President, Applebee’s Business Unit and shall render services at the principal business

offices of Applebee’s Business Unit, as such may be located from time to time, unless otherwise agreed in writing between the Board and the Executive.  The
Executive shall have such authority and shall perform such duties as are described in Exhibit A attached hereto.

 
4.                                       Term.   This Agreement shall have an initial term of three (3) years commencing as of November 1, 2008.  This Agreement will

automatically renew at the end of the initial term and at the end of each subsequent term, for a subsequent term of one (1) year unless either party gives written
notice of non-renewal to the other at least ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of

 



 
the then current term.  Such notice may be given for any or no reason.   This Agreement is subject to earlier termination as hereinafter provided.

 
5.                                       Compensation.   As compensation for services rendered under this Agreement, the Executive shall be entitled to receive the following:
 

a.                                       Base Salary.   The executive shall be paid a base salary of at least $550,000 per year, payable in 24 equal semi-monthly
installments during the term of this Agreement, prorated for any partial employment month.  Such base salary (“ Base Salary”) shall be reviewed by
the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”) no less frequently than annually.  The Base Salary may be increased by
the Compensation Committee in its discretion, subject to ratification by the Board.  The Base Salary may not be decreased, except in the event of an
across the board salary reduction approved by the Board affecting employees of the Company at the Chief Officer Level (as defined in Section 6(a),
below).

 
b.                                      Additional Compensation .   The Executive shall be paid such additional compensation and bonuses as may be determined and

authorized in the discretion of the Compensation Committee, subject to ratification by the Board.  The Executive’s target bonus, to be payable under
the Company’s annual incentive plan, shall be 75% of the Executive’s Base Salary.

 
6.                                       Benefits.   In addition to the compensation to be paid to the Executive pursuant to Section 5 hereof, the Executive shall further be entitled to

receive the following:
 

a.                                       Participation in Employee Plans .   The Executive shall be entitled to participate in any health, disability, group term life
insurance plan, any pension, retirement, or profit sharing plan, any executive bonus plan, long term incentive plan, deferred compensation plan or
any other perquisites and fringe benefits that may be extended generally from time to time to employees of the Company at the Chief Officer Level. 
For purposes of this Agreement, employees of the Company at the “ Chief Officer Level” shall mean the CEO, the Chief Financial Officer, the Chief
Restaurant Support Officer and such other employees of the Company as may from time to time be designated as being at the Chief Officer Level by
the Board.

 
b.                                      Vacation.   The Executive shall be entitled to vacation as in accordance with the Company’s Vacation Policy for Restaurant

Support Center and Field Office Employees.
 
c.                                       Equity Awards.   The Executive shall be entitled to equity-based compensation awards that may be extended generally from time

to time to employees of the Company at the Chief Officer Level, as approved by the Compensation Committee or the Board, subject to the terms and
conditions of the respective equity-based compensation plans and award agreements and the provisions of this Agreement.

 
7.                                       Reimbursement of Expenses .   Subject to such rules and procedures as from time to time are specified by the Company, the Company

shall reimburse the Executive on a monthly
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basis for reasonable business expenses incurred in the performance of the Executive’s duties under this Agreement.

 
8.                                       Confidentiality/Trade Secrets.   The Executive acknowledges that the Executive’s position with the Company is one of the highest trust

and confidence both by reason of the Executive’s position and by reason of the Executive’s access to and contact with the trade secrets and confidential and
proprietary business information of the Company.  Both during the term of this Agreement and thereafter, the Executive covenants and agrees as follows:

 
a.                                       The Executive shall use best efforts and exercise reasonable diligence to protect and safeguard the trade secrets and confidential

and proprietary information of the Company, including but not limited to any non-public strategies, business plans, marketing and advertising
plans, the identity of its customers and suppliers, its arrangements with customers and suppliers, and its technical and financial data, records,
compilations of information, processes, recipes and specifications relating to its customers, suppliers, products and services;

 
b.                                      The Executive shall not disclose any of such trade secrets and confidential and proprietary information, except as may be

required in the course of the Executive’s employment with the Company or by law; and
 
c.                                       The Executive shall not use, directly or indirectly, for the Executive’s own benefit or for the benefit of another, any of such trade

secrets and confidential and proprietary information.
 

All original and any copies of files, records, documents, emails, drawings, specifications, memoranda, notes, or other documents relating to the
business of the Company, including printed, electronic or digital copies thereof, whether prepared by the Executive or otherwise coming into the Executive’s
possession, shall be the exclusive property of the Company and shall be delivered to the Company and not retained by the Executive upon termination of the
Executive’s employment for any reason whatsoever or at any other time upon request of the Company’s General Counsel or the Board.

 
9.                                       Discoveries.   The Executive covenants and agrees to fully inform the Company of and disclose to the Company all inventions, designs,

improvements, discoveries, and processes (“ Discoveries”) that the Executive has now or may hereafter have during the Executive’s employment with the
Company and that pertain or relate to the business of the Company, including but not limited to the operation and franchising of restaurants, or to any
experimental work, products, services, or processes of the Company in progress or planned for the future, whether conceived by the Executive alone or with
others, and whether or not conceived during regular working hours or in conjunction with the use of any Company assets.  All such Discoveries shall be the
exclusive property of the Company whether or not patent or trademark applications are filed thereon.  The Executive shall assist the Company, at any time
during or after the Executive’s employment, in obtaining patents on all such Discoveries deemed patentable by the Company and shall execute all documents
and do all things necessary to obtain letters patent, vest the Company with full and exclusive title thereto, and protect the same against infringement by others,
all at the expense of the Company.
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10.                                 Non-Competition.   The Executive covenants and agrees that during the period of the Executive’s employment, the Executive shall not,

without the prior written consent of the CEO or the Board, directly or indirectly, as an employee, employer, consultant, agent, principal, partner, shareholder,
corporate officer, director, or through any other kind of ownership (other than ownership of securities of publicly held corporations of which the Executive
owns less than five percent 5% of any class of outstanding securities) or in any other representative or individual capacity, engage in or render any services to
any business in North America engaged in the casual dining restaurant industry, the family dining restaurant industry, or in any other segment of the
restaurant industry in which the Company or any subsidiary of the Company may become involved after the date hereof and prior to the date of termination of
the Executive’s employment.  For purposes of this Agreement “casual dining restaurant industry” consists of “sit down table service” restaurants serving
alcoholic beverages, with a per guest average guest check within the United States of under $20.00 (adjusted upward each year to recognize Company menu
price increases). For purposes of this Agreement “family dining restaurant industry” consists of “sit down table service” restaurants, with a per guest average
guest check within the United States of under $15.00 (adjusted upward each year to recognize Company menu price increases).

 
11.                                 Nonsolicitation.  The Executive agrees that during the period of the Executive’s employment, and for a period of 24 months following the

effective date of the termination of the Executive’s employment for any reason prior to a Change in Control and 24 months following the effective date of the
termination after a Change in Control, the Executive will not, either directly or indirectly, for the Executive or for any third party, except as otherwise agreed to
in writing by the then CEO, solicit, induce, recruit, or cause any other person who is then employed by the Company to terminate his/her employment for the
purpose of joining, associating, or becoming employed with any business or activity that is engaged in the casual dining restaurant industry, the family dining
restaurant industry or any other segment of the restaurant industry in which the Company may become involved after the date hereof and prior to the date of
any termination of employment.

 
12.                                 Remedies for Breach of Covenants of the Executive .
 

a.                                       The Company and the Executive specifically acknowledge and agree that the foregoing covenants of the Executive in Sections 8,
9, 10 and 11 are reasonable in content and scope and are given by the Executive for adequate consideration.  The Company and the Executive further
acknowledge and agree that, if any court of competent jurisdiction or other appropriate authority shall disagree with the parties’ foregoing agreement
as to reasonableness, then such court or other authority shall reform or otherwise the foregoing covenants as reason dictates.

 
b.                                      The covenants set forth in Sections 8, 9, and 11 of this Agreement, as provided in Section 13 or 14, shall continue to be binding

upon the Executive, notwithstanding the termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason whatsoever.  Such covenants
shall be deemed and construed as separate agreements independent of any other provisions of this Agreement and any other agreement between the
Company and the Executive.  The existence of any claim or cause of action by the Executive against the Company, unless predicated on this
Agreement,
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shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement by the Company of any or all such covenants.  It is expressly agreed that the remedy at law for the
breach of any such covenant is inadequate and injunctive relief and specific performance shall be available to prevent the breach or any threatened
breach thereof.

 
c.                                       If the Executive breaches any of the covenants set forth in Sections 8, 9, 10 and 11 of this Agreement, the Executive shall

reimburse the Company for (i) any equity-based compensation received by the Executive from the Company during the twelve (12) month period
preceding the breach, and (ii) any profits realized from the sale of securities of the Company during such twelve (12) month period.

 
13.                                 Termination.   This Agreement (other than Sections 8, 9, and 11, as provided in Section 13 or 14, which shall survive any termination

hereof for any reason, including the expiration hereof due to non-renewal (an “Expiration”)) may be terminated as follows:
 

a.                                       The Company may terminate this Agreement and the Executive’s employment hereunder at any time, with or without Cause,
upon written notice to the Executive.  The Executive may terminate this Agreement and the Executive’s employment hereunder, at any time, with or
without Good Reason.

 
b.                                      In the event of termination by the Company without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason, (i) the effective date thereof shall

be stated in a written notice to the Executive from the Board, which shall not be earlier than 30 days from the date such written notice is delivered to
the Executive, (ii) the Executive shall be entitled to receive all Severance Payments under Section 13(f), (iii) any unvested stock options, stock
appreciation rights, and any other equity-based awards subject to service or time vesting conditions held by the Executive that would have vested
during the twelve (12) month period following the Executive’s termination will vest as of the day immediately preceding the effective date of
termination, (iv) any unvested equity-based awards subject to any performance-based vesting conditions held by the Executive will vest on a pro rata
basis, based on the number of days of the Executive’s employment during the applicable performance period, as of the day immediately preceding
the effective date of termination and shall be paid based on actual performance during the applicable performance period through the date of the
Executive’s termination of employment, and (v) any stock options or stock appreciation rights held by the Executive shall remain exercisable until
the earlier of 24 months after the date of termination or their original expiration date.

 
c.                                       In the event of termination by the Company with Cause, the Executive shall be entitled to receive only the Executive’s salary

through such date of termination, the reimbursement of properly documented reasonable business expenses incurred through such date of
termination, and any bonus amounts as may be payable pursuant to the terms of any written plans in which the Executive was a participant
immediately prior to the effective date of the termination.  The Executive shall also be entitled to exercise the Executive’s rights under COBRA at the
Executive’s expense.

 
d.                                      The following shall constitute “Cause”:
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(i)                                     The willful failure by the Executive to substantially perform the Executive’s duties with the Company (other than any

such failure resulting from the Executive’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness), after a written demand for substantial performance
is delivered to the Executive by the Board, which demand specifically identifies the manner in which the Board believes that the Executive
has not substantially performed the Executive’s duties; or

 
(ii)                                  The Executive’s willful misconduct that is demonstrably and materially injurious to the Company, monetarily or

otherwise; or
 
(iii)                               The Executive’s commission of such acts of dishonesty, fraud, misrepresentation or other acts of moral turpitude as

would prevent the effective performance of the Executive’s duties; or
 
(iv)                              The Executive’s conviction or plea of no contest to a felony or a crime of moral turpitude.
 

For purposes of this subsection d., no act, or failure to act, on the Executive’s part shall be deemed “willful” unless done, or omitted to be
done, by the Executive not in good faith and without the reasonable belief that the Executive’s action or omission was in the best interest of
the Company.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executive shall not be deemed to have been terminated for Cause unless and until there
shall have been delivered to the Executive a copy of a resolution duly adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the non-employee
members of the Board at a meeting of such members (after reasonable notice to the Executive and an opportunity for the Executive, together
with the Executive’s counsel, to be heard before such members of the Board), finding that the Executive has engaged in the conduct set forth
above in this subsection d. and specifying the particulars thereof in detail.

 
e.                                       The Executive shall have “Good Reason” to effect a termination in the event that the Company (i) breaches its obligations to pay

any salary, benefit or bonus due hereunder, or (ii) requires the Executive to relocate more than 50 miles from the Company’s headquarters [or other
current location if not now located at headquarters], (iii) assigns to the Executive any duties inconsistent with the Executive’s position with the
Company or significantly and adversely alters the nature or status of the Executive’s responsibilities or the conditions of the Executive’s employment,
or (iv) reduces the Executive’s base salary and/or bonus opportunity, except for across-the-board reductions similarly affecting all management
personnel of the Company and all management personnel of any corporation or other entity which is in control of the Company; and in the event of
any of (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv), the Executive has given written notice to the Board as to the details of the basis for such Good Reason within thirty (30)
days following the date on which the Executive alleges the event giving rise to such Good Reason occurred, the Company has failed to provide a



reasonable cure within thirty (30) days after its receipt of such notice and the effective date of the termination for Good Reason occurs within 180
days after the initial existence of the facts or circumstances
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constituting Good Reason.  In the event of a termination by the Executive with Good Reason, the Executive will be entitled to all Severance Payments
under Section 13(f).

 
f.                                         The “Severance Payments” consist of the following and, subject to subsection h. of Section 20, shall be paid as follows:  (i) an

amount paid on the tenth business day following the effective date of such termination in one lump sum equal to one (1) times the sum of (A) the
Executive’s annual Base Salary, at the then current effective annual rate, plus (B) the average of the Executive’s actual bonus attributable to each of
the preceding three (3) fiscal years; (ii) the reimbursement of properly documented reasonable business expenses incurred through the date of
termination which shall be paid on the tenth business day following the effective date of such termination; and (iii) the payment by the Company of
premiums on behalf of the Executive, for coverage substantially similar to that provided under the Company’s health, disability and group term life
insurance plans, at the same cost to the Executive as was effective immediately prior to termination, and for so long as the Executive elects to continue
such coverage up to a 12 month period.  To the extent that substantially similar health and welfare benefits become available to the Executive from a
subsequent employer, the Company will set off against the benefits payable hereunder any benefits received by the Executive from any other source. 
The Executive agrees to notify the Company within 30 days after substantially similar health and welfare benefits become available to her from a
subsequent employer.

 
g.                                      In the event of any termination of the Executive other than by the Executive for Good Reason or by the Company without Cause,

participation by the Executive in all compensation and benefit plans of the Company will cease upon the effective termination date and all unvested
bonuses, equity awards and other like items will immediately lapse.  In the event of any termination of the Executive, all amounts owed by the
Executive to the Company for any reasons whatsoever will become immediately due and payable and the Company will transfer to the Executive any
term life insurance policy maintained by the Company for the Executive’s benefit.

 
14.                                 Termination After Change in Control.   If within 24 months following a Change in Control, as defined below, the employment of the

Executive is terminated by the Company without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason then the provisions of Section 13 shall not apply and the
following shall occur:

 
a.                                       Subject to subsection h. of Section 20, on the tenth business day following the effective date of such termination, the Executive

shall receive the following: (i) a lump sum payment equal to two (2) times the sum of (A) the Executive’s Base Salary in effect immediately prior to
the change in control, plus (B) the average of the Executive’s actual bonus attributable to each of the preceding three (3) fiscal years; and (ii) an
amount paid in one lump sum equal to the Executive’s prorated bonus for the then current fiscal year based on actual performance prior to the date of
termination.

 
b.                                      The Company shall pay premiums on behalf of the Executive, for coverage substantially similar to that provided under the

Company’s health, disability and group term life insurance plans, at the same cost to the Executive as was effective immediately prior to termination,
and for so long as the Executive elects to continue such coverage up to a 24
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month period.  To the extent that substantially similar health and welfare benefits become available to the Executive from a subsequent employer, the
Company will set off against the benefits payable hereunder any benefits received by the Executive from any other source.

 
c.                                       Any unvested stock options, stock appreciation rights, and other equity-based awards held by the Executive will vest as of the

day immediately preceding the effective date of termination, all unvested Restricted Share awards held by the Executive will vest as of the day
immediately preceding the effective date of termination and all restrictions will immediately be removed and deemed to have been satisfied, and any
stock options or stock appreciation rights held by the Executive shall remain exercisable until the earlier of 24 months after the date of termination or
their original expiration date.

 
d.                                      The Executive shall be bound by the nonsolicitation provisions of Section 11, which shall remain in full force and effect for a

period of 24 months following the effective date of Executive’s termination.
 

15.                                 Definition of Change in Control .  A “Change in Control” shall be deemed to have occurred if:
 

a.                                       any “person,” as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the “Exchange Act (other than the Company; any trustee or
other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company; or any company owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of the
Company in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of Stock of the Company) is or becomes after the Effective Date the “beneficial owner” (as
defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company (not including in the securities beneficially owned by such
person any securities acquired directly from the Company or its affiliates) representing 40% or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s then
outstanding securities; or

 
b.                                      during any period of two consecutive years (not including any period prior to the Effective Date), individuals who at the

beginning of such period constitute the Board, and any new director (other than a director designated by a person who has entered into an agreement with the
Company to effect a transaction described in subsections a., c. or d. of this Section 15 whose election by the Board or nomination for election by the
Company’s stockholders was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds ( 2/3) of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of the
period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved, cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority thereof; or

 
c.                                       the consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other corporation, other than (A) a merger or

consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining
outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity), in combination with the ownership of any trustee or other fiduciary holding
securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company, at least 75% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the Company or such
surviving entity outstanding immediately after such merger or
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consolidation or (B) a merger or consolidation effected to implement a recapitalization of the Company (or similar transaction) in which no person acquires
more than 50% of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities; or

 
d.                                      the stockholders of the Company approve a plan of complete liquidation of the Company or an agreement for the sale or

disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets;
 

provided, that with respect to any non-qualified deferred compensation that becomes payable on account of the Change in Control, the transaction or event
described in subsection a., b., c. or d. also constitutes a “change in control event,” as defined in Treasury Regulation §1.409A-3(i)(5) if required in order for
the payment not to violate Section 409A of the Code..
 

16.                                 Parachute Payment Matters .
 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if by reason of Section 280G of the Code any payment or benefit received or to be
received by the Executive in connection with a Change in Control or the termination of the Executive’s employment (whether payable pursuant to the terms of
this Agreement (“Contract Payments”) or any other plan, arrangements or agreement with the Company or an Affiliate (as defined below) (collectively with the
Contract Payments, “Total Payments”)) would not be deductible (in whole or part) by the Company, an Affiliate or other person making such payment or
providing such benefit, then the Contract Payments shall be reduced and, if Contract Payments are reduced to zero, other Total Payments shall be reduced
until no portion of the Total Payments is not deductible by reason of Section 280G of the Code, provided, however, that no such reduction shall be made
unless the net after-tax benefit received by the Executive after such reduction would exceed the net after-tax benefit received by the Executive if no such
reduction was made.  The foregoing determination and all determinations under this Section 16 shall be made by the Accountants (as defined below).  For
purposes of this section, “net after-tax benefit” shall mean (i) the Total Payments that would constitute “parachute payments” within the meaning of Section
280G of the Code, less (ii) the amount of all federal, state and local income taxes payable with respect to such payments calculated at the maximum marginal
income tax rate for each year in which the foregoing shall be paid to the Executive (based on the rate in effect for such year as set forth in the Code as in effect
at the time of the first payment of the foregoing), less (iii) the amount of excise taxes imposed with respect to the payments and benefits described in (i) above
by Section 4999 of the Code.  For purposes of the foregoing determinations, (a) no portion of the Total Payments the receipt or enjoyment of which the
Executive shall have effectively waived in writing prior to the date of payment of any Contract Payment shall be taken into account; (b) no portion of the Total
Payments shall be taken into account which in the opinion of the Accountants does not constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section
280G(b)(2) of the Code (without regard to subsection (A)(ii) thereof); (c) the Contract Payments (and, thereafter, other Total Payments) shall be reduced only to
the extent necessary so that the Total Payments in their entirety constitute reasonable compensation for services actually rendered within the meaning of Section
280G(b)(4) of the Code, in the opinion of the Accountants;  and (d) the value of any non-cash benefit or any deferred payment or benefit included in the Total
Payments shall be determined by the Accountants in accordance with the principles of Sections 280G(d)(3) and (4) of the Code.  For purposes of this Section
16, the term
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“Affiliate” means the Company’s successors, any Person whose actions result in a Change in Control or any company affiliated (or which, as a result of the
completion of the transactions causing a Change in Control shall become affiliated) with the Company within the meaning of Section 1504 of the Code and
“Accountants” shall mean the Company’s independent certified public accountants serving immediately prior to the Change in Control, unless the
Accountants are also serving as accountant or auditor for the individual, entity or group effecting the Change in Control, in which case the Company shall
appoint another nationally recognized public accounting firm to make the determinations required hereunder (which accounting firm shall then be referred to as
the Accountants hereunder).  For purposes of making the determinations and calculations required herein, the Accountants may make reasonable assumptions
and approximations concerning applicable taxes and may rely on reasonable, good faith interpretations concerning the application of Sections 280G and 4999
of the Code, provided that the Accountant’s determinations must be made on the basis of  “substantial authority” (within the meaning of Section 6662 of the
Code).  All fees and expenses of the Accountants shall be borne solely by the Company.
 

17.                                 Arbitration of Disputes .
 

a.                                       Any dispute or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any termination of the Executive’s employment, other than
with respect to Sections 8 through 12, shall be settled by final and binding arbitration in the greater Los Angeles metropolitan area in accordance with
the Commercial Arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association, and judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrators may be entered
in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

 
b.                                      Except as provided by applicable law, the fees and expenses of the arbitration panel shall be shared equally by the Executive and

the Company.
 
c.                                       Except as provided by applicable law, the prevailing party in any arbitration brought hereunder shall be entitled to an award of

its costs (including expenses and attorneys’ fees), incurred in such arbitration.
 

18.                                 No Mitigation.   The Executive shall have no duty to attempt to mitigate the level of benefits payable by the Company to the Executive
hereunder, by seeking other employment or otherwise.  To the extent that substantially similar health and welfare benefits become available to the Executive
from a subsequent employer, the Company will discontinue the Executive’s coverage; otherwise, the Company shall not be entitled to set off against the
amounts payable hereunder any amounts received by the Executive from any other source, including any subsequent employer.

 
19.                                 Notices.   Any notices to be given hereunder by either party to the other may be effected either by personal delivery in writing or by mail,

registered or certified, postage prepaid, with return receipt requested.  Mailed notices shall be addressed as follows:
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a.                                       If to the Company:
 

DineEquity, Inc.
450 N. Brand Boulevard
Glendale, CA 91410
Attn:  General Counsel
 

b.                                      If to the Executive:
 
 

Either party may change its address for notice by giving notice in accordance with the terms of this Section 18.
 

20.                                 General Provisions.
 

a.                                       Law Governing.   This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California.
 
b.                                      Invalid Provisions.   If any provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, then such provision shall

be fully severable and this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision had never comprised a
part hereof; and the remaining provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect and shall not be affected by the illegal, invalid, or unenforceable
provision or by its severance herefrom.  Furthermore, in lieu of such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision there shall be added automatically as
a part of this Agreement a provision as similar in terms to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision as may be possible and still be legal,
valid or enforceable.

 
c.                                       Entire Agreement.   This Agreement sets forth the entire understanding of the parties and supersedes all prior agreements or

understandings, whether written or oral, with respect to the subject matter hereof and all agreements, acknowledgments, designations and directions
of the Executive made or given under any Company policy statement or benefit program.  No terms, conditions, warranties, other than those
contained herein, and no amendments or modifications hereto shall be binding unless made in writing and signed by the parties hereto.

 
d.                                      Binding Effect.   This Agreement shall extend to and be binding upon and inure to the benefit to the parties hereto, their respective

heirs, representatives, successors and assigns.  This Agreement may not be assigned by the Executive, but may be assigned by the Company to any
person or entity that succeeds to the ownership or operation of the business in which the Executive is primarily employed by the Company.

 
e.                                       Waiver.   The waiver by either party hereto of a breach of any term or provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be

construed as a waiver of a subsequent
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breach of the same provision by any party or of the breach of any other term or provision of this Agreement.

 
f.                                         Titles.   Titles of the paragraphs herein are used solely for convenience and shall not be used for interpretation or construing any

work, clause, paragraph, or provision of this Agreement.
 
g.                                      Counterparts.   This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but

which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
 

h.                                      Compliance with IRC Section 409A.    The following provisions shall apply to this Agreement with respect to Section 409A of the Code:
 

(i)                                     The lump sum cash severances payments which are payable under clause (i) of subsection f. of Section 14 and under subsection
a. of Section 14 are intended to satisfy the short-term deferral exemption under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(4) and shall be made not later than the
last day of the applicable two and one-half month period with respect to such payment, within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(4).
 

(ii)  If any provision of this Agreement (or of any award of compensation, including equity compensation or benefits) would cause
Executive to incur any additional tax or interest under Section 409A of the Code or any regulations or Treasury guidance promulgated thereunder, the
Company shall, after consulting with Executive, reform such provision to comply with Section 409A of the Code, provided that the Company agrees to
maintain, to the maximum extent practicable, the original intent and economic benefit Executive of the applicable provision without violating the provisions of
Section 409A of the Code.
 

(iii)  Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this subsection h., if Executive is deemed on the Termination Date to be a “specified
employee” within the meaning of that term under Section 409A(a)(2)(B) of the Code, then with regard to any payment or the provision of any benefit that is
required to be delayed in compliance with section 409A(a)(2)(B) of the Code such payment or benefit shall not be made or provided (subject to the last sentence
hereof) prior to the earlier of (A) the expiration of the six (6)-month period measured from the date of the Executive’s “separation from service” (as such term is
defined under Section 409A of the Code) or (B) the date of the Executive’s death (the “Delay Period”).  Upon the expiration of the Delay Period, all payments
and benefits delayed pursuant to this section (whether they would have otherwise been payable in a single sum or in installments in the absence of such delay)
shall be paid or reimbursed Executive in a lump sum, and any remaining payments and benefits due under this Agreement shall be paid or provided in
accordance with the normal payment dates specified for them herein.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that the foregoing applies to the provision of
any ongoing welfare benefits to Executive that would not be required to be delayed if the premiums therefore were paid by Executive, Executive shall pay the
full cost of premiums for such welfare benefits during the Delay Period and the Company shall pay Executive an amount equal to the amount of such
premiums paid by Executive during the Delay Period promptly after its conclusion.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Executive have executed this Agreement as of the date and year first above written.
 
THIS AGREEMENT CONTAINS AN ARBITRATION CLAUSE.
 
 

EXECUTIVE: DineEquity, Inc..:
  
  

By:
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Exhibit A — Executive’s Authorities and Duties

 
During the Employment Period, (A) the Executive shall serve as President, Applebee’s Business Unit, reporting directly to the CEO, with duties, authorities
and responsibilities commensurate with such title and office and (B) the Executive’s services shall be performed at the Applebee’s Business Unit offices in
Lenexa, Kansas.
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Exhibit 10.4

 
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

 
This Employment Agreement (“Agreement”) is made effective as of November 1, 2008 by and between DineEquity, Inc. f/k/a IHOP Corp., a

Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Julia A. Stewart (the “ Executive”).
 
WHEREAS, the Company believes it to be in its best interest to provide for continuity of management and to provide protection for its valuable

trade secrets and confidential information; and
 
WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ the Executive and the Executive is willing to render services to the Company on the terms and

conditions with respect to such employment hereinafter set forth.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of premises and the mutual terms and conditions hereof, the Company and the Executive hereby agree as

follows:
 
1.                                       Employment.   The Company hereby employs the Executive and the Executive hereby accepts employment with the Company upon the

terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.
 
2.                                       Exclusive Services.   The Executive shall devote all necessary working time, ability and attention to the business of the Company during

the term of this Agreement and shall not, directly or indirectly, render any material services to any business, corporation, or organization whether for
compensation or otherwise, without the prior knowledge and written consent of the Board of Directors of the Company (hereinafter referred to as the “Board”). 
During the Employment Period, the Executive may  (A) serve on corporate, civic or charitable boards or committees, (B) deliver lectures, fulfill speaking
engagements or teach at educational institutions and (C) manage personal investments, so long as such activities do not significantly interfere with the
performance of the Executive’s responsibilities as an employee of the Company in accordance with this Agreement and any service on public company boards
of directors is approved in advance by the Board. It is expressly understood and agreed that to the extent that any such activities have been conducted by the
Executive prior to the effective date of this Agreement, the continued conduct of such activities (or the conduct of activities similar in nature and scope thereto)
subsequent to the effective date of this Agreement shall not thereafter be deemed to interfere with the performance of the Executive’s responsibilities to the
Company.

 
3.                                       Duties.   The Executive is hereby employed as the Chief Executive Officer (hereinafter referred to as the “CEO”) of the Company and shall

render services at the principal business offices of the Company, as such may be located from time to time, unless otherwise agreed in writing between the
Board and the Executive.  The Executive shall have such authority and shall perform such duties as are described in Exhibit A attached hereto.

 
4.                                       Term.   This Agreement shall have an initial term of three (3) years commencing as of November 1, 2008.  This Agreement will

automatically renew at the end of the initial term and at the end of each subsequent term, for a subsequent term of one (1) year unless either party gives written
notice of non-renewal to the other at least ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of

 



 
the then current term.  Such notice may be given for any or no reason.   This Agreement is subject to earlier termination as hereinafter provided.

 
5.                                       Compensation.   As compensation for services rendered under this Agreement, the Executive shall be entitled to receive the following:

 
a.                                       Base Salary.   The executive shall be paid a base salary of at least $875,000 per year, payable in 24 equal semi-monthly

installments during the term of this Agreement, prorated for any partial employment month.  Such base salary (“ Base Salary”) shall be reviewed by
the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”) no less frequently than annually.  The Base Salary may be increased by
the Compensation Committee in its discretion, subject to ratification by the Board.  The Base Salary may not be decreased, except in the event of an
across the board salary reduction approved by the Board affecting employees of the Company at the Chief Officer Level (as defined in Section 6(a),
below).

 
b.                                      Additional Compensation .   The Executive shall be paid such additional compensation and bonuses as may be determined and

authorized in the discretion of the Compensation Committee, subject to ratification by the Board.  The Executive’s target bonus, to be payable under
the Company’s annual incentive plan, shall be 100% of the Executive’s Base Salary.
 
6.                                       Benefits.   In addition to the compensation to be paid to the Executive pursuant to Section 5 hereof, the Executive shall further be entitled to

receive the following:
 
a.                                       Participation in Employee Plans .   The Executive shall be entitled to participate in any health, disability, group term life

insurance plan, any pension, retirement, or profit sharing plan, any executive bonus plan, long term incentive plan, deferred compensation plan or
any other perquisites and fringe benefits that may be extended generally from time to time to employees of the Company at the Chief Officer Level. 
For purposes of this Agreement, employees of the Company at the “ Chief Officer Level” shall mean the CEO, the Chief Financial Officer, the Chief
Restaurant Support Officer and such other employees of the Company as may from time to time be designated as being at the Chief Officer Level by
the Board.

 
b.                                      Vacation.   The Executive shall be entitled to vacation as in accordance with the Company’s Vacation Policy for Restaurant

Support Center and Field Office Employees.
 
c.                                       Equity Awards.   The Executive shall be entitled to equity-based compensation awards that may be extended generally from time

to time to employees of the Company at the Chief Officer Level, as approved by the Compensation Committee or the Board, subject to the terms and
conditions of the respective equity-based compensation plans and award agreements and the provisions of this Agreement.
 
7.                                       Reimbursement of Expenses .   Subject to such rules and procedures as from time to time are specified by the Company, the Company

shall reimburse the Executive on a monthly
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basis for reasonable business expenses incurred in the performance of the Executive’s duties under this Agreement.

 
8.                                       Confidentiality/Trade Secrets.   The Executive acknowledges that the Executive’s position with the Company is one of the highest trust

and confidence both by reason of the Executive’s position and by reason of the Executive’s access to and contact with the trade secrets and confidential and
proprietary business information of the Company.  Both during the term of this Agreement and thereafter, the Executive covenants and agrees as follows:

 
a.                                       The Executive shall use best efforts and exercise reasonable diligence to protect and safeguard the trade secrets and confidential

and proprietary information of the Company, including but not limited to any non-public strategies, business plans, marketing and advertising
plans, the identity of its customers and suppliers, its arrangements with customers and suppliers, and its technical and financial data, records,
compilations of information, processes, recipes and specifications relating to its customers, suppliers, products and services;

 
b.                                      The Executive shall not disclose any of such trade secrets and confidential and proprietary information, except as may be

required in the course of the Executive’s employment with the Company or by law; and
 
c.                                       The Executive shall not use, directly or indirectly, for the Executive’s own benefit or for the benefit of another, any of such trade

secrets and confidential and proprietary information.
 
All original and any copies of files, records, documents, emails, drawings, specifications, memoranda, notes, or other documents relating to the

business of the Company, including printed, electronic or digital copies thereof, whether prepared by the Executive or otherwise coming into the Executive’s
possession, shall be the exclusive property of the Company and shall be delivered to the Company and not retained by the Executive upon termination of the
Executive’s employment for any reason whatsoever or at any other time upon request of the Company’s General Counsel or the Board.

 
9.                                       Discoveries.   The Executive covenants and agrees to fully inform the Company of and disclose to the Company all inventions, designs,

improvements, discoveries, and processes (“ Discoveries”) that the Executive has now or may hereafter have during the Executive’s employment with the
Company and that pertain or relate to the business of the Company, including but not limited to the operation and franchising of restaurants, or to any
experimental work, products, services, or processes of the Company in progress or planned for the future, whether conceived by the Executive alone or with
others, and whether or not conceived during regular working hours or in conjunction with the use of any Company assets.  All such Discoveries shall be the
exclusive property of the Company whether or not patent or trademark applications are filed thereon.  The Executive shall assist the Company, at any time
during or after the Executive’s employment, in obtaining patents on all such Discoveries deemed patentable by the Company and shall execute all documents
and do all things necessary to obtain letters patent, vest the Company with full and exclusive title thereto, and protect the same against infringement by others,
all at the expense of the Company.
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10.                                 Non-Competition.   The Executive covenants and agrees that during the period of the Executive’s employment, the Executive shall not,

without the prior written consent of the CEO or the Board, directly or indirectly, as an employee, employer, consultant, agent, principal, partner, shareholder,
corporate officer, director, or through any other kind of ownership (other than ownership of securities of publicly held corporations of which the Executive
owns less than five percent 5% of any class of outstanding securities) or in any other representative or individual capacity, engage in or render any services to
any business in North America engaged in the casual dining restaurant industry, the family dining restaurant industry, or in any other segment of the
restaurant industry in which the Company or any subsidiary of the Company may become involved after the date hereof and prior to the date of termination of
the Executive’s employment.  For purposes of this Agreement “casual dining restaurant industry” consists of “sit down table service” restaurants serving
alcoholic beverages, with a per guest average guest check within the United States of under $20.00 (adjusted upward each year to recognize Company menu
price increases). For purposes of this Agreement “family dining restaurant industry” consists of “sit down table service” restaurants, with a per guest average
guest check within the United States of under $15.00 (adjusted upward each year to recognize Company menu price increases).

 
11.                                 Nonsolicitation.  The Executive agrees that during the period of the Executive’s employment, and for a period of 24 months following the

effective date of the termination of the Executive’s employment for any reason prior to a Change in Control and 36 months following the effective date of the
termination after a Change in Control, the Executive will not, either directly or indirectly, for the Executive or for any third party, except as otherwise agreed to
in writing by the then CEO, solicit, induce, recruit, or cause any other person who is then employed by the Company to terminate his/her employment for the
purpose of joining, associating, or becoming employed with any business or activity that is engaged in the casual dining restaurant industry, the family dining
restaurant industry or any other segment of the restaurant industry in which the Company may become involved after the date hereof and prior to the date of
any termination of employment.

 
12.                                 Remedies for Breach of Covenants of the Executive .

 
a.                                       The Company and the Executive specifically acknowledge and agree that the foregoing covenants of the Executive in Sections 8,

9, 10 and 11 are reasonable in content and scope and are given by the Executive for adequate consideration.  The Company and the Executive further
acknowledge and agree that, if any court of competent jurisdiction or other appropriate authority shall disagree with the parties’ foregoing agreement
as to reasonableness, then such court or other authority shall reform or otherwise the foregoing covenants as reason dictates.

 
b.                                      The covenants set forth in Sections 8, 9, and 11 of this Agreement, as provided in Section 13 or 14, shall continue to be binding

upon the Executive, notwithstanding the termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason whatsoever.  Such covenants
shall be deemed and construed as separate agreements independent of any other provisions of this Agreement and any other agreement between the
Company and the Executive.  The existence of any claim or cause of action by the Executive against the Company, unless predicated on this
Agreement,
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shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement by the Company of any or all such covenants.  It is expressly agreed that the remedy at law for the
breach of any such covenant is inadequate and injunctive relief and specific performance shall be available to prevent the breach or any threatened
breach thereof.

 
c.                                       If the Executive breaches any of the covenants set forth in Sections 8, 9, 10 and 11 of this Agreement, the Executive shall

reimburse the Company for (i) any equity-based compensation received by the Executive from the Company during the twelve (12) month period
preceding the breach, and (ii) any profits realized from the sale of securities of the Company during such twelve (12) month period.
 
13.                                 Termination.   This Agreement (other than Sections 8, 9, and 11, as provided in Section 13 or 14, which shall survive any termination

hereof for any reason, including the expiration hereof due to non-renewal (an “Expiration”)) may be terminated as follows:
 
a.                                       The Company may terminate this Agreement and the Executive’s employment hereunder at any time, with or without Cause,

upon written notice to the Executive.  The Executive may terminate this Agreement and the Executive’s employment hereunder, at any time, with or
without Good Reason.

 
b.                                      In the event of termination by the Company without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason, (i) the effective date thereof shall

be stated in a written notice to the Executive from the Board, which shall not be earlier than 30 days from the date such written notice is delivered to
the Executive, (ii) the Executive shall be entitled to receive all Severance Payments under Section 13(f), (iii) any unvested stock options, stock
appreciation rights, and any other equity-based awards subject to service or time vesting conditions held by the Executive will vest as of the day
immediately preceding the effective date of termination and all restrictions will immediately be removed and deemed to have been satisfied, (iv) any
unvested equity-based awards subject to any performance-based vesting conditions held by the Executive will vest as of the day immediately
preceding the effective date of termination and shall be paid based on actual performance during the applicable performance period through the date of
the Executive’s termination of employment and (v) any stock options or stock appreciation rights held by the Executive shall remain exercisable until
the earlier of 24 months after the date of termination or their original expiration date.

 
c.                                       In the event of termination by the Company with Cause, the Executive shall be entitled to receive only the Executive’s salary

through such date of termination, the reimbursement of properly documented reasonable business expenses incurred through such date of
termination, and any bonus amounts as may be payable pursuant to the terms of any written plans in which the Executive was a participant
immediately prior to the effective date of the termination.  The Executive shall also be entitled to exercise the Executive’s rights under COBRA at the
Executive’s expense.

 
d.                                      The following shall constitute “Cause”:
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(i)                                     The willful failure by the Executive to substantially perform the Executive’s duties with the Company (other than any

such failure resulting from the Executive’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness), after a written demand for substantial performance
is delivered to the Executive by the Board, which demand specifically identifies the manner in which the Board believes that the Executive
has not substantially performed the Executive’s duties; or

 
(ii)                                  The Executive’s willful misconduct that is demonstrably and materially injurious to the Company, monetarily or

otherwise; or
 
(iii)                               The Executive’s commission of such acts of dishonesty, fraud, misrepresentation or other acts of moral turpitude as

would prevent the effective performance of the Executive’s duties; or
 
(iv)                              The Executive’s conviction or plea of no contest to a felony or a crime of moral turpitude.
 

For purposes of this subsection d., no act, or failure to act, on the Executive’s part shall be deemed “willful” unless done, or omitted to be
done, by the Executive not in good faith and without the reasonable belief that the Executive’s action or omission was in the best interest of
the Company.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executive shall not be deemed to have been terminated for Cause unless and until there
shall have been delivered to the Executive a copy of a resolution duly adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the non-employee
members of the Board at a meeting of such members (after reasonable notice to the Executive and an opportunity for the Executive, together
with the Executive’s counsel, to be heard before such members of the Board), finding that the Executive has engaged in the conduct set forth
above in this subsection d. and specifying the particulars thereof in detail.
 
e.                                       The Executive shall have “Good Reason” to effect a termination in the event that the Company (i) breaches its obligations to pay

any salary, benefit or bonus due hereunder, or (ii) requires the Executive to relocate more than 50 miles from the Company’s headquarters,
(iii) assigns to the Executive any duties inconsistent with the Executive’s position with the Company or significantly and adversely alters the nature
or status of the Executive’s responsibilities or the conditions of the Executive’s employment, or (iv) reduces the Executive’s base salary and/or bonus
opportunity, except for across-the-board reductions similarly affecting all management personnel of the Company and all management personnel of
any corporation or other entity which is in control of the Company; and in the event of any of (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv), the Executive has given written
notice to the Board as to the details of the basis for such Good Reason within thirty (30) days following the date on which the Executive alleges the
event giving rise to such Good Reason occurred, the Company has failed to provide a reasonable cure within thirty (30) days after its receipt of such
notice and the effective date of the termination for Good Reason occurs within 180 days after the initial existence of the facts or circumstances



constituting Good Reason.  In the event of a termination by the
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Executive with Good Reason, the Executive will be entitled to all Severance Payments under Section 13(f).

 
f.                                         The “Severance Payments” consist of the following and, subject to subsection h. of Section 20, shall be paid as follows:  (i) an

amount paid on the tenth business day following the effective date of such termination in one lump sum equal to two (2) times the sum of (A) the
Executive’s annual Base Salary, at the then current effective annual rate, plus (B) the average of the Executive’s actual bonus attributable to each of
the preceding three (3) fiscal years; (ii) the reimbursement of properly documented reasonable business expenses incurred through the date of
termination which shall be paid on the tenth business day following the effective date of such termination; and (iii) the payment by the Company of
premiums on behalf of the Executive, for coverage substantially similar to that provided under the Company’s health, disability and group term life
insurance plans, at the same cost to the Executive as was effective immediately prior to termination, and for so long as the Executive elects to continue
such coverage up to a 24 month period.  To the extent that substantially similar health and welfare benefits become available to the Executive from a
subsequent employer, the Company will set off against the benefits payable hereunder any benefits received by the Executive from any other source. 
The Executive agrees to notify the Company within 30 days after substantially similar health and welfare benefits become available to her from a
subsequent employer.

 
g.                                      In the event of any termination of the Executive other than by the Executive for Good Reason or by the Company without Cause,

participation by the Executive in all compensation and benefit plans of the Company will cease upon the effective termination date and all unvested
bonuses, equity awards and other like items will immediately lapse.  In the event of any termination of the Executive, all amounts owed by the
Executive to the Company for any reasons whatsoever will become immediately due and payable and the Company will transfer to the Executive any
term life insurance policy maintained by the Company for the Executive’s benefit.

 
14.                                 Change in Control and Termination Thereafter.   Immediately prior to the occurrence of a Change in Control, as defined

below, any unvested stock options, stock appreciation rights, and other equity-based awards held by the Executive will vest, all unvested Restricted
Share awards held by the Executive will vest and all restrictions will immediately be removed and deemed to have been satisfied, and any stock
options or stock appreciation rights held by the Executive shall remain exercisable until the earlier of 24 months after the date of termination or their
original expiration date.  In addition, if within 24 months following a Change in Control, the employment of the Executive is terminated by the
Company without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason then the provisions of Section 13 shall not apply and the following shall occur:
 

a.                                       Subject to subsection h. of Section 20, on the tenth business day following the effective date of such termination, the Executive
shall receive the following: (i) a lump sum payment equal to three (3) times the sum of (A) the Executive’s Base Salary in effect immediately prior to
the change in control, plus (B) the average of the Executive’s actual bonus attributable to each of the preceding three (3) fiscal years; and (ii) an
amount paid in
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one lump sum equal to the Executive’s prorated bonus for the then current fiscal year based on actual performance prior to the date of termination.

 
b.                                      The Company shall pay premiums on behalf of the Executive, for coverage substantially similar to that provided under the

Company’s health, disability and group term life insurance plans, at the same cost to the Executive as was effective immediately prior to termination,
and for so long as the Executive elects to continue such coverage up to a 36 month period.  To the extent that substantially similar health and welfare
benefits become available to the Executive from a subsequent employer, the Company will set off against the benefits payable hereunder any benefits
received by the Executive from any other source.

 
c.                                       The Executive shall be bound by the nonsolicitation provisions of Section 11, which shall remain in full force and effect for a

period of 36 months following the effective date of Executive’s termination.
 

15.                                 Definition of Change in Control .  A “Change in Control” shall be deemed to have occurred if:
 

a.                                       any “person,” as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the “Exchange Act (other than the Company; any trustee or
other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company; or any company owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of the
Company in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of Stock of the Company) is or becomes after the Effective Date the “beneficial owner” (as
defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company (not including in the securities beneficially owned by such
person any securities acquired directly from the Company or its affiliates) representing 40% or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s then
outstanding securities; or

 
b.                                      during any period of two consecutive years (not including any period prior to the Effective Date), individuals who at the

beginning of such period constitute the Board, and any new director (other than a director designated by a person who has entered into an agreement with the
Company to effect a transaction described in subsections a., c. or d. of this Section 15 whose election by the Board or nomination for election by the
Company’s stockholders was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds ( 2/3) of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of the
period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved, cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority thereof; or

 
c.                                       the consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other corporation, other than (A) a merger or

consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining
outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity), in combination with the ownership of any trustee or other fiduciary holding
securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company, at least 75% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the Company or such
surviving entity outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation or (B) a merger or consolidation effected to implement a recapitalization of the
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Company (or similar transaction) in which no person acquires more than 50% of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities; or

 
d.                                      the stockholders of the Company approve a plan of complete liquidation of the Company or an agreement for the sale or

disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets;
 
provided, that with respect to any non-qualified deferred compensation that becomes payable on account of the Change in Control, the transaction or event
described in subsection a., b., c. or d. also constitutes a “change in control event,” as defined in Treasury Regulation §1.409A-3(i)(5) if required in order for
the payment not to violate Section 409A of the Code..
 

16.                                 Parachute Payment Matters .
 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if by reason of Section 280G of the Code any payment or benefit received or to be
received by the Executive in connection with a Change in Control or the termination of the Executive’s employment (whether payable pursuant to the terms of
this Agreement (“Contract Payments”) or any other plan, arrangements or agreement with the Company or an Affiliate (as defined below) (collectively with the
Contract Payments, “Total Payments”)) would not be deductible (in whole or part) by the Company, an Affiliate or other person making such payment or
providing such benefit, then the Contract Payments shall be reduced and, if Contract Payments are reduced to zero, other Total Payments shall be reduced
until no portion of the Total Payments is not deductible by reason of Section 280G of the Code, provided, however, that no such reduction shall be made
unless the net after-tax benefit received by the Executive after such reduction would exceed the net after-tax benefit received by the Executive if no such
reduction was made.  The foregoing determination and all determinations under this Section 16 shall be made by the Accountants (as defined below).  For
purposes of this section, “net after-tax benefit” shall mean (i) the Total Payments that would constitute “parachute payments” within the meaning of
Section 280G of the Code, less (ii) the amount of all federal, state and local income taxes payable with respect to such payments calculated at the maximum
marginal income tax rate for each year in which the foregoing shall be paid to the Executive (based on the rate in effect for such year as set forth in the Code as
in effect at the time of the first payment of the foregoing), less (iii) the amount of excise taxes imposed with respect to the payments and benefits described in
(i) above by Section 4999 of the Code.  For purposes of the foregoing determinations, (a) no portion of the Total Payments the receipt or enjoyment of which
the Executive shall have effectively waived in writing prior to the date of payment of any Contract Payment shall be taken into account; (b) no portion of the
Total Payments shall be taken into account which in the opinion of the Accountants does not constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of
Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code (without regard to subsection (A)(ii) thereof); (c) the Contract Payments (and, thereafter, other Total Payments) shall be
reduced only to the extent necessary so that the Total Payments in their entirety constitute reasonable compensation for services actually rendered within the
meaning of Section 280G(b)(4) of the Code, in the opinion of the Accountants;  and (d) the value of any non-cash benefit or any deferred payment or benefit
included in the Total Payments shall be determined by the Accountants in accordance with the principles of Sections 280G(d)(3) and (4) of the Code.  For
purposes of this Section 16, the term “Affiliate” means the Company’s successors, any Person whose actions result in a Change in
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Control or any company affiliated (or which, as a result of the completion of the transactions causing a Change in Control shall become affiliated) with the
Company within the meaning of Section 1504 of the Code and “Accountants” shall mean the Company’s independent certified public accountants serving
immediately prior to the Change in Control, unless the Accountants are also serving as accountant or auditor for the individual, entity or group effecting the
Change in Control, in which case the Company shall appoint another nationally recognized public accounting firm to make the determinations required
hereunder (which accounting firm shall then be referred to as the Accountants hereunder).  For purposes of making the determinations and calculations
required herein, the Accountants may make reasonable assumptions and approximations concerning applicable taxes and may rely on reasonable, good faith
interpretations concerning the application of Sections 280G and 4999 of the Code, provided that the Accountant’s determinations must be made on the basis
of  “substantial authority” (within the meaning of Section 6662 of the Code).  All fees and expenses of the Accountants shall be borne solely by the Company.
 

17.                              Arbitration of Disputes .
 
a.                                       Any dispute or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any termination of the Executive’s employment, other than

with respect to Sections 8 through 12, shall be settled by final and binding arbitration in the greater Los Angeles metropolitan area in accordance with
the Commercial Arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association, and judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrators may be entered
in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

 
b.                                      Except as provided by applicable law, the fees and expenses of the arbitration panel shall be shared equally by the Executive and

the Company.
 
c.                                       Except as provided by applicable law, the prevailing party in any arbitration brought hereunder shall be entitled to an award of

its costs (including expenses and attorneys’ fees), incurred in such arbitration.
 
18.                                 No Mitigation.   The Executive shall have no duty to attempt to mitigate the level of benefits payable by the Company to the Executive

hereunder, by seeking other employment or otherwise.  To the extent that substantially similar health and welfare benefits become available to the Executive
from a subsequent employer, the Company will discontinue the Executive’s coverage; otherwise, the Company shall not be entitled to set off against the
amounts payable hereunder any amounts received by the Executive from any other source, including any subsequent employer.

 
19.                                 Notices.   Any notices to be given hereunder by either party to the other may be effected either by personal delivery in writing or by mail,

registered or certified, postage prepaid, with return receipt requested.  Mailed notices shall be addressed as follows:
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a. If to the Company:

  
DineEquity, Inc.
450 N. Brand Boulevard
Glendale, CA 91410
Attn: General Counsel

  
b. If to the Executive:

 
 
Either party may change its address for notice by giving notice in accordance with the terms of this Section 18.

 
20.                                 General Provisions.

 
a.                                       Law Governing.   This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California.
 
b.                                      Invalid Provisions.   If any provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, then such provision shall

be fully severable and this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision had never comprised a
part hereof; and the remaining provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect and shall not be affected by the illegal, invalid, or unenforceable
provision or by its severance herefrom.  Furthermore, in lieu of such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision there shall be added automatically as
a part of this Agreement a provision as similar in terms to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision as may be possible and still be legal,
valid or enforceable.

 
c.                                       Entire Agreement.   This Agreement sets forth the entire understanding of the parties and supersedes all prior agreements or

understandings, whether written or oral, with respect to the subject matter hereof and all agreements, acknowledgments, designations and directions
of the Executive made or given under any Company policy statement or benefit program.  No terms, conditions, warranties, other than those
contained herein, and no amendments or modifications hereto shall be binding unless made in writing and signed by the parties hereto.

 
d.                                      Binding Effect.   This Agreement shall extend to and be binding upon and inure to the benefit to the parties hereto, their respective

heirs, representatives, successors and assigns.  This Agreement may not be assigned by the Executive, but may be assigned by the Company to any
person or entity that succeeds to the ownership or operation of the business in which the Executive is primarily employed by the Company.

 
e.                                       Waiver.   The waiver by either party hereto of a breach of any term or provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be

construed as a waiver of a subsequent
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breach of the same provision by any party or of the breach of any other term or provision of this Agreement.

 
f.                                         Titles.   Titles of the paragraphs herein are used solely for convenience and shall not be used for interpretation or construing any

work, clause, paragraph, or provision of this Agreement.
 
g.                                      Counterparts.   This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but

which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
 

h.                                      Compliance with IRC Section 409A.    The following provisions shall apply to this Agreement with respect to Section 409A of the Code:
 

(i)                                 The lump sum cash severances payments which are payable under clause (i) of subsection f. of Section 14 and under subsection
a. of Section 14 are intended to satisfy the short-term deferral exemption under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(4) and shall be made not later than the
last day of the applicable two and one-half month period with respect to such payment, within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(4).
 

(ii)  If any provision of this Agreement (or of any award of compensation, including equity compensation or benefits) would cause
Executive to incur any additional tax or interest under Section 409A of the Code or any regulations or Treasury guidance promulgated thereunder, the
Company shall, after consulting with Executive, reform such provision to comply with Section 409A of the Code, provided that the Company agrees to
maintain, to the maximum extent practicable, the original intent and economic benefit Executive of the applicable provision without violating the provisions of
Section 409A of the Code.
 

(iii)  Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this subsection h., if Executive is deemed on the Termination Date to be a “specified
employee” within the meaning of that term under Section 409A(a)(2)(B) of the Code, then with regard to any payment or the provision of any benefit that is
required to be delayed in compliance with section 409A(a)(2)(B) of the Code such payment or benefit shall not be made or provided (subject to the last sentence
hereof) prior to the earlier of (A) the expiration of the six (6)-month period measured from the date of the Executive’s “separation from service” (as such term is
defined under Section 409A of the Code) or (B) the date of the Executive’s death (the “Delay Period”).  Upon the expiration of the Delay Period, all payments
and benefits delayed pursuant to this section (whether they would have otherwise been payable in a single sum or in installments in the absence of such delay)
shall be paid or reimbursed Executive in a lump sum, and any remaining payments and benefits due under this Agreement shall be paid or provided in
accordance with the normal payment dates specified for them herein.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that the foregoing applies to the provision of
any ongoing welfare benefits to Executive that would not be required to be delayed if the premiums therefore were paid by Executive, Executive shall pay the
full cost of premiums for such welfare benefits during the Delay Period and the Company shall pay Executive an amount equal to the amount of such
premiums paid by Executive during the Delay Period promptly after its conclusion.

 
12



 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Executive have executed this Agreement as of the date and year first above written.
 
THIS AGREEMENT CONTAINS AN ARBITRATION CLAUSE.

 
 
EXECUTIVE: DineEquity, Inc..:
  
  

By:
  
  

By:
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Exhibit A – Executive’s Authorities and Duties

 
During the Employment Period, (A) the Executive shall serve as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, reporting directly to the Board of Directors of the
Company, as a member of the Board and as Chairman of the Board, with duties, authorities and responsibilities commensurate with such title and office and
(B) the Executive’s services shall be performed at the Company’s headquarters Glendale, California.
 
The Chief Executive Officer shall report directly to the Board.  All other officers of the Company shall report directly to the Chief Executive Officer.
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Exhibit 10.16
 

DINEEQUITY, INC.
EXECUTIVE SEVERANCE AND
CHANGE IN CONTROL POLICY

 
1. Purpose. The DineEquity, Inc. Executive Severance and Change in Control Policy (“the Policy”) is established effective October 13, 2008, to provide
severance benefits under specified circumstances to Executives (as defined below) of DineEquity, Inc. or its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively the
“Company”) who are in a position to contribute materially to the success of the Company.  As consideration for severance benefits under this Policy, the
Executive shall release the Company from any and all actions, suits, proceedings, claims and demands related to employment with the Company and to the
termination by signing a waiver and release document in a form provided by the Company. Such document shall include a statement that benefits under this
Policy are conditioned upon the Company’s receipt of a signed release.
 
2. Administration . This Policy is administered by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The Chief Executive Officer has discretion and authority
with respect to the administration, interpretation and application of the Policy, except as expressly limited by the terms of the Policy. The Chief Executive
Officer must receive approval from the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Committee”) in order to authorize severance benefits outside of
the terms of this Policy to the employees covered by this Policy.
 
3. Participation. The Committee shall select the Executives who are eligible for severance under this Policy (the “Participants”).  Executives who are eligible
for Severance under this Policy are listed by job title on Exhibit A, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.  Additions to or deletions
from the list of Participants shall be reflected in an amendment to Exhibit A to this Policy approved by the Committee.  An Executive who is entitled to
severance benefits pursuant to a separate written agreement with the Company shall not be eligible for severance benefits under this Policy whether or not his or
her position is listed on Exhibit A.
 
4. Definitions.
 
  a.  Base Salary.  “Base Salary” means the fixed annual compensation (excluding bonuses and other benefits) paid to an employee regularly each pay period
for performing assigned job responsibilities.
 
  b.  Cause.  “Cause” means, as determined by the Company,
 

(i)            The willful failure by the Participant to substantially perform his or her duties with the Company (other than any such failure
resulting from the Participant’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness);

 
(ii)           The Participant’s willful misconduct that is demonstrably and materially injurious to the Company, monetarily or otherwise;
 



 
(iii)          The Participant’s commission of such acts of dishonesty, fraud, misrepresentation or other acts of moral turpitude as would

prevent the effective performance of the Participant’s duties; or
 
(iv)          The Participant’s conviction or plea of no contest to a felony or a crime of moral turpitude.
 

  c.  Change in Control.  A “Change in Control” shall be deemed to have occurred if:
 

(i)            any “person,” as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the
“Exchange Act”) (other than the Company; any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company; or any company
owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of Stock of the Company) is or
becomes after the Effective Date the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company
(not including in the securities beneficially owned by such person any securities acquired directly from the Company or its affiliates) representing 35% or
more of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities;

 
(ii)           during any period of two consecutive years (not including any period prior to the Effective Date), individuals who at the

beginning of such period constitute the Board, and any new director (other than a director designated by a person who has entered into an agreement with the
Company to effect a transaction described in subsections (i), (iii) or (iv) of this Section 4.c.) whose election by the Board or nomination for election by the
Company’s stockholders was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds ( 2/3) of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of the
period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved, cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority thereof; or

 
(iii)          the consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other corporation, other than (A) a merger or

consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining
outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity), in combination with the ownership of any trustee or other fiduciary holding
securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company, at least 75% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the Company or such
surviving entity outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation or (B) a merger or consolidation effected to implement a recapitalization of the
Company (or similar transaction) in which no person acquires more than 50% of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities; or

 
(iv).         the stockholders of the Company approve a plan of complete liquidation of the Company or an agreement for the sale or

disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets.
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  d.  Executive.  “Executive” means an employee of the Company with the title of vice president or higher.
 
  e. Good Reason.  A Participant shall have “Good Reason” to effect a voluntary termination of his or her employment in the event that the Company (i)
breaches its obligations to pay any salary, benefit or bonus due to him or her, (ii) requires the Executive to relocate more than 50 miles from the Company’s
headquarters, (iii) assigns to the Executive any duties inconsistent with the Executive’s position with the Company or significantly and adversely alters the
nature or status of the Executive’s responsibilities or the conditions of the Executive’s employment, or (iv) reduces the Executive’s base salary and/or bonus
opportunity, except for across-the-board reductions similarly affecting all management personnel of the Company and all management personnel of any
corporation or other entity which is in control of the Company; and in the event of any of (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv), the Executive has given written notice to the
Committee or the Board of Directors as to the details of the basis for such Good Reason within thirty (30) days following the date on which the Executive
alleges the event giving rise to such Good Reason occurred, the Company has failed to provide a reasonable cure within thirty (30) days after its receipt of such
notice and the effective date of the termination for Good Reason occurs within 90 days after the initial existence of the facts or circumstances constituting Good
Reason.
 
  f.  Severance Benefits.   “Severance Benefits” means the benefits set forth in Section 5 of this Policy.
 
  g.  Severance Benefits Subsequent to a Change in Control.  “Severance Benefits Subsequent to a Change in Control” means the benefits set forth in
Section 6 of this Policy.
 
  h.  Years of Service.  “Years of Service” means the total of all full years of service beginning with the Participant’s first day of employment with the
Company.
 
5. Severance Benefits . (a) Any Participant whose employment with the Company is involuntarily terminated by the Company for reasons other than Cause
shall be eligible for Severance Benefits hereunder provided the Participant has returned a signed Release to the Committee within the time period requested by
the Committee and has not revoked the Release within the time permitted under any applicable state and federal laws.  For purposes of this policy, involuntary
termination by the Company shall mean a separation of service within the meaning of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”) and the
regulations thereunder, which separation is initiated by the Company.    The amount of Severance Pay for which a Participant is eligible hereunder shall be
determined in accordance with his or her length of service with the Company, as follows:
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Years of Service Severance Pay Amount
Less than Five Years Six (6) months Base Salary plus prorated bonus under Executive Incentive Plan (based on months of total performance period

completed prior to termination)
Five Years or More Twelve (12) months Base Salary plus prorated bonus under Executive Incentive Plan (based on months of total performance

period completed prior to termination)
 
  b.  Method of Payment. Severance Pay shall be paid to an eligible Participant in a lump sum by check issued within 5 business days following the expiration
of any applicable revocation period contained in the release or permitted under any applicable state and federal laws or the business day following the
Participant’s last day of employment, whichever is later.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event the amount of Severance Pay to which an eligible
Participant is entitled under this Plan exceeds the limit described in Code Section 401(a)(17), the amount within that limit will be paid in an initial lump sum
in the time period described above and the remainder will be paid on the first payroll date following the date that is six months after the Participant’s
termination of employment.
 
  c.  Death of Participant. If a Participant dies after signing the release and prior to receiving Severance Pay to which he or she is entitled pursuant to the Policy,
payment shall be made to the beneficiary designated by the Participant to the Company or, in the event of no designation of beneficiary, then to the estate of the
deceased Participant.
 
  d. The Company shall provide standard outplacement services at the expense of the Company, but not to exceed in total an amount equal to $5,000, from an
outplacement firm selected by the Company. In order to receive outplacement services, the Participant must begin utilizing the services within 90 days of his or
her date of termination.
 
6.  Severance Benefits Subsequent to a Change in Control . (a) Any Participant whose employment with the Company is involuntarily terminated by the
Company for reasons other than Cause within 18 months following a Change in Control or whose employment is voluntarily terminated by the Participant for
Good Reason within 18 months following a Change in Control shall be eligible for Severance Benefits hereunder provided the Participant has returned a signed
Release to the Committee within the time period requested by the Committee and has not revoked the Release within the time permitted under any applicable
state and federal laws.  The amount of Severance Pay for which a Participant is eligible hereunder shall be twenty four (24) months Base Salary plus a sum
equal to the greater of the Participant’s target bonus for the year in which the termination takes place or the average of the bonuses received by the Participant
pursuant to the Company’s Executive Incentive Plan or other similar bonus plan relating to the prior three fiscal years.  In addition, any unvested stock
options, restricted stock or other unvested equity awards or grants shall fully vest as of the day prior to the date of the
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Participant’s termination.  Severance Benefits Subsequent to a Change in Control shall be in lieu of any Severance Benefits which accrue under Section 5 of
this Policy.
 
  b.  Method of Payment. Severance Pay shall be paid to an eligible Participant in a lump sum by check issued within 5 business days following the expiration
of any applicable revocation period contained in the release or permitted under any applicable state and federal laws or the business day following the
Participant’s last day of employment, whichever is later.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event the amount of Severance Pay to which an eligible
Participant is entitled under this Plan exceeds the limit described in Code Section 401(a)(17), the amount within that limit will be paid in an initial lump sum
in the time period described above and the remainder will be paid on the first payroll date following the date that is six months after the Participant’s
termination of employment.
 
  c.  Death of Participant. If a Participant dies after signing the release and prior to receiving Severance Pay to which he or she is entitled pursuant to the Policy,
payment shall be made to the beneficiary designated by the Participant to the Company or, in the event of no designation of beneficiary, then to the estate of the
deceased Participant.
 
  d. The Company shall provide standard outplacement services at the expense of the Company, but not to exceed in total an amount equal to $5,000, from an
outplacement firm selected by the Company. In order to receive outplacement services, the Participant must begin utilizing the services within 90 days of his or
her date of termination.
 
7. Funding. The Policy shall at all times be entirely unfunded and no provision shall at any time be made with respect to segregating assets of the Company
for payment of any Severance Pay or Severance Benefits hereunder. No Participant or other person shall have any interest in any particular assets of the
Company by reason of the right to receive Severance Pay or Severance Benefits under the Policy and any such Participant or any other person shall have only
the rights of a general unsecured creditor of the Company with respect to any rights under the Policy.
 
8. Taxation. All Severance Pay and Severance Benefits shall be subject to federal, state and local tax deductions and withholding for the same.
 
9. Non-Exclusivity of Rights.  The terms of the Policy shall not prevent or limit the right of a Participant to receive any base annual salary, pension or welfare
benefit, perquisite, bonus or other payment provided by the Company to the Participant, except for such rights as the Participant may have specifically
waived in writing. Amounts that are vested benefits or which the Participant is otherwise entitled to receive under any benefit policy or program provided by the
Company shall be payable in accordance with the terms of such policy or program.
 
10. Amendment and Termination. This Policy may be amended or terminated by the Committee acting in its sole discretion at any time. In addition,
Participants may be added and deleted by the Committee acting in its sole discretion at any time. No such
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termination or amendment shall affect the rights of any individual who is then entitled to receive Severance Pay at the time of such amendment or termination.
Severance Pay is not intended to be a vested right. The Chief Executive Officer shall have the right in his sole discretion to interpret the Policy and make all
other determinations he or she deems necessary or advisable for the administration of the Policy.
 
11. Non-Assignability. Severance Benefits pursuant to the Policy shall not be subject in any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment,
pledge, encumbrance or charge prior to actual receipt thereof by a Participant; and any attempt to so anticipate, alienate, sell, transfer, assign, pledge,
encumber or charge prior to such receipt shall be void; and the Company shall not be liable in any manner for, or subject to, the debts, contracts, liabilities,
engagements or torts of any person entitled to any Severance Benefits under this Policy.
 
12. Termination of Employment. Nothing in the Policy shall be deemed to entitle a Participant to continued employment with the Company, and the rights
of the Company to terminate the employment of a Participant shall continue as though the Policy were not in effect.
 
13. Confidential Information.  As a condition of receiving Severance Pay, Participants shall agree to hold, in a fiduciary capacity for the benefit of the
Company, all confidential information regarding the Company acquired by the Participant while employed by the Company. This confidential information
may include, but is not limited to, information regarding the Company’s business practices, trade secrets, policies, customer lists, contracts, financial and
market data, marketing reports, pricing, business opportunities and other information of a confidential nature. In consideration of the Severance Benefits
received by a Participant pursuant to this Policy, Participant shall agree and covenant that he or she (i) shall not use to the Company’s detriment and (ii) shall
not divulge, publicly or privately, any specified or other such confidential information regarding any aspect of the Company’s business acquired during or as
a result of his or her employment with the Company. Furthermore, to the extent that disclosure of any such information is controlled by statute, regulation or
other law, Participant shall agree that he or she is bound by such laws and that this Policy does not operate as a waiver of any such non-disclosure
requirement. In the event of any breach of confidentiality, the Company shall be entitled to injunctive relief, in addition to all other rights it may have at law or
in equity.
 
14. Governing Law. The terms of the Policy shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of California
including all matters of construction, validity and performance.
 
15. Arbitration.  Any dispute or claim arising out of or relating to this Policy shall be settled by final and binding arbitration in accordance with the
Commercial Arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association, and judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrators may be entered in any court
having jurisdiction thereof.  The fees and expenses of the arbitration panel shall be shared equally by the Participant and the
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Company.  The prevailing party in any arbitration brought hereunder shall be entitled to an award of costs (including expenses and attorneys’ fees) incurred in
such arbitration.
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Policy to be executed in its name by its duly authorized officer as of the 13th day of  October, 2008.
 
 
DineEquity, Inc.
 
 
By:
 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT A

 
DineEquity, Inc.
 
Senior Vice President, Human Resources
Vice President, Legal, Secretary and General counsel
Vice President, Corporate Controller
 
IHOP Business Unit
 
Senior Vice President, Marketing
Vice President, Finance
Vice President, Franchise & Development
Vice President, Operations Services
 
Applebee’s Business Unit
 
Senior Vice President, Operations
President, International Division
Senior Vice President, Franchise & Development
Senior Vice President, Finance
Vice President, Operations Excellence
Vice President, HR
Senior Vice President, Marketing
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Exhibit 21 

SUBSIDIARIES OF DINEEQUITY, INC.
As of December 31, 2008 

Name of Entity  

State or Other
Jurisdiction of

Incorporation or
Organization

DineEquity, Inc.  DE
International House of Pancakes, LLC  DE
III Industries of Canada, LTD  Canada
IHOP of Canada ULC  Canada
Blue Roof Advertising, Inc.  CA
IHOP Holdings, LLC  DE
IHOP Franchising, LLC  DE
IHOP Property Leasing, LLC  DE
IHOP Property Leasing II, LLC  DE
IHOP Properties, LLC  DE
IHOP Realty, LLC  DE
IHOP Real Estate, LLC  DE
IHOP IP, LLC  DE
IHOP Franchise Company, LLC  DE
A.I.I. Euro Services (Holland) B.V.  Holland
ACMC, Inc.  V A
AFSS, Inc.  KS
AII Services—Europe, Limited  U.K.
Anne Arundel Apple Holding Corporation  MD
Apple American Limited Partnership of Minnesota  MN
Apple Vermont Restaurants, Inc.  VT
Applebee's Beverage, Inc.  TX
Applebee's Brazil, LLC  KS
Applebee's Canada Corp.  Canada
Applebee's International, Inc.  DE
Applebee's Investments, LLC  KS
Applebee's Michigan Services, LLC  MI
Applebee's Northeast, Inc.  MA
Applebee's of Calvert County, Inc.  MD
Applebee's of Maryland, Inc.  MD
Applebee's of Michigan, Inc.  MI
Applebee's of Minnesota, Inc.  MN
Applebee's of Nevada, Inc.  NV
Applebee's of New Mexico, Inc.  NM
Applebee's of St. Mary's County, Inc.  MD
Applebee's of Texas, Inc.  TX
Applebee's of Virginia, Inc.  V A
Applebee's Restaurantes Brasil, LTDA.  Brazil
Applebee's Restaurantes De Mexico S.de R.L. de C.V.  Mexico
Applebee's UK, LLC  KS
Applebee's Enterprises, LLC  DE
Applebee's Franchising, LLC  DE
Applebee's Holdings II Corp.  DE
Applebee's Holdings, LLC  DE



Applebee's IP, LLC  DE



Name of Entity  

State or Other
Jurisdiction of

Incorporation or
Organization

Applebee's Restaurants Allegany County Licensing, LLC  DE
Applebee's Restaurants Calvert County Licensing, LLC  DE
Applebee's Restaurants Kansas, LLC  KS
Applebee's Restaurants Maryland Licensing, LLC  DE
Applebee's Restaurants Mid-Atlantic, LLC  DE
Applebee's Restaurants North, LLC  DE
Applebee's Restaurants St. Mary's County Licensing, LLC  DE
Applebee's Restaurants Texas, LLC  TX
Applebee's Restaurants Vermont, Inc.  VT
Applebee's Restaurants West, LLC  DE
Applebee's Restaurants, Inc.  KS
Applebee's Services, Inc.  KS
Gourmet Beverage of Georgia, Inc.  GA
Gourmet Beverage of Kansas, Inc.  KS
Gourmet Systems Beverage, Inc.  TX
Gourmet Systems of Arizona, Inc.  AZ
Gourmet Systems of Brazil, LLC  KS
Gourmet Systems of California, Inc.  CA
Gourmet Systems of Georgia, Inc.  GA
Gourmet Systems of Kansas, Inc.  KS
Gourmet Systems of Minnesota, Inc.  MN
Gourmet Systems of Nevada, Inc.  NV
Gourmet Systems of New York, Inc.  NY
Gourmet Systems of Pennsylvania, Inc.  P A
Gourmet Systems of Tennessee, Inc.  TN
Gourmet Systems of Texas, Inc.  TX
Gourmet Systems, Inc.  MO
Gourmetwest Nevada, Limited Liability Company  NV
Innovative Restaurant Concepts, Inc.  GA
IRC Kansas, Inc.  KS
Neighborhood Insurance, Inc.  VT
RB International, Inc.  KS
Rio Bravo Restaurant, Inc.  NY
Rio Bravo Services, Inc.  KS
Shanghai Applebee's Restaurant Management Co. LTD.  Xuhui District, Puxi, China
Summit Restaurants, Inc.  GA
The Heidi Fund, Inc.  KS
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Exhibit 23.1 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

        We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-46361) pertaining to the IHOP Corp. 1991 Stock
Incentive Plan and in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-71768) pertaining to the IHOP Corp. 2001 Stock Incentive Plan of DineEquity,
Inc. and Subsidiaries of our reports dated February 25, 2009, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries
and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for
the year ended December 31, 2008.

  ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Los Angeles, California

February 25, 2009
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Exhibit 31.1 

Certification Pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, As Amended 

I, Julia A. Stewart, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of DineEquity, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 26, 2009

  /s/ JULIA A. STEWART



Julia A. Stewart
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2 

Certification Pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, As Amended 

I, Greggory Kalvin, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of DineEquity, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 26, 2009

  /s/ GREGGORY KALVIN



Greggory Kalvin
Vice President, Corporate Controller (Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1 

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

        In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of DineEquity, Inc. (the "Company") for the year ended December 31, 2008, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Julia A. Stewart, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, do
hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

        (1)   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

        (2)   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 26, 2009

 /s/ JULIA A. STEWART

Julia A. Stewart
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

        This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required
by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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Exhibit 32.2 

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

        In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of DineEquity, Inc. (the "Company") for the year ended December 31, 2008, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Greggory Kalvin, as Vice President, Corporate Controller of the Company,
do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

        (1)   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

        (2)   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 26, 2009

 /s/ GREGGORY KALVIN

Greggory Kalvin
Vice President, Corporate Controller
(Principal Financial Officer)

        This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required
by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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